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PROCEDURE WHOM TO CONTACT IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS REVISION NUMBER
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The following individuals should be contacted if you have questions concerning the contents,
procedures, forms, etc., discussed in the SAMS Manual.

TELEPHONE
SECTION INDIVIDUAL NUMBER

01 — Introduction Matt Ciotti 785-6257

02 — Internal Controls Matt Ciotti 785-6257

03 — Accounting and Financial Reporting Policies and KatieMadonia  782-5198
Procedures

05 — Terminology Matt Ciotti 785-6257

07 — Financial Information Matt Ciotti 785-6257

| 09 — Funds Bill English 524-5772

Petty Cash Sandy Gudausky 782-3426

11 — Expenditure Authority Karla Grigsby 782-4204

| Bill English 524-5772

Appropriation/Expenditure Transfers CarlaHuffman  557-0620

Detail Object Corrections CarlaHuffman  557-0620

Reversions Carla Huffman 557-0620

15 — Obligations Sally Gosda 785-0009

Karla Grigsby 782-4204

17 — Pre-Audit & Commercia Vouchering Heather Kelly 557-3376

Karla Grigsby 782-4204

19 — Vendor Identification Structure Heather Kelly 557-3376

Karla Grigsby 782-4204

20 — Electronic Commerce Scott Stauder 782-9969

Kathleen Killion 782-4106
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TELEPHONE
SECTION INDIVIDUAL NUMBER
21 — Warrants Richard Damron 785-1128
CarlaHuffman  557-0620
23 — Payrall Katie Rutherford  782-4758
‘ Daniel Sronce  785-1231
Contractual Service Vouchers Katie Rutherford 782-4758
Retirement Katie Rutherford  782-4758
‘ FICA/Medicare Daniel Sronce 785-1231
25 — Receipts and Cash Refunds CarlaHuffman  557-0620
26 — Receivables Reporting Katie Madonia 782-5198
Claimsin Favor of the State Procedures CarlaHuffman  557-0620
27 — Agency Reporting Katie Madonia 782-5198
29 — State Property Reporting Katie Madonia 782-5198
31 — Bonded Indebtedness Tim Burch 558-4811
33 — Miscellaneous:
University Imprest System Bill English 524-5772
Locally Held Fund Reporting Katie Madonia 782-5198
Tax Expenditure Reporting Jennifer Kovats  782-0124
Fee Imposition Reporting Jennifer Kovats  782-0124
Debt Transparency Act Reporting Chris Maley 524-4924
IT Milestone Reporting Stephanie Blair ~ 785-6261
Public Accountability Reporting Stephanie Blair ~ 785-6261

TaraBurke 524-5408
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PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF THE MANUAL

| The Comptrollers’ Statewide Accounting Management System Procedures Manual (SAMS
Manual) has been developed to assist State agencies with the operation of the statewide accounting
system. Documented in this manual are the fiscal policies, accounting principles, controls, operating
procedures and reporting requirements for the Statewide Accounting Management System.

Proper use of this manual will assist management of State agencies by:

indicating the method to be used for the processing of accounting information
between State agencies and the Office of the Comptroller,

documenting the statewide accounting processing required so that the execution
of the procedures is not completely dependent on an individual,

providing a training device and reference material for operating and supervisory
personnel, and

providing a source of information to help eliminate uncertainties and confusion
caused by verbal communications.

ORGANIZATION OF THE SAMS MANUAL

The SAMS Manual presents to all State agencies a standardized approach to finance and

accounting matters within the area of authority of the Comptroller. The standardized approach used

| to provide SAMS users with access to procedures contained herein was to prepare the manual in the
following format:

Procedure - Page No.
01.10.20 1of1

SECTION |

SUB-SECTION

PROCEDURE
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1. Section

The section number groups major related material together, such as Accounting
Principles, Warrants and Payroll. The sections are numbered sequentially with allowance for
expansion, such as 03, 05, 07, etc.

2. Sub-Section

The sub-sections within each section are generally arranged according to the
following format and page numbering:

SYSTEM OVERVIEW 10
INPUT DOCUMENT PROCEDURES 20
OUTPUT DOCUMENT PROCEDURES 30
CONTROL PROCEDURES 40
REFERENCE OR SUPPLEMENTAL 50

The System Overview sub-section is devoted to a general description of the system
discussed in the section. It includes the information necessary for an individual to acquire a
general understanding of the system.

The Input Document Procedures sub-section explains the steps necessary to prepare
the input to the system. These procedures include the forms to be used, the coding of
accounting transactions, verification of the footings and calculation, the review and approval
steps required and the distribution of the source document copies.

The Output Document Procedures sub-section describes each report produced by the
system. These procedures describe how to interpret and use the information provided by the
accounting system.

The Control Procedures sub-section describes the specific control procedures to be
performed by operating personnel. Included in this sub-section are input controls to insure
that all data is correctly entered into the system and the output controls to insure that the
information printed on the report is complete and accurate.

The Reference or Supplemental sub-section contains reference material or other
material which does not conform to the organization or scope of the above sub-sections.
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3. Procedure

All procedures are numbered sequentially with allowance for expansion, such as 10,
20, 30, etc.

The first page number designates the page number of the procedure followed by the
total number of pages in the procedure.

Following each procedure are exhibits (if applicable) of the material explained in the
procedure. Each exhibit will be designated by a letter such as 01.10.20-A and 02.30.10-B.
These exhibits will be arranged sequentially from A to Z.

4. Effective Date

The effective date designates the date on which the procedure becomes effective
according to the rules and regulations issued by the Comptroller.
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REVISION AND MAINTENANCE OF THE SAMS MANUAL

The SAMS Manual has been designed to facilitate the adding of new procedures and the
revising of existing procedures. A master control copy of the procedures will be maintained by
the Systems Administration Department of the Comptroller's Office. This Department will be
responsible for updating the manual and distributing the new or corrected procedures to the State
agencies.

All users of this manual are encouraged to recommend revisions to any part of the
manual. Following this procedure is a Change Request Form for recording and submitting
suggested changes to the Comptroller's Office. Recommended revisions should be sent to:

Comptroller's SAMS Manual Coordinator
Office of the Comptroller

325 West Adams Street

Springfield, Illinois 62704-1871

REVISION NUMBER

Whenever a procedure is revised, all revised pages will be updated and will include the
year and the revision number. The first two digits of the revision number designate the fiscal
year of issuance of the revision, and the next three numbers are the revisions made during the
fiscal year numbered sequentially, such as:

12-001
12-002

Each new or revised page will have a vertical line in the left margin to identify specific items of
change. Examples of the identification are the lines which highlight the above changes. When a
completely new procedure isissued to an existing section, the term "new" will be recorded as the
revision number.

REVISION CONTROL

Revised SAMS material is issued and distributed as attachments to consecutively
numbered Procedure Bulletins. (See Exhibit 01.10.20-B for an example of a Procedure
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Bulletin.) These Bulletins are designed to give instructions for the insertion and removal of
pages, to state the purpose of the new or revised material and to specify any regulations or
published instructions which are superseded. Upon receipt of each Procedure Bulletin, the
recipients should place their initials following the Bulletin number on the "Remove/lnsert"
pages. The remove/insert pages should then be filed to document the Manual's update. A break
in the continuity of "initialed” Bulletins may indicate missing issues. Each manual holder is
encouraged to file al new material promptly and to call to the attention of the Comptroller's
SAMS Manual Coordinator any matters that require amendment, change or revision.

AGENCY SAMS MANUAL COORDINATOR

Each agency should designate an Agency SAMS Manual Coordinator who is familiar
with the agency's operations. The Coordinator's name, address, telephone number, and e-mail
address should be sent to the Comptroller's SAMS Manual Coordinator. The agency should
notify the Comptroller's SAMS Manual Coordinator in writing of any change in this assignment.

All notices of updates to the SAMS Manua will be sent via e-mail, with a hyperlink to
the current SAMS Manual and to the Procedure Bulletin, to the Agency SAMS Manud
Coordinator, who will have responsibility for distributing them to all holders of the SAMS
Manual within the agency.

Suggested Procedures for the Agency SAMS Manual Coordinator:

e maintain an up-to-date record of the assignment of each
complete and subsidiary manual in the agency,

e evauate al agency requests for additional manuals in
accordance with distribution policies,

e periodically determineif al manualsin the agency are kept up-
to-date and used sufficiently to warrant continued maintenance,
and

e reassign the SAMS Manual as necessary to achieve maximum
utilization of manuals assigned to the agency.
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SAMS DISTRIBUTION POLICY

This manual is designed to be a reference bank for State agencies. Accordingly, the manual
should be assigned to positions and not to individuals. When an employee leaves a position to which
a manual is assigned, the manual should be left for his successor.

The manual has been segmented in a manner which will permit distribution of photostatic
copies of certain sections to specialized units within a State agency. For example, the Payroll
Section could be furnished to individual payroll clerks of the agency, or the VVoucher and Pre-Audit
Section could be furnished to individual voucher clerks of the agency.

1. Additional Copies

Requests for additional copies of the SAMS Manual or a particular
section of the manual should be channeled through the Agency
SAMS Manual Coordinator, who will forward them to the
Comptroller's SAMS Manual Coordinator. Considerable time can be
saved in receiving additional manuals if all requests contain a reason
for the request. Requests for additional manuals should be based on
the following general guidelines.

a. A copy of the SAMS Manual should be readily available to
employees whose work is concerned with its content and who
make frequent reference to it.

b. The SAMS Manual is available on the Comptroller’s web site.

c. Whenever possible, the manual should be kept at a central point
for reference and use by several employees.

d. Consider using a subsidiary Section rather than a complete
manual.
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July 1, 2001
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STATEWIDE ** PROCEDURE BULLETIN **
ACCOUNTING Procedure Bulletin Number ##
MANAGEMENT Date:
SYSTEM Effective Date:

SAMS MANUAL

Material Transmitted:

Purpose: The purpose of this revision is to (1) inform the agencies of revised procedures, (2) make
certain procedures are clearer through revision and exhibits and (3) issue revised charts
and other listings which reflect current codes and descriptions.

REMOVE INSERT

Page 1 of 1
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OVERVIEW OF THE OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER
The Comptroller is the State's Chief Fiscal Control Officer.

The Illinois Constitution of 1970 provided for the establishment of the Office of the
Comptroller in 1973 to assume the duties of the former Auditor of Public Accounts, a position
abolished by the new Constitution. The Comptroller's Act, defining the duties and responsibilities of
the Comptroller's Office, was passed by the General Assembly in 1972. The first Comptroller,
George W. Lindberg, was elected and took office in January 1973.

In addition to the former duties of the Auditor of Public Accounts, the Comptroller was
assigned the following new responsibilities:

. preparation of meaningful and comprehensive statewide fiscal reports for use
by State management personnel and other individuals interested in statewide
fiscal activities,

o processing of warrants for income tax refunds and state universities' payrolls
to facilitate the capturing of fiscal information and to centralize the warrant
preparation function,

. development and issuance of statewide accounting procedures and principles
for use by all State agencies to improve the classification and reporting of
fiscal information, and

° maintenance of the State's fiscal accounts.

The Office of the Comptroller provides fiscal control over State spending through its voucher
approval and warrant writing functions. Each day, warrants totaling millions of dollars are written
on funds held by the State Treasurer. It is the Comptroller's responsibility to determine that the
claims against the State are valid prior to issuing the applicable warrants.

Statewide fiscal information is primarily captured as a by-product of the Comptroller's
vouchering and warrant writing systems. This information is then summarized for management
reporting purposes.
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DESCRIPTION OF SAMS

The Comptroller's Statewide Accounting Management System (SAMS) operates through interaction
and cooperation between State agencies and the Comptroller's Office. An important function of the
Comptroller's Office is to verify and approve all requests for payments to be made from funds held by the
State Treasurer and to prepare financial reports necessary for fiscal management at both the individual
agency and statewide levels.

Agencies participate in the operation of SAMS by submitting to the Comptroller such information as:

vouchers, requesting the Comptroller to approve payment to a vendor
for goods or services rendered,

payroll information, requesting the Comptroller to prepare payroll
checks for an agency;

receipt deposits, requesting the Comptroller to deposit monies with
the State Treasurer;

monthly and yearly financial information reports which the
Comptroller uses to prepare financial statements for all fund groups;

fund creations, deletions or transfers, requesting the Comptroller to
create or delete a Treasurer-held fund or to transfer monies from one
fund to another;

reversions, requesting the Comptroller to prohibit spending within an
appropriation/expenditure account;

obligations, informing the Comptroller of an agency's intent to make
an expenditure; and/or

appropriation transfers, requesting the Comptroller to transfer
spending authority from one appropriation to another.
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The Comptroller’s Office uses several computer systems which, taken together, allow the
Comptroller's Office to maintain the official accounting records of the State of Illinois. At the center of
these various systems is SAMS, the Statewide Accounting Management System. SAMS records and tracks
the receipts, disbursements, account balances and other transaction information for all Treasury-held funds.
In addition, SAMS writes all commercial warrants.

There are also separate warrant-writing systems that interface with SAMS at a summary and detail
level while maintaining information that pertains to their functional areas. These interfacing systems are:
payroll, retirement, public aid, State income tax refunds and replacement warrants. All warrants are sent to
the State Treasurer for approval and signature prior to mailing them. Finally, the Comptroller’s Office has
developed an electronic funds system to accommodate those payees who desire to be paid electronically.

A diagram illustrating the functions discussed above is presented in Exhibit 01.10.40-A. Exhibit
01.10.40-B presents a simplified table of organization for the State government of Illinois.
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USER RESPONSIBILITIES

The types of responsibilities a person has regarding the Comptroller’s Statewide Accounting
Management System (SAMS) depend upon the position within an agency and the size of the agency.
In the case of larger agencies, the responsibilities may be clearly segregated as to agency head, chief
accounting officer, accounting supervisors, accountants, etc. In the case of smaller agencies, such a
delegation of responsibilities may not be feasible due to the limited number of persons in the agency.

The following paragraphs briefly describe the responsibilities users of the SAMS system may
want to assume. These responsibilities are not intended to be all-inclusive, but are guidelines to
follow.

Agency Heads

Agency heads have the overall responsibility to see that the fiscal management programs and
procedures prescribed by the Comptroller are carried out. Depending on the size of the agency, the
agency head may have a wide range of responsibilities. These could range from being familiar with
detail processing procedures to being in a review position where he would evaluate operating results
with his management staff.

Agency Accountants

Agency accountants may have the operating responsibility of supervising and training the
clerical staff who perform the actual document processing. For effective training and supervision,
agency accountants should have a thorough knowledge of the various invoice-voucher, receipt
deposit and other forms as well as reference material, such as the charts of accounts. The review and
resolution of SAMS-generated agency reconciliation reports may also be the responsibility of the
chief accountant of the agency.

Agency Clerical Personnel

Agency clerical personnel usually work under the direct supervision of agency accountants
who determine their specific duties and responsibilities in preparing SAMS input documents.
Clerical employees will want to be thoroughly knowledgeable in operating procedures necessary for
the proper performance of their duties.
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STATUTORY REFERENCES

Chapter 15, Paragraph 207, Sub-paragraph 7 (15 ILCS 405/7), of the Illinois Revised Statutes, 1981,
requires that:

"In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
applicable to Government the Comptroller shall develop and
prescribe for the use of all State agencies a uniform accounting
system, applying the encumbrance method of accounting and so
designed as to insure compliance with all legal and constitutional
requirements including those respecting the receipt and expenditure
of and the accountability for public funds....”

It further states:

"...'State agencies' or 'agencies’ mean all departments, officers,
authorities, public corporations and quasi-public corporations,
commissions, boards, institutions, State colleges and universities and
all other public agencies created by the State, other than units of local
government and school districts. The Comptroller shall keep
accounts with respect to each State agency which shall accurately
reflect the receiving, expending or contracting for the receipt or
expenditure of money or other assets on behalf of the State and shall
keep accounts of all amounts which may be paid into or out of the
State treasury or held or paid out by the State Treasurer..."

As a result of these two directives, the Statewide Accounting Management System has been
developed for use by all State agencies in order to provide meaningful financial information.
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Supplement - Internal Control Review Checklist (Available only upon request)
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INTRODUCTION

This section provides the reader with background on the internal control evaluation and
certification guidelines process. It defines the purpose and scope, and provides a background of
the Fiscal Control and Internal Auditing Act legislation.

The Fiscal Control and Internal Auditing Act (the "Act" or "FCIAA™) was enacted in 1989 and
revised in 2010. This Act serves to repeal its predecessor Internal Auditing Act, and provides a
framework for improving the systems of internal fiscal and administrative control within State
government.

FCIAA contains three articles. Articles 1 and 2 establish the requirement for internal auditing,
the qualifications for the Chief Internal Auditor's position, the internal auditing program
requirements and establish an Internal Audit Advisory Board.

Article 3 addresses "fiscal control” and establishes internal control guidelines and certification
requirements. Specifically, Article 3 sets into law the current responsibility of state agencies to
establish a system of internal fiscal and administrative controls. The FCIAA guidelines, which
are to be established by the Comptroller in consultation with the Department of Central
Management Services and approved by the Legislative Audit Commission, require the chief
executive officers of all State agencies to certify annually, by May 1, to the Auditor General
whether or not the systems of internal fiscal and administrative control fully comply with the
FCIAA. The Illinois Supreme Court is permitted to establish its own procedures for annually
assessing the adequacy of internal controls for state-funded activities of the judicial branch.

The Office of the Comptroller was required by this Act to establish guidelines for: 1) state
agencies to evaluate their systems of internal fiscal and administrative controls to determine
whether the systems comply with the requirements of the Act, and 2) the certification by chief
executive officers as required by the Act. The Act requires that all state agencies establish and
maintain a system, or systems, of internal fiscal and administrative controls, which shall provide
assurance that:

1. Resources are utilized efficiently, effectively, and in compliance
with applicable law;

2. Obligations and costs are in compliance with applicable law;
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3. Funds, property, and other assets and resources are safeguarded

against waste, loss, unauthorized use, and misappropriation;

4. Revenues, expenditures, and transfers of assets, resources, or funds
applicable to operations are properly recorded and accounted for to
permit the preparation of accounts and reliable financial and
statistical reports and to maintain accountability over the State's
resources; and

5. Funds held outside the State Treasury are managed, used, and
obtained in strict accordance with the terms of their enabling
authorities and that no unauthorized funds exist.
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Fiscal Control and Internal Auditing Act

The Fiscal Control and Internal Auditing Act (FCIAA) requires each Illinois State agency to
establish, maintain, and annually evaluate internal control systems sufficient to provide
reasonable assurance of accountable government. Agency internal control systems must
reasonably assure compliance with applicable law and effective agency management.

FCIAA requires certain designated State agencies to establish full-time internal auditing
programs and generally encourages the use of professional internal auditing programs as means
of helping assure effective internal control systems.

FCIAA requires agency chief executive officers ("ACEOQOs") to certify annually to the
effectiveness of agency internal control systems and, if applicable, to identify, plan, and schedule
needed refinements.

FCIAA also requires the Comptroller, in consultation with the Director of Central Management
Services, to establish guidelines for the required annual internal control evaluation and
certification. These guidelines are set forth and explained in this section, the following sections
and related supplement to Procedure 2.

ACEQOs, Internal Control Systems, and Internal Auditing

The Act fixes responsibility for establishing, maintaining, and evaluating agency internal control
systems squarely on ACEOs. ACEOs have very challenging jobs. They are expected to meet
complex and often conflicting public needs with scarce resources.

ACEOs are expected to be problem solvers, responsive and responsible managers, effective
people motivators, and statesmen who effectively balance the needs of their most direct
constituents with the needs of the larger community.

ACEOs need effective internal control systems and professional internal auditing both
defensively and offensively as means of assuring adherence to sound management principles.

Most ACEOs do not initially have sophisticated internal control systems or internal auditing
backgrounds. These guidelines are intended to help ACEOs approach their internal control and
internal auditing responsibilities and opportunities more assertively, effectively, and efficiently.



STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION INTERNAL CONTROLS PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
02.10.20 20f8

SUB-SECTION OVERVIEW EFFECTIVE DATE
January 1, 2014

PROCEDURE PURPOSE AND SCOPE REVISION NUMBER
14-002

Internal Controls Defined

Broadly defined, internal controls are all of the means employed by an ACEQ in managing his or
her agency. That is, internal controls are all of the means used by the ACEO in getting agency
personnel to achieve agency objectives.

Effective internal controls assure reasonable adherence to sound management principles.
Internal control weaknesses or deficiencies indicate violations of one or more basic management
principles.

Any internal control system can always be improved. Identified needs for internal control
system refinements should be viewed cooperatively as management opportunities, rather than
negatively as indications of past problems.

Professional Internal Auditors Are Internal Control Experts

FCIAA holds ACEOs responsible for establishing, maintaining, and evaluating agency internal
control systems. To meet these responsibilities effectively, ACEOs need competent advice.
Professional internal auditors with adequate resources are invaluable to an ACEO in this regard.

It takes detailed expertise in management principles and specialized information gathering,
processing, and reporting skills to establish and evaluate internal control systems effectively.
Professional internal auditors are management science and internal control systems examination
and evaluation experts.

Wise ACEO:s insist on having at their sides a competent and independent chief internal auditor
with adequate financial and policy resources and a commitment to professional ethics and
standards.

Distinquishing Internal Auditors From External Auditors

Auditing is an independent examination and evaluation of something performed to provide an
objective second opinion.  Effective auditing enhances confidence in management and
accountability processes. Internal and external auditing have related but distinctly different
confidence-enhancing roles.

Internal auditing is management-oriented. Internal auditors are management team members who
report to ACEOs and who are responsible for assuring that ACEOs are in a position to make
optimally informed decisions.
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External auditing is oversight-oriented. External auditors report to other branches and levels of
government and the public in the interest of assuring effective legislative and public oversight of
government activities.

Distinguishing Internal Auditors From Line Managers

Agency Chief Executive Officers are fully responsible for establishing, maintaining, and
annually evaluating agency internal control systems. Line managers and internal auditors are
responsible for helping ACEOs meet these responsibilities.

ACEOs delegate day to day responsibilities for establishing and maintaining effective agency
internal control systems to their line managers. Establishing and maintaining internal control
systems are line management responsibilities, not internal auditor responsibilities.

Line managers should thoroughly document agency internal control systems in a narrative file.
Any changes in programs, applicable law, job descriptions, responsibility assignments, etc.,
should be recorded in this file on a timely basis.

Internal auditors should be independent of line managers and free of line management
responsibilities. In this way, internal auditors can provide ACEOs with objective evaluations of
agency internal control systems.

What Type of Annual Internal Control Evaluation is Required?

There is no one "'right” way to evaluate internal control systems. Rigid rules and extensive
prescriptions of mandatory evaluation procedures are generally counterproductive of effective
evaluations.

The acceptability of particular approaches to annual internal control evaluations is determined by
their results. Effective internal control evaluations enlighten agency chief executive officers and
line managers and produce steadily improving internal control systems.

Determination of the appropriate specific form and content of agency annual internal
control evaluations is necessarily a matter of professional judgment. However, it should
always provide persuasive evidence to support conclusions as to the effectiveness of existing
controls and needed refinements.

Agency annual internal control evaluations should be designed to assure that agency internal
control systems meet the internal control objectives identified in the Act. They should determine
the extent to which agency internal control systems assure adherence to sound general
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management principles, adherence to sound governmental management principles, and
compliance with applicable law. In addition, agencies should develop internal control
evaluations to determine if sufficient controls are in place to ensure the agency accomplishes its
mission and objectives as well as ensures compliance with grant agreements, inter-governmental
agreements and other key elements of agency operations.

Do Agency Internal Control Systems Meet the Objectives Identified in the Act?

FCIAA requires the annual evaluation of the extent to which agency internal control systems
assure that:

1. Resources are utilized efficiently, effectively, and in compliance with
applicable law;

2. Obligations and costs are in compliance with applicable law;

3. Funds, property, and other assets and resources are safeguarded against

waste, loss, unauthorized use, and misappropriation;

4. Revenues, expenditures, and transfers of assets, resources, or funds
applicable to operations are properly recorded and accounted for to permit
the preparation of accounts and reliable financial and statistical reports and
to maintain accountability over the State's resources; and

5. Funds held outside the State Treasury are managed, used, and obtained in
strict accordance with the terms of their enabling authorities and that no
unauthorized funds exist.

Do Agency Internal Control Systems Assure Adherence to Basic Management Principles?

Sound management entails persistence in a refining cycle of planning, controlling, and
evaluating activities focusing at all times on both goals and objectives and the means used to
achieve them. In management science literature, the term control is used both narrowly to
describe the central controlling element of the planning, controlling, and evaluating management
cycle and more broadly to describe the entire cycle.

Clear goals and objectives are established, and means reasonably likely to achieve them are
planned. The planned means are used to control operations in the attempt to achieve the
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established goals and objectives. Both goals and objectives and means are systematically
evaluated and refined on an ongoing basis in light of experience and circumstances.

Annual agency internal control evaluations should determine the extent to which agency internal
control systems assure refining persistence in this basic management cycle.

Do Agency Internal Control Systems Assure Adherence to Governmental Management
Principles?

Sound governmental management entails the identification and prioritization of public needs, the
justification of planned and actual government activities in terms of prioritized public needs, and
the establishment of formal funding policies that fairly and candidly determine which present
and future taxpayers pay for which government activities.

Annual agency internal control evaluations should determine the extent to which agency internal
control systems assure sound government management.

Do Agency Internal Control Systems Assure Compliance With Applicable Law?

In our system of government, the people are sovereign and the responsibilities for planning,
controlling, and evaluating government activities are shared by separate branches and levels of
government. Government activities are authorized and constrained by laws designed to assure
effective legislative and public oversight and accountable government.

Annual agency internal control evaluations should determine the extent to which agency internal
control systems assure compliance with applicable law.

Where applicable law is contradictory or otherwise counterproductive of sound management,
ACEOs are responsible for informing the public and other branches and levels of government
and seeking legislative resolution.

Are Needed Refinements in Agency Internal Control Systems Effectively Communicated?

ACEOs should state on their annual internal control system certifications whether agency
internal control systems meet the internal control objectives identified in FCIAA on the date of
the certification.
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Where agency internal control systems do not provide reasonable assurance of sound
management and compliance with applicable law, the Act requires ACEOs to identify, plan, and
schedule needed refinements in their annual internal control certifications.

ACEO annual internal control certifications should be clear and to the point. To the extent
possible, they should be stated in a positive tone and in positive terms. For each needed
refinement, the ACEOQO's annual internal control certification should clearly and concisely
communicate the condition observed, the criteria used to evaluate the condition, its effect on
internal control system effectiveness, and the cause of the condition.

Who Should Perform Annual Agency Internal Control Evaluations?

ACEOs, their line managers, and internal auditors all have roles in annual agency internal control
evaluations. ACEOs are fully responsible for assuring effective annual evaluations. Line
managers and internal auditors are responsible for helping them meet that responsibility.

Line managers should review findings from prior internal and external audits and determine the
extent to which they have been resolved. They should also review needed refinements in agency
internal control systems identified in prior annual evaluations and determine the extent to which
they have been affected.

Line managers can and should also use appropriately designed internal control checklists and
questionnaires to help themselves understand the nature and importance of effective internal
controls and to help determine the extent to which needed controls are in place, adequately
designed, and effectively applied.

However, since no one can objectively evaluate his or her own performance, there are limits to
the effectiveness with which line managers can evaluate agency internal control systems.
Competent and independent internal auditors have the technical expertise and objectivity that are
required for effective internal control evaluations.

Evaluations in Agencies With Sufficient Internal Auditing Resources

Agencies with professional internal audit units with sufficient resources will generally already
be, in effect, performing the annual internal control evaluations required by the Act. In such
agencies, internal auditors will already be performing audits of agency internal control systems
pursuant to the two-year internal audit cycle contemplated by the Act.
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Reliance on relevant audit work performed in these cycles for purposes of the required annual
evaluations is altogether appropriate. The Act's requirement for annual internal control
evaluations is not intended to require redundant evaluation work. On the contrary, it is intended
to encourage ACEOs to establish and thoughtfully employ professional management-oriented
internal auditing programs on an ongoing basis.

Agency chief internal auditors should be responsible for advising ACEOs on the establishment
and maintenance of effective internal control systems and for coordinating and overseeing the
annual internal control evaluation.

ACEOs and chief internal auditors should work together to assure the availability of sufficient
competent audit resources and the development and implementation of a responsive and
responsible agency internal audit program.

Evaluations in Other Agencies

Agencies with internal audit units lacking sufficient resources should re-evaluate their approach
to internal auditing. Agencies presently lacking professional internal auditing capabilities should
investigate opportunities for obtaining them. In the meantime, these agencies should seek
internal auditing assistance from the Department of Central Management Services, as provided
for in FCIAA.

Agencies without professional internal auditing capabilities must nevertheless perform annual
internal control evaluations consistent with these guidelines. The sample evaluation program,
procedures, and checklists included in the detailed guidelines document and supplement portions
of these guidelines should prove helpful in these instances but are not mandatory and should be
used or modified as necessary to be appropriate to the specific operations of the agency.

Guidelines Manual and Related Supplement

The detailed evaluation program, and specific procedures and checklists set forth in the
following sections and separate detailed checklist, illustrate just one of many possible
approaches to the annual internal control evaluations required by the FCIAA.

There is no intent in these guidelines to suggest that the manual's specific approach is mandatory
or optimum. They are intended primarily to assist ACEOs and line managers in agencies lacking
sufficient competent internal auditing resources.
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Importance of ACEQO Attitudes Toward Internal Controls and Internal Auditing

The most critical step toward effective agency internal control systems is convincing line
managers that effective internal controls are in their own, the agency's, and the public's best
interests.

ACEOs must lead by example with respect to internal control systems. Sustained effective
internal control systems are possible only where ACEOs maintain and demonstrate a positive
and insistently supportive attitude toward them and toward internal auditing.

Line managers take their cues from their ACEOs. Where line managers are not convinced that
effective internal controls are the top priority of the ACEO, effective internal controls won't be
their top priority either.

Continuing Education Essential to Effective Internal Control Systems

Agency chief executive officers are responsible for assuring that their line managers understand
the nature, purposes, and importance of effective internal control systems.

To assist agency chief executive officers in meeting this responsibility, the Internal Audit
Advisory Board created by the Act should consider developing annual continuing professional
education sessions for agency chief executive officers. ACEOs should attend and participate
personally, and bring their chief internal auditor and key line managers with them.

These sessions should be designed to inform and enlighten ACEOs regarding their internal
control responsibilities and opportunities. They should also be designed to encourage closer
professional relationships between agency chief executive officers and chief internal auditors.
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STATUTORY REFERENCE

The statutory authority requiring the Comptroller to establish procedures for State
agencies to evaluate their systems of internal fiscal and administrative controls and for
certification by State agency chief executive officers is contained in the Fiscal Control and
Internal Auditing Act (30 ILCS 10/1001), et seq.

AN ACT in relation to the fiscal control and internal auditing of State agencies, repealing
the Internal Auditing Act. P.A. 86-936, amendatory veto overridden Oct. 31, 1989, eff. Jan. 1,
1990.

ARTICLE 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS
1001. Short title. This Act may be cited as the Fiscal Control and Internal Auditing Act.

1002. Public policy. It is the policy of this State that the chief executive officer of every
State agency is responsible for effectively and efficiently managing the agency and establishing
and maintaining an effective system of internal control.

1003. Definitions.

(a) "Designated State agencies™" include the offices of the Secretary of State, the State
Comptroller, the State Treasurer, and the Attorney General, the State Board of Education, the
State colleges and universities, the Illinois Toll Highway Authority, the Illinois Housing
Development Authority, the public retirement systems, the Illinois Student Assistance
Commission, the Illinois Finance Authority, the Environmental Protection Agency, the Capital
Development Board, the Department of Military Affairs, the State Fire Marshal, and each
Department of State government created in Article 5, Section 5-15 of the Civil Administrative
Code of Illinais.

(b) "State agency" means that term as defined in the Illinois State Auditing Act, as now
or hereafter amended,: except the judicial branch which shall be covered by subsection (c) of
Section 2001 and Section 3004 of this Act.2

(c) "Chief executive officer” includes, respectively, the Secretary of State, the State
Comptroller, the State Treasurer, the Attorney General, the State Superintendent of Education,
such chief executive officers as are designated by the governing board of each State college and
university, the executive director of the Illinois Toll Highway Authority, and the executive

30 ILCS 5/1-7
? Paragraph 3004 of this chapter.
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director of the Illinois Housing Development Authority, as well as the chief executive officer of
each designated other State agency.

ARTICLE 2. INTERNAL AUDITING
2001. Program of internal auditing.

(a) Each designated State agency as defined in Section 1003(a) shall maintain a full-time
program of internal auditing. In the event that a designated State agency is merged, abolished,
reorganized, or renamed, the successor State agency shall also be a designated State agency.

(a-5) Within 30 days after the effective date of this amendatory Act of the 96th General
Assembly, each chief internal auditor transferred under Executive Order 2003-10 to the
Department of Central Management Services shall be transferred to the auditor's designated State
agency, and if an auditor does not have a designated State agency or has more than one
designated State agency, then the chief executive officer of a State agency shall appoint such
person as the chief internal auditor of a State agency. A chief internal auditor transferred under
this amendatory Act of the 96th General Assembly shall be appointed to a 5-year term beginning
on the effective date of this amendatory Act of the 96th General Assembly.

The rights of employees and of the State and its agencies under the Personnel Code
and applicable collective bargaining agreements or under any pension retirement or annuity plan
shall not be affected by this amendatory Act of the 96th General Assembly.

All books, records, papers, documents, property (real and personal), unexpended
appropriations, and pending business pertaining to the functions transferred by this amendatory
Act of the 96th General Assembly shall be delivered to the respective State agency pursuant to
the direction of the chief executive officer of that State agency.

(b) The chief executive officer of a State agency is not relieved from the responsibility
for maintaining an effective internal control system merely because that State agency is not
designated and required to have a full-time program of internal auditing under this Act.
Agencies which do not have full-time internal audit programs may have internal audits
performed by the Department of Central Management Services.

(c) The Supreme Court will establish by its rulemaking authority or by administrative
order a full-time program of internal auditing of State-funded activities of the judicial branch,
which is consistent with the intent of this Article.

2002. Qualifications of chief internal auditor.

(@) The chief executive officer of each designated State agency shall appoint a chief
internal auditor with a bachelor's degree, who is either:
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(1) a certified internal auditor by examination or a certified public accountant and
who has at least 4 years of progressively responsible professional auditing experience; or

(2) an auditor with at least 5 years of progressively responsible professional
auditing experience.

(b) The chief internal auditor shall report directly to the chief executive officer and shall
have direct communications with the chief executive officer and the governing board, if
applicable, in the exercise of auditing activities. All chief internal auditors and all full-time
members of an internal audit staff shall be free of all operational duties.

(c) The chief internal auditor shall serve a 5-year term beginning on the date of the
appointment. A chief internal auditor may be removed only for cause after a hearing before the
Executive Ethics Commission concerning the removal. Any chief internal auditor who is
appointed to replace a removed chief internal auditor may serve only until the expiration of the
term of the removed chief internal auditor. The annual salary of a chief internal auditor cannot be
diminished during the term of the chief internal auditor.

2003. Internal auditing program requirements.

(a) The chief executive officer of each designated State agency shall ensure that the
internal auditing program includes:

(1) A two-year plan, identifying audits scheduled for the pending fiscal year,
approved by the chief executive officer before the beginning of the fiscal year. By
September 30 of each year the chief internal auditor shall submit to the chief executive
officer a written report detailing how the audit plan for that year was carried out, the
significant findings, and the extent to which recommended changes were implemented.

(2) Audits of major systems of internal accounting and administrative control
conducted on a periodic basis so that all major systems are reviewed at least once every 2
years. The audits must include testing of:

(A) the obligation, expenditure, receipt, and use of public funds of the
State and of funds held in trust to determine whether those activities are in
accordance with applicable laws and regulations; and

(B) grants received or made by the designated State agency to determine
that the grants are monitored, administered, and accounted for in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations.
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(3) Reviews of the design of major new electronic data processing systems and
major modifications of those systems before their installation to ensure the systems
provide for adequate audit trails and accountability.

(4) Special audits of operations, procedures, programs, electronic data processing
systems, and activities as directed by the chief executive officer or by the governing
board, if applicable.

(b) Each chief internal auditor shall have, in addition to all other powers or duties
authorized by law, required by professional ethics or standards, or assigned consistent with this
Act, the powers necessary to carry out the duties required by this Act.

2004. Consultations by internal auditor. Each chief internal auditor may consult with the
Auditor General, the Department of Central Management Services, the Commission on
Government Forecasting and Accountability, the appropriations committees of the General
Assembly, the Governor’s Office of Management and Budget, or the Internal Audit Advisory
Board on matters affecting the duties or responsibilities of the chief internal auditor under this
Act.

2005. Internal Audit Advisory Board.

(@) An 11 member Internal Audit Advisory Board is created.

(b) The composition of the Board shall be as follows:

(1) the chief internal auditor of the Department of Central Management Services;

(2) the chief internal auditor of the Office of the State Comptroller;

(3) the chief internal auditor of the Office of the Secretary of State;

(4) the chief internal auditor of the Office of the State Treasurer;

(5) the chief internal auditor of the Office of the Attorney General; and

(6) 6 chief internal auditors appointed by the Governor.

At least one of the members appointed by the Governor must be an employee of a State
college or university or university governing board.
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(c) The initial appointments by the Governor of the 6 chief internal auditors who shall be
members of the Board shall be made before the next February 1 after the date this Act takes
effect and shall be as follows: 2 appointments for three-year terms, 2 appointments for two-year
terms, and 2 appointments for one-year terms. After the initial terms each member appointed by
the Governor shall serve a three-year term.

(d) A vacancy shall exist whenever a member ceases to be employed in the position
which qualified the member for appointment. Vacancies shall be filled in the same manner as
the original appointment. Persons appointed to fill a vacancy shall serve the balance of the
unexpired term.

(e) The Board shall select a chairman from its members, who shall serve for a one-year
term as chairman. Board members shall receive no additional compensation for their services,
but shall be reimbursed by their employing agency for expenses necessarily incurred in the
performance of their duties as Board members.

(f) The Board shall be responsible for:

(1) promulgating a uniform set of professional standards and a code of ethics

(based on the standards and ethics of the Institute of Internal Auditors, the General

Accounting Office, and other professional standards as applicable) to which all State

internal auditors must adhere;

(2) serving as a clearinghouse for the correlation of internal audit training needs
and training designed to meet those needs; and

(3) coordinating peer review activities among the State's internal audit units.
ARTICLE 3. FISCAL CONTROLS
3001. Internal controls required. All State agencies shall establish and maintain a
system, or systems, of internal fiscal and administrative controls, which shall provide assurance
that:
(1) resources are utilized efficiently, effectively, and in compliance with applicable law;

(2) obligations and costs are in compliance with applicable law;

(3) funds, property, and other assets and resources are safeguarded against waste, 10ss,
unauthorized use, and misappropriation;
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(4) revenues, expenditures, and transfers of assets, resources, or funds applicable to
operations are properly recorded and accounted for to permit the preparation of accounts and
reliable financial and statistical reports and to maintain accountability over the State's resources;
and

(5) funds held outside the State Treasury are managed, used, and obtained in strict
accordance with the terms of their enabling authorities and that no unauthorized funds exist.

3002. Certification guidelines for chief executive officers.

(a) By the next March 1 after the date this Act takes effect, the Comptroller, in
consultation with the Director of Central Management Services, shall establish guidelines for:

(1) the evaluation by State agencies of their systems of internal fiscal and
administrative controls to determine whether the systems comply with the requirements
of Section 3001;2 and

(2) the certification by chief executive officers required by Section 3003.%

(b) The guidelines must be approved by the Legislative Audit Commission and may be
modified, as needed, with the Commission's approval.

3003. Certification by chief executive officers.
(a) By May 1 of each year, each chief executive officer of all State agencies shall, on the
basis of an evaluation conducted in accordance with guidelines established under Section 3002;2

prepare and transmit to the Auditor General a certification that:

(1) the systems of internal fiscal and administrative controls of the State agency
fully comply with the requirements of this Act; or

(2) the systems of internal fiscal and administrative controls of the State agency
do not fully comply with the requirements of this Act.

3

Par agraph 3001 of this chapter.

4

Par agraph 3003 of this chapter.

°® Paragraph 3002 of this chapter.
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(b) If the systems do not fully comply with the requirements of this Act, the certification
shall include a report describing any material weaknesses in the systems of internal fiscal and
administrative controls and the plans and schedule for correcting the weaknesses, or a statement
of the reasons why the weaknesses cannot be corrected.

3004. The Supreme Court will establish by its rulemaking authority or by administrative
order procedures to annually assess the adequacy of internal controls for State-funded activities
of the judicial branch, using procedures consistent with the intent of this Article.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS IN GOVERNMENT
INTERNAL CONTROL DEFINED

Internal control is the overall plan of organization and all the coordinate methods a government uses
to: safeguard its assets; ensure the reliability of its accounting data; promote efficient operations and
ensure compliance with established governmental policies, laws, regulations and contracts.

A system of internal control pertains to more than the functions of accounting and financial reporting
in State agencies. It pertains to the operation of each and every function of State government; all
Constitutional Officers and State agencies. It pertains to your agency. In these guidelines, the word
"agency" refers to any executive branch agency, independent agency, or other establishment of State
of lllinois government except the judicial branch. (See the glossary for a complete definition of State
"agency".)

Control Systems

Control systems embrace two elements: administrative controls and internal accounting (fiscal)
controls. Administrative controls are the broad controls on all activities which officials use to
accomplish their objectives (e.g., planning, organization, productivity monitoring and improvement,
and quality control) economically, efficiently, and effectively. Fiscal controls are the controls on
authorizing, processing, recording, and reporting transactions. Fiscal controls are part of the
administrative controls environment.

Administrative controls are typically designed to encourage adherence to managerial policies and
to promote operational efficiency. Fiscal controls deal primarily with safeguarding assets and the
accuracy and reliability of financial reports. The two elements of control frequently overlap. For
example, procedures designed to assure timely assessment, billing and collection of revenues help
to safeguard assets and also promote efficiency. Internal audits or special productivity reports, which
test compliance with established fiscal and administrative controls or objectives, are important
ingredients of a system of internal control.

Fiscal and administrative controls are most effective when:

1. Key control duties and responsibilities are separated among different
employees,
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2. Responsibilities of all personnel are assigned and clearly

communicated,

3. There exists checks and balances on clerical activities, with a
minimum duplication of effort, and

4. Feedback mechanisms such as special reports, internal audits, etc. are
monitored to assure conformance over time.

Perhaps the best way to understand the concept of internal control is to speculate "What can go
wrong with my operation?" and "What can | do to prevent it?"" Some examples are as follows:

What Can Go Wrong? What Can | Do To Prevent It?
Problem Prevention
1. Payment for 1. Make certain that
materials or invoices are prepared
services not for payment only after
received. there is adequate

documentation
supporting the ordering
and receipt of the
materials or services
verified by separate

individuals.
2. Vendors complain 2. Documentation support-
about late payments ing the ordering and
of invoices. receipt of materials

or services should be
promptly forwarded to
the individual
responsible for
payment who promptly
verifies and processes
the invoice for
payment.
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Problem Prevention
3. Receipts remitted from 3. Through an adequate
the public are lost separation of duties
or stolen due to among employees:
inadequate or billing of taxes and
improper employee charges for services
acts. are performed
promptly and in
proper amounts,
self-assessed taxpayer and
service user accounts
are monitored, and
exemptions are only
provided by those
authorized.
4. Payroll checks are 4. Payroll processing

issued to individuals
who never worked for
the agency.

should be based upon
authorized positive
time records. Time
records should be
verified by
supervisors who

are in positions to
know that services
were rendered to

the agency.

In summary, internal control is the plan of organization and methods and procedures adopted by
management at all levels to insure that:

Resource use is consistent with laws, regulations and policies,

Resources are safeguarded against waste, loss, and misuse, and

Reliable data is obtained, maintained and fairly disclosed

in reports for decision makers.
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INTERNAL CONTROL STANDARDS

Internal control provides management with reasonable assurance that 1) financial and other resources
are safeguarded from unauthorized use or disposition; 2) transactions are executed in accordance with
related authorizations; 3) financial and statistical records and reports are reliable; 4) applicable laws,
regulations, policies and contractual/grant provisions are adhered to; and 5) resources are effectively
and efficiently managed.

To accomplish these objectives, certain basic standards must be present in any effective system of
internal control. The general standards are: reasonable assurance of achieving control objectives,
supportive attitude, competent personnel, and control objectives and techniques. Specific standards
which are central to the standard of control objectives and techniques involve: documentation;
recording of transactions and events; execution of transactions and events; separation of duties;
adequacy of supervision; access to and accountability for resources; and, efficient and effective use
of resources. An explanation of each basic standard follows:

Reasonable Assurance

Internal control systems shall provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the objectives of
the system will be accomplished. This standard recognizes that the cost of internal controls should
not exceed the benefits derived. Reasonable assurance means a satisfactory level of confidence
given considerations of costs, benefits and risks.

Supportive Attitude

Executives, managers and employers must maintain and demonstrate a positive and supportive
attitude toward internal controls at all times. This means that all individuals will be attentive to
internal control matters and take steps to promote the effectiveness of the controls.

Competent Personnel

Executives, managers and employees must have high standards of personal and professional integrity
and must be competent, by education, training and experience to discharge their responsibilities.
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Control Objectives and Technigues

Internal accounting and administrative control objectives to be identified or developed for each
agency's activity must be logical, applicable and reasonably complete. This recognizes the
uniqueness of each agency and requires the objectives and techniques be tailored to an agency's
operations. Techniques are the mechanisms by which objectives are achieved. They include, but
are not limited to such things as specific policies, procedures, plans of organization (including
separation of duties), and physical arrangements (such as locks and fire alarms). Techniques must
be structured to insure that the control objectives are being achieved. Techniques must be effective
and efficient.

Documentation

Written procedures and flowcharts must be prepared to adequately document the internal control
systems and processes for authorizing, executing, and recording transactions. Such documentation
must be easily accessible for examination.

Recording of Transactions and Events

Transactions must be recorded as executed, and be properly classified. This means that financial
transactions and significant program activities and events must be promptly and accurately recorded
if they are to be useful to management in controlling operations and making decisions.

This applies to all of the processes associated with the transaction or event, including its initiation
and authorization, all aspects while it is in process, and its final classification in all levels of
summary records of the State. Proper classification is the organization and format of information
or summary records from which reports and statements are prepared.

Execution of Transactions and Events

Agencies must maintain independent evidence that authorizations are issued by persons acting within
the scope of their authority and that transactions and events conform with the terms of the
authorizations. Management's decisions to exchange, transfer, use or commit resources for specified
purposes are covered by this standard. This evidence assures that only valid transactions and other
events are entered into. The conditions and terms of authorization should be clearly communicated
to managers and employees.
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Separation of Duties

Key duties and responsibilities such as authorizing, processing and recording transactions or events,
issuing or receiving assets, making payments and reviewing or auditing transactions should be
separated among individuals to minimize the risk of loss. Internal control relies largely on
eliminating opportunities to conceal errors or irregularities. No one individual should control all key
aspects of a transaction or event. Duties and responsibilities should be assigned systematically to
a number of individuals to ensure that effective checks and balances are in place and are routinely
practiced. The work of one employee serves to verify that of another and any errors which occur
tend to be detected promptly.

Adequacy of Supervision

Quialified and continuous supervision must be provided to achieve internal control objectives. This
means that supervisors must review and approve the assigned work of their staffs. They must provide
necessary guidance and training to their staffs to minimize errors, waste, and wrongful acts and to
achieve specific management policies and directives.

Access to and Accountability for Resources

Access to resources and records must be limited to authorized individuals. Supervisors must assign
accountability for the custody and use of resources. Supervisors must periodically reconcile
resources to the related records of accountability. The frequency of the comparison shall be based
on the vulnerability of the asset.

Efficient and Effective Use of Resources

Resources are to be used as economically as possible. This happens when actual program output is
achieved at the lowest reasonable cost. Program managers should develop administrative techniques
which measure the efficiency and effectiveness of organizational performance. Periodically,
performance data should be compared with realistically established goals, objectives, and statutory
mandates.

The remaining sections of these guidelines provide suggestions to assist agencies in evaluating and
improving their accounting and administrative control systems and procedures.
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INTERNAL FISCAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
CONTROL REVIEW OBJECTIVES

This section identifies and describes internal fiscal and administrative control objectives associated
with the eleven major event/transaction cycles commonly found in Illinois State agencies.

The purpose of this section is to help agency chief executive officers identify the major
event/transaction cycles and associated control objectives that need to be considered when
performing internal control reviews. The list is neither all-inclusive nor mandatory. Agencies will
probably operate transaction/event cycles not included on the list and certainly not operate all cycles
included in the list. Also, all internal control objectives listed may not be appropriate for a particular
situation.

Accordingly, each agency should use this list as a guide to identify appropriate transaction/event
cycles and develop internal control objectives for its programs and administrative functions that are
consistent with the overall objectives and requirements of the FCIAA and these guidelines.

In establishing control objectives and control techniques, as well as in performing internal control
reviews, agencies should be mindful of the inherent limitations (budget constraints, statutory and
regulatory restrictions, staffing limitations, etc.) which hamper effective agency action. The lack of
achievement of control objectives due to these systematic limitations or cost-effectiveness
considerations cannot and should not be considered deficiencies in internal controls.

Further, Illinois State agency chief executive officers should consult with their Internal Auditor(s)
when planning the FCIAA internal control review to obtain appropriate input from internal auditing
professionals and ensure adequate consideration of the impact of ongoing work performed by the
agency's Internal Auditor(s) on the level of effort required to conduct the FCIAA review.

Every effort should be made to build upon the work performed by internal auditors when conducting
the FCIAA internal control review.

MAJOR EVENT/TRANSACTION CYCLES
The major transaction cycles commonly found in Illinois State agencies include the following:
1. Agency Organization and Management

2. Administrative Support Services
3. Budgeting, Accounting and Reporting
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Purchasing
Expenditure Control

Personnel and Payroll

Property, Equipment, and Inventories
Revenues, Receivables and Cash

. Petty Cash and Local Funds

10. Grant Administration

11. Electronic Data Processing

©ooNoOA

Internal control objectives associated with each of these event/transaction cycles are presented
below:

1. Agency Organization and Management:

Organization

1) Responsibility for the performance of all duties is specifically
assigned and appropriately separated along with necessary delegations
of authority to sufficient numbers of qualified employees.

2 A commitment to the establishment and maintenance of a system of
internal control exists.

Audit Follow-up

1) Audit resolution and corrective actions pertaining to audit
recommendations are made on a timely basis.

(2 Audits resolved and corrective action on audit recommendations are
scheduled in accordance with specific criteria.

3 Accurate records of the status of audit reports and recommendations
are maintained through the entire process of resolution and corrective
action.

4 Major disagreements between the audit organization and agency
management or contracting officials are resolved on a timely basis.

5) Resolution actions are consistent with law, regulations and
administrative policy.

(6) Resolution and correction action on recommendations involving more
than one program, agency or level of government are coordinated.
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@) Required reports are reliable, accurate and submitted on a timely
basis.

(8) Claims arising from audit disallowances are promptly recorded as
receivables and collected.

9) Interest and audit-related debt is charged promptly, without regard to
whether the disallowance is or will be appealed.

Information Collection

1) Information collected is meaningful and useful.
2) Information collected is reliable.

3) Information is arranged in an orderly fashion.
4) Information is maintained on a current basis.

Correspondence Handling

Q Correspondence is channeled to the appropriate parties.
2 Replies are made promptly, accurately and responsively.

Records Maintenance

1) Records are readily available.
2 Records are adequately protected.
3 Only necessary records are retained.

2. Administrative Support Services:

Administrative Support Services

1) Services provided meet the organization's legitimate needs.

2 Services are conducted in a manner that promotes economy and
efficiency in operations.

3) Safeguards exist to prevent unauthorized or wasteful use of such
services.
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Security and Safequarding of Classified Material

Q) Documents are appropriately classified.
2 Appropriate safeguards exist to prevent unauthorized access to
classified materials.

3. Budgeting, Accounting and Reporting:

Q) The authorized budget reflects, to the appropriate degree of accuracy,
anticipated revenues and appropriations.

2 Approved final budgets are properly entered into the agency's systems.

3 Changes made to budgets are properly approved and entered into the
appropriate agency system.

4) All valid general ledger entries, and only those entries, should be
accurately recorded in the general ledger.

5) To provide for consistent, reliable and timely accounting and
reporting.

4. Purchasing:

Q) All purchases are authorized within budget limits and made in
accordance with applicable laws, regulations and agreements.

2) Government has paid lowest prices commensurate with quality,
service, delivery and reliability.

3 Purchases and acquisitions are received and examined for
acceptability.

4 Disbursements are valid and properly approved.

5) Disbursements are made on a timely basis.

(6) Disbursements are recorded promptly and accurately to the
appropriate account.

5. Expenditure Control:
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Pavables, Debt and Other Liabilities

Q) All payables and other claims against the State are recorded promptly
and accurately.

2) Pre-audit examinations and certifications of performance are made to
ensure validity and clerical accuracy of claims prior to payment.

3 Debt and other long-term liabilities are properly authorized, recorded
and serviced in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

Fiduciary and Trust Funds

Q) Liabilities to others are recorded properly.

2 Detailed subsidiary records are maintained and are periodically
reconciled to control accounts.

3) Funds are handled in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

4) Effective control is maintained by responsible officials.

5) Benefits and other disbursements are subject to comparable controls
over other payments.

Travel Advances and Reimbursements

Q Travel reimbursements and advances are provided only for properly
authorized travel.

2) Amounts paid are in accordance with applicable government travel
regulations.

3 Reimbursements are timely, properly approved and properly recorded
to the appropriate account.
4) Advances are liquidated within reasonable time periods.

Other Expenditures

1) Expenditures are valid and properly approved.

2 Expenditures are recorded promptly and accurately in the appropriate
accounts.

3) Debt service requirements, refunds, valid claims and other appropriate
payments are made timely in full accordance with applicable laws,
regulations and agreements.
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6. Personnel and Payroll:

Personnel Policies and Practices

1) Personnel ceilings are strictly enforced.

2) Recruitment, training, evaluation and termination practices are
operating in accordance with applicable laws and regulations and in
a manner that promotes economy and efficiency of operations.

3 Appropriate standards of conduct are communicated and enforced.

4 Employment records are promptly, completely and accurately
established with proper safeguards against unauthorized access or the
preparation of fictitious records.

Payroll, Pensions and Other Fringe Benefits

1) Appropriate authority exists for the appointment, change and
termination of all personnel.

2 Compensation and benefit payments are in accordance with current
statutory or regulatory limitations.

3 Payments are made only in return for services rendered.

4 Gross and net payroll amounts and payroll deductions are correct.

5) Payroll charges, including fringe benefits, are recorded and distributed
promptly.

(6) Timely, accurate and complete subsidiary records are maintained of
vacation, sick leave and other balances.

@) Overtime pay is used only when necessary.

7. Property, Equipment, and Inventories:

Fixed Assets and Inventories

Q) Only authorized and needed property is procured.

2 Receipts of property are recorded timely and accurately in source
documents and accounting records.

3 Detailed subsidiary records are maintained for individual fixed assets
and significant categories of inventories and are periodically
reconciled to control accounts.
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4 Periodic physical verification is made of the existence and condition
of property and inventories.

5) Physical security measures are commensurate with the size, type and
value of property.

(6) Issues, transfers, retirements and losses are reported and accounted for
timely.

@) Assets are properly requisitioned and used exclusively for government
activities.

(8) Records of asset use are accurately maintained.

8. Revenues, Receivables and Cash:

Taxes

1) Taxing programs are applied to all individuals and organizations
subject to taxes.

2 Tax returns and assessments are reasonably correct.

3 All receipts are recorded accurately and timely.

4 Receipts are safeguarded while in the custody of the agency and
promptly deposited in the bank.

(5) Settlements, allowances and refunds are properly authorized.

(6) Taxing programs are administered in accordance with applicable laws
and regulations.

Services Rendered

@ Revenues are recorded immediately as services are rendered with
accounts receivable promptly established and billed on a timely basis.

(2 Receipts are recorded accurately and timely.

3 Receipts are safeguarded while in the custody of the agency and
promptly deposited in the bank.

4 Services rendered and related charges are conducted in accordance
with applicable laws and regulations.

5) Duties are properly segregated.



STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION INTERNAL CONTROLS PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
02.50.20 8 of 12
SUB-SECTION REFERENCE
EFFECTIVE DATE

July 1, 1991
PROCEDURE INTERNAL FISCAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
CONTROL REVIEW OBJECTIVES REVISION NUMBER
NEW
Other Sales

1) Sales are recorded immediately as items are sold with accounts
receivable promptly established and billed on a timely basis for non-
cash sales.

(2 Receipts are recorded accurately and timely.

3 Receipts are safeguarded while in the custody of the agency and are
promptly deposited in the bank.

4 Sales of goods, property, equipment, bonds, notes and other items are
conducted in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

Fines, Penalties and Judgments

1) Fines, penalties and judgments are levied on or sought from
individuals and organizations as required by laws or regulations.

2 Fines and penalties are charged at the proper statutory rate.

3 All receipts are recorded accurately and timely.

4) Receipts are safeguarded while in the custody of the agency and are
promptly deposited in the bank.

5) Rescissions and forgiveness are properly authorized.

Cash

1) Physical security safeguards are maintained where cash is stored and
processed.

2 Cash, check signing machines, signature plates and blank, partially
prepared, mutilated and voided checks are protected from
unauthorized use.

3 Receipts are recorded properly and timely and deposited promptly.

4 Disbursements are recorded properly and timely.

(5) Effective cash management system is maintained.

Neqgotiable Instruments and Other Investments

1) Physical security safeguards are maintained where negotiable
instruments and other investments are stored and processed.

2 Bonds, drafts and other securities are protected from unauthorized
use.
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3 Timely and accurate accounting is maintained.
4) Investments comply with legal requirements.
(5) Interest and other investment income is collected promptly when due.

Receivables

Q) Prompt and accurate recording of all receivables is maintained.

@) Ability exists to determine and report sources and age of receivables.

3 Continuous and timely attempts are made to collect receivables due.

4 The portion of receivables that may not be collectible is identified.

5) Validity of write-offs, conversions and settlement or forgiveness of
receivables exist.

(6) Repayments are collected, controlled and reported in a manner
consistent with applicable law and regulations.

(7) Title to property used as collateral is properly recorded, filed and
secured.

9. Petty Cash and Local Funds:

Q) Petty cash and local funds are subject to adequate accountability.

10. Grant Administration:

Q) Factors used in distribution formulas for entitlement grants are
accurately maintained.

@) Grantees' program eligibility requirements are sufficiently detailed to
ensure that the program beneficiaries and other interested parties
understand the qualifications to receive prescribed benefits.

3) Grantees maintain sound organizational, budgetary and accounting
systems that are periodically reviewed and evaluated.

4 Grantees' procurement procedures comply with regulations.

5) Grantees properly maintain, safeguard and account for government-
financed property and equipment.

(6) Grantees maintain current cost allocation plans and overhead rates.

@) Grantees are paid only for allowable costs and amounts.

(8) Financial compliance audits of grantee activity are performed at least
once every two years.
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9 Prompt and appropriate grant close-out actions are taken.
(10)  Potential irregularities which could create a significant liability to the
grantor is minimized.

State Assistance Payments to Other Governmental Units and
Individuals

Q) Disbursements are valid and properly approved.

2 Disbursements are recorded promptly and accurately to the
appropriate accounts.

3 Payments are within budget limits and in accordance with applicable
laws, regulations and agreements.

4 Payments are made only to eligible recipients for eligible costs.

(5) Payments are made promptly and in full.

11. Electronic Data Processing:

1) Proper authorization of transaction inputs, adequate edit checks and
necessary safeguards of sensitive input forms
exist to insure accurate, proper, complete and timely entry of
information.

2 Data is safeguarded to prevent unauthorized access, improper changes
or loss.

3 Appropriate controls exist to detect unauthorized use of the system.

4 Outputs are produced accurately, completely and timely.

The following presents internal control review objectives for those agencies that segment their
activities into operations cycles:

OPERATIONS CYCLES

The operations cycles are intended to encompass the agency's program activities that are subject to
these guidelines. The differences in agency missions make it impossible to develop a representative
list of operations cycles and corresponding control objectives. Hence, each agency/agency
component should examine its own programs and define the appropriate transaction/event cycles and
control objectives.
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The following are the operations cycles for some typical government programs and the internal
control objectives for these cycles.

Production Activities

The primary internal control objectives normally associated with
production activities include the following:

1)

)
©)

(4)

(®)
(6)
()
(8)

A production plan is authorized defining the products
to be manufactured, the timing and quantities of
production, and the needed inventory levels.

Lead time schedules are timely and accurate and
permit realistic due dates.

Product quality and engineering standards exist and
are monitored to ensure that quality products are
produced as efficiently as possible.

Production controls exist to ensure that the plant is
operating with the optimum mix of resources
including labor, equipment and materials.
Production controls exist to prevent the manufacture
of unauthorized products or quantities of products.
Resources used and products completed are timely and
accurately reported.

Production costs are computed accurately and
recorded timely.

Recorded balances of inventory, property and related
activity are periodically substantiated and evaluated.

Loans and Loan Guaranties

The primary internal control objectives normally associated with
loans and loan guidelines include the following:

1)

Applications for loans and loan guaranties are

evaluated for appropriateness of eligibility, collateral,
and other qualifying criteria prior to approval
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)

©)

(4)

()

(6)

Security interest in property used as collateral
properly recorded and

filed, and documents are secured by a responsible
custodian.

Accurate  receivables agings are prepared
systematically and timely.

Loan and loan guaranty repayments are collected,
controlled and reported in a manner that is consistent
with applicable appropriations, other law and policy.
Periodic estimates are made of uncollectible loan
balances with such estimates timely reported to
management.

Proper write-off, conversion and settlement or
forgiveness of delinquent loans is assured.

is
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CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

This section discusses the FCIAA requirements for certification by chief executive officers as to the
adequacy of their agency's systems of internal fiscal and administrative control.

PURPOSE OF THE FCIAA CERTIFICATION

The certification provides evidence that the chief executive officer of each State agency (ACEO) is
cognizant of the importance of internal control and is fully responsible for its necessary evaluation
and improvement processes. The certification process assures the ACEO that the agency has
established and is maintaining a system of internal fiscal and administrative controls (control
system) that provides reasonable assurances that:

1. Resources are utilized efficiently, effectively, and in compliance with
applicable law;

2. Obligations and costs are in accordance with applicable law;

3. Funds, property, and other assets and resources are safeguarded
against waste, loss, unauthorized use, and misappropriation;

4. Revenues, expenditures, and transfers of assets, resources, or funds
applicable to operations are properly recorded and accounted for to
permit the preparation of accounts and reliable financial and
statistical reports and to maintain accountability over the State's
resources; and,

5. Funds held outside the State Treasury are managed, used, and
obtained in strict accordance with the terms of their enabling
authorities and that no unauthorized funds exist.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

In addition to executing the powers and discharging the duties vested by law in his/her respective
agency, the ACEO is responsible for the establishment and maintenance of the control system within
his/her agency. This responsibility includes ensuring that the control system is documented and
evaluated, and on the basis of that evaluation, certifying annually the status of the agency's control
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system (i.e., whether it complies with FCIAA, Article 3, Section 3001.) Accordingly, in an
evaluation of internal fiscal and administrative controls, the ACEO and his/her management team

should provide a control environment that facilitates:

1.

Identifying risks inherent in the agency and the potential for errors
and irregularities.

Monitoring achievement of internal control objectives.

Monitoring compliance with specific internal controls to assure
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements (e.g., budgeting,
purchasing, contracting, leasing, expenditure control, personnel and
payroll, property and equipment, inventory control, revenues and
receivables, cash, petty cash, local funds, EDP, grant administration,
etc.)

Evaluating costs and benefits of internal control system
improvements.

Initiating revisions in laws and policies to improve controls or
eliminate unnecessary controls.

CERTIFICATION PROCEDURES

As head of a State agency, the ACEO is responsible for the agency's systems of internal controls and
therefore must ensure that adequate controls exist, and that they are implemented in a cost effective
manner and in conformity with applicable statutory mandates. The process of attaining assurances
regarding the adequacy of the agency's control system is the evaluation process. To fulfill his/her
responsibilities, the ACEO must be knowledgeable of and involved in the evaluation of internal

controls to the extent necessary to facilitate an efficient and effective evaluation.

There are a number of resources within an agency from which the ACEO can obtain assistance or

rely upon in the conduct of the FCIAA evaluation. These are:

Agency Internal Auditors - Internal auditors normally review internal control

structures and report the results of their reviews to the highest levels of management

in organizations. Internal auditors are a valuable resource to the agency and
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should provide technical guidance and oversight for all aspects of the evaluation
process in each agency.

Agency Managers - This group of individuals is responsible for managing all
administrative, programmatic, and operational functions within an agency.

A combination of the two - Assembling a FCIAA review team with representatives
from each of the above areas could greatly enhance the overall scope and depth of
understanding about agency operations needed to perform a comprehensive FCIAA
evaluation. The FCIAA review team could serve as the internal control coordinators
and assist the agency head by coordinating and managing the agency's internal
control evaluations.

The following should be given consideration by ACEOs in performing the FCIAA evaluation:

Competence

Reviewers should have high standards of personal and professional integrity and are competent, as to
education, training and experience, to perform evaluations.

Scheduling

Scheduling should take into consideration, resource availability, statutory and other administrative
requirements, cyclical operations, and other factors. It isessential, however, that work is completed
in time to provide a basis for the preparation and submission of the annual certification report on
May 1. Internal control evaluations should ordinarily be conducted annually, and, in larger agencies,
throughout the year and throughout subsequent years. This is necessary because the degree of
compliance with established procedures may deteriorate over time, and changes in conditions may
require changes in controls.

Documentation/reporting

Results of the evaluation should be clearly documented by the reviewer.

The approach presented in these guidelines establishes upward lines of communication for the
results of the evaluation process (Exhibit 02.50.30-A). The ACEO should consider receiving the
following for all transaction/event cycles evaluated:

A. Evaluation Letter to the ACEQ (See Procedure 02.50.50, Appendix A.)

An evaluation letter prepared by the FCIAA reviewers which



STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION INTERNAL CONTROLS PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
02.50.30 40f6
SUB-SECTION  REFERENCE EFFECTIVE DATE
July 1, 1991
PROCEDURE CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE REVISION NUMBER
OFFICERS NEW

summarizes the results of the FCIAA review should be provided to the ACEQ. This letter
will serve as the reviewers' representation that systems of internal control were evaluated in
accordance with established guidelines and if applicable, all weaknesses were reported in the
form of a Corrective Action Plan.

B. Corrective Action Plan (See Procedure 02.50.50, Appendix B.)

The Corrective Action Plan is used to document identified internal control weaknesses.
Specifically, the Corrective Action Plan outlines:

The transaction/event cycle.

A description of the weakness.

Cause of weakness.

Reasons why weakness cannot be corrected.
Cost of weakness.

Cost and benefits of corrective action.
Materiality of weakness.

Corrective action scheduled.

C. Certification Review Checklist (See Procedure 02.50.50, Appendix C.)

This document identifies determinations that the ACEO should make prior to signing the
Certification.

In conjunction with the documentation and reporting of the evaluation, a system should be
developed by each agency to track the status of all identified weaknesses.

CERTIFICATION REPORTING

Section 3003 of FCIAA requires that by May 1 of each year, the chief executive officer, shall, on the
basis of an evaluation conducted in accordance with guidelines established under Section 3002 of
the Act, prepare and transmit to the Auditor General a certification that:

1. The systems of internal fiscal and administrative controls of your State agency fully comply
with the requirements of the Fiscal Control and Internal Auditing Act (See Procedure
02.50.50, Appendix A); or

2. The systems of internal fiscal and administrative controls of your State agency do not fully
comply with the requirements of the Fiscal Control and Internal Auditing Act, (See
Procedure 02.50.50, Appendix A).
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FCIAA further requires that if the agency's systems do not fully comply with the requirements of
this Act, the certification shall include a report describing any material weaknesses in the agency's
system(s) of internal fiscal and administrative controls and a plan and schedule for correcting the
weaknesses, or a statement of the reasons why the weaknesses cannot be corrected.

The FCIAA certification letter should consist, at a minimum, the following five basic elements:
1. A statement that internal fiscal and administrative controls were evaluated in
accordance with guidelines established by the Comptroller in consultation with the

Director of Central Management Services.

2. A statement of the objectives of an internal control system as outlined in the Fiscal
Control and Internal Auditing Act Article 3, Section 3001.

3. A statement outlining the concept of reasonable assurance.
4. A statement of compliance or noncompliance.
5. A statement regarding required attachments.

The statute requires that a summary of material weaknesses and attendant corrective action plan(s)
must be prepared and provided to the Auditor General.

A corrective action plan must be prepared for each material weakness noted in the control system
(See Procedure 02.50.50, Appendix B.) For example, if while doing an evaluation of internal
controls of the payroll, personnel, and purchasing systems, a material weakness was noted in each
system, three separate corrective action plans would be prepared.

If an agency is unable to correct a particular control weakness, a statement of the reasons why the
weakness cannot be corrected, must be provided to the Auditor General.

Exhibit 02.50.30-A illustrates the primary flow of documents in the FCIAA certification process.
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The certification and any supporting reports should be presented in a sealed package to:

William G. Holland

Auditor General

State of Illinois, Office of the Auditor General
Iles Park Plaza

740 East Ash Street

Springfield, lllinois 62703-3154

Annual FCIAA certifications must be received by the Auditor General by no later than May 1 of
each year.
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EVALUATION OF INTERNAL CONTROLS
PURPOSE OF THE FCIAA INTERNAL CONTROL EVALUATION

The purpose of the FCIAA internal control evaluation is to enable the chief executive officer of each
State of Illinois agency to prepare and transmit to the Auditor General a certification that:

1) The systems of internal fiscal and administrative controls of the State
agency fully comply with the requirements of FCIAA; or

2) The systems of internal fiscal and administrative controls of the State
agency do not fully comply with the requirements of FCIAA.
STATE CONTROL STRUCTURE AND AGENCY RESPONSIBILITIES

This section discusses the control environment of the State of Illinois and describes the
responsibilities of State agencies in assuring proper internal controls are in place and are operative.

Responsibilities

The control environment in Illinois, like that of most other states, is complex. The State constitution
and laws establish the framework for our control structure. For example, the Governor, the
Comptroller, the Attorney General, the Secretary of State and the Treasurer exercise control at the
highest levels. The Governor allocates resources to operate programs consistent with program
objectives. The Comptroller, the State's chief fiscal control officer, prescribes the form and methods
of keeping certain accounts. The Attorney General, as the chief legal counselor of the State, is
responsible for advising state agencies regarding the correct interpretation of the laws and for
enforcing the laws of the State. The Secretary of State's responsibilities include administering the
State's motor vehicle and securities laws, acting as the State librarian, and maintaining the State
Archives and capitol complex, among other duties. The Treasurer has the responsibility for cash
management. The President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives are
presiding officers of their respective houses and jointly administer the legislative branch.

Some controls are exercised by statewide elected officials and some controls are exercised by
operating agencies. Elected officials disseminate policies, procedures and detailed technical
guidance to operating agencies by statute and by management directives. This is accomplished
through the preparation and distribution of manuals, memoranda, and other formal communicae.
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The specific control responsibilities associated with FCIAA are as follows:

Governor - Internal control is primarily a management responsibility of the Governor.
He has management/ enforcement authority over State agencies and can allocate
resources where necessary.

Comptroller - The State Comptroller's Office promulgates accounting and financial
reporting policies and procedures, provides SAMS training and technical guidance
to agencies on fiscal control and accounting matters.

Auditor General - Under FCIAA, the Auditor General will receive the annual internal
control certification letter/report from State agencies. The Auditor General is
required by law to make financial, compliance and performance audits. Such audits,
by their nature, require the Auditor General to review the internal control structure
of the State agencies, and his reports contain recommendations for improvements in
internal controls. The Auditor General will continue the normal statutory audits
which include a review of internal controls. These examinations by the Auditor
General, as well as those of the Internal Auditors, are valuable tools for responsible
agency personnel. To the extent internal controls have been evaluated by the
auditors, their examinations will help management understand the degree to which
controls are functioning.

Constitutional Offices also function as operating agencies in carrying out their responsibilities.
Therefore, good systems of internal control are the responsibility of each and every Constitutional
Officer, agency, or unit of State government.

In addition to developing controls to assure compliance with control agency manuals, State agencies
must also develop controls for situations unique to them. Each State agency must make sure its
internal controls are consistent with its own mission and organizational structure and with Statewide
controls.

Transactions and events are initiated at the operating agency level and, therefore, the remainder of
this manual is targeted to the documentation and evaluation of the control structure within each State
agency.
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EVALUATION AND IMPROVEMENT

Executives and managers of the State's agencies are responsible for maintaining an adequate internal
control structure. Earlier sections of these guidelines establish broad coverage of internal control
structure, and of internal control as the framework for efficiency and economy in State government.
An internal control structure concerns not only the financial and administrative activities of an
agency, but also the agency's related programs and operational activities. To summarize, an internal
control structure consists of the following:

INTERNAL CONTROL STRUCTURE

Financial/Accounting Controls - The controls on authorizing, processing, recording,
and reporting transactions (which operate within the broader control environment of
administrative controls). For example: authorization and classification of
expenditures under established guidelines. These guidelines should be clearly
defined, documented, approved by appropriate authorities, and communicated.
Contracts must be entered into the accounting systems in a timely manner. Timely
payments to contractors/vendors must be based on proper invoices approved by
authorized persons and reconciled with ordering and receiving documents.

Administrative Controls - The broad controls on all activities carried out by officials
to accomplish their objectives. Primarily, these activities concern planning,
organization, productivity monitoring, improvement and quality control activities.
For example: the planning and budgeting activity should be synchronized with the
management reporting system. Budget and management reports should be in the
same format, at the same level of detail and contain data classified in a manner
consistent with the plans/budgets and should display planned and actual results.
Agencies should hire and train competent qualified personnel. The plan or
organization should provide for an appropriate segregation of functions. Determining
need for contracts, seeking prospective contractors, negotiating contracts, and
authorizing payments to contractors are activities which should be separated.

Program and Operational Controls - The controls on planning and accomplishing the
agency's missions and objectives. For example: Procedures exist to develop policies
and procedures. Results of agency activities are regularly evaluated; and procedures
exist for periodically evaluating the agency's/organization's method of operation
(centralized vs. decentralized organization structure).
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Programmatic controls are directly linked to financial internal controls (financial
accounting and administrative controls) as an important part of the overall internal
control structure of each State agency.

Evaluations And Reporting

There are several ways to evaluate and report on internal controls. These guidelines provide one
effective approach based on five proven techniques applied in complex entities similar to the State
of lllinois. This is only one of many acceptable approaches to conducting the FCIAA review.
It has been developed at a level of detail sufficient for use by those agencies without an established
or effective internal audit program.

In all cases, efforts should be made to build upon the work of agency internal and external auditors
in determining the nature and scope of necessary FCIAA internal control review work. The five step
process is summarized as follows:

1. Organizing the Evaluation - Assigning responsibilities for all
participants to assure that each agency completes the appropriate
analysis and reports. It concerns: planning, directing, and controlling
the evaluation process; and tracking the status of the evaluation and
corrective actions and other information necessary to manage the
process.

2. Segmenting the Agency - Is usually required because agencies and
institutions are too large to be included in a single control evaluation
and because agencies' programs are too diverse to be included in a
single comprehensive review. It is recommended that each agency be
segmented into organizational or functional components, each
identified as a "review entity".

3. Conducting Internal Control Reviews - For the selected internal
control entities, conduct internal control reviews to ensure that the
defined control objectives and techniques are functioning as intended.
Then develop recommendations to correct weaknesses in either the
design or functioning of the Internal control structure.

4. Taking Corrective Action - The reported recommendations resulting
from the internal control reviews are analyzed and corrective actions
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are scheduled if the anticipated cost of implementing the
recommendation will not exceed the expected benefit. (See
Procedure 02.50.30)

5. Preparing Annual Certification Reports - Each agency combines the
results of each of its review entity internal control reviews into an
annual certification report to the Auditor General. The report reflects
the current status of each agency's internal control structure. A copy
of the annual certification report and all supporting documentation
will be maintained in each agency for use by the Auditor General,
Legislative Audit Commission, and other appropriate State
authorities. (See Procedure 02.50.30)

ORGANIZING THE EVALUATION

As previously explained, the first technique of the internal control evaluation is to organize the
evaluation process. It is critical that an agency, whether large or small, carefully organize and assign
responsibilities to ensure that the evaluation, improvement and reporting on internal controls is
effective. Key considerations should include, among other things, the following:

1. Assigning responsibilities,

2. Internal reporting,

3. Documentation,

4. Personnel and supervision, and

5. Scheduling the evaluation process.

Assignment of Responsibility

Each participant in the evaluation process must be identified and responsibilities clearly assigned to
prevent confusion and provide an orderly method for collecting and reporting information.
Responsibility for the internal control evaluations should be assigned to the lowest supervisory level.
The suggested responsibilities of each participant are described as follows:
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Agency Chief Executive Officers - Responsible for the overall review of information,
evaluating the organizations under their authority and reporting annually on the status
of the internal control structure of their agencies. Specific responsibilities should
include the following:

Select an evaluation approach.

Assign responsibilities throughout the organization.

Appoint an internal control coordinator.

Maintain and demonstrate a positive attitude toward all participants
concerning the necessity of an effective internal control environment.
Review internal control evaluation reports and discuss at progress
meetings.

Report annually on the status of the agency's internal controls.
Ensure that subsequent actions, including the correction of control
weaknesses, are performed.

Agency Internal Auditors - Internal auditors normally review internal control
structures and report the results of their reviews to the highest levels of management
in organizations. These reviews are usually undertaken on the auditors' own initiative
or at the request of the agency head. They are either separate reviews of internal
controls or are reviews performed in conjunction with internal audits. Internal
auditors are a valuable resource to the agency and should provide technical guidance
and oversight for all aspects of the evaluation process in each agency. Specifically,
the internal auditors:

Perform or provide technical assistance on conducting internal control
evaluations.

Prepare or provide guidance on preparing internal control reports for
submission to the agency chief executive officer.

Provide advisory service to agency heads and key agency managers
on preparing the annual internal control certification reports.

The internal auditor may also serve as the designated agency coordinator for the FCIAA internal
control review process. In this capacity, the internal auditor would be responsible for providing
assistance to the agency head by coordinating and managing the agency's evaluations. Internal
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control review coordinators also serve as contacts between the agency and other individuals who are
interested in the agency's internal control structure. Specifically, the FCIAA internal control review
coordinator should:

Determine that the agency is segmented into manageable "review
entities" to facilitate conducting the FCIAA review.

Formalize an agency-wide evaluation reporting and tracking system
to make sure that FCIAA internal control reviews are completed on
a timely basis.

Review internal control review results and discuss at progress
meetings.

Prepare the annual certification report for the agency chief executive
officer.

If there is no agency internal auditor, or it is determined that the internal auditor should, for whatever
reason, not serve in this "coordinator" role, the ACEO should identify another agency manager to
perform the FCIAA review coordinator function.

Internal Reporting

The internal control coordinator, as explained earlier, maintains the evaluation, data collection and
tracking system. This system should monitor the accomplishments of the various tasks that make
up the evaluation and improvement process. The system should identify each review (segmented)
entity and the responsible entity manager, track the conduct of the FCIAA review, and track the
completion of subsequent actions.

Documentation

The methods used, the personnel involved and their roles, the key factors considered, and the
conclusions reached must be documented to provide a permanent record. Written narratives and
flowcharts should be used when necessary to describe and illustrate various internal control
processes.
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Personnel and Supervision

It is important that an adequate level of resources be committed to the process. It is likely that
internal control reviews will be performed by persons from various parts of the agency. These
persons need to be competent on matters concerning internal control and the process described in
these guidelines so proper judgments can be made. Some specific considerations to help are as
follows:

Hold an orientation meeting to explain the objectives of and
procedures for conducting the assessments and reviews.

Assign personnel using a "team" approach so small groups of
individuals can perform assessments/reviews jointly. This will
provide some assurance that limitations of one individual can be
offset by the strengths of another.

Provide adequate and active supervision of the entire process.

Scheduling the Evaluation Process

The FCIAA review should be scheduled after carefully considering resource availability, statutory
and other administrative requirements, cyclical operations, and other factors. It is essential, however,
that work is completed in time to provide a basis for the preparation of the annual certification
report. Internal control reviews should be conducted annually, and, in larger or "designated"
agencies, throughout each year to enable all major systems of internal accounting and administrative
control to be audited at least once every two years. This is necessary because the degree of
compliance with established procedures may deteriorate over time, and changes in conditions may
require changes in controls.

In summary, it is critical that agency management commit the time and resources of its key personnel
to planning and organization to ensure a good start. In the next section, an approach to segmenting
the agency into review entities will be discussed.
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SEGMENTING THE AGENCY

Most State agencies are large, complex organizations with broad responsibilities over a variety of
programs. As a result, it is often difficult to perform an internal control review on the agency as a
whole. Accordingly, it is recommended that the agency be divided into "segmented” or "review"
entities. With small, manageable entities, the internal control review processes can be delegated to
lower levels in the agency, where they can be better managed.

As mentioned earlier, an agency can be segmented according to the following two basic approaches
or a combination thereof.

1. Transaction cycle approach, and

2. Organizational structure approach.

A description of the two basic methods and factors to be considered follows:

Transaction Cycle Approach

First, appropriate functional transactional cycles must be identified. A transaction cycle is a stream
of related events and processes which satisfy one overall functional need of the agency.

This method will result in broad review entities (cycles) such as the revenue cycle, disbursement
cycle, and budget cycle which cut across organizational lines. For example, the Budget Transaction
Cycle would include processes performed in the budget office as well as in the operating offices and
accounting offices.

This method best clarifies the interaction of controls between different units. Controls in each unit
will be evaluated and reviewed to see how they affect the agency as a whole. The transaction cycle
approach might be preferred for a small independent agency which is not as complex as a large
agency.

The drawbacks of this method include the need to cross over organizational lines of authority, often
involving many managers, and the lack of an organizational structure along cycle lines. These
drawbacks can seriously impede an orderly and successful evaluation.
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Organization Structure Approach

This method involves delegating internal control responsibilities to managers along formal
organization lines. Factorsto be considered in segmenting the agency into review entitiesunder this
method are as follows:

Organizational Chart - Segmentation that closely follows the agency's formal
structure is usually efficient and effective when the organizational lines are clearly
shown. When lines of authority and reporting responsibilities are interwoven, the
organization chart becomes less useful as atool for segmentation.

Physical L ocation - An agency's programs or administrative functions could operate
in several locations. Since the control systems would be separate, it may be
necessary to perform separate evaluations at each location. On the other hand, if an
agency's operations are confined to one location, it may be appropriate to have
review entities that include more functions.

Autonomy - The moreindependent afunction, themorelikely thefunction should be
considered a separate review entity.

Materiality - An important consideration in any organization is the commitment of
personnel and dollars. The larger the program, the greater the likelihood that the
function should be considered a separate review entity.

When segmenting the agency, the support activities (cash receipts, cash disbursements, etc.) must be
examined to determine whether they should be a separate review entity based on the degree of
centralization and control. The greater the autonomy, the greater therisk and, therefore, the greater
the need for accountability and emphasis of thisfunction as a separate review entity. For example,
in a large agency, the support activity may be centralized at the "Office of the Director"
organizationa level. This activity should be studied to determine the extent of its control and
responsibility to decideif it should be segregated from the administrative office asaseparate review
entity.

Persons responsiblefor support activities should answer applicable questions on theinternal control
review forms. However, minor del egations of authority may require other entitiesto answer some of
the questions.
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For example, although there might be a centralized cash disbursement function, other units might
be responsible for receiving and forwarding invoices or for petty cash funds and would answer the
questions pertaining to these specific functions.

Examples of support activities that could be considered review entities at the agency or institutional
level are:

Strategic and Long Range Planning - This involves establishing and implementing
broad, long range goals and objectives. This process is important since it charts the
general direction of the entity for the future.

Operational Planning - This concerns setting objectives for the current budget cycle.
The annual budget expresses the current year's objectives in financial terms.

Program Operations, Planning and Management - This includes maintaining
performance standards and reports so that management may analyze performance
(such as construction completion milestones, claims administered per employee,
accounts processed for collection, and transaction processing time).

Loan and Accounts Receivable Collection - This support activity includes all
procedures concerning collection of the organization's loans and accounts receivable.

Cash Receipts/Revenues/Sales - This activity includes all actions associated with the
receipt, depositing and safeguarding of cash, including imprest/working funds.

Cash Disbursements/Procurement - This concerns all of the purchasing processes,
accounting for the related liabilities and authorizations for payment.

Payroll - This activity encompasses all duties and procedures related to time,
attendance and payroll functions performed within the organization.

Property, Plant and Equipment - This includes all policies, procedures, and
operations concerning the acquisition, maintenance, and disposition of the
organization's fixed assets, including accounting.
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Electronic Data Processing - This includes general and application controls on
electronic data processing. Due to the widespread use of computers, the assessment
process will require a significant commitment of resources to this area on a
continuing basis.

Travel - This process includes all policies related to travel by employees including
authorization, reporting, expenditure guidelines, and cash advances.

The advantages of segmenting on an organizational basis include:

A disadvantage of this method is that the flow of transactions may be disrupted. For example, information
regularly flows between personnel, payroll, and accounting activities. Breaking these activities along

organiz

An entity manager-in-charge is usually in place who has authority and
responsibility for internal controls;

There is a greater understanding of operations by personnel; and,

It is easier to segment an agency along lines of authority and
responsibility that already exist.

ational lines may cause inefficiencies later in the evaluation process.

Review Entity Characteristics

Regardless of which approach to segmentation is used, all review entities should have the following

characteristics:

An entity facilitates management's efforts to reduce inherent risks caused by:

Material budget levels.

Significant procurement/assistance responsibility.
Significant complexity in the programs'/ systems' services.
Significant amounts of cash, negotiable instruments, or other
assets.

Significant decentralization of activities.
Increasing/decreasing age and "life expectancy" (e.g.,

the entity is being phased out).

Special concerns outside the entity (entity being
scrutinized/ investigated).
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An entity has logical cycles for use, disposition or maintenance of the resources.
An entity has specific control objectives relating to transaction/event cycles.

In an entity, all managers directly accountable for its functions are included
in the assessment process.

All major functions and activities must be included in the review entity. The exclusion of activities
from an entity may result in improper management conclusions on the activities subject to
vulnerability assessment and on the agency's overall internal control structure.

Another source of information that should not be overlooked is the segmentation approach used by
the Auditor General in conducting audits of agencies. The Auditor General is similarly concerned
about controls/functions and often structures examinations giving consideration to the factors
described earlier in this section.

Remember, the purpose of segmentation is to identify manageable entities of an agency's activities
to assure that:

1) All important inherent risks are identified,

2) Meaningful evaluations are made to determine if the environment is
conducive to effective internal control techniques, and

3) Knowledgeable individuals assess how well internal controls are
meeting their stated objectives.

After each review entity has been identified, it should be assigned a control number and an entity
manager.

The next section, explains how to perform the FCIAA internal control review.

PERFORMING THE FCIAA FISCAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE CONTROLS REVIEW

An internal control review is a "detailed examination™ of a system of internal control to determine
whether adequate control "measures™ 1) exist and 2) are implemented either in a cost effective
manner or in response to statutory mandates to "prevent” or "detect"” the occurrence of potential risks.
Procedures within transaction or event cycles are targeted in detail control reviews.
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The internal control review approach described in these guidelines has six steps:

Identifying transaction/event cycles.

Analyzing the general control environment.

Documenting each transaction/event cycle.

Evaluating the internal controls within each transaction/event cycle.
Testing the internal controls.

Assessing the results of the internal control review and developing
corrective action plans.

ouh~wWNE

The remainder of this section discusses these steps and suggested sub-steps in detail. Once again,
it is important to note the following detailed internal control review program is intended to be
sufficiently comprehensive to enable an agency without an effective internal audit program to
perform a thorough FCIAA internal control review. Every effort should be made to build and rely
upon work performed by internal and external auditors in determining the nature and scope of
additional work required to satisfy the FCIAA. A sample checklist for use in conducting the FCIAA
internal control review is presented in Volume Il of these guidelines.

Step 1

Identifying Transaction/Event Cycles - The first step in conducting an internal control
review is to identify the review entity "transaction/event cycles." Transaction/event
cycles isolate the various processing systems of the entity in logical work flow
patterns for conducting effective reviews.

Transaction/event cycles are defined as a series of processes which initiate and
achieve an end product, create the necessary documentation and gather and report
related data. In other words, a transaction/event cycle is a stream of related
transaction/events and processes which satisfy one overall functional need of the
entity. Or, putting it yet still another way, a transaction/event cycle is a series of
steps taken to get something done, document and report it.

Each transaction/event cycle is structured with defined beginning and ending points.
For example, the disbursement cycle in the State Comptroller's Office begins with the
receipt of the disbursement voucher form from a State agency and ends with the
delivery of a warrant drawn on the State Treasury. Another example might be a
student loan transaction/event cycle which could begin with the receipt of an



STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION INTERNAL CONTROLS PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
02.50.40 15 of 20
SUB-SECTION REFERENCE
EFFECTIVE DATE
July 1, 2000
PROCEDURE EVALUATION OF INTERNAL CONTROLS
REVISION NUMBER
01-001

application and conclude with the disbursement of the loan. It is important to note
that transaction/event cycles typically are framed in totality within a review entity.
Therefore in a large organization, the ending point for the transaction/event cycle in
one entity might be the starting point for the transaction/event cycle in another review
entity.

All transaction/event cycles in a review entity selected for review should be
identified. Also, all functions and activities performed within the review entity
should be included in one of the transaction/event cycles identified.

On the other hand, management in some cases may determine that certain activities
are performed uniformly within many review entities and, therefore, these activities
should be considered for internal control review as a totality in another review entity.
An example might be time and attendance processing which should be an activity
performed throughout the organization in accordance with standard policy and
uniform procedures. Where such standards and uniformity exist, management may
decide to perform the detail internal control review on the whole activity once and
not repeat the review or portions of it with each review entity.

Identifying transaction/event cycles in a review entity is accomplished by the following sub-steps:

la. Gathering background information.

1b. Conducting interviews.

1c. Completing a general narrative and/or flowchart of the
review entity.

1d. Preparing a list of transaction/event cycles.

le. Selecting transaction/event cycles for detail internal
control reviews.

Sub-Step 1a. Gathering Background Information

The person assigned to perform the internal control review must
become familiar with the day-to-day activities of the review entity, if
they aren't already. Background information gathered in the
vulnerability assessment may be helpful to the person conducting the
detailed internal control review. Such background information may
include:
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Agency goals/objectives

Budgets/plans

Vulnerability assessments

Organizational charts/functional statements
Process flowcharts/narratives

Policies and procedures manuals

Program evaluations and other reviews
Financial statements

The reviewer should also study reports issued by the agency internal
auditor, or the Auditor General. The reports usually provide clues in
identifying areas needing management attention.

Sub-Step 1b. Conducting Interviews

The reviewer should interview review entity personnel to make sure
that he or she has identified and understands all activities and
functions accurately.

Sub-Step 1c. Completing a General Narrative and/or Flowchart of
the Review entity

The responsible reviewer should document the entity with a general
systems narrative and flowchart. This process ensures that the
reviewer has considered all the significant processes and workflows
within the entity. The systems narrative and flowchart should be of
a high level or summary nature. Entity operating personnel should
review the document to make sure it is accurate and complete.

Sub-Step 1d. Preparing a Listing of Transaction/
event Cycles

After identifying and listing all functions, the reviewer should determine if each
function merits its own transaction/event cycle or if it combines with other functions
to form a transaction/event cycle. Transaction/event cycles should not be defined in
such detail as to create unnecessary burdens on the entity in the form of numerous,
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costly and perhaps, duplicate reviews. For example, perhaps
receiving student tuition payments could be combined with depositing
payments.

Sub-Step 1le. Selecting Transaction/event Cycles for Detail Internal
Control Reviews

After all transaction/event cycles are identified, the reviewer should
list them and determine which transaction/event cycles are to be
reviewed. An explanation/justification for this determination should
be provided in the workpapers.

STEP 2

Analyzing the General Control Environment - Evaluating the general control
environment is an important part of an internal control review. This environment
includes: management attitude, organization structure, personnel, delegation and
communication of authority and responsibility, policies and procedures, budgeting
and reporting practices, organization checks and balances, etc.

Before the reviewer prepares a transaction/event cycle's flowcharts and narratives, he
or she must analyze its general control environment to identify weaknesses in the
control environment, which affect control techniques. As each evaluative criteria is
assessed, the reviewer should determine whether corrective action is needed and what
form corrective action should take. These decisions should be documented.

The review staff member with the most knowledge of the review entity should
analyze the general control environment of each transaction/event cycle. The
assigned reviewer should:

1) Review all completed evaluative documentation,

2) Visit the location,

3) Review documented policies and procedures,

4) Observe practices, and

5) Interview management to draw upon its familiarity with the
operations and functions of the review unit.
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STEP 3

Documenting Each Transaction/event Cycle - To document each transaction/event
cycle for a thorough understanding of how it operates, the reviewer should:

1) Interview the persons involved in the cycle,

2) Review existing documentation,

3) Observe the activity, and

4) Prepare either a narrative explanation or a flowchart accompanied by
appropriate narrative information in sufficient detail to permit an
in-depth analysis of the existence and adequacy of internal controls.

The documentation should identify for each cycle such things as the procedures, the
personnel performing the procedures, the forms and records developed and
maintained, and the number and dollar value of transaction/events processed and any
error rates.

The reviewer should verify the accuracy of the flowchart and narrative by conducting
interviews or walkthroughs. Walkthroughs consist of tracing transactions or events
from start to finish, noting specifically how the transaction or event is processed.

Proper documentation allows the reader to visualize an individual transaction/event
moving through the cycle from start to finish, identifying all key control points and
processes.

STEP 4

Evaluating the Internal Controls Within Each Transaction/Event Cycle - The
reviewer must study the flowcharts, narratives and other documentation to determine
if the current techniques as documented meet control objectives. There are three sub-
steps in this process:

4a. Identify control objectives.

4b. Identify control techniques.

4c. Match objectives and techniques and make a
preliminary assessment of controls.
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Sub-Step 4a. ldentify Control Objectives

Control objectives are desired goals or conditions for a specific
transaction/event cycle. By achieving control objectives, the potential
for waste, loss, unauthorized use or misappropriation is minimized.
Procedure 02.50.20 lists sample internal control review objectives
which can be used for typical review entities. Once identified, the
control objectives should be summarized.

For control objectives to be effective, compliance must be measurable
and observable. To measure compliance, the reviewer must identify
and evaluate control techniques.

Sub-Step 4b. Identify Control Techniques

The reviewer must identify existing control techniques from detailed
transaction/event cycle narratives and flowcharts prepared in Step 3.
A control technique is defined as "a procedure, process or document
that is being relied on to efficiently and effectively accomplish a
control objective and thus help safeguard an activity from error."

Sub-Step 4c.  Match Objectives and Techniques and Make a
Preliminary Assessment of Controls

In this sub-step, the reviewer matches the control objectives identified
in sub-step 1 and the control techniques identified in sub-step 2. The
reviewer must then make a preliminary assessment of the validity of
control techniques and note the results in the workpapers. This helps
the reviewer to identify:

1. Internal control techniques which are strengths and
must be tested under the next step, Step 5.

2. Control objectives for which control techniques are
not adequate and for which system corrections must
be made.

3. Control techniques that are unnecessary or excessive

and can be eliminated.
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Evaluating the Internal Controls - All internal controls (other than those determined to be
inadequate and/or unnecessary) should be evaluated to verify that they are functioning as
intended. The internal controls to be evaluated should be listed in the workpapers.

The evaluation should be based on 1) ongoing work performed by agency internal auditors,
2) the results of the work performed in Steps 1-4 above, and 3) any additional testing of
internal controls deemed necessary to sufficiently evaluate their adequacy. The evaluation
should serve as the basis for the chief executive officer's annual FCIAA certification, as
discussed in Procedure 02.50.30 of these guidelines.

In those instances when testing of internal controls is deemed necessary, such testing may
be done by selecting a sample of transactions or events, reviewing the documentation
supporting those transactions, making other observations and inquiries, and determining
whether the specified techniques are satisfactorily employed.

A sample includes, a representative number of transactions or events. The sample size will
vary depending on: the nature and significance of the technique being tested, the
characteristics of the individual transactions and the degree of assurance required. Sampling
is used because verifying the entire population is unnecessary and impractical. The number
of transactions to be tested should be the minimum necessary to provide the reviewer
reasonable assurance that control techniques are functioning as intended.  Test
documentation must support the reviewer's conclusions. This documentation typically
includes pertinent information such as personnel interviewed, observations performed,
documents tested, dates, transaction types, amounts and any other distinguishing data.

After the documentation is completed, each transaction/event cycle control objective is
evaluated to determine whether the existing control techniques provide reasonable assurance
that the objective is achieved in an efficient and effective manner and/or that legally
mandated control objectives are being achieved. Collect and summarize results in the
workpapers. First, evaluate the control technique as either functioning or not functioning and
then, if it is functioning, assess the adequacy of the technique in meeting the objective. The
reviewer should note:

Test results which indicate that the technique is not being performed.

Test results which indicate that the technique is either not necessary
(over control) or not meeting the stated objectives (weakness).

The reviewer then makes corrective action recommendations for further consideration.
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SAMPLE CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
OF THE STATE AGENCY'S SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Honorable William G. Holland
Auditor General
Springfield, Illinois 62703-3154

An evaluation of the internal fiscal and administrative controls of the (hame of agency) in effect
during the reporting period was performed in accordance with guidelines established
by the Comptroller in consultation with the Director of Central Management Services.

The objectives of the system of the internal fiscal and administrative controls of the (name of agency)
are to provide reasonable assurance that:

1. resources are utilized efficiently, effectively, and in compliance with applicable law;
2. obligations and costs are in compliance with applicable law;
3. funds, property, and other assets and resources are safeguarded against waste, loss,

unauthorized use, and misappropriation;

4. revenues, expenditures, and transfers of assets, resources, or funds applicable to operations
are properly recorded and accounted for to permit the preparation of accounts and reliable
financial and statistical reports and to maintain accountability over the State's resources; and

5. funds held outside the State Treasury are managed, used, and obtained in strict accordance
with the terms of their enabling authorities and that no unauthorized funds exist.

The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of inherent control should not exceed
the benefits expected to be derived therefrom, and that the benefits consist of reductions in the risks
of failing to achieve the stated objectives. Estimates and judgments are required to assess the
expected benefits and related costs of control procedures. Furthermore, errors or irregularities may
occur and not be detected because of inherent limitations in any system of internal accounting and
administrative control, including those limitations resulting from resource constraints, legislative
restrictions, and other factors.
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Finally, projection of any evaluation of the system to future periods is subject to the risk that
procedures may be inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance
with the procedures may deteriorate. Nonetheless, | have taken the necessary measures to assure that
the evaluation, identified in the first paragraph, has been conducted in a thorough and conscientious
manner.

(Select the appropriate paragraph)

1. The systems of internal fiscal and administrative controls of the (name of agency) comply
with the requirements of this Act.

2. The systems of internal fiscal and administrative controls of the (hame of agency) do not fully
comply with the requirements of this Act. Attachment A to this letter is a summary of
material weaknesses. Attachment B is the corrective action plan which outlines a schedule
for correcting the weakness. A separate corrective action plan is presented for each
weakness.

(Signature of Chief Executive Officer)
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APPENDIX A
(CONTINUED)

SAMPLE EVALUATION LETTER TO THE ACEO FROM AGENCY FCIAA REVIEWER OR
REVIEW TEAM

Dear (ACEO):

In accordance with your delegation of responsibilities to me (us), | (we) have performed an
evaluation of the system of internal accounting and administrative control of the (name of
transaction/event cycle) in effect during the year ended . As required by the
Fiscal Control and Internal Auditing Act, Article 3, Section 3003, this evaluation has been conducted
in accordance with the guidelines established by the Comptroller, in consultation with the Director
of Central Management Services.

The objectives of the internal accounting and administrative control of the (name of transaction/event
cycle) are to provide reasonable assurance that:

(Check applicable objective)
Resources are utilized efficiently, effectively, and in compliance with applicable law;
Obligations and costs are in compliance with applicable law;

Funds, property, and other assets and resources are safeguarded against waste, loss,
unauthorized use, and misappropriation;

Revenues, expenditures, and transfers of assets, resources, or funds applicable to operations
are properly recorded and accounted for to permit the preparation of accounts and reliable
financial and statistical reports and to maintain accountability over the State's resources; and

Funds held outside the State Treasury are managed, used, and obtained in strict accordance
with the terms of their enabling authorities and that no unauthorized funds exist.

I (we) have identified all the objectives that are applicable to the (name of transaction/event cycle).
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The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of internal control should not exceed
the benefits expected to be derived therefrom, and that the benefits consist of reductions in the risks
of failing to achieve the stated objectives. Estimates and judgments are required to assess the
expected benefits and related costs of control procedures. Furthermore, errors or irregularities may
occur and not be detected because of inherent limitations in any system of internal accounting and
administrative control, including those limitations resulting from resource constraints, legislative
restrictions, and other factors. Finally, projection of any evaluation of the system to future periods
is subject to the risk that procedures may be inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the
degree of compliance with the procedures may deteriorate. Nonetheless, | (we) have taken the
necessary measures to assure that the evaluation, identified in the first paragraph, has been conducted
in a thorough and conscientious manner.

(Select the appropriate paragraph)

1. The systems of internal fiscal and administrative controls of the (name of transaction/event
cycle) comply with the requirements of this Act.

2. The systems of internal fiscal and administration controls of the (name of transaction/event
cycle) do not fully comply with the requirements of this Act. Attachment A to this letter is
a corrective action plan for each weakness which:

a. fully describes the weakness,
b. provides a plan and schedule for correcting the weakness; and
C. includes a determination as to whether the weakness is material.

(Signature of Reviewer)
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APPENDIX B

SAMPLE CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN

INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING CORRECTIVE ACTION PLANS

1. AGENCY: The title of the agency the reviewer is working for should be placed
on this line (e.g., Comptroller). This would not apply to all state
agencies.

2. TRANSACTION/
EVENT CYCLE: The transaction/event cycle that the reviewer is directly accountable
for should be placed in this space (e.g., Accounts Receivable).

3. DESCRIPTION
OF MATERIAL
WEAKNESS: Provide a three to five sentence description of the weakness. Be
specific with respect to how fiscal/administrative weakness are in
noncompliance with Article 3 Section 3001 of the Fiscal Control and
Internal Auditing Act.

4. CAUSE OF
CONDITION: Provide an explanation for how the material weakness was created.

S. REASON WHY

WEAKNESS

CANNOT BE

CORRECTED Provide and explanation for why the weakness cannot be corrected.
6. COST OF

WEAKNESS How much is the weakness currently costing the agency or how much

is it projected that the weakness will cost the agency if not corrected?

7. COST AND
BENEFITS OF
CORRECTIVE
ACTION: How much will it cost to correct the weakness. What benefits to the
internal control structure will be realized by implementing the
recommended actions.
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APPENDIX B

(CONTINUED)
Prepared by Date
Reviewed by Date

(Supervisor's Signature)

STATE OF ILLINOIS

CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN

(For reporting to ACEQ)

AGENCY:

TRANSACTION/EVENT CYCLE:

DESCRIPTION OF MATERIAL WEAKNESS:

CAUSE OF CONDITION:

REASONS WHY WEAKNESS CANNOT BE CORRECTED:
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(CONTINUED)
COST OF WEAKNESS:
COST AND BENEFITS OF CORRECTIVE ACTION:
MATERIALITY OF WEAKNESS:
CORRECTIVE ACTION SCHEDULED
RESPONSIBLE PERSON:
Dates
Begin End
TASK -1
TASK - 2

Chief Executive Officer's
Signature

Date
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(CONTINUED)
STATE OF ILLINOIS
CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN
(For reporting to the Auditor General)
AGENCY:
DESCRIPTION OF MATERIAL WEAKNESS:
REASONS WHY WEAKNESS CANNOT BE CORRECTED:
CORRECTIVE ACTION SCHEDULED
RESPONSIBLE PERSON:
Dates
Begin End

TASK - 1
TASK - 2

Chief Executive Officer's
Signature

Date
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APPENDIX C
CERTIFICATION REVIEW CHECKLIST

The objective of the Certification Review Checklist is to identify inquiries and determinations the
chief executive officer should make prior to signing the certification letter. "Yes" responses to the
questions appearing below will provide a reasonable degree of assurance that agency systems of
internal fiscal and administrative controls comply with Article 3, Sections 3001 and 3002 of the
Fiscal Control and Internal Auditing Act, or, if not in compliance, that all material weaknesses have
been reported.

QUESTIONS
Yes No
1. All Evaluation Letters have been received for
each transaction/event cycle that was evaluated.
2. All Evaluation Letters indicated that all
applicable internal control objectives had
been identified.

3. The Evaluation Letters clearly indicate
compliance or lack of compliance with FCIAA.

4, For those evaluations that identified control
weaknesses a Corrective Action Plan was
submitted for each weakness.

5. The Corrective Action Plans were complete as
to:

Transaction/Event Cycle Evaluated
Description of Material Weakness

Cause of Condition

Reason Why Weakness Cannot Be
Corrected

Cost of Weakness
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Yes No
Cost and Benefits of Corrective Action

Scheduling for Correcting Weaknesses
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GLOSSARY

Activities - Major services or goods provided by an organizational unit. Major activities directly
related to the program's objectives.

Agency - Any office, officer, department, commission, board, bureau, division, school, college,
university, institution or other agency or unit of the State government subject to audit by the Auditor
General of this State as defined in the State Auditing Act.

Agency Component - A functional subdivision, a major organization, a program or a functional
subdivision of an agency.

Chief Executive Officer - Includes, respectively, the Secretary of State, the State Comptroller, the
State Treasurer, the Attorney General, the State Superintendent of Education, such chief executive
officers as are designated by the governing board of each State college and university, the executive
director of the Illinois Toll Highway Authority and the executive director of the Illinois Housing
Development Authority, as well as the chief executive officer of each other State agency.

Certification Report on the Status of Internal Control - See "Internal Control Certification".

Control Technigues - The mechanisms used to achieve control objectives and which prevent, detect
or correct errors.

Detail Internal Control Review - See "Internal Control Review".

Event Cycle - The processes used to initiate and perform related activities, create the necessary
documentation and gather and report related data.

General Control Environment - Various environmental factors that can influence the effectiveness
of internal controls over program and administrative functions.

Inherent Risk - The potential for fraud, waste and abuse due to the nature of an activity. For
example, activities conducted within severe time constraints have greater inherent risk that those
which are not subject to time constraints.

Internal Control - The steps that an agency takes to provide reasonable assurance that obligations and
costs are in compliance with applicable law; funds, property and other assets are safeguarded against
waste, loss, unauthorized use or misappropriation; revenues and expenditures
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APPENDIX D
GLOSSARY

applicable to agency operations are properly recorded and accounted for to permit the preparation
of accounts and reliable financial and statistical reports and to maintain accountability over the
assets; and resources are used efficiently and effectively in pursuit of program objectives, and
reliable information is maintained for evaluating managerial and organizational performance.

Internal Control Certification - A comprehensive annual report prepared by ACEO which certifies
whether the system/s of fiscal and administrative accounting controls are adequate, identifying any
material weaknesses and plans and schedules to rectify them.

Internal Control Review - Examining existing internal controls to determine whether existing
measures are adequate to prevent or detect the occurrence of potential risks in a cost-effective
manner. An internal control review cannot be equated to an audit, since the latter is much more
comprehensive and requires the application of standards not appropriate for the internal control
review.

Internal Control System - The sum of the organization's methods and measures used to achieve the
objectives of internal control.

Internal Control Technique - A process or document that is being relied on to efficiently and
effectively accomplish a control objective and thus help safeguard an activity from waste, loss,
unauthorized use or misappropriation.

Internal Administrative Controls - The plan of organization and procedures and records that are part
of the decision processes leading to management's authorization of transactions. Administrative
controls can be divided into two groups: organizational and operational.

Internal Fiscal Controls - The controls on authorizing, processing, recording and reporting
transactions, and which operate within the broader control environment of administrative controls.

Material Weakness - A situation in which the designed procedures or degree of operational
compliance with those procedures do not provide reasonable assurance that the objectives of internal
control specified in the Act are being accomplished.
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Materiality - The significance of an event, amount or error, when measured in the light of
surrounding circumstances by a reasonable person. In making a decision or judgment, an event,
amount or error would be material if it affects the reasonable person's decision.

Operating Agencies - The principal responsibility of operating agencies is the delivery of
programmatic services to the general public.

Operational Controls - The controls which provide assurances that the goals and objectives of agency
are met effectively, economically and efficiently, and that only authorized activities are carried out.

Organizational Controls - The controls on how the agency assigns responsibility and defines
authority through its organization structure and delegation of authority within the structure.

Reasonable Assurance - A satisfactory level of confidence considering costs, benefits and risks.
Reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of internal control should not exceed the benefit
derived.

Segregation of Duties - Assigning duties to individuals so that no one individual controls all phases
of the processing of a transaction, thereby permitting errors of omission or commission to go
undetected.

Standards of Internal Control - These include: documentation, recording of transactions, execution
of transactions, separation of duties, adequate supervision, access to resources, competent personnel,
reasonable assurance, and records.

Transaction Cycle - The route by which an event (transaction) flows from inception to final
reporting.

Vulnerability Assessment - A review of the susceptibility of an agency, program or function to the
occurrence loss or unauthorized use of resources, errors in reports and information, illegal or
unethical acts, and/or adverse or unfavorable public opinion.
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PURPOSE AND SCOPE

The Constitution of 1970 created the elective Office of the Comptroller to assume broadly
defined fiscal duties, including those formerly performed by the Auditor of Public Accounts. This
Constitutional provision is implemented by the State Comptroller Act, which required the
Comptroller to establish a Uniform Statewide Accounting System which will be applicable to the
recording of transactionsof "all State agencies.” (See Procedure 01.10.60.) Also, Public Act 86-1415
(15 ILCS 405/6.01) requires that "the Comptroller shall specify and establish the financial
accounting and reporting standards and principles to be used by all State government and State
agencies." The purpose of this document is to define the principles of accounting which will
underlie the devel opment, implementation and operation of the Statewide Accounting Management
System (SAMS).

Anaccounting principleisdefined as"ageneral law or rule adopted or proposed asaguideto
action; a settled ground or basis of conduct or practice." *

This document will define principles in each of the following broad categories:

Methods of Accounting

Capital Asset and Depreciation Expense Reporting
Revenue and Related Asset (Receivable) Reporting
Expenditure/Expense and Related Liability Accounting
Other Assets

Financial Statement Presentation

Each of the defined principleswill be discussed in relation to the particular environment of
the State of Illinois. The accounting principles are intended to facilitate the development and
maintenance of areliable central source of timely fiscal information which will describethefinancial
condition of the State, report upon the stewardship of public officials, and provide analytical datafor
legidlators, agency administrators, investors and the citizens of lllinois.

SAMS is not intended to displace the internal accounting systems of individual State
agencies. However, these principles do apply to agency internal accounting, and prescribe the nature
of SAMS. Accordingly, they underlie the development of formats and proceduresby which all State
agenciesmust report fiscal information to the Comptroller within the meaning of the Constitution of
1970 and the State Comptroller Act.

1 American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), Accounting Terminology Bulletin Number 1
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RECOGNITION OF AUTHORITATIVE SOURCES

In order to foster general acceptability of these accounting principles, the significant
literature which enjoys general acceptance in governmental accounting and related fields has been
researched. Those sources which have contributed to the definition of these accounting principles
include:

Government Finance Officers Association, Governmental Accounting, Auditing and
Financial Reporting

Governmental Accounting Standards Board, Codification of Governmental
Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards

AICPA, Audits of State and Local Governmental Units

AICPA, Audits of Colleges and Universities

AICPA, Audits of Providers of Health Care Services

National Association of College and University Business Officers, College and
University Business Administration

Several other respected sources have been consulted, including widely accepted accounting
texts, relevant pronouncements and publications of the AICPA, other publications, articles and
accounting literature and individual governmental accounting experts.

The literature has historically addressed the general area of state and local government, rather
than consider the more specific discipline of recording, classifying and reporting state government
financial information. SAMS addresses the unique requirements of statewide accounting in Illinois
by adapting widely accepted principles, as set forth in the literature, to the environment in which
they must operate.

Comptroller accounting standards or principles established in accordance with P.A. 86-1415
will conform to the GAAP hierarchy (AICPA Codification of Audit Standards AU 411.12) listed
below:
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a. GASB Statements and Interpretations, plus AICPA and FASB pronouncements

when specifically made applicable to state governments by a GASB Statement or
Interpretation.

b. GASB Technical Bulletins and the following pronouncements when specifically
made applicable to state governments by the AICPA and cleared by the GASB:
AICPA Industry Audit and Accounting Guides and AICPA Statements of
Position.

C. Consensus positions of the GASB Emerging Issues Task Force and AICPA
Accounting Standards Executive Committee (AcSEC) Practice Bulletins when
specifically made applicable to state governments by the AICPA and cleared by

the GASB.

d. "Q and A's" published by the GASB staff, and widely recognized and prevalent
industry practices.

e. Other accounting literature such as GASB Concepts Statements.

In the absence of guidance within the SAMS manual on any particular accounting issue, the
guidance in the above GAAP hierarchy should be followed. It is the intent of the Comptroller’s
office to conform to all newly established GASB statements as of the required implementation
date.

EVOLUTIONARY NATURE OF ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The environment of State government is a dynamic one. Change is increasingly a factor
in State government--organizational and operational changes, procedural changes, changes in
personnel and in the aggregate level of financial sophistication within State agencies.
Pragmatism cannot dictate principle, and yet the principles which this document defines must
underlie a system which will function effectively in a practical environment. Steps have been
taken, therefore, to prescribe accounting principles at a practical level while recognizing the
dynamics of the environment and of the principles themselves.

Generally accepted governmental accounting principles have evolved over a period of
years. Their current status reflects not only the historical requirements of users of financial
information but also the "state of the art" in public sector financial management. As increased
attention is paid to State government accounting--historically a neglected subject--additional
refinements will occur within the body of accounting principles presented in this document.

There will be a perpetual function of review and evaluation regarding these principles in
order to upgrade and optimize the ability of SAMS to meet the requirements of its users for
timely, complete and accurate financial information.
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STATUTE REFERENCE

The statutory authority requiring the Comptroller to specify and establish accounting and
reporting standards and principlesto be used by all State agenciesis contained in Section 6.01 of the
State Comptroller Act, (15 1L CS 405/6.01) as set forth below.

"The Comptroller shall specify and establish the financial accounting and reporting
standards and principlesto be used by all State government and State agencies. The
standards and principles shall be effective upon filing by the Comptroller with the
Auditor General. The Comptroller shall maintain and publish the standards and
principles as a public document. These standards and principles shall be known as
the Generally Accepted Accounting Standards and Principles for Illinois State
Government, and shall, whenever possible, be compatible with any similar nationally
existing generally accepted accounting standards and principles for government.

In establishing the Generally Accepted Accounting Standards and Principles for
[llinois State Government, the Comptroller shall consult with the Governor and the
other members of the Executive Branch, the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court, and
the leadership of the General Assembly and shall provide to these officials draft
copies of any proposed standards at least 90 days prior to their adoption and shall
consider any responses or suggestions that these officials may present.”
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FUNDS

The fiscal resources of the State of Illinois are organized and recorded in accounting entities
known as funds. Funds are defined and discussed in the “Fund Accounting and Fund Classification”
procedure (03.20.10). The important distinction to be noted organizationally is that funds are
accounting entities established by law or administrative action for either general or specific
purposes. Funds do not imply the physical segregation of cash and/or investments. Funds are
groups of accounts which record and control the transactions of the State government agencies
established for the purpose of carrying out programs in the public interest.

AGENCIES

The Constitution of 1970 organized the State Government into three branches--Legislative,
Judicial and Executive. The Executive Branch includes the Governor and the several departments
and agencies responsible to the Governor, as well as the Lieutenant Governor, Attorney General,
Secretary of State, Comptroller, and Treasurer. "State agencies™ are defined in the State Comptroller
Act as all "departments, officers, authorities, public corporations, quasi-public corporations,
commissions, boards, institutions, State colleges and universities and all other public agencies
created by the State, other than units of local government and school districts.” State agencies are
frequently classified as "code™ and "non-code,” which refer to the applicability of the State
Administrative Code.

INTERRELATION OF FUNDS AND AGENCIES

As accounting entities, funds record the fiscal activity generated by State agencies. An
agency may receive its resources from one or more funds; likewise, a fund may record the fiscal
activity for one or more agencies. State agencies which administer funds--as the Department of
Natural Resources administers the State Parks Fund--do so pursuant to the statutory or
administrative authority which established the funds. An agency which does not control a fund is
said to participate or have accountability in the fund which records its transactions.
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INTERGOVERNMENTAL RELATIONS

The State of Illinois maintains fiscal relations with the United States and with general and
special purpose units of local government within the State.

Hundreds of grants and contracts exist between the State and agencies of the Federal
Government. Most of these agreements relate to the sharing of costs for joint programs within
Illinois. It is customary for the State to draw the Federal share of these costs, sometimes through a
financial intermediary, into special Federal Trust Funds from which they are administered in
accordance with established guidelines. The State must make an accounting periodically to the
Federal Government to demonstrate proper use and administration of the funds.

Local government units within Illinois derive powers and authority from the State. Fiscal
relationships are created through distribution of State resources--such as a portion of Motor Fuel Tax
receipts--to local governments. Federal funds are frequently distributed by the State to units of local
government. School districts utilize State resources to construct new facilities under lease-purchase
agreements with the State. Additionally, local government units function as agents of the State in
various fiscal roles.
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APPROPRIATION, OTHER EXPENDITURE AUTHORITY
AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING

The Comptroller's Accounting records shall provide for the control of fiscal activity against
established fiscal plansin the form of appropriations, other expenditure authority and budgets.

Budgeting is awell-established practice of State government which provides a mechanism
for control over revenues and expenditures. Budgets are prepared for appropriated funds by
individual State agencies, which submit them for review through the Governor's Office of
Management and Budget. The Governor may adjust the budgets of agencies responsible to the
Governor and may recommend changesin the budget to the General Assembly. After duelegidative
consideration the budgets mature in the form of appropriation acts, which contain provisions that
should be entered into the accounts of appropriated funds in order to facilitate the presentation of
fiscal information which will demonstrate that these legal requirements have been satisfied.

For many State agencies, other levels of restrictions of resources are madeto enforce further
expenditure control. Entry of these restrictions (reversions) into the Comptroller's statewide
accounting records is desirable and, in some cases, required to comply with language of the
Appropriation Act which requires the Governor's rel ease.

In cases of non-appropriated funds, allotments should be prepared and, where practicable,
entered into the Comptroller's statewide accounting system.

Within the State of Illinois, there are essentially two forms of budget and appropriations--
"lineitem" budgeting and "program” budgeting. The form in which the budget is prepared by the
agency and the form in which the General Assembly enactsthe appropriation are, to alarge extent,
mutually dependent.

Traditional, or line-item budgets emphasi ze the exchange of resourcesfor goods or services
classified on an organizationa basis by the purpose or object of expenditure--such as personal
services, commodities, and so forth--as defined in the Finance Act. Their primary purpose is the
imposition of accounting and administrative control with respect to readily defined object
classifications over organizational units authorized to expend public funds.




STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 031040  20f2
SUB-SECTION GENERAL TOPICS EFFECTIVE DATE
July 15, 2002
PROCEDURE BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING AND LEGAL REVISION NUMBER
COMPLIANCE NEW

Within the traditional budget, planned expenditures for ordinary operations should be clearly
segregated from those planned for capital or permanent improvements.

Program budgeting implies the prior definition of governmental activities, functions or
programs. It providesafacility for estimating the total costs of specific programs. Using estimates
of planned programmatic results, as established by respective program plans, agency officials may
assess the prospective cost of these results, and accordingly may make or recommend rational
decisions concerning the allocation of scarce resources. By thoughtfully defining and classifying
governmental programs, it would be possible to examine resultsand costson astatewide basis, rather
than agency by agency. State agencies and the General Assembly should have the flexibility to
utilize thismethod of financial planning and control. SAM S should therefore provide for recording
and classifying fiscal plans and transactions in either budgetary format.

LEGAL COMPLIANCE

When the presentation of fiscal information in accordance with SAMS accounting and
financial reporting policies and procedures conflicts with the presentation required to demonstrate
legal compliance, such legal compliance should be demonstrated through the use of supplementary
schedules (NCGAS 1, 112; GASB Cod. Sec. 1200.113).

If financial statements prepared in accordance with these policies and procedures fail to
present information in amanner required to show compliance with legal or contractual provisions,
the principles should govern financial statement presentation. This position is justified by the
postulate of consistency and comparability, as well as the provisions of Sections 19 and 20 of the
State Comptroller Act which require presentation “in such form as will most clearly and accurately
set out the current fiscal condition of the State.” Presentation of data to demonstrate legal
compliance—for instance, a Federal Trust Fund which may be required to present fiscal dataon a
cash basis—should be accomplished through the use of supplementary schedules to the financial
statements.
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Background

A fundisafiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accountsrecording cash and other
financial resources, together with all related liabilities and residual equity or balances, and changes
therein, that are segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific activities or attaining certain
objectivesin accordance with special regulations, restrictions, or limitations. Funds of the State of
Illinois are legal and accounting entities intended to account for the financial transactions of State
agencies. The State classifiesitsfundsin accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Procedures

At the Agency level, the self-balancing feature of each fund should be accomplished through the
double entry method of accounting upon preparation of GAAP reporting packages. This technique
embodies the inherent control features of the accounting equation. For each fiscal and accounting
entity there should exist areal or implicit ledger of accounts. The classification and recording of each
transaction--i.e., each entry to the ledger--should satisfy the accounting equation. It followsthat the
sum of all debit entriesin the ledger must equal the sum of all credit entries, and the fund is thereby
self-balanced. The treatment of specific transactions as applied to the Statewide Accounting
Management System will be discussed in appropriate sections of the SAMS Manual.

Fund Classification

For purposes of reporting in conformance with generally accepted accounting principles, the
financial activities of the State have been classified into the following fund categories:

1. Governmental Fund Types

a General Fund - This fund accounts for transactions related to resources
obtained and used for those services traditionally provided by a state
government, which are not required to be accounted for in other funds. These
services include, among others, general government, public protection and
justice, health and social services, employment and economic devel opment,
environment and business regulation, transportation, and education (other
than institutions of higher education). Certain resources obtained from
Federal grants and used to support general governmental activities are
accounted for in the general funds consistent with applicable legal
requirements.
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b. Special Revenue Funds - These funds account for transactions related to

resources obtained from specific revenue sources (other than for permanent
funds or major capital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditure for
specified purposes. Specia revenue funds account for, among others, Federal
grant programs, taxes levied with statutorily defined distributions, and other
resources restricted as to purpose.

C. Debt Service Funds - These funds account for transactions related to
resources obtained and accumulated to pay interest and principal on general
long-term obligations (other than capital leases and unfunded retirement
cost).

d. Capital Projects Funds - These funds account for transactions related to
resources obtained and used for the acquisition or construction of major
capital facilitiesincluding those provided to political subdivisionsand other
public organizations (other than those financed by proprietary funds,
fiduciary funds, and university and college funds).

Such resources are derived principally from proceeds of general obligation
bond issues, Federal grants, and operating transfers from general funds.

e Permanent Funds — These funds account for resources that are legally
restricted to the extent that only earnings, and not principal, may be used for
purposes that support programs of the State.

2. Proprietary Fund Types

a. Enterprise Funds- These funds may be used to report any activity for which a
feeischargedto external usersfor goodsand services. Activitiesarerequiredto
be reported as enterprise funds if any one of the following criteriais met. The
following criteria should be applied in the context of the activity’s principal
revenue sour ces.

m Activity is financed with debt that is secured solely by a pledge of the net
revenues from fees and charges of the activity. Debt that is secured by a
pledge of net revenuesfrom feesand charges and thefull faith and credit of a
related primary government or component unit —even if that government is
not expected to make any payments —is not considered to be payable solely
from fees and charges of the activity.
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= Laws or regulations require that the activity’s costs of providing services,
including capital costs (such as depreciation or debt service), be recovered
with fees and charges, rather than with taxes or similar revenues.

= The pricing policies of the activity establish fees and charges designed to
recover its costs, including capital costs (such as depreciation or debt
service).

b. Internal Service Funds — These funds may be used to report any activity that
provides goods or servicesto other funds, departments, or agencies of the primary
government and its component units, or to other governments, on a cost-
reimbursement basis. Internal service funds should be used only if the reporting
government (i.e. State of Illinois) is the predominant participant in the activity.

3. Fiduciary Fund Types

a Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds— These funds should
be used to report resources that are required to be held in trust for the
members and beneficiaries of defined benefit pension plans, defined
contribution plans, other postemployment benefit plans, or other employee
benefit plans.

b. | nvestment Trust Funds- These funds should be used to report the external
portion of investment poolsreported by the sponsoring government (i.e. State
of Illinois) in accordance with GASB Statement No. 31.

C. Private Purpose Trust Funds — These funds account for any trust
arrangements not properly classified asapension trust fund or an investment
trust fund “under which principal and income benefit individuas, private
organizations, or other governments.”

d. Agency Funds- These funds should be used to report resources held by the
State in a purely custodial capacity (i.e. assets are equal to liabilities).
Agency fundstypically involve only the receipt, temporary investment, and
remittance of fiduciary resources to individuas, private organizations, or
other governments.
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General Capital Assets and General Long-term Debt

General Capital Assets. Capital assets acquired with governmental fund resources are accounted
for as capital expenditures and not capitalized in the governmental fund financial statements. Those
capital assets are referred to as general capital assets. General capital assets also include capital
assetsthat are associated with governmental fundsthat were received through donation, even though
not reported as capital expenditures or capitalized in the governmental funds. Since these assetsare
not reported in the fund financial statements, agencies are required to separately account for and
report general capital asset activity on the Form SCO-538.

General Long-term Debt. Unmatured long-term indebtedness, compensated absences, claimsand
judgments, special termination benefits, and landfill closure and post-closure care costs (other than
“specific fund debt” of proprietary and trust funds) are not be reported in the governmental fund
financial statements. Those liabilities are referred to as general long-term liabilities. As these
liabilities are not reported in the fund financial statements, agencies are required to separately
account for and report general long-term liability activity in the SCO Forms 566, 580, and 599.
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POLICY

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting, including the encumbrance
modification.

The government-wide, proprietary, and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the
economic resources measurement focus and accrua basis of accounting.

PROCEDURES

Current Financial Resources Measurement Focus and the Modified Accrual Basis of
Accounting

Under the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of
accounting, revenues are recognized when measurable and available. The State considers all
revenues reported in the governmental funds to be available if collected within the lapse period.
Application of the “measurable and available” criteria requires judgment, consideration of the
materiality of the item in question, and due regard for the practicality of measurement, as well as
consistency in application.

Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability isincurred, except for principal and interest
on general long term debt, clams and judgments, compensated absences, special termination
benefits, and landfill closure and postclosure care costs, which are recognized as expendituresto the
extent they have matured (when due). Currently arelated liability isincurred when goods or services
are received. During lapse period, it must be determined if the payment is for goods or services
received before the end of thefiscal year, June 30. General capital asset acquisitionsarereported as
expenditures in governmental funds. Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under
capital |eases are reported as other financing sources.

Economic Resour ces M easur ement Focus and the Accrual Basis of Accounting.

Under the economi ¢ resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, revenuesare
recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of
when the related cash flows take place. Nonexchange transactions, in which the State gives (or
receives) value without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange such as grants and
entitlements, should be recognized in accordance with the requirements of GASB StatementsNo. 33,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions, as amended by GASB
Statement No. 36, Recipient Reporting for Certain Shared Nonexchange Revenues. Theissuance of
debt, payment of debt, and purchases of capital assetsis not reported in the operating statement.
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OVERVIEW

Capital assets include infrastructure, land, land improvements, site improvements, buildings,
building improvements, equipment, works of art and historical treasures, and intangible assets
that are used in operations and that have expected useful lives extending beyond a single
reporting period. Capital assets are accounted for differently in the basic financial statements
depending on the measurement focus used.

e Capital assets acquired with governmental fund resources are accounted for as capital
expenditures and not capitalized in the governmental fund financial statements. Those
capital assets are referred to as general capital assets. General capital assets also include
capital assets that are associated with governmental funds that were received through
donation, even though not reported as capital expenditures or capitalized in the
governmental funds.

e Capital assets acquired with proprietary or fiduciary fund resources or donated to those
funds are capitalized in those funds and depreciated in those funds over their estimated
useful lives.

e In the government-wide financial statements, capital assets, including general capital
assets, are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful lives (except for land,
land improvements, construction in progress, infrastructure being accounted for under the
modified approach and certain works of art and historical treasures).

The following table provides an overview of capital asset reporting for different situations.

Activity Government-wide Governmental Fund Proprietary Fund Fiduciary Fund
Financial Statements Financial Statements Financial Statements Financial Statements
(excluding agency
funds)
Capital assets » Capitalize assets » Report assets » Capitalize assets » Capitalize assets
purchased; or purchased as an
received through » Report donations expenditure » Report donations » Report donations
donations (except as revenue or as capital as addition
noncapitalized contribution to » Do not report contribution or
works of art and term or permanent donations as an contribution to
historical treasures) endowment asset or a term or permanent
financial resource endowment
inflow




STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 03.30.10 20f7
SUB-SECTION CAPITAL ASSET AND DEPRECIATION EXPENSE EFFECTIVE DATE
REPORTING July 1, 2011
PROCEDURE OVERVIEW AND DEFINITIONS REVISION NUMBER
12-001
Activity Government-wide Governmental Fund Proprietary Fund Fiduciary Fund
Financia Statements Financia Statements Financia Statements Financial Statements
(excluding agency
funds)

Noncapitalized works
of art and historical
treasures
purchased; or
donated

Report assets
purchased as an
expense

Report donations
as revenue or

» Report assets
purchased as an
expenditure

» Do not report
donations as an

» Report assets
purchased as an
expense

» Report donations
as capital

» Report assets
purchased as a
deduction

» Report donations
as an addition

contribution to asset or a contribution or
term or permanent financial resource contribution to
endowment inflow term or permanent
endowment
Capital assets
accounted for using
the depreciation
method: » Charge » Not applicable » Charge » Charge
depreciation depreciation depreciation
Use of exhaustible expense and expense and deduction and
capital assets; increase increase increase
accumulated accumulated accumulated
depreciation depreciation depreciation
Outlays that extend | [» Capitalize and » Report as » Capitalize and » Capitalize and
the initial depreciate expenditures depreciate depreciate
estimated useful
lives of the
assets
(preservation
costs) or improve
their efficiency
(improvements)
or capacity
(additions); or
Outlays for repairs » Report as » Report as » Report as » Report as
and maintenance expenses expenditures expenses deductions
Infrastructure capital
assets accounted
for using the
modified approach:
Use of » No charge for » Not applicable » No charge for » No charge for
infrastructure depreciation depreciation depreciation

capital assets




STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 03.30.10 3of 7
SUB-SECTION CAPITAL ASSET AND DEPRECIATION EXPENSE EFFECTIVE DATE
REPORTING July 1, 2011
PROCEDURE OVERVIEW AND DEFINITIONS REVISION NUMBER
12-001
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Financial Statements Financial Statements Financial Statements Financial Statements
(excluding agency
funds)
Outlays that » Capitalize » Report as » Capitalize » Capitalize
improve the expenditures
assets' efficiency
(improvements)
or capacity
(additions)
Outlays that extend | [»> Report as » Report as » Report as » Report as
the estimated expenses expenditures expenses deductions
useful lives of the
assets
(preservation
costs) and
outlays for
repairs and
maintenance
Sales and other » Remove the » Report proceeds » Remove the » Remove the
dispositions of assets' cost and as other financing assets' cost and assets' cost and
capital assets any accumulated source or special any accumulated any accumulated
depreciation item depreciation depreciation
» Report gain or » Report gain or » Report gain or
loss on sale as loss on sale as loss on sale as an
special item or as special item or as addition
general revenue revenue or (deduction)
or general expense (usually
government-type non-operating)
expenses (See
GASB 34 Q&A,
item 131)

I nfrastructure

DEFINITIONS

Infrastructure assets are long-lived capital assets that normally are stationary in nature and
normally can be preserved for a significantly greater number of years than most capital assets.
Examples of infrastructure assets include roads, bridges, tunnels, drainage systems, waterways,
water and sewer systems, dams, and lighting systems (attached to infrastructure assets, e.g.,
interstate lighting, airport runway lighting). Buildings, except those that are an ancillary part of a

network of infrastructure assets, should not be considered infrastructure assets.
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Land

Land is unimproved reaty (typically thetotal closing cost).
Land Improvements

Land improvements are the non-depreciable costs and betterments of preparing the land for its
intended use. An example of aland improvement is leveling and grading.

Site Improvements

Site improvements are the depreciable costs and betterments affixed to land that generally add to
its value and functionality. Examples of site improvements include, but are not limited to,
temporary structures, access roads, parking lots, fencing, lighting (e.g., lights in parking lots,
lights along walkways), tunnels that connect buildings, gas, electricity or steam transmission
lines, and campsites.

Buildings

Buildings are permanent structures designed to house persons or personal property, together with
the initial cost of fixtures attached to and forming a permanent part of the building (i.e.
immovable).

Building I mprovements

Building improvements are capital expenditures that materially extend the useful life of a
building, increase the capacity and/or efficiency of the building, or adapt to a new use. Building
improvements also include capital expenditures that add value, extend the useful life, or adapt a
leased building to anew use.

Worksof Art and Historical Treasures

Works of art and historical treasures are assets that have cultural, aesthetic, or historical value
and often are protected and preserved in a manner greater than that for other assets. Works of art
and historical treasures are collections or individual items of significance that are owned by an
agency which are not held for financial gain, but rather for public exhibition, education or
research. Examples include Lincoln manuscripts, historic buildings, and civil war flags.
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Equipment

Equipment assets are typically any movable, non-consumable, tangible personal property used in
the operations of the State. Equipment includes the following assets:

e Vehicles—including, but not limited to, automobiles, trucks, tralers, aircraft,
motorcycles, and farm vehicles.

e Furniture and Fixtures — movable equipment incorporated in a building including, but
not limited to, office and building furnishings, communication devices, and other assets
necessary to the use of the premises.

e Library Assets— includes assets that do not meet the requirements of non-capitalization
for Works of Art and Historical Treasures (under paragraph 27 of GASB 34). Examples
of library assets include: information sources that are circulated to students or the general
public; including books, journals, periodicals, audio/visual media, computer-based
information, manuscripts, maps, documents, and similar items which provide information
essential to the learning process or which enhance the quality of academic, professional,
or research libraries.

e All other moveable tangible personal property used in the operations of the State.

Capital expenditures that add value, extend the useful life, or adapt “equipment” (including
leased equipment) to a new use and exceed the capitalization threshold for “equipment” should
also be included in this category.

Construction in Progress

The accumulation of costs incurred during construction of assets. The accumulated costs are
held in Construction in Progress until such time as the project is determined to be “substantially
complete” (i.e. ready for itsintended use).

Repairsand Maintenance

Repairs and maintenance include the ordinary and necessary projects needed to keep an asset
serviceable through its expected life. Repairs and maintenance projects, by definition, do not
increase the capacity or operating efficiency or extend the useful life of the asset. Repairs and
mai ntenance costs are not capitalized, but rather expensed in the period incurred.

Networ k

A network is composed of all assets that provide a particular type of services for the State or an
agency. A network of assets may be only one asset that is composed of many components. For
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example, a network of infrastructure assets may consist of a series of inter-connected highways
and roads.

Subsystem

A subsystem is composed of all assets that make up a portion or segment of a network. For
example, al the roads of the State could be considered a network of infrastructure, while
interstate highways, state highways, and rural roads could each be considered a subsystem of that
network.

Capitalization Threshold

The dollar value at which the State elects to capitalize tangible assets that are used in operations
and that have initial useful lives extending beyond a single reporting period.

Depreciation

A systematic and rational method of allocating the cost of a capital asset to the periods benefiting
fromits use.

Composite Methods

Calculating depreciation for a collection of similar assets (group depreciation method), such as
traffic signals or lane-miles or dissmilar assets, such as all assets composing a transportation
network or building.

Modified Approach (Infrastructure)

The election not to depreciate infrastructure assets that are part of a network or subsystem of a
network that meet two specific requirements. First, the agency manages the eligible
infrastructure assets using an asset management system that has certain specified characteristics,
second, the agency documents that the eligible infrastructure assets are being preserved
approximately at (or above) a condition level established and disclosed by the agency.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are assets that lack physical substance, are nonfinancial in nature, and have an
initial useful life extending beyond a single reporting period. Examples of intangible assets
include, but are not limited to, software (both internally generated and non-internally generated),
easements and rights of way, and water and land use rights.
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Internally-Developed Intangible Assetsin Progress

The accumulation of costs incurred during development of intangible assets, such as software,
patents, trademarks, and copyrights. The accumulated costs are held in Internally-Developed
Intangible Assets in Progress until such time as the project is determined to be “substantially
complete” (i.e., ready for itsintended use).
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POLICY

Capital assets should be reported at actual or estimated historical cost or, if donated, at their
estimated fair value at the time of acquisition. Historical cost includes the amount paid for the
asset, capitalized interest for constructed proprietary fund assets, and ancillary charges necessary
to place the asset into its intended location and condition for use. Interest should not be
capitalized for constructed governmental assets.

PROCEDURES

Capital assets should be reported at historical cost and should include ancillary costs to place the
asset in service such as the cost of freight, site preparation, architect and engineering fees, etc. If
something other than cash is used to pay for the asset, then the fair-market value at the time of
acquisition of the non-cash payment or consideration determines the asset’s cost or acquisition
value. When the value of the consideration paid cannot be determined, the asset’s fair market
value at the time of acquisition determines its cost.

The following is a description of capital asset valuation by asset category:
Infrastructure

The cost of infrastructure includes all labor, material and professiona services to construct the
asset together with insurance, interest (for proprietary funds only), and other indirect costs
incurred during the period of construction, to place the asset into its intended use. The cost
should also include the amount paid for buildings (i.e. purchase price or labor, material and
professional services if constructed) that are ancillary to a network or subsystem of
infrastructure. The amount (type) of costs that should be capitalized depends on whether the
modified approach is used to account for the respective network (or subsystem) of infrastructure.
See the capitalization policy for infrastructure assets in Procedure 03.30.30.

Land and Land I mprovements

The total asset value of land includes two basic elements - acquisition cost (land) and all non-
depreciable costs to prepare land for its intended use (land improvements). The acquisition cost
of land includes the purchase price of the rea estate parcel together with all ancillary expenses
up to and including transfer of title. These consist specifically of the contract price, delinquent
tax liabilities assumed, expenses for settling other liens against the property, title search, and
legal fees.



STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 03.30.20 20f 4
SUB-SECTION CAPITAL ASSET AND DEPRECIATION EXPENSE EFFECTIVE DATE
REPORTING July 1, 2011
PROCEDURE VALUATION OF CAPITAL ASSETS REVISION NUMBER
12-001

Land acquired through eminent domain proceeding should be reported at the settlement amount
up to the fair value of the land. Amounts paid in excess of the fair value should be expensed.

Before land is ready for its intended use, costs related to non-depreciable land improvements
may be incurred. These costs may be related to grading, filling, drainage, landscaping, and
similar items. The costs of improvements become integral to the land cost. Land improvements
should be reported at cost, estimated cost, or estimated fair value at the date of acquisition.

Site | mprovements

Site improvements should be reported at cost, estimated cost, or estimated fair value at date of
acquisition.

Buildings and Building I mprovements

An agency may obtain buildings by purchasing them, by contracting with an outside party to
construct them, or by constructing them internally. Regardless of the way a building is acquired,
the general valuation guideline remains the same: the Agency should capitalize all necessary
costs to obtain the building and to get it ready for its intended use. The cost of the building
includes all labor, material and professional services to construct the building together with
insurance, interest (for proprietary funds only), and other indirect costs incurred during the
period of construction, to place the building into itsintended use.

The vauation of building improvements includes all costs incurred to complete the
improvement. The valuation of building improvementsis similar to that described for buildings
above.

I ntangible Assets

The cost of intangible assets would depend on the type of asset. For non-internally generated
assets, the cost is recorded as the amount paid for the asset. If the asset was donated, the cost is
recorded based on the fair value of the asset at the time of donation. For internally generated
assets, such as software, the project must be separated into three stages: the Preliminary Project
Stage, the Application Development Stage, and the Post-Implementation/Operation Stage. Only
those costs associated with the Application Devel opment Stage should be included when
determining valuation. Costs associated with the other two stages should be expensed as
incurred.
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Equipment

The basic cost of equipment usually is determined by all of the costs necessary to acquire the asset
and place it into service. Included in the cost of equipment in addition to the net invoice cost are
freight charges, in-transit insurance, applicable taxes, the cost of special foundations or bases; and
assembly, installation, and testing costs.

Works of Art and Historical Treasures

The cost of works of art and historical treasures includes the amount paid or fair value at the date
of acquisition if donated, and other costs necessary to put the asset into its intended use or place
of exhibition. Included in the cost of works of art and historical treasures are freight charges, in-
transit insurance costs, applicable taxes, the cost of special foundations or bases, and assembly,
and installation costs. All of these costs are necessary to obtain the asset and get it ready for its
intended use or exhibition.

Valuation of Donated Property

Land, buildings, works of art, historical treasures, equipment, and/or intangible assets received as
a gift or donation should be recorded in the agency's records at their fair market value at time of
donation. The fair market value is generally established by an appraisal performed by a qualified
appraiser.

Capitalization of Interest on Constructed Assets for Proprietary Funds

Agencies that construct assets, where construction of those assets are accounted for in a proprietary

| fund (e.g., an enterprise fund) should capitalize interest (in accordance with FASB Statement No.
34, Capitalization of Interest Costs) as part of the ancillary cost of the asset if long-term debt is
recorded within the proprietary fund. Interest should not be capitalized on constructed capital
assets accounted for as part of governmental activities, including the capital assets of internal
service funds incorporated into governmental activities for the purpose of government-wide
financial reporting or on capital assets constructed by the Capital Development Board (with
general government resources/appropriations) that are subsequently transferred (contributed) to a
proprietary fund.

The amount of interest to be capitalized represents interest that the proprietary fund could have
avoided had the asset not been constructed. The amount of interest to be capitalized is determined
by:

e multiplying the actual expenditures for the qualifying asset during the period

e multiplied by the number of months outstanding,

e multiplied by the appropriate interest rate.
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The interest rate for capitalization purposes is to be based on the rates of the proprietary fund’'s
outstanding borrowings. If the proprietary fund associates a specific new borrowing with the
asset, it may apply the rate on that borrowing to the appropriate portion of the expenditures for
the asset. A weighted average of the rates on other borrowings of the proprietary fund is to be
applied to expenditures not covered by specific new borrowings.

Capitalized interest cannot exceed actual interest costsincurred during the period. If the effect of
interest capitalization isimmaterial (10% of the capitalization threshold of the category of capital
asset being constructed or $10,000; whichever is less), interest capitaization is not required.
Capitalization of interest should cease upon the constructed asset being ready for use or put into
use.

Additionally, interest shall not be capitalized for the following types of assets:
e Assetsthat arein use or ready for their intended use in the activities of the proprietary
fund
e Assets that are not being used in the State's operations and that are not undergoing
the activities necessary to get them ready for use in the State' s operations
e Land that is not undergoing activities necessary to get it ready for its intended use

The amount of capitalized interest should be included as part of the asset’s historical cost and
reported on Form SCO-538. Capitalized interest included as part of the historical cost of an
asset, should be depreciated over the useful life of the asset.
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POLICY

Capital assets owned by an agency should be capitalized in

the government-wide financial

statements and in proprietary and fiduciary funds (except for certain works of art and historical
treasures as discussed in the procedures section of this policy) that individually equal or exceed

the following capitalization threshold amounts:

Capital Asset Category

Capitalization
Threshold

Infrastructure

Land

Land Improvements

Site Improvements

Buildings

Building Improvements

Equipment

Works of Art, Historical Treasures
Internally-Generated Intangible Assets

Non-Internally Generated I ntangible Assets

$250,000
$100,000
$25,000
$25,000
$100,000
$25,000
$5,000
$5,000
$1,000,000
$25,000

For capital assets (including infrastructure) that are depreciated, expenditures that extend the
useful lives of capital assets beyond their initial estimated useful lives (preservation costs) or
improve their efficiency (improvements) or capacity (additions) are capitalized, whereas

expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed.

For infrastructure assets that are not depreciated under the modified approach, expenditures for
additions and improvements to eligible infrastructure assets (which increase the capacity or
efficiency of assets rather than preserve their useful lives) are capitalized. All other expenditures,

even preservations costs, are expensed in the period incurred.
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Assets acquired in various amounts for a single purpose which may not individualy meet the
capitalization threshold may be capitalized if the estimated total of the project exceeds the capitalization
threshold. For example, an agency may purchase several parcels of land which are individually less than
the capitalization threshold for land. However, if these parcels were purchased for a single purposg, i.e. a
State park, and the total is greater than the threshold, then the total amount may be capitalized. Similarly,
if an agency acquires an item of equipment with a cost |ess than the capitalization threshold for equipment
and the agency intends to improve the equipment item, and the cost of the asset and improvements are
expected to exceed the threshold, the total cost of the equipment should be capitalized.

Each agency is required to maintain a capital asset management system which includes for all
capital assets, at a minimum, the major asset category, description of asset, date of acquisition,
method of acquisition, cost or other value, responsible organizational unit, location of asset,
identification of applicable network or subsystem (for infrastructure assets), estimated life,
estimated salvage value, annual and accumulated depreciation, appropriation, and insured value. If
an agency reports infrastructure assets under the modified approach, the capital asset management
system should also include condition assessment and maintenance data. If an agency reports works
of art and historical treasures, the capital asset management system should also specify whether the
asset is exhaustible or inexhaustible.

Agencies should conduct an inventory of all capital assets on an annual basis in accordance with
Procedure 29.10.10.

PROCEDURES

Capitalization of Works of Art and Historical Treasures

Unless an agency meets the following conditions, it should capitalize collections of and additions
to works of art and historical treasures. Agencies are encouraged, but not required, to capitalize
those items that meet all of the following conditions:

a) Held for public exhibition, education, or research in furtherance of public
service, rather than financial gain;

b) Protected, kept unencumbered, cared for, and preserved; and

C) Subject to an organizational policy that requires the proceeds from sales of
collection items to be used to acquire other items for collections.

Individual items that are not part of a collection should always be capitalized if the cost of that
item exceeds the capitalization threshold.
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Capitalization of Library Resources
Library resources should be capitalized as a collection. Annual additions to the collection should

be capitalized as a single record if the addition exceeds the capitalization threshold for equipment.

GENERAL GUIDANCE ON DETERMINING OWNERSHIP
OF CAPITAL ASSETSFOR REPORTING PURPOSES

Capital assets, including infrastructure, should be reported by the agency that owns the asset. In
some situations, ownership of assets may be supported by legal documentation, such as deeds or
title that is conveyed when the government acquires the assets. In other situations, ownership
may be supported by legal or contractual provisions that stipulate ownership under certain
conditions. However, in still other situations, ownership may be unclear.

Custodians of capital assets generally have the responsibility to document the ownership to such
assets. If ownership to an asset cannot be documented, the asset and corresponding depreciation
expense should not be reported by agencies. Documents supporting ownership to an asset should
generally be maintained throughout the service life of the asset. In most cases, the ownership of
these assets is straightforward; however, in certain cases (e.g., assets that are jointly owned by
the State of Illinois and neighboring states), the ownership of an asset may be unclear. These
procedures provide guidance to State agencies in determining the ownership of capital assets that
they manage and/or maintain.

Guidance on Owner ship of Capital Assets Other Than Infrastructure

Capital assets other than infrastructure include such items as land, land improvements, site
improvements, buildings, building improvements, equipment, works of art and historical
treasures. Agencies should follow the following guidance to ensure that assets recorded are
properly owned by the State.

Documentation Requirements Supporting Owner ship:

. Land (including right-of-way and easements) that is capitalized by an agency should be
supported by legal documentation (e.g., legal title documentation, purchase documents,
grant documents, etc.) that substantiates the State’'s lega title to the asset. This
documentation should be maintained by an agency in perpetuity due to the inexhaustible
nature of the asset. Further, this documentation should be organized and maintained in a
manner such that it is available for review by internal and external auditors,
Comptroller’ s Office staff and other interested parties.
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. Land improvements, site improvements, buildings, and building improvements

should be supported by purchasing documentation (e.g., contracts, requisitions, purchase
orders, payment documents, etc.). The documentation should include content such that
the type of asset, location of asset, purchase cost, and date of purchase may be
determined by an independent third party. This documentation should be maintained as
long as these assets are in use by the State or they become obsol ete.

. Equipment that is capitalized by an agency should be supported by the legal title of the
asset. This documentation should be maintained by the agency until the agency disposes
of the asset. In cases where legal titles to these types of assets are not commonly issued,
the ownership of the asset should be substantiated by purchasing documentation (e.g.,
requisitions, purchase orders, receipting documents, payment documents, etc.). The
documentation should identify a specific asset and include content such that the type of
asset, purchase cost and date of purchase may be determined by an independent third

party.

. Works of art and historical treasures that are capitalized by an agency should be
supported by purchasing documentation (e.g., contracts, payment documents, etc.) if the
assets have been purchased by the State. If the assets have been donated, the agency
should maintain records related to the donation such as title transfers, donor agreements,
etc. In addition, records of the appraisals of assets that are donated should be similarly
maintained. These records should be maintained as long the State maintains or disposes
of the asset.

These documentation requirements apply to all capital assets regardless of whether they were
originaly purchased/placed into service by an agency or donated to the State by a third party
(e.g., private entities, the federal government, etc.).

Guidance on Determining the Reporting Agency for Capital Assets

For reporting purposes, the following guidance should be followed by State agencies:

. For acapital asset that may be shared or used by morethan one State agency, the
asset should be recorded by the agency that originally purchased the asset (or placed it in
service).

. When an asset istransferred from one agency to another, the legdl title to the asset
should be assigned to the receiving agency.

. In the case wher e an agency occupies a building that is owned by another agency,

the owner agency is responsible for reporting both the value of the building and all costs
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of improvements made to the building, whether by the owner agency or occupying
agency, that extends the useful life of the building beyond one year.

Guidance on Ownership of Infrastructure Assets

Infrastructure assets include items such as roads, bridges, tunnels, drainage systems, waterways,
water and sewer systems, dams, and lighting systems. In the mgjority of cases, a legd title
document is not created when these assets are constructed or placed into service. Thus, the
ownership of these assets should be supported by purchasing documentation (e.g., contracts,
requisitions, purchase orders, payment documents, etc.). The documentation should include
content such that the method of acquisition, type of asset, location of asset, vendor name/address,
purchase cost and date of purchase may be determined by an independent third party.

In cases where infrastructure assets are jointly developed or constructed by the State of Illinois
and neighboring states, Illinois agencies should record only those assets which are maintained
by the State. For example, in the case where a bridge spanning the Mississippi River is jointly
funded by the states of Illinois and Missouri, the State of Illinois should record the bridge only if
it has the primary responsibility for maintaining the asset. Alternatively, if the State of Illinois
contributes financial resources to the ongoing maintenance of the bridge, but maintenance
procedures are performed by the State of Missouri, the State of Illinois would not record the
asset.

Based on the criteria established above, agencies should record the cost of infrastructure assets
that they maintain. As such, the full cost of an asset should be recorded regardless of the manner
in which the asset construction costs are financed. For example, if a bridge isjointly funded by
the State of Illinois and the State of Wisconsin and the State of Illinois has the responsibility to
maintain the bridge, the State of Illinois should record the full cost of construction, with
Wisconsin’s portion of the funding being recorded as an other financing source.

Location of infrastructure assets does not determine what entity should report particular
infrastructure assets. Roads within a county may be owned or managed by a city, the State, or a
special district. Those roads would not be considered county assets, even though they are
physically located within the county, because the county does not own the roads or (if ownership
isunclear) have primary responsibility for managing the roads.

TRANSFERRING OWNERSHIP OF CAPITAL ASSETS

This section describes the procedures to be followed by State agencies and component units
when accounting for and reporting transfers of capital assets. In all situations described below, if
an agency or component unit is transferring an asset in which it is evident that the asset has been
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impaired (the economic value of the asset is substantially below the book value), the asset should
be written down to reflect impairment prior to the transfer of the asset.

Transfersto/from Other Governments

On occasion, the State may transfer ownership of capital assets (including infrastructure) to a
local government. In such cases, the transferring agency should remove the net book value of
those capital assets from its financial statements and capital asset records. Also, the transferring
agency should report an expense of the applicable function equal to the fair market value of the
transferred assets. The difference between the fair market value and the net book value at the
time of the transfer should be recorded as a gain or loss on the disposition of capital assets.
Similarly, local governments (and others) may donate capital assets to the State. Agencies that
receive donated capital assets should capitalize the donated assets at their fair market value at the
date of donation. The receiving State agency should also report the fair market value of the
donated capital assets as a program revenue of the applicable function. Agencies should refer to
GASB Statements No. 33 and No. 34 for additional guidance.. The transaction may involve the
reporting of extraordinary or special items.

Transfersfrom Capital Development Board (CDB)

The costs of projects involving the construction of new assets or major remodeling, renovation
and rehabilitation projects (as defined by the CDB) which are funded by direct appropriations to
the CDB will be reported by the CDB as “Construction in Progress’ until the CDB determines
the project to be “substantially complete” (i.e. ready for itsintended use). At the time the project
is substantially complete, the CDB will use the CDB Agency Turnover Report to transfer the
project cost to the agency. The agency is then responsible for recording the capital asset on their
books and records.

Remodeling, renovation and rehabilitation projects that are not classified as “major” by the CDB
will not be accounted for as Construction in Progress (CIP). Costs associated with these projects
will be transferred to the agencies on a quarterly basis, through the use of the “CDB Agency
Turnover Report.” These costs will be classified as Non-CIP costs. At the time of the transfer,
these costs should be recorded by the agency in their capital asset records or as a repair and
maintenance costs for that period. The guidance for distinguishing between repairs and
maintenance and capital itemsis provided in SAMS 03.30.10.

Transfers between Primary Gover nment Agencies

Sometimes, a capital asset may be transferred from one primary government State agency to
another primary government State agency. In this situation (except for transfersto CM S Surplus
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Property, which is discussed separately below), the receiving agency should record the asset’s
original cost and related accumulated depreciation at the time of the transfer, and depreciate the
asset over the useful life remaining when it is transferred. Gains and losses should not be
recorded by the transferring agency. Instead, the transferring agency should record a transfer-out
egual to the net book value at the time of the transfer and write off the cost of the asset and
related depreciation. Similarly, the receiving agency should record a transfer-in equal to the net
book value at the time of the transfer and record the asset at cost with related depreciation.

Transfersinvolving Component Units

Occasionaly, capital assets are transferred between the primary government and component
units, or between component units of the State. In these situations, agencies and component
units should follow the applicable guidance provided above for “Transfers to/from Other
Governments’. Receiving entities should follow the same guidance as the receiving agency
above, while disposing entities should follow the same guidance as the transferring agency
above.

ASSETSTRANSFERRED TO CENTRAL MANAGEMENT
SERVICES(CMS) FOR DISPOSAL

Agencies and component units commonly transfer assets to make optimum use of the asset lives.
Most equipment items and other low value assets are transferred to CM S for disposal at the end
of their useful lives. The assets are transferred to CMS at zero value. CMS considers the
transferred items to be inventory. Some inventory items are transferred to State agencies and
others in compliance with the Property Control Act (30 ILCS 605/). CMS disposes of the
remaining inventory items in accordance with the provisions of Section 7 of the Property Control
Act (30 ILCS 605/ 7).

Generdly, if assets transferred to CMS Surplus Property have net book value, and the net book
value is not significant, a loss should be recognized on the transfer according to the guidance
below. If the asset is later transferred by CMS to another State agency, the receiving entity
should record the receipt of the asset at zero cost.

In extremely rare cases, high value assets such as aircraft, land, buildings or technical equipment
items may be transferred to and/or from CMS. In such rare cases, the financia reporting
treatment would be prescribed by the Comptroller’s Office Financial Reporting Department on a
case-by-case basis.
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Recognition of L oss on Disposal

Capital Assetstransferred to CM S for disposal are generally at or beyond the end of the expected
useful lives. However, occasionally some assets may be transferred with a net book value. In
cases Where assets are transferred to CM S before they are fully depreciated, or where there exists
a salvage value, agencies should report a loss on the disposition of the asset. The process to be
used to report aloss on disposal of a capital asset is described in the table below.

Recognition of Gain on Disposal of Capital Assets

CMS generally reports as revenue to an internal service fund the amounts realized upon disposal
of assets sold at auction periodically throughout the year. However, in the event that an agency
has been granted authority to dispose of assets, and a gain has been realized, the gain should be
reported in the manner described in the table below.

Disposal of Capital Assets

Upon disposition of an asset to a non-State entity, a gain or loss must be recognized as the
difference between the net book value of the assets disposed and net proceeds received (i.e. cash
and or fair value of dissimilar assets). The following table describes the accounting for disposals
of assets:

Accounting Governmental Funds Proprietary Funds Fiduciary Funds
Treatment (excluding agency funds)
Financial Report proceeds as other | Remove the assets' cost Remove the assets cost and
Statements | financing sources or and any accumulated any accumul ated
special item depreciation depreciation
Report gain or loss on Report gain (or loss) on sales
sale as specia item or as as an addition (or deduction)
revenue or expense
(usually nonoperating)
Form SCO Remove the asset’ s cost Remove the assets’ cost Remove the assets’ cost and
538 and any accumulated and any accumulated any accumulated
depreciation. depreciation depreciation
Report proceeds, net Report proceeds, net book | Report proceeds, net book
book value, and gain or value, and gain or loss. value, and gain or loss.
loss.




STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 03.30.40 1lof 10
SUB-SECTION CAPITAL ASSET AND DEPRECIATION EFFECTIVE DATE
EXPENSE REPORTING July 15, 2002
PROCEDURE DEPRECIATION REVISION NUMBER
NEW
POLICY

The net cost of capital assets (historical cost less estimated salvage value) should be depreciated
and reported in the government wide statement of activities and in proprietary and fiduciary funds
over their estimated useful lives except as discussed below. The straight-line method of
depreciation should be used. Capital leases should be amortized over the term of the capital lease.

Assets that are inexhaustible (i.e. land and land improvements, certain works of art and historical
treasures), infrastructure assets using the modified approach, and construction in progress should
not be depreciated.

Modified Approach

An dternative to the depreciation of infrastructure assets that are part of a network or subsystem
of a network (eligible infrastructure assets) is the modified approach. Agencies that meet the
following requirements and obtain written approval from the Comptroller’s Office can elect to use
the modified approach for eligible infrastructure assets in lieu of the depreciation method:

Requirements for Using Modified Approach

* The Agency must have an asset-management system with certain features. The
system has to:

a) have an up-to-date inventory of the infrastructure assets;

b) estimate the annua costs to maintain and preserve those assets at the
condition level the State has established and disclosed through
administrative or executive policy or legislative action; and

C) assess the condition of the assets periodically, summarizing the results
using a measurement scale. The condition assessments also have to be
documented in such a manner that they can be replicated.

* The agency must document that the eligible infrastructure assets are being
preserved approximately at (or above) the condition level the agency has
established and disclosed. An agency that uses the modified approach has to
document that it has performed a complete condition assessment of the assets at
least every three years. The agency also has to document that the results of the
three most recent complete condition assessments provide reasonable assurance
that the assets are being preserved approximately at (or above) the intended
condition level.
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Depreciation is a systematic method of allocating the cost of an asset over its estimated useful
life. It isnot based upon deterioration of the asset in any particular time frame, but rather it isa
method of accounting for the consumption of long-lived assets due to use in operations or
obsolescence. Also, included in depreciation expense is an allocation of the cost of any
improvements placed in service after initial acquisition that benefit future periods.

Depreciation is the process of allocating the cost of tangible property over a period of time,
rather than deducting the cost as an expense in the year of acquisition. Generdly, at the end of
an asset’s life, the sum of the amounts charged for depreciation in each accounting period
(accumulated depreciation) will equal original cost less salvage value.

General Proceduresfor Calculating Depreciation

The following five factors must be known to cal culate depreciation on a capital asset:
» the date the asset was placed in service;
» theasset’'s cost or acquisition value;
» theasset’ssalvage value;
» theasset’s estimated useful life; and
* the depreciation method

Service Date

To avoid the complication of depreciating each asset from the specific date on
which it was placed in service, GAAP supports guidelines that assume various
assets are placed in service or disposed of at designated dates throughout the year.
These guidelines are called averaging conventions.

There are five averaging conventions. (1) Full-Month convention, (2) Half-Year
convention, (3) Modified Half-Year convention, (4) Mid-Month convention, and
(5) Mid-Quarter convention. The Comptroller’s Office recommends agencies use
the Full-Month convention.

Example Full-Month Convention

The following example illustrates the use of the Full-Month convention: An asset
was purchased on July 8, 20X2, and it was disposed of on October 3, 20X3. For
purposes of calculating depreciation, an entire month of depreciation should be
recorded in the month the asset was purchased and disposed. Accordingly, one
month of depreciation would be recorded in July 20X2 and in October 20X 3.
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Acquisition Value

See SAMS Procedure 03.30.20 for guidance on valuation of capital assets.

Salvage Value

The salvage value of an asset isthe value it is expected to have when it is no longer
useful for its intended purpose. In other words, the salvage value is the amount for
which the asset could be sold at the end of its useful life. This value can be based
on (1) general guidelines from some professional organizations, (2) information
from other governmental entities, (3) interna experience, or (4) professionals such
as engineers, architects, etc. It is possible that certain assets will have no salvage
value.

Estimated Useful Life

Capital assets should be depreciated over their expected useful lives. Agency
management should give consideration to the nature of the asset’s intended service
and the design or acquisition objectives when determining useful lives. The
following table is an example of useful lives by asset category:

Capital Asset Category Estimated Useful
Lives
(InYears)
Infrastructure:
Easements No depreciation
Drainage Systems 20-40
Water Systems 20-40
Roads and Highways (not including
right of way):
Concrete 15-40
Asphalt-rural 20-40
Asphalt- urban 5-25
Non-paved 5-50
Land & Land Improvements No depreciation
Site Improvements 3-50
Buildings 10-60
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Estimated Useful
Capital Asset Category Lives
(In Years)
Building Improvements:
HVAC Systems 10-20
Roofing 10-35
Electrical/Plumbing 15-45
Equipment:
Tables, Desks, Chairs 3-7
Computer Hardware 3-7
Telephone Equipment 5-15
Motor Vehicles:
Cars and light trucks (less than 1 ton) 3-7
Trucks (greater than 1 ton) 10-15
Heavy Construction Equipment 5-10
Other Equipment 3-25
Library Books 5-15
Works of Art and Historical Treasures 5-10
Intangible Assets 3-25

Equipment maintained by the IOC’s capital lease system will be depreciated over
the life of the lease. The IOC will supply depreciation amounts as part of the annual
GAAP reporting process.

Depreciation Method

There are many different methods used to calculate depreciation including straight-
line, decreasing charge methods (i.e. declining balance, double declining balance,
and sum of the year’s digit), increasing-charge methods (i.e. sinking fund and
annuity methods), and unit of production. For statewide financial statement
purposes, the straight-line method should be used. The straight-line method
requires that the salvage value be subtracted from an assets’ acquired value to
determine its depreciable basis. Using the straight-line method, the depreciable
basis is divided by the estimated useful life (as outlined previously in this section),
to calculate the amount of annual depreciation.
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Agencies should depreciate capital assets on an individual unit basis unless written
permission is obtained from the Comptroller’s Office to use a group or composite
depreciation method for certain networks or subsystems of infrastructure. Once a
method for a particular asset is chosen, it must generally be used for the life of the
asset.

Example Straight-line Depreciation Calculation

To illustrate the straight-line depreciation calculation, assume an agency purchases
aone-ton truck. Pertinent dataincludes the following:

Cost of truck $32,000
Estimated useful life 10 years
Estimated salvage value $2,000

The annual depreciation expense for the truck would be calculated as follows:

Cost of truck less salvage value = Annual Depreciation
Estimated useful life expense

$32,000 - $2,000
10

= $3,000

Depreciation of works of art and historical treasures

Capitalized collections or individual items that are exhaustible, such as exhibits
whose useful lives are diminished by display or educational or research
applications, should be depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation
isnot required for collections or individual items that are inexhaustible.

Depreciation of Library Resources

Additions to library resources are capitalized as a single record in the year added
and depreciated over the estimated useful life using one of the five averaging
conventions discussed above. The same averaging convention should be used
consistently from year to year to report depreciation.
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Classification of Depreciation Expense in Gover nment-wide Statement of Activities

Depreciation expense should be reported in the government-wide statement of activities as a
direct expense of the function that is specifically identified with the underlying capital assets.
Each agency’s applicable function is defined in SAMS procedure 11.50.50. Most agencies report
al their activities only under one function. For these agencies, depreciation expense should be
reported entirely as a direct expense of the applicable function for that agency. For those agencies
that report their activities under multiple functions, depreciation expense should be allocated to
the appropriate functions based on the function of the underlying asset. In some situations, an
asset may be shared by multiple functions. Accordingly, depreciation expense for shared assets
should be allocated rationally and ratably to the appropriate functions based on each function’s
estimated use of the asset.

Modified Approach for Infrastructure

The modified approach for infrastructure asset reporting is not a required approach, but rather an
option that may be adopted by agencies that own and manage them. If an agency is
contemplating the use of the modified approach, agency management should be fully aware of the
policy, information systems and reporting requirements and the related costs and benefits of
implementing this reporting approach. Further, an agency that is planning to utilize the modified
approach in the future is required to contact appropriate Comptroller’s Office personnel to ensure
that its plans are congruent with those of other agencies with similar assets. This coordination is
critical to ensure consistency in the statewide reporting of similar assets managed under the
modified approach.

Agencies that manage several types of, networks, or subsystems of infrastructure assets may
utilize the modified approach for reporting information on all these assets or a particular type,
network or subsystem of assets. If the modified approach is used, the agency must meet all the
requirements contained in this Procedure.

Notification of Election to Adopt Modified Approach

At a minimum, an agency that intends to report infrastructure assets under the
modified approach, must provide awritten request to the Comptroller’s Office prior
to the year of adoption. The notification must contain the following elements:

1. A clear description of the infrastructure assets for which the agency proposes to
report under the modified approach and how those assets are currently classified
(e.g., network, subsystem, etc.);
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2. Capitalized cost and related depreciation of these assets as of last reporting
period;

3. Description of the agency’ s asset management system and related functionalities

that address the reporting requirements established in this Procedure;

Brief description of the agency’ s proposed condition assessment methodol ogy;

Proposed established condition level of assets,

Estimated budgetary implications of utilizing the modified approach; and

Other useful information related to this reporting approach.

N o ok

Before implementing the modified approach, the agency should be prepared to work
closely with Comptroller’s Office personnel to develop and/or revise appropriate policies,
procedures, systemsreporting standards, etc. in order to utilize the modified approach on a
prospective basis.

Requirements for Using Modified Approach

In order to utilize the modified approach, an agency must satisfy the following
requirements (in addition to the basic notification requirements outlined above):

» Asset Management System - The agency must manage its infrastructure assets
utilizing an asset management system that includes an inventory of the assets
that are currently managed and maintained by the agency. The inventory and
related asset data must be maintained in sufficient detail to produce the
information required by this Procedure for disclosure purposes, however, the
inventory does not have to provide a detail of individual assets. For example,
an inventory for aroad subsystem may provide an aggregate of pavement miles
by type and not provide detail by specific location. The nature and degree of
aggregation should be defined in the agency’s implementation policies and
procedures.

 Establish Condition Level - The agency must establish a minimum
infrastructure asset condition level at which it plans to maintain and preserve its
assets. Asset condition levels should be established as an integral part of an
agency’s normal planning and budgeting process with input from appropriate
agency management, the Governor's Office and citizens. Asset condition
levels may be established by the agency for a network, subsystem or type of
asset depending on its overall asset management methodology. For example, if
an agency defines a transportation network consisting of several subsystems
(three types of roads, two types of bridges and lighting systems), it could
establish an individual condition level for each subsystem. Alternatively, it
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could establish a condition level for the entire network based on an aggregate
asset management methodology that takes into account the condition levels of
each subsystem. The agency must document its planned condition level goals
and measurement policies and procedures for review by external auditors and/or
Comptroller’s Office financial reporting personnel.

 Estimate Annual Maintenance Expenditures - The agency’s asset
management system must be capable of estimating the annual amount of
expenditures necessary to maintain and preserve its assets at the established
condition level(s).

 Perform Condition Assessment - The agency must perform or have
established procedures to perform condition assessments of its infrastructure
assets on a consistent and periodic basis (but at |east every three years). These
condition assessments must be summarized into information that is useful to
users of the financial statements utilizing a measurement scale. These
assessments may be based on sampling techniques and/or revolving evaluations
of assets. For example, an agency could establish an asset condition
methodology that assigns a condition rating (scale from 1 to 10) to concrete
bridges based on a weighting of three factors: 1) visual inspection; 2) structural
evaluation utilizing detection equipment; and 3) age of the bridge. Each year,
the agency conducts condition assessments on a sample of bridges and assigns
an overal rating to each bridge based on the three factors. The results of the
condition assessments are utilized to extrapolate the overall condition of the
agency’s bridges utilizing the established scale. The documentation supporting
the condition assessment should be sufficiently clear to permit review by
external auditors and/or representatives of the Comptroller’s Office. The
documentation of the condition assessment should include coverage of the
significant steps of the process, the results and the conclusions. The
documentation should permit the independent reviewers to reach the same
conclusions reached by the technicians that prepared the assessment.

*  Document Asset Management Methodology - The agency must document its
asset management methodology, the basis for its established asset condition
levels and related assessments, and related assumptions. Generally, this
documentation should be summarized into an asset management plan that is
adopted by the agency. The plan and related supporting documentation should
be available upon request for use by the Comptroller's Office, auditors,
legislators, citizens or other stakeholders.
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* Document Condition Assessment - The agency must document its asset
condition assessments in a manner such that they may be reviewed, evaluated
and/or replicated by a qualified independent third-party. The level of
documentation maintained by the agency should be determined based on
industry practices, professional standards and management judgment.

Discontinuance of Modified Approach

An agency may no longer use the modified approach for reporting infrastructure
assets if it fails to meet the requirements outlined above. Any of the following
reasons will require an agency to utilize the depreciation approach to infrastructure
reporting:

* Failure to perform a replicable condition assessment at least every three
years,

» Failure to document the condition assessment properly;

* Inability to demonstrate that assets were not maintained at the condition
level established by the agency; or

* Inability to provide the proper disclosure information to Comptroller’s
Office for CAFR preparation purposes.

An agency must communicate to the Comptroller’s Office no later than 30 days after it becomes
awarethat it will no longer satisfy the requirements of the modified approach.

If an agency fails to satisfy any of the above requirements, depreciation of the infrastructure
assets would begin in the fiscal year subsequent to the fiscal year that the requirements outlined
in this Procedure are not met. For reporting purposes, an agency should continue to report its
infrastructure assets at historical cost at transition to the depreciation approach. Preservation
costs that were expensed during previous reporting periods (when utilizing the modified
approach) should not be added back into the capitalized historical costs of the infrastructure
assets. However, these costs should be capitalized in prospective reporting periods.

For the fiscal year in which transition to the standard approach occurs and for future reporting
periods, the agency should calculate and report depreciation on its infrastructure assets..

Requirementsfor Reporting to Comptroller’s Office

Agencies utilizing the modified approach for infrastructure assets are required to report a range of
information to the Comptroller's Office annually. This information is utilized to prepare the
statewide CAFR and includes the following elements:
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1. The assessed condition level of assets for the three most recently completed
assessments;

2. The dates on which the condition assessments were completed;
3. The established condition level for each asset type, network or subsystem;

4. A brief narrative describing the agency’s condition measurement scale and
methodology utilized to perform periodic condition assessments,

5. The estimated annual amount (calculated at the beginning of the fiscal year) of
expenditures required to maintain and preserve the agency’s assets at the
established condition level for the past five fiscal years,

6. The actua amount expended to maintain and preserve the agency’s assets for each
of the past five fiscal years;

7. A brief narrative of factors that have significantly affected the trends in the
information reported above, such as changes in the measurement scale, condition
assessment methodology, or asset construction or maintenance practices in the past
five fiscal years; and

8. If the condition level at which the agency intends to preserve infrastructure assets
changes, an estimate of the effect of the change on the estimated annual amount to
maintain and preserve those assets for the current period should also be disclosed.

In the first fiscal year that an agency utilizes the modified approach, the agency is not
required to report historical information associated with elements 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, or 8 above if
theinformation isnot available. Tothe extent that historical information isavailablein the
year of implementation or subsequent fiscal years, the information should be provided to
Comptroller’s Officein theannual CAFR reporting process.

This information should be reported annually to the Comptroller’s Office as part of the
GAAP reporting process.
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BACK GROUND

This procedure summarizesthe basic generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) that apply to
the recognition of revenue, receivables and resulting deferred revenues related to exchange and
nonexchange transactions. This procedure will describe the characteristics of exchange and
nonexchange transactions, revenue recognition principles, and the related “asset accounting,”
including the recognition, valuation, and reporting of related accounts receivable.

This procedure includes guidance on financial reporting of accounts receivable in accordance with
GAAP. It isnot intended to replace quarterly accounts receivable guidance currently provided in
SAMS Chapter 26. Chapter 26 describes statewide accounts receivable reporting requirements
designed to comply with the Illinois State Collection Act of 1986 (30 ILCS 210/1).

PROCEDURES

Classifying Transactions as Exchange or Nonexchange

The accounting for revenue transactionsis based on their classification as exchange or nonexchange.
The determination of whether a particular revenue arises in whole or in part from nonexchange
transactions or, instead, from exchange or exchange-like transactions is a matter of professional
judgment, depending on the facts and circumstances surrounding the transactions.

Exchange and Exchange-Like Transactions

Exchange transactions are those in which the State gives and receives essentially equal values. An
example of an exchange transaction isalease of astate-owned building to acorporation or individual .
The exchange would yield cash to the State and potentially areceivable at year-end for rent earned.
Exchange-liketransactions are those, in which thereisan identifiable exchange between the State and
another party, but the values exchanged may not be quite equal, or the direct benefits of the exchange
may not be exclusively for the partiesto the exchange. Examplesinclude certain feesfor regul atory or
professional licenses and permits, feesfor driverslicenses and vehicleregistrations, passenger facility
charges, certain grants and donations, and other transactions that, regardless of the label applied to
them, are based on an exchange of similar but not equal values.

Nonexchange Transactions

Nonexchange transactions are those in which the State receives value without directly giving equal
valueinreturn. Income and salestax revenues are examples of nonexchangerevenues. Nonexchange
revenue transactions account for most of the revenue recorded by the State, and are classified as
follows:
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Derived tax revenues result from assessments imposed by the State on exchange transactions.
Examples include taxes on personal income, corporate income, and retail sales of goods and
services. The principal characteristics of these transactions are: (1) the State imposes the
provision of resources on the provider; and (2) the State’'s assessment is on an underlying
exchange transaction, such asthe exchange of an employee’ sservicesfor awageor salary or the
exchange of motor fuel for the market price for the fuel.

Imposed nonexchange revenues result from assessment by the State on nongovernmental
entities, including individuals, other than assessments on exchange transactions. Examples
include fines, penalties, and property forfeitures, such as seizures and escheats. The principal
characteristic of these transactionsisthat the required transmittal of resourcesisimposed by the
State on an act committed or omitted by the provider that is not an exchange transaction.

Government-mandated nonexchange transactions (revenues) occur when another
government (i.e. Federal government) providesresourcesto the State (or an agency) and requires
that State to use them for a specific purpose or purposes established in the provider’s enabling
legidlation. That is, the provider establishes purpose restrictions and also may establish time
requirements. Examples of government-mandated nonexchange transactions include federal
programs that the State is required to perform including Medicaid, Title I, and TANF
(Temporary Assistanceto Needy Families). The provider usually establishes purposerestrictions
and dligibility requirements. The principal characteristicsof thesetransactionsare: (1) aprovider
(i.e. Federal) government mandates that the State perform a particular program or facilitate its
performance by another government; and (2) fulfillment of certain requirementsisessential for a
transaction to occur. These essentia requirements may include time requirements and are
referred to as eligibility requirements.

Voluntary nonexchange transactions (revenues) result from legislative or contractual
agreements, other than exchanges, entered into willingly between the State (or agency) and one
or more other parties. Examples of voluntary nonexchange transactions include certain grants
such as: Highway Construction and Planning; Social ServicesBlock Grant; Child Care programs;
State appropriations received by component units; and donations by nongovernmental entities,
including individuals. Both partiesto avoluntary nonexchange transaction may be governments,
or one party may be a nongovernmental entity, including an individual. Aswith Government-
mandated nonexchange transactions, the provider (i.e. Federal government) often establishes
purpose restrictions and digibility requirements. In many cases, the provider may require the
return of theresourcesif the purposerestrictionsor eligibility requirementsare not fulfilled. The
principal characteristicsof voluntary nonexchange transactions are: (1) they are not imposed on
the provider or the recipient; and (2) fulfillment of eligibility requirements is essential for a
transaction to occur.
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Distinguishing Between Exchange and Nonexchange Transactions

Exchange and exchange-like transactions are distinguished from nonexchange transactions by the
proportionate value exchanged. Exchange and exchange-like transactions are characterized by a
reasonably equal value exchanged between the parties. Nonexchange transactions are characterized
by a highly disproportionate or relatively unequal exchange of value.

Generaly, feesand similar charges represent some exchange of value and are considered exchange or
exchange-like transactions. Most grants and gifts represent nonexchange transactions. However,
there may be grantsin which the provider isreceiving adirect value in exchange such asintellectual
property rightsfrom aresearch grant. A careful evaluation must be performed for each transaction to
determine whether or not there is an exchange of relatively equal value, especialy in the area of
grants. This determination can be subjective and will often require professional judgment.

Example 1 — Social Services Block Grant (Nonexchange)

A State agency receives a grant from the Federal government for the Social Services Block
Grant (SSBG) program. The purpose of the SSBG program is to provide funds to states to
provide various social services to individuals, families, and entire population groups on a
reimbursement basis.

Thisgrant represents anonexchange transaction because thereis not an exchange of relatively
equal values. Even though the State is providing a service that the Federal government
desires to be performed for some public purpose, there is no direct value received by the
Federal government.

Example 2 — Research Grant (Exchange and Nonexchange)

A State agency receives a research grant from the Federal government in return for patent
rights to the research. This grant represents an exchange transaction because there is an
exchange of relatively equal value (i.e. the Federal government is receiving the intellectual
(patent) rights from the research). If, on the other hand, the Federal government does not
receive the patents or other intellectual property rights, the grant would represent a
nonexchange transaction.

Example 3 — Fees (Exchange-Like)

A State agency issues driver’s licenses for a four year period. The license represents the
privilege to operate a motor vehicle in exchange for afee. This transaction represents an
“exchange-like” transaction because it is more similar to an exchange than a nonexchange
transaction. That is, there is an identifiable exchange between the State and the individual
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receiving the drivers license, but the value exchanged is not quite equal. Exchange-like
transactions should be accounted for in the same manner as “ pure” exchange transactions.

Recognition Standardsfor Gover nment-wide, Proprietary Fund, and Fiduciary (Trust) Fund
Financial Statements (Accrual)

The government-wide, proprietary, and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the
economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting (see Procedure 03.20.20).
Under the accrua basis of accounting, revenues and receivables resulting from exchange and
exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place; revenues and receivables
from nonexchange transactions are recognized as explained in the following procedures.

Exchange and Exchange-Like Transactions

Revenues and the related receivable that result from exchange and exchange-like transactions are
recognized when the exchange takes place. Resources (i.e. cash) received before the exchange has
occurred are reported as deferred revenues (liabilities).

Example 1— Fees

A State agency issues driver’s licenses for a four year period. The license represents the
privilege to operate a motor vehiclein exchange for afee. Thistransactionisan “exchange-
like” transaction because it is more similar to an exchange than a nonexchange transaction.
Revenue from an exchange-like transaction should be recognized when the exchange takes
place. Because the State is not obligated to perform any further services after issuing the
license and will not be required to refund any portion of the fees, it has completed the
exchange and the earning process. This concept is further explained in FASB Concept
Statement 5, paragraph 83b which states in part that, "Revenues are not recognized until
earned. An entity's revenue-earning activities involve delivering or producing goods,
rendering services, or other activities that constitute its ongoing major or central operations,
and revenues are considered to have been earned when the entity has substantially
accomplished what it must do to be entitled to the benefits represented by the revenues.”

Example 2— L ease of State Building

A State agency leases a portion of its building to a corporation at market rates. This
transaction represents an exchange of equal value between the State and the corporation.
Revenue should be recognized as earned over the period of the lease (i.e. on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease). Receivables for uncollected revenues should be reported
when revenue is recognized. Payments received before revenue is recognized should be
reported as deferred revenues.
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Nonexchange Transactions
The accounting for nonexchange transactionsis based on the classification of the revenue asfollows:

Derived tax revenues. Assets (receivables or cash) should be recognized when the underlying
exchange transaction occurs or resources are received, whichever isfirst. Revenues should be
recognized when the underlying exchange transaction occurs. Resources (i.e. cash) received
before the underlying exchange has occurred are reported as deferred revenues (liabilities).

Example — Sales Taxes

The State imposes a tax on sales of goods by retail merchants (i.e. salestax). Thetax is
collected by merchants from customers (providers) at the time of sale. Most merchants are
required to submit salestax receiptsto the State on aweekly basis; however, small retail sales
merchants are required to submit receipts only on a monthly, quarterly, or annual basis.

Thisexampleillustratesthe characteristics of derived tax revenues(i.e. atax isimposed on an
underlying exchange transaction between amerchant and consumer). Under the accrual basis
of accounting, the State should recognize revenues, net of estimated refunds, as each sales
transaction occurs. (From a practical standpoint, the State will likely base the amount to be
recognized on total merchants' sales as reported or estimated for the weeks or quarters that
make up the State's fiscal year.) Receivables for uncollected revenues should be reported
when revenue is recognized. Payments received before revenue is recognized should be
reported as deferred revenues or as part of atax refund amount.

Imposed nonexchange revenues. Assets should be recognized when the government has an
enforceable legal claim to the resources or resources are received, whichever is first. If the
enabling legidation includes time requirements, revenues should be recognized in the period
when the use of the resources is required or first permitted. Otherwise, revenues should be
recognized at the sametime asthe assets. Resourcesreceived or recognized asreceivablesbefore
the time requirements are met should be reported as deferred revenues.

Example — Fines

A State agency imposes fines and seizes property for violation of the rules and regulations
governing hunting and fishing. Seized property isauctioned from timeto timeduring the year
and the proceeds from the auctions are deposited into the appropriate fund.

Thisexampleillustratesthe characteristics of animposed nonexchangetransaction. Under the
accrual basis of accounting, receivablesfor fines should be recognized when the government
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has an enforceable legal claim to the resources. Due to the difficulty in establishing when an
enforceable legal claim exists and the practical limitation of estimating the ultimate
collectibility of fines, the State should recognize revenue when the fine is collected.
Receivables and deferred revenue should be reported for imposed but uncollected fines.
Revenue from seized property should be recognized when an enforceable legal claim exists.

Government-mandated and voluntary nonexchange transactions. Assets should be
recognized when all applicable eligibility requirements are met or the resources are received,
whichever isfirst. Revenues should be recognized when all applicabledigibility requirementsare
met. For transactionsin which the provider requiresthe recipient (State) to use (sell, disburse, or
consume) the resources in or beginning in the following period, resources received before that
period should be recognized as deferred revenues. However, if the provider stipulates that
resources be maintained intact in perpetuity, for a specified number of years, or until a specific
event has occurred (such as permanent or term endowments), time requirements are met and
revenues should be recognized when the resources arereceived, provided that all other eligibility
reguirements have been met.

The four types of €igibility requirements are:

a. Required characteristics of recipients. The provider specifies certain characteristics for
the recipient or secondary recipient. For example, under a certain federal program,
recipients are required to be states and secondary recipients are required to be counties.

b. Timerequirements. Time requirements specify the period when resources are required to
be used or when use may begin, or require that the resources be maintained intact as
specified by the provider.

c. Reimbursements. The provider offers resources on a reimbursement ("expenditure-
driven™) basis and the State (or agency) hasincurred allowable costs under the applicable
program.

d. Contingencies (appliesonly to voluntary nonexchangetransactions). The provider offers
resources contingent upon a specified action of the State (or agency) and that action has
occurred. For example, the recipient is required to raise a specific amount of resources
from third parties or to dedicate its own resources for a specified purpose and has
complied with those requirements.

GASB Statement No. 33 distinguishes between two kinds of stipulations on the use of resources:
time requirements and pur pose restrictions. Time requirements specify the period when resources
arerequired to be used or when use may begin, or require that the resources be maintained intact
as specified by the provider. Time requirements affect the timing of recognition of nonexchange
transactions. Purpose restrictions, on the other hand, specify the purpose for which the resources
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should be used. Purpose restrictions do not affect when revenue from a nonexchange transaction
is recognized; instead, they affect the reporting of equity (i.e. restricted net assets).

Example 1 - Grants

The federal government issued a grant to a State agency to study the health related effects of
exercise on atargeted population of individuals with sedentary lifestyles. The grant permits
100 percent reimbursement for direct and indirect costs. The period of availability of the
grant istwo years, beginning October 1% of the current fiscal year. Theagency ispermitted to
retain the rights to the grant research. The agency incurs qualifying reimbursable expenses,
and complieswith all administrative requirements throughout the course of the grant. There
are no significant contingencies.

This is an example of a voluntary nonexchange transaction. Under the accrual basis of
accounting, revenue should be recognized when the qualifying expenditures are incurred.
Receivables for uncollected revenues should be reported when revenue is recognized.
Payments received before revenue is recognized should be reported as deferred revenues.

Example 2 — Private Contribution

Anindividual (provider) makes alarge cash donation to a State university (recipient). The
donation isto be used in the business school at any time for operations, scholarships, or any
other purposes deemed appropriate by the university.

This exampleillustrates the characteristics of voluntary nonexchange transactions. Thereis
no eligibility requirement. Assuming that the donation was not announced in advance, the
university should recognize cash and arevenue when the money isreceived. If, onthe other
hand, the donor announcesthe donation ayear before paying it and the university believesthat
collection is probable, the university should recognize a receivable and a revenue when the
donation is announced. Because of the purpose restriction, the university should report
resulting net assets (or fund balance) as restricted until used.

Example 3 — Endowment and Similar Transactions

An individual (provider) makes a large cash donation to a State university’s permanent
endowment. The provider stipulatesthat the original donation (corpus) must beinvested and
maintained in perpetuity, and the related investment earnings must be used to provide
scholarships.

Thisexampleillustrates the characteristics of voluntary nonexchangetransactions. Under the
accrual basis of accounting, revenues should be recognized when the resources are received.
For thistransaction, the time requirement is met as soon asthe university beginsto honor the
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provider's stipulation not to sell, disburse, or consume the resources and continues to be met
for as long as the university honors that stipulation. Because of the purpose restriction, the
university should report resulting net assets for the corpus as restricted — nonexpendable and
the resulting net assets from investment earnings as restricted — expendable.

Recognition Standardsfor Governmental Funds Financial Statements (M odified Accrual)

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting (see Procedure 3.20.20). Theonly
difference between accrual-basisrecognition of financial resourceinflowsand modified accrual-basis
recognition of financial resource inflowsrelatesto availability. Under the modified accrual basis of
accounting, revenue should be recognized in the accounting period in which they become both
measurable and “available”. Theterm available generally means collectible within the current period
or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. The State considers all
revenues reported in the governmental funds to be available if collected within the State's lapse
period (i.e. 60 days after year-end). Accordingly, revenue should be deferred if the receivable is not
collected within 60 days after year-end.

Example — Reimbursement Grant Not Received Prior to End of the State' s L apse Period

A State agency receives agrant from the United States Department of Agricultureto monitor
Illinois bovine herds for signs of hoof and mouth disease which represents a nonexchange
transaction. The grant isfunded on areimbursement basis allowing direct and indirect costs.
The State agency incurs qualifying expenditures under the grant prior to the current year-end
(June 30, 20X X), but does not receive reimbursement until the following September. Because
the reimbursement was received after the State’ s lapse period, the period of availability to
fund current year operations, the reimbursement should be reported as a receivable and as
deferred revenue as of the current year-end (June 30, 20X X). This deferral will result in a
timing difference in recognition of revenues and expenditures. The expenditures will be
recognized in the current fiscal year and the related revenue will be recognized in the
subsequent fiscal year.

Summary of Recognition Standards

The following table provides a summary of the revenue and related receivable recognition for both
exchange and nonexchange transactions.
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Revenue Recognition

Class of Transaction

Asset Recoghition—Both
Accrual and M odified
Accrual Bases of
Accounting

Accrual Basis of
Accounting*

Modified Accrual
Basis of Accounting*

Exchange and exchange-like
transactions

Nonexchange:

Derived tax revenues,
which generally would
include income, sales,
and similar assessment on
earnings or consumption

Imposed nonexchange
revenues, which
generally would include
fines and certain fees

Government-mandated
and voluntary
nonexchange
transactions, which
generally would include
Federal grants and
donations by
nongovernmental entities

+ Record receivables when

underlying exchange
transaction occurs or
record cash when the
resources are received,
whichever isfirst

« Record receivables when

underlying exchange
transaction occurs or
record cash when the
resources are received,
whichever isfirst

+ Record receivables when

the State has an
enforceable legal claim to
the resources or record
cash when the resources
are received, whichever is
first

« Record receivables when

all applicable eligibility
requirements are met or
record cash when the
resources are received,
whichever isfirst

When the exchange
occurs

When the underlying
exchange occurs

When use of the
resourcesis required
or first permitted by
time requirementsin
enabling legidation,
or at the sametime as
the assets are
recognized if there are
no time requirements

When all applicable
eligibility
requirements are met
(For endowments,
time requirements are
met when resources
arereceived.)

When the exchange
occurs, subject to
“availability” criterion

When the underlying
exchange occurs,
subject to
“availability” criterion

When use of the
resources is required
or first permitted by
time requirementsin
enabling legidlation,
or a the sametime as
the assets are
recognized if there are
no time requirements,
subject to
“availability” criterion
When all applicable
igibility
requirements are met,
subject to
“availability” criterion
(For endowments,
time requirements are
met when resources
arereceived.)

*|f cash isreceived before revenue is recognized, deferred revenue should be reported.
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Presentation and Valuation of Receivables

Presentation

All receivables should be reported net of estimated uncollectible amounts. The allowance for
estimated uncollectible receivables should be disclosed in the face of the financial statement (either
parenthetically or as a separate line item) or in the notes to the financial statements. Long-term

| receivables (defined as not expected to be collected within the State’ savailability period of 60 days
(lapse period)) should be reported at net realizable value.

All assets, including, receivables and liabilities will be presented in the government-wide statement
of net assets and governmental fund balance sheetsin order of liquidity (i.e. non classified format).
Assetsand liabilitiesfor proprietary fund balance sheetswill be presented in aclassified format (i.e.
current vs. noncurrent). Accordingly, receivablesfor proprietary funds should be classified as short

| term (i.e. expected to be collected during the lapse period) or long-term (expected to be collected
after lapse period).

Collectibility

An estimated loss for uncollectible receivables should be reported as an expense/expenditure or
reduction of revenue, if appropriate and acontraasset (i.e. allowancefor uncollectiblereceivables) if
both of the following conditions are met:

a. Information available before the financial statements are issued indicates that it is probable
that all or part of the receivable at the date of the financial statementswill not be collectable;
and

b. The amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.

These conditions can be considered with respect to individual receivables or in relation to groups of
similar types of receivables. If the above two conditions are met, an accrua should be made even
though a particular receivable may not be identifiable.

FASB Statement 5 provides guidance for determining the probability of loss. Specificaly, it defines
the possible outcomes as follows:

e Probable: Thefutureevent or events (loss) are likely to occur.

e Reasonably possible: The chance of the future event or events (loss) occurring ismorethan
remote but less than likely.

e Remote: The chance of the future event or events (loss) occurring is slight.
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Discounting Long-Term Receivables

Long-term receivables arising from exchange transactions are required to be discounted using the
time val ue of money concept. When astated interest rate for such receivables does not exist, expected
future cash flows should be discounted to reflect the time value of money. Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 21 provides guidance on selecting a discount rate. Discounting for long-term
receivables arising from nonexchange transactions is not required but is recommended. Agencies
should have proceduresin placeto identify and accumulate thisinformation for reporting these long-
term amountsin their GAAP reporting packages.

Net realizable value is computed by calculating the present value of the expected future collections
over the period of years. Present valueisdetermined by discounting the future amount or amounts at
a predetermined discount rate. For example, an agency has entered into a transaction whose terms
require repayment of $100,000 per year over aperiod of ten years. Assuming adiscount rate of 8%,
the present value of future cash collections would be approximately $671,000, which is the net
realizable value. The difference between the face value ($1,000,000) and the net realizable value
should be recognized as an element of interest income.
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BACKGROUND

Within the government-wide statement of activities, the operations of the State will be presented
in aformat that reports the net (expense) revenue of its individual functions. Revenues reported
in this statement will be classified as either program or general revenues unless they are required
to be classified as contributions to term and permanent endowment, contributions to permanent
fund principal, specia items, or extraordinary items.

PROCEDURES

Program revenues are derived directly from the program (or functions) itself or from parties
outside of the State' s taxpayers or citizenry, as a whole; they reduce the net cost of the function to
be financed from the State’'s general revenues. All program specific revenues should be reported
in the statement of activities by the functional categories established in procedure 11.50.50.

General revenues are al other revenues that are not required to be reported as program revenues.

Guidance for determining whether revenues are considered program or general revenues is as
follows:

Revenue Source Revenue Type

Those who purchase, use, or directly benefit Always program revenue
from the program’ s goods or services

Parties outside the reporting government’s Program revenueif restricted to a

citizensasawhole specific program; general revenue
if unrestricted

All the reporting government’ s taxpayers Always general revenue, even if

restricted to a specific program

The governmental entity itself, for example, Usually general revenue
through investing
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Program Revenues

There are three categories of program revenues:

a) Chargesfor services;
b) Program-specific operating grants and contributions; and
c) Program-specific capital grants and contributions.

Chargesfor Services

Charges for services include a broad category of revenues that arise from charges to customers or
applicants who directly benefit from the goods, services, or privileges provided, or are otherwise
directly affected by the services. These transactions usually result from exchange or exchange-
like transactions. Examples of charges for servicesinclude:

* Licenseand permit fees;

o State park camping fees;

* Insurance premiums,

* Lottery sales;

o Talls

* Prison industry revenues,

» Payments from other governments that are exchange transactions; and
* Finesand forfeitures.

Fines and forfeitures are included in this category because they result from direct charges to those
who are “otherwise directly affected” by a program or service, even though they receive no
benefit.

Charges for services are always reported in the function or program from which the revenue is
derived, even if the use of the revenue is restricted to another function or program.

Example of Functional Classification

Assume that a State law requires that a percentage of the State’s lottery sales revenue
must be used for elementary and secondary education programs in the State. Even
though the law restricted the use of revenue for education, the entire ticket sales should
be recorded as program revenues of the lottery function (as opposed to the education
function) because the revenue derives directly from the lottery program.
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Program-Specific Operating Grants and Contributions

Program-specific operating grants and contributions are revenues that arise from government-
mandated and voluntary non-exchange transactions with other governments, organizations, or
individuals that can be used for operating purposes and are restricted for use in a particular
function of the State. Grants and contributions should be considered “operating” if they are
restricted solely for “operating” purposes, or if the agency has the discretion to use them for either
operating or capital purposes.

Example of Program-Specific Operating vs. Capital

Assume that a federal grant can be used for either maintenance expense or for the
purchase of capital assets used in the operations of the State. This grant should be
considered to be operating because the State has the discretion to use the revenues for
either operating or capital purposes. If, on the other hand, the State could only use the
grant for capital purposes, it would be classified as a capital grant.

Further, for operating grants and contributions to be considered program-specific, the restrictions
must be identifiable to a particular function(s). If the restrictions can not be associated with a
particular function(s), the revenue must be considered general revenue.

Example of Operating Grant Classified as Program Specific Revenue

Assume an agency reports al of its governmental activities under the transportation
function. If the agency receives a federal grant that is restricted for maintenance
(operating) purposes for the State highway system, this grant should be classified as a
program specific operating grant because it is restricted for operating purposes and can
not be used for any purpose other than transportation.

Example of Operating Grant Classified as General Revenue

Assume an agency reports its governmental activities under two functions: 1) health
and social services; and 2) general government. |f the agency receives a federal grant
that can be used for multiple purposes that would qualify under either function, then the
grant should be classified as general revenue because it is not restricted to a specific
function of the State. If, on the other hand, the grant specifically identifies the amount
that should be used under both functions, then the grant should be classified as program
revenue of the applicable functions.
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Program-Specific Capital Grants and Contributions

Program-specific capital grants and contributions are revenues that arise from government-
mandated and voluntary nonexchange transactions with other governments, organizations, or
individuals that are restricted for capital purposes — to purchase, construct, or renovate capital
assets associated with or used in a program reported under a specific function of the State. The
rules are the same as for “operating grants and contributions,” to be considered program-specific
the restrictions must be identifiable to a particular function(s). If the restrictions can not be
associated with a particular function(s), the revenue must be considered genera revenue.

Example of Capital Grant Classified as Program Specific Revenue

Assume an agency reports all of its governmental activities under the transportation
function. If the agency receives a federal grant that is restricted for State highway
construction, this grant should be classified as a program specific capital grant because
it is restricted for capital purposes and acquired/constructed assets are used in or
associated with transportation function.

General Revenues

All revenues are general revenues unless they are required to be reported as program revenues.
All taxes, even those that are levied for a specific purpose, are general revenues and should be
reported by type of tax—for example, sales tax, property tax, franchise tax, income tax. All other
nontax revenues (including interest, grants, and contributions) that do not meet the criteria to be
reported as program revenues should also be reported as general revenues.

Classification of Earnings on Endowments, Permanent Funds, and Resources from Grant
Revenues

Earnings on endowments or permanent fund investments should be reported as program revenues
(i.e. with program specific operating grants and contributions) if restricted to a program or
programs specifically identified in the endowment or permanent fund agreement or contract.
Earnings from endowments or permanent funds that finance “general fund programs’ or “general
operating expenses,” for example, should be reported as general revenue (i.e. as investment
earnings). Similarly, earnings on investments not held by permanent funds also may be legally
restricted to specific functions or programs. For example, interest earnings on federal grants may
be required to be used to support a specific program. When earnings on the invested accumulated
resources of a program are legally restricted to be used for that program, they should be reported
as program revenues and should be classified the same as the underlying grant revenue (i.e. as
program specific operating or capital grant revenue).
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BACKGROUND

Recording of expenditures/expense and the related liabilities depends on the basis of accounting
applied. Due to the digtinctive nature of fund financia statements and fund accounting regquirements,
some long-term liabilities should be reported in fund financial statements, while some should be
reported only in the governmental activities column in the government-wide financia statements.

PROCEDURES

Recognition Standards for Gover nmental Funds Financial Statements

The governmenta funds financial statements use the current financial resources measurement focus
and modified accrua basis of accounting (see Procedure 03.20.20). Under the current financid
resources measurement focus, governmental funds should report expenditures, which generaly do
not include the deferral and alocation or amortization of costs that benefit one or more future
periods. Expenditures and related liabilities should be recognized in the accounting period in which
the liability is incurred, except for the following genera long-term liabilities which should not be
recognized until they are due (mature):

Debt issues (including capital lease and installment purchase liabilities);
Unmatured interest on general long-term debt;

Compensated absences;

Claims and judgments;

Special termination benefits; and

Landfill closure and postclosure care costs.

Accordingly, the portion of general long-term liabilities that is not matured (due for payment) should
not be reported as governmental fund ligbilities. Debt service and interest on formal debt issues (such
as bonds and capital leases) generaly should be recognized as a governmenta fund liability and
expenditure when due (matured). Compensated absences, claims and judgments, specia termination
benefits, and landfill closure and postclosure care costs should be recognized as governmental fund
liabilities and expenditures to the extent the liabilities are “normally expected to be liquidated with
expendable available financial resources.” In genera, agencies are normally expected to liquidate
those liabilities with expendable available financial resources to the extent that the liabilities mature
(come due for payment) each period.
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The recognition of expenditures and governmental fund liabilities for compensated absences, clams
and judgments, specia termination benefits, and landfill closure and postclosure care costs is based
on the maturity of the liabilities and does not depend on how an agency accumulates resources to pay
those liabilities. Even though some agencies may advance-fund part or al of the liabilities covered
by the “normally expected” criterion, that advance funding should not result in recognizing
additional governmental fund expenditures or liabilities. Those accumulated net assets should be
reported as a part of governmental fund balance—for example, as unreserved, designated fund
balance, if appropriate.

Recognition Standards for Government-wide, Proprietary Fund, and Fiduciary (Trust)
Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide, proprietary fund, and fiduciary (trust) fund financial statements use the
economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting (see Procedure
03.20.20). Under the economic resources measurement focus, the activity statements report
expenses, which include the deferral and allocation or amortization of costs that benefit one or
more future periods. Under the accrua basis of accounting, expenses resulting from exchange
and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place; expenses from
nonexchange transactions are recognized in accordance with GASB Statement No. 33, as
explained in Procedure 03.50.40.

Summary of Recognition Standards

The table on the following pages provides a summary of reporting for expenses expenditures
and therelated liabilities.
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Gover nment-wide Financial Governmental Fund Proprietary and Fiduciary
- Statements Financial Statements Fund Financial Statements
iy (accrual basis of accounting) (modified accrual basis of (accrual basis of accounting)
accounting)
Deferred charges:
Inventory Record initial purchase of Record initial purchase as Same as government-wide
inventory as an asset expenditure financial statements
Report expenses on the Record adjusting entry at
first-in, first-out basis year end to report
inventory on hand as an
asset and a reduction of
expenditures
Prepaid assets Defer amount paid for Record expenditure when Same as government-wide

servicesin advance and
record as an asset

Report expenses as
services are received

paid

financial statements

Salaries, professional
services, supplies, utilities
and travel

Report as expensesin the
period for which the
liability isincurred

Report liability as
accounts payable or
accrued liabilities

Report as expendituresin
the period for which the
liability isincurred

Report liability as
accounts payable or
accrued liabilities

Same as government-wide
financia statements

Grants, entitlements, and
shared revenues

Report an expense and
liability when all
applicable eligibility
requirements are met by
the recipient

Report an expenditure and
liability when all
applicable eligibility
requirements are met by
the recipient

Same as government-wide
financia statements

Issuance of long-term debt:

Principal

Report liability and
classify as current and
non-current in statement
of net assets

Report face amount in
operating statement as
other financing source

Report liability and
classify as current and
non-current in statements
of net assets
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Activity

Government-wide Financial
Statements

(accrual basis of accounting)

Governmental Fund
Financial Statements

(modified accrual basis of
accounting)

Proprietary and Fiduciary
Fund Financial Statements

(accrual basis of accounting)

I ssuance premiums and
discounts

Debt issuance costs

» Report as adirect
deduction from or addition
to face amount of the debt
in statement of net assets

» Defer and record asan

asset

» Report premium and
discount separately from
bond proceedsin
operating statement as
other financing source or
use

» Report as expenditures

» Report asadirect
deduction from or addition
to face amount of the debt
in statement of net assets

» Defer and record asan
asset

Debt service and
amortization:

Principal payments on
long-term debt
instruments

Interest expense and
related liability

Amortization of
issuance premiums
and discounts on
issued debt

Amortization of bond
issue costs

» No expense recorded
» Reduce liability reported

in statement of net asset.

» Report (accrue) expense

and related liability in the
period for which the
underlying debt is
outstanding

» Amortize asinterest

expense or income over
life of debt using effective
interest method

» Amortize over life of debt

using a method that
approximates the effective
interest method

» Report as expenditures
when due

» No liability recorded in
statement of net assets
» Report as expenditures

when due

» No liability recorded

» Not applicable

» Not applicable

» No expense recorded

» Reduce liability reported
in statement of net assets

» Report (accrue) expense
and related liability in the
period for which the
underlying debt is
outstanding

» Amortized asinterest
expense or income over
life of debt using effective
interest method

» Amortize over life of debt
using a method that
approximates the effective
interest method
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Activity

Government-wide Financial
Statements

(accrual basis of accounting)

Governmental Fund
Financial Statements

(modified accrual basis of
accounting)

Proprietary and Fiduciary
Fund Financial Statements

(accrual basis of accounting)

Claims and judgments

including loss contingencies

» Report an estimated loss
as an expense and liability
if it is probable that an
asset has been impaired or
aliability has been
incurred and amount of
loss can be reasonably
estimated. Estimated loss
should include IBNR
amounts.

» Report an expenditure and
fund liability when
payment is due

» Report an estimated |oss
as an expense and a fund
liability if it is probable
that an asset has been
impaired or aliability has
been incurred and amount
of loss can be reasonably
estimated. Estimated loss
should include IBNR
amounts.

benefit plans

Employer participation
in single-employer
and agent multiple-
employer defined

» Report expense equal to
the annual pension cost as
defined in GASB 27

» Report net pension
obligation (as defined in
GASB 27) asliability in
statement of net assets

Compensated absences » Report expense and » Report expenditure and » Report expense and
liability as employees earn fund liability when liability as employees
theright to benefits using payments come due each (that perform services for
the vesting method period upon the and are paid out of a

occurrence of relevant proprietary or fiduciary
events such as employee fund) earn theright to
resignations and benefits using the vesting
retirements method

Pension:

» Report expenditure equal
to the amount contributed
to the plan or expected to
be liquidated with
expendable available
financial resources

» A positive (or negétive)
year-end balance net
pension obligation amount
should not be reported in
the governmental fund
financial statements

» Report expensein the
operating statement equal
to the annual pension cost
as defined in GASB 27

» Report net pension
obligation (as defined is
GASB 27) asliability in
statement of net assets
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Activity

Government-wide Financial
Statements

(accrual basis of accounting)

Governmental Fund
Financial Statements

(modified accrual basis of
accounting)

Proprietary and Fiduciary
Fund Financial Statements

(accrual basis of accounting)

Employer participation
in cost-sharing
multiple-employer
defined benefit plans

» Report expense equal to
contractually required
contributions to the plan

» Report liability in
statement of net assets as
cumulative difference
between contributions
required and contributions
made

» Report expenditure equal
to contractually required
contributions to the plan

» Report liability in
statement of net assets as
cumulative difference
between contributions
required and contributions
made

» Report expense equal to
contractually required
contributions to the plan

» Report liability in
statement of net assets as
cumulative difference
between contributions
required and contributions
made

Employer participation
in defined contribution
plans

» Report expense equal to
required contributions to
the plan

» Report liability in
statement of net assets as
cumulative difference
between contributions
required and contributions
made

» Report expenditure equal
to required contributions
tothe plan

» Report liability in
statement of net assets as
cumulative difference
between contributions
required and contributions
made

» Report expense equal to
required contributions to
the plan

» Report liability in
statement of net assets as
cumulative difference
between contributions
required and contributions
made

Other Post Employment
Benefits

» Report an expense and
liability when liability
matures (i.e. when due.)

» Report as expenditures
and liability when liability
matures (i.e. when due.)

» Same as government-wide
financial statements

Conduit Debt

» Footnote disclosure only

» Footnote disclosure only

» Footnote disclosure only
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Long-term debt instruments that the State may issue include the following:

» General Obligation Bonds— General obligation bonds pledgethefull faith and credit of the
State to pay debt principal and interest. The State Constitution provides that the State may
issue general obligation bondsfor specific purposein such amounts as provided either by the
General Assembly with a three-fifths vote of each house or by a mgjority of votersin a
general election.

» Special Obligation Bonds— Special obligation bonds are secured by apledge of adedicated
portion of the State resources (e.g. salestax, horse racing privilege tax, etc.).

* RevenueBonds—Revenue bondsare secured by apledge of income from assets constructed
or acquired. Revenue bonds are not supported by the full faith and credit of the State. The
bond indentures include a pledge from the issuing agencies and authorities that income
derived from acquired or constructed assets be used to retire the debt and service related
interest.

» Certificatesof Participation — Certificates of participation areinstruments of indebtedness
issued to finance equipment or facilitiesthat areleased to a State agency. The lease payments
are pledged to pay the debt principal and interest. The State issues certificates of
participation representing the right to receive a proportionate share in lease-purchase or
installment purchase paymentsto be made for the benefit of State agenciesfor theacquisition
or improvement of real or persona property, refinancing of such property, payment of
expenses of such property or payment of expenses related to the issuance. The State also
finances the purchase of certain State-owned real and personal property through non-State
issued certificates of participation. These non-State issued certificates of participation are
sold by private concerns and are repaid by State agency appropriations pursuant to
installment purchase agreements.

* Notes —Notes payable are unconditional written promises signed by the maker (i.e. a State
agency or authority) to pay acertain sumin money on demand or at afixed or determinable
time either to the bearer or to the order of a person designated therein.

* LeaseObligations —Leaseobligationsareliabilities for paymentsunder capital leases(i.e.
the present value of the minimum lease payments).

» Installment Purchase Obligations. Installment purchase obligations areliabilitiesfor the
payments under an installment purchase contract.
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Accounting for Proprietary Fund and Fiduciary Fund L ong-Term Debt

Liabilities

Liabilitiesarising from long-term debt (including general obligation bonds) that aredirectly related to
and expected to be paid from proprietary funds should be reported in the proprietary fund and
government-wide financial position statements. Liabilities arising from long-term debt that are
directly related to and expected to be paid from fiduciary funds should be reported only in the
statement of fiduciary net assets.

Interest Expense and Related Liability

Interest expense accrues with the passage of time. In the government-wide financial statements as
well as the proprietary and fiduciary fund financial statements, interest should be expensed and a
related liability should be recorded for the respective time frame which has elapsed since the last
payment date and the end of the reporting year.

| ssuance Discounts and Premiums

The discount or premium resulting from the issuance of |ong-term debt instrumentsis not an asset or
liability separable from the debt instrument which gives rise to it. Therefore, the discount or
premium for proprietary and fiduciary fund debt should be reported in the applicable statements of
net assets as a direct deduction from or addition to the face amount of the debt. It should not be
classified as a deferred charge or deferred credit. Debt issuance discount or premiums should be
amortized asinterest expense or income over the life of the debt using the effective interest method,
whichisdescribedin APB Opinion No. 12. The objective of the effectiveinterest method isto arrive
at aperiodic interest cost (including amortization) which will represent alevel effective rate on the
sum of the face amount of the debt and (plus or minus) the unamortized premium or discount and
expense at the beginning of each period. The difference between the periodic interest cost so
calculated and the nominal interest on the outstanding amount of the debt is the amount of periodic
amortization.

Debt I ssuance Costs

Debt issuance costs for proprietary and fiduciary fund debt should be deferred and recorded as an
“other asset” in the statements of net assets. Debt i ssuance costs should be amortized over thelife of
the debt using a method that approximates the effective interest method (i.e. gives consideration to
the outstanding balances over the life of the debt).
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Accounting for General L ong-term Debt

Liabilities

Long-term debt that isnot proprietary or fiduciary fund debt should be accounted for as general long-
term liabilities. Those liabilities should not be reported asliabilitiesin governmental funds but should
be reported in the governmental activities column of the government-wide statement of net assets.
Matured but unpaid portions of general long-term debt should be reported as liabilities in the
governmental fund and government-widefinancial statements. The accounting for general long-term
debt that isreported in the government-wide financial statements isthe same as described above for
proprietary fund debt.

| ssuance of Long-Term Debt

In the governmental funds, except for certain demand bonds as discussed below, the face amount of
long-term debt issuances is reported as an other financing source in the fund that receives the debt
proceeds. Debt issuance premiums and discounts should be reported separately from the face amount
of long-term debt as other financing sources and uses, respectively, and debt issue costs paid out of
debt proceeds, such as underwriter and attorney fees, should be reported as expenditures.

Payment of Principal and Interest

Expenditures for the payment of principal and interest on general long-term debt are reported when
the payments are due (matured). In addition, debt service expenditures may be reported if the State
has provided financial resources to a debt service fund for payment of debt that will mature early in
the following year. The State has "provided" financia resources to a debt service fund if it has
deposited in or transferred to that fund financial resources that are dedicated for payment of debt
service. “Early in the following year” refers to a short time period—usually one to several days and
not more than one month.

Demand Bonds

Demand bonds are long-term debt i ssuances of the State with demand ("put") provisionsthat require
the State to repurchase the bonds upon notice from the bondholder at a price equal to the principal
plus accrued interest. GASB Interpretation No. 1, Demand Bonds Issued by State and Local
Governmental Entities, as amended by GASB Statement No. 34, provides guidance for bonds that
have demand provisions that can be exercised at the date of the financial statements or within one
year thereafter.
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Demand bonds should be reported by the State as general long-term debt liabilities (and reported only
in the government-wide statement of net assets), or excluded from current liabilities of proprietary
funds, if al of the following conditions are met:

1. Before the financia statements are issued, an agency has entered into an arm's-length
financing (take out) agreement to convert bonds " put™ but not resold into some other form of
long-term obligation;

2. Thetake out agreement does not expire within one year from the date of the State's balance
shest;

3. Thetake out agreement is not cancelable by the lender or the prospective lender during that
year, and obligations incurred under the take out agreement are not callable by the lender
during that year; and

4. The lender or the prospective lender or investor is expected to be financially capable of
honoring the take out agreement.

If all of these conditions are not met, demand bonds should be classified as fund liabilities, or as
current liabilities of proprietary funds.

Agencies should report demand bonds activity to the Comptroller’s Office annually utilizing form
SCO-535 or SCO-585 as part of the GAAP reporting process.

Conduit Debt

Conduit debt obligations are certain limited-obligation revenue bonds, certificates of participation, or
similar debt instruments issued by the State or an agency for the purpose of providing capital
financing for aspecific third party that isnot apart of the State or agency asappropriate. The State, by
action of the General Assembly, created various authorities for the express purpose of providing
private entities with an available low cost source of capital financing for construction of facilities.
The proceeds from the sale of such debt usually advance or achieve some public purpose, such asthe
expansion of aprivate businessto increase employment or to increase the State’ stax base. Although
conduit debt obligations bear the name of the State, the State has no obligation for such debt beyond
the resources provided by alease or loan with the third party on whose behalf they are issued.
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The following disclosures for conduit debt are required to be presented in the notes to the financial

statements:
» ageneral description of the conduit debt transactions;

» the aggregate amount of all conduit debt obligations outstanding at the financial statement

date; and

» aclear indication that the State (agency) has no obligation for the debt beyond the resources

provided by related leases or |oans

Comptroller’s Office Requirement to Account for Bonded | ndebtedness

The Illinois Compiled Statutes (15 ILCS 405/18) requires the Comptroller’s Office to maintain
current recordsfor all bonded i ndebtedness outstanding including adescription of the bonds, amount
authorized, amount issued, amount authorized which has not been issued, the outstanding balance,
maturity schedules, interest rates, and, if applicable, a copy of the bond resolution, a copy of the
official bid, a copy of the prospectus/official statement, and acopy of the sale notice. To meet this
regquirement, the Comptroller’s Office must receive specific information for each debt issue from
State agencies. Further guidance and procedures for reporting bonded indebtedness to the IOC is

included in Chapter 31 of the SAMS manual.
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Background

Compensated absences represent the State’s liability related to employee services previousy
rendered where payment for such servicesis not dependent on aparticular event (e.g. iliness) that is
outside the control of the State and the employee. Generally, the State of Illinois liability for
compensated absences will consist of vacation and other leave and sick |eave that have been earned
by employees, but not taken. The accrual of thisliability is subject to certain conditions. Sincethe
conditionsfor vacation and other compensated absences are different from the conditionsthat apply
to sick leave, these two types of compensated absences are discussed separately below.
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 16, Accounting for Compensated Absences,
also provides guidance on accounting for compensated absences.

Procedures

Accounting for Compensated Absencesin Proprietary and Fiduciary Funds

Expenses and related liabilities for compensated absences arising from the operations of (i.e. from
employeesthat provide servicesto) proprietary funds should be reported in the proprietary fund and
government-wide financial statements. Expenses and related liabilities for compensated absences
arising from the operations of (i.e. from employees that provide services to) fiduciary funds should
be reported in the fiduciary fund (trust) financial statements.

Vacation L eave and Other Compensated Absenceswith Similar Characteristics

Vacation leave and other compensated absences with similar characteristics (hereinafter referred to
as “vacation leave”) should be accrued as aliability as the benefits are earned by the employees if
both of these conditions are met:

a. Theemployees rights to receive compensation are attributable to services already
rendered; and

b. Itisprobable that the State will compensate the employees for the benefits through paid
time off or some other means, such as cash payments at termination or retirement.

If an agency has a policy of paying employees for unused holiday and/or compensatory time at

separation or retirement, this must be included as part of the vacation and other compensated
absences amount (liability).

Sick Leave and Other Compensated Absenceswith Similar Characteristics

A liability for sick leave and other compensated absences with similar characteristics (hereinafter
referred to as"sick leave") should be accrued using the vesting method. Under this method, the sick
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leave liability should be estimated based on sick leave accumulated at the balance sheet date by
those employees who currently are eligible to receive termination payments as well as employees
who are expected to become eligible in the future to receive such payments. To calculate the
liability, these accumulations should be reduced to the maximum amount allowed as a
termination payment. Accruals for those employees who are expected to become eligible in the
future should be based on assumptions concerning the probability that individual employees or
classes or groups of employees will become eligible to receive termination payments.

Calculation of Compensated Absences Liability

The compensated absences liability should be calculated based on the pay or salary rates in effect
at the balance sheet date. However, if the state agency pays employees for their compensated
absences at other than their pay or salary rates — for example, at a lower amount as established by
contract, regulation, or policy — then the agency should use that other rate to calculate the
liability.

An associated amount should be accrued as a liability for salary-related payments associated
with the payment of compensated absences, using the rates in effect at the balance sheet date.
The salary-related payments subject to this accrual are those items for which an agency (State) is
liable to make a payment directly and incrementally associated with payments made for
compensated absences on termination. Such salary-related payments include the employer’s
share of social security and medicare taxes. The accrual should be made based on the entire
liability for each type of compensated absence to which the salary-related payments apply. (That
is, payments directly and incrementally associated with the payment of sick leave termination
payments should be accrued for the entire sick leave liability; salary-related payments associated
with termination payments of vacation leave should be accrued for the entire vacation leave
liability, including leave that might be taken as paid time off rather than paid as termination
payments.) Employer contributions for retirement should not be considered salary related costs
because associated liability is currently accounted for as part of the accrued retirement costs.
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BACKGROUND

Government Accounting Standards Board Statement 33, (GASB 33) Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions, and GA SB Statement 36, Recipient Reporting for Certain
Shared Nonexchange Revenues, establishes accounting and financial reporting standardsto guidethe
State' s decisions about when to report the results of nonexchange transactions involving cash and
other financial and capital resources. The revenue recognition policiesrelated to GASB 33 and 36
areaddressed in Procedure 03.40.10 of thismanual. These procedures address when to recognize the
expenditure/expense side of these transactions.

Asit relatesto expenditures /expenses of the State, GASB 33 defines anonexchange transaction as
“a transaction in which the State (or an agency or component unit) gives value without directly
receiving equal value in exchange’. Under GASB 33, expenditures/expenses for nonexchange
transactions are classified into one of two categories:

1. Government-mandated nonexchange transactions — This occurs when the State or an
agency provides resources to another government at another level and requires the recipient
to usetheresourcesfor aspecified purpose. Examplesinclude entitlements provided to local
governments.

2. Voluntary nonexchange transactions — This results from legislative or contractual
agreements, other than exchanges, entered into willingly by the parties to the agreement.
Types of these transactions include certain grants and shared revenues given to local
governments.

PROCEDURES

Recognition of Expenditures/Expenses and Liabilities

An agency should recognize expenditures/expenses and liabilities for government-mandated and
voluntary nonexchange transactions when all applicable eligibility requirements are met by the
recipient. The four types of eligibility requirements are:

a. Required characteristics of recipients. The State or an agency specifies certain characteristics
for the recipient or secondary recipient.

b. Timerequirements. The State or an agency specified atime (period) of when the resources are
required to be used.

c. Reimbursements. The State or an agency offers resources on a reimbursement ("expenditure-
driven") basis and the recipient hasincurred allowable costs under the applicable program.
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d.

Contingencies (applies only to voluntary nonexchange transactions). The State or an agency
offers resources contingent upon a specified action of the recipient and that action has occurred.
For example, the recipient is required to raise a specific amount of resources from third parties or
to dedicate its own resources for a specified purpose and has complied with those requirements.

Time Requirements vs. Purpose Restrictions

GASB Statement No. 33 distinguishes between two kinds of stipulations on the use of resources:
time requirements and purpose restrictions. Time requirements specify the period when resources are
required to be used or when use may begin, or require that the resources be maintained intact as
specified by the provider. Time requirements affect the timing of recognition of nonexchange
transactions. Purpose restrictions specify the purpose for which the resources should be used.
Purpose restrictions do not affect when revenue from a nonexchange transaction is recognized,
instead, they affect the reporting of equity (i.e. restricted vs. unrestricted).

Modified Accrual vs. Accrual Basis of Accounting

The recognition criteria in relation to expenditures/expenses and liabilities for nonexchange
transactions is the same under both the modified accrual basis and accrual basis of accounting.

Eligibility Reguirements or Purpose Restrictions Not M et

After a nonexchange transaction has been recognized in the financial statements, it may become
apparent that (a) the eligibility requirements are no longer met or (b) the recipient will not comply
with the purpose restrictions within the specified timelimit. Inthose circumstancesif itisprobable
that the State will not provide the resources or will require the recipient to return all or part of the
resources aready received, the State should recognize a decrease in liabilities or an increase in
assets, and arevenue for the amount that is expected to be cancelled or reclaimed.
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Claimsand judgmentsincluderisk financing and insurance rel ated activities, which areaddressed in
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement (GASB) No. 10, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Risk Financing and Related I nsurance I ssues, GASB 30 Risk Financing Omnibus, and
GASB Interpretation No. 4, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Capitalization Contributionsto
Public Entity Risk Pools. Risk financing activities of the State include, but are not limited to, the

following:

Risk Retention

The State retains risk of loss (i.e. self-insured) asit relates to:

Health and dental insurance;

Workers compensation;

Vehicle insurance;

Employee fidelity and surety;

L egal representation and employee indemnification;
Generd liability; and

Other tort liability.

Pur chase of Commercial | nsurance

The State purchases commercial insurance for various risks of loss including coverage for

certain

Public

university facilities.

Entity Risk Pools

The State administers various public entity risk poolsincluding the following for non-State

employ

ers.

TheL ocal Government Health I nsurance Reser ve Fund offersaheath insurance
program to local governments for its employees and retirees.

The Teacher Health Insurance Security Fund offers health insurance to school
districts for its teachers and retirees.

The Community College Health I nsurance Security Fund offershealth insurance
to community college retirees and their dependent beneficiaries.
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Claims and judgments also involve loss contingencies. Contingencies are defined as an existing
condition, situation, or set of circumstances involving uncertainty asto a possible gain or loss that
will ultimately be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. Financial
Accounting Standards Board No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, provides guidelines for
recognizing aloss liability in these situations. Examples of contingencies include the following:

» Collectibility of receivables;

» Threat of expropriation of assets;

* Taxrefund clams,

*  Unemployment compensation;

* Pending or threatened litigation;

* Actua or possible claims and assessments;

» Guarantees of indebtedness of others; and

» Agreementsto repurchase receivables or the related property that have been sold.

PROCEDURES

Accounting for Claims and Judgmentsin Proprietary and Fiduciary Funds

Expenses and related liabilities for claims and judgments arising from the operations (activities) of
proprietary funds should be reported in the proprietary fund and government-wide financial
statements. Expenses and related liabilities for claims and judgments arising from the operations
(activities) of fiduciary funds should be reported in the fiduciary fund (trust) financia statements.

An estimated loss for claims and judgments (including loss contingencies) activity should be
reported as an expense and liability in the government-wide, proprietary fund, and fiduciary (trust)
fund financial statements for claims and judgments if both of the following conditions are met:

a. Information available before the financial statements are issued indicatesthat it is probable
that an asset had been impaired or aliability has been incurred at the date of the financial
statements; and

b. The amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.
The estimated loss should include incurred but not reported (IBNR) amounts as follows:
a. Known loss events that are expected to later be presented as claims,
b. Unknown loss events that are expected to become claims; and

c. Expected future development on claims already reported—if those losses can be reasonably
estimated and it is probable that a claim will be asserted.
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Claims liabilities, including IBNR, should be based on the estimated ultimate cost of settling the
claims (including the effects of inflation and other societal and economic factors), using past
experience adjusted for current trends, and any other facts that would modify past experience.
Claims liabilities should include specific incremental claim adjustment expenditures/expenses. In
addition, estimated recoveries on unsettled claims, such as salvage or subrogation, should be
evaluated in terms of their estimated realizable value and deducted from the liability for unpaid
claims. Estimated recoverieson settled claims should also be deducted from theliability for unpaid
clams.

Assessing the Probability of Loss

FASB Statement 5 provides guidance for determining the probability of loss. Specifically, it defines
the possible outcomes as follows:

» Probable: The future event or events are likely to occur.

* Reasonably possible. The chance of the future event or events occurring is more than
remote but less than likely.

* Remote: The chance of the future event or events occurring is slight.

Estimating IBNR Amounts

Asnoted in Question 87 of the GASB Statement 10 Implementation Guide, IBNR claims generally
are estimabl e and should be based on historical experience. Initialy, it may taketimeto accumulate
a history of the proper dataif it is not currently available. When historical experience is used, the
outstanding claims should be stratified by amount and type of claim, and the strata should be
sufficiently refined to ensure that the estimation is reasonable.

If the historical results of an agency are not reliable or indicative of future results, supplementary
analysis, including use of historical actual results of other entities or agencieswith similar structure,
risk assumptions, and risk exposure, should be considered. Other factors to be considered are
changesin operations or operating environment, demographic changes, and statutes and regul ations.

Other sources of data may also be used. For example, the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide,
Audits of Providers of Health Care Services, Chapter 10, provides guidance on the use of statistical
and other data to estimate the amount and probability of medical malpractice IBNR claims for a
hospital. The conceptsin that guide can be applied to risks other than healthcare. In any case, the
help of an actuary may be desirable, although the GASB does not require that an actuary's servicesbe
used.

If the ultimate amount of theliability cannot be estimated but areasonabl e estimate of the range can
be derived, a determination should be made as to which amount in the range is the better estimate.
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That amount should be accrued. 1f no amount in the range is better than the others, the minimum
amount in the range should be accrued.

Accounting for Claims and Judgmentsin Gover nmental Funds

Claim and judgments not accounted for in proprietary or fiduciary funds should be accounted for as
general long-term liabilities. Those liabilities should not be reported as liabilities in governmental
funds but should be reported in the governmental activities column of the government-wide
statement of net assets. The accounting for claimsand judgmentsthat isreported in the government-
widefinancial statementsisthe same as described above for proprietary funds. Governmental funds
should recognize expenditures and related fund liabilities for those claims and judgments when
payment is due.

Internal Service Funds

If an internal service fund is used to account for arisk financing activity, the total charges by the
internal service fund to the other funds for the period should equal the expense and liability
recognized or be based on an actuarial method or historical cost information and adjusted over a
reasonable period of time so that internal service fund revenues and expenses are approximately
equal. Thoseinterfund charges should be recognized asrevenue by the internal servicefund and as
expenditures/expenses by the other funds.

Financial Statement Disclosures

Thefollowing disclosures should be made relating to claims and judgments and | oss contingencies.

» If no accrua is made for aloss contingency because one or both of the required conditions are
not met, or if an exposureto loss existsin excess of the amount accrued, but thereisareasonable
possibility that a loss or an additional loss may have been incurred, the financial statements
should disclose the nature of the contingency and an estimate of the possible loss or range of
loss, or state that such an estimate cannot be made.

* Therisks of loss to which the State is exposed and the ways in which those risks of loss are
handled; significant reductions in insurance coverage from coverage in the prior year by major
categories of risk; whether the amount of settlements exceeded insurance coverage for each of
the past three fiscal years; and the nature of participation in risk pools, including the rights and
the responsibilities of both the entity and the pool.

* Thebasisfor estimating the liabilities for unpaid claims.

* The carrying amount of liabilities for unpaid claims that are presented at present value in the
financial statements and the range of discount rates used to discount those liabilities.
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The aggregate outstanding amount of claims liabilities for which annuity contracts have been
purchased in the claimants names and for which the related liabilities have been removed from
the balance sheet. (Annuity contracts used to settle claimsfor which the claimant has signed an
agreement rel easing the entity from further obligation and for which the likelihood that the pool
will be required to make future payments on those claims is remote should not be included in
this disclosure.)

A reconciliation of changesin the aggregate liabilitiesfor claimsfor the current fiscal year and
the prior fiscal year, in the following tabular format:

o
o

(0]

Amount of claims liabilities at the beginning of each fiscal year.

Incurred claims, representing thetotal of aprovision for events of the current fiscal year
and any change (increase or decrease) in the provision for events of prior fiscal years.
Payments on claims attributabl e to events of both the current fiscal year and prior fiscal
years.

Other, such as miscellaneous adjustments. (Provide an explanation of each material
item.)

Amount of claims|liabilities at the end of each fiscal year.
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ACCOUNTING FOR LEASES-LESSEE

In governmental accounting, as with commercial, there are two classifications of leases, capital and
operating, from the standpoint of the lessee. The criteria for classifying leases are set forth below. If
at its inception, a lease meets one or more of the following four criteria, the lease shall be classified
as a capital lease by the lessee. Otherwise, it shall be classified as an operating lease.

"a.

The lease transfers ownership of the property to the lessee by the end of the
lease term.

The lease contains a bargain purchase option.

The lease term is equal to 75 percent or more of the estimated economic life
of the leased property. However, if the beginning of the lease term falls
within the last 25 percent of the total estimated economic life of the lease
property, including earlier years of use, this criterion shall not be used for
purposes of classifying the lease.

The present value at the beginning of the lease term of the minimum lease
payments, excluding that portion of the payments representing executory
costs to be paid by the lessor, including any profit thereon, equals or exceeds
90 percent of the excess of the fair value of the leased property to the lessor
at the inception of the lease. However, if the beginning of the lease term falls
within the last 25 percent of the total estimated economic life of the leased
property, including earlier years of use, this criterion shall not be used for
purposes of classifying the lease. A lessor shall compute the present value of
the minimum lease payments using the interest rate implicit in the lease. A
lessee shall compute the present value of the minimum lease payments using
his incremental borrowing rate, unless (i) it is practicable for himto learn the
implicit rate computed by the lessor and (ii) the implicit rate computed by the
lessor is less than the lessee's incremental borrowing rate. If both of those
conditions are met, the lessee shall use the implicit rate."*

1 American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement Number 13
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Capital lease transactions are processed by the Comptroller’s Office using a form SCO-560, which is
completed by agencies. The future commitments for capital leases are recorded as part of “Leases
Payable” in the agency’s financial statements.

ACCOUNTING FOR INSTALLMENT PURCHASES

Installment purchase transactions are those in which payments of the purchase price are made in
installments over an extended period. These transactions are processed like leases by the
Comptroller's Office, with agencies filling out the required SCO-560. Unlike a capital lease
however, the title passes to the buyer at the beginning of the payment schedule, not the end, and the
property is reported in the appropriate asset category (e.g. equipment, buildings) rather than as a
capital lease asset. The future commitments are recorded as part of "Leases Payable" in the agency's
financial statements.

ACCOUNTING FOR CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION

The State is authorized to issue certificates of participation representing the right to receive a
proportionate share in lease-purchase or installment purchase payments made for the benefit of State
agencies for the acquisition or improvement of real or personal property, refinancing of such
property, payment of expenses of such property, or payment of expenses related to the issuance.
State agencies are required to submit to the Comptroller’s Office a copy of the certificate of
participation’s official statement/prospectus, the notice of sale, if available, and Bond Interest and
Redemption Schedule within 30 days of the closing date or the beginning date of the borrowing,
whichever is later. (See SAMS procedure 31.30.10) The balance of these certificates is recorded as
"Certificates of Participation™ in the agency's financial statements.

DISCLOSURE OF LEASES-LESSEE

The following information with respect to leases shall be disclosed in the lessee's financial
statements or the footnotes thereto.

a. For capital leases:

1. The gross amount of all assets with a fair market value greater than
$5000, are recorded under capital leases as of the balance sheet date
presented by major classes according to nature or function. The
amount recorded should be equal to the amounts reported on the
Comptroller’s lease reports.
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2. Future minimum lease payments as of the balance sheet date, broken

down between principal and interest for each of the five succeeding
fiscal years plus in five year increments, thereafter. The principal
outstanding will equal the net minimum lease payments at their
present value.

3. The total of minimum sublease rentals to be received in the future
under noncancelable subleases as of the balance sheet date.

4, Assets recorded under capital leases and the accumulated
amortization thereon shall be separately identified in the lessee’s
footnotes. In governmental funds, the asset value of new current year
leases must be recorded in the year end GAAP packages as an
increase in other financing sources. Payments made on capital leases
are originally recorded as expenditures. At year end, these payments
must be reclassified out of expenditures and recorded as debt service
principal and interest. To convert to the government-wide statements
the amount shown as other financing sources should be reversed and
shown as an addition to assets and a liability. Principal payments
during the year should be eliminated from expenditures and shown as
a reduction in the liability account. In proprietary funds, the related
liability is recorded on the balance sheet at the beginning of the
leases. As payments are made, the amounts applicable to the principal
are recorded as a reduction to the liability account. The interest
portion is shown as an expense on the agency’s records in the
accounting period in which the liability is incurred.

b. "For operating leases having initial or remaining noncancelable lease terms
in excess of one year:

1. Future minimum rental payments required as of the balance sheet
date in the aggregate and for each of the five succeeding fiscal years
plus in five year increments, thereafter.

2. The total of minimum rentals to be received in the future under
noncancelable subleases as of the balance sheet date.

C. For all operating leases, rental expense for each period for which an income
statement is presented, with separate amounts for minimum rentals,
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contingent rentals, and sublease rentals. Rental payments under leases with
terms of a month or less that were not renewed need not be included.

d. A general description of the lessee's leasing arrangements including, but not
limited to, the following:

1. The basis on which contingent rental payments are determined.

2. The existence and terms of renewal or purchase options and
escalation clauses.

3. Restrictions imposed by lease agreements."?

Criteria for the accounting and disclosure of leases from the standpoint of the lessor are also

included in the Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement Number 13.

DISCLOSURE OF INSTALLMENT PURCHASES

The following information with respect to installment purchases shall be disclosed in the buyer's

financial statements or the footnotes thereto:

1. Future payments, broken down between principal and interest, as of
the balance sheet date for the next five fiscal years and in five year
increments, thereafter.

2. Installment purchase assets with a fair market value greater than

$5000 are recorded under the appropriate asset category (e.g.
equipment, buildings), not leased assets, since the title to the property
has already passed. In governmental funds, the asset value of new
current year installment purchases must be recorded in the year end
GAAP package as an increase in other financing sources. Payments
made on installment purchases are originally recorded as
expenditures. At year end, these payments must be reclassified out of
expenditures and recorded as debt service principal and interest. To
convert to the government-wide statements the amount shown as
other financing sources should be reversed and shown as an addition
to assets and a liability. Principal payments during the year should be

2 American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement Number 13
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eliminated from expenditures and shown as a reduction in the liability
account. In proprietary funds, the related liability is recorded on the
balance sheet at the beginning of the installment purchase. As
payments are made, the amounts applicable to the principal are
recorded as a reduction to the liability account. The interest portion
is shown as an expense on the agency’s records in the accounting
period in which the liability is incurred.

DISCLOSURE OF CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION

The outstanding year end balance of Certificates of Participation (COPs) and the future COPs debt
service requirements for the next five years and in five year increments thereafter must be disclosed
in the financial statement footnotes. COPs are recorded in the financial statements in a manner
similar to other long-term debt instruments, e.g. revenue bonds. Refer to procedure 03.50.20.
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Restricted assets should be separately reported and identified as “restricted” in the applicable statement of
financial position if the restriction changes the nature or perception of the availability of the asset for future
operations. Restricted assets are defined as assets whose use is subject to constraints that are either:

1. externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments;
or

2. imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

The following are examples of restricted assets that should be separately reported as restricted in the
statement of financial position (because the nature of their availability for future use may not be clear solely
based on the financial statement caption):

» Cash held in bond and interest account by trustee that is required to pay principal maturitiesin future
years,

» Cash and investments restricted by revenue bond indenture or debt covenants; and
» Accounts receivable which are pledged as collateral for long-term debt.

Classification in Statement of Financial Position

Gover nment-wide Statement of Net Assetsand Gover nmental Fund Balance Sheets- Assetsare presentedin
order of liquidity in both the government-wide statement of net assets and governmental fund balance sheets.
When determining the liquidity of restricted assets, agencies should consider the nature of therestrictionsand the
ability to usethe asset. An asset with restrictions placed on it will not necessarily be reported asrestricted. For
example, if the restrictions are short lived — such as cash that is held in a bond and interest account that is
required to be used to pay current maturities— the cash should be reported with unrestricted cash. On the other
hand, if the conditions underlying the restrictions are such that they will not be met in the next year, restricted
assets should be reported lower in the statement of net assets or balance sheet. Further, assets with permanent
restrictionsare essentially asilliquid as capital assets and should be reported towards the bottom of the statement
of financial position.

Proprietary Fund Balance Sheet — Assets are presented in the proprietary fund balance sheet in a classified
format (i.e. classified as current or noncurrent). In determining whether restricted assets should be classified as
current or noncurrent, agencies should consider the nature of therestrictionsand the ability to usethe asset. If the
restrictionswill be met in the next year, the restricted assets should be classified ascurrent. If therestrictionswill
not be met within the next year and the assets are not availablefor use, the restricted assets should be classified as
noncurrent.
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Reporting Restricted Assetsto Comptroller’s Office

Agencies should report the following information regarding restricted assets to the Comptroller’s Office

annually utilizing form SCO-553 as part of the GAAP reporting process:

Type of asset restricted (cash, investments, etc);
Amount of the restriction;

Description of the specific nature of the restriction; and
Description as to when the restriction expires.
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Inventory representsthe value of materials and supplies on hand for internal consumption or for use,
distribution, or resaleto other units of State government and to outside parties, including the public.
The major categories of inventory are:

a. Equipment parts and accessories which include automobile, truck, airplane, and equi pment
parts.

b. Food supplieswhichincludeinventoriesat commissaries and food centers, and food for free
distribution.

c. Gasoline, oil, and lubricants.

d. Paper and printing supplies that does not include normal office supplies, such as lottery
tickets.

e. Road salt and sand.

f. Wearing apparel, which includes clothing for inmates and residents.

g. Other, which includes materia inventories not noted above (i.e., tools and chemicals)

PROCEDURES

|nventory Valuation

Inventories for governmental and proprietary funds should be recorded as an asset on the balance
sheet. Inventory held by governmental funds should be valued at cost. Proprietary fund inventory
should be valued at the lower of cost or market. The cost of theinventory item isthe price paid or
the consideration given to acquire theinventory item. Included inthe cost areal direct and indirect
costsincurred during transportation. Market value istheitem’s current replacement cost by either
purchase or reproduction. Exceptionsto this definition are:

= The market value should not exceed the net realizable value (ceiling), which is the
estimated selling price of theinventory in the ordinary course of business|ess reasonably
predictable costs of completion and disposal

= The market value should not be less than the net realizable value reduced by an
allowance for an approximately normal profit margin.

Agencies should usethefirst in—first out method of valuation (FIFO) or the average cost method, if
it approximates FIFO to value inventory. Under the FIFO method, it is assumed that thefirst items
purchased are the first used. Therefore, ending inventory is valued using the most recent unit cost.
Under the Average Cost Method, inventories are valued based on the average cost of the items
purchased during the year.
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Physical Inventory Counts

State agencies may use either the periodic or perpetual inventory methods when accounting for
inventory. The periodic inventory method does not require that daily records of inventory be kept,
but rather that a physical count of inventories be performed at least once a year. The perpetual
inventory method requires agenciesto update their records asinventory is purchased and consumed.
Agencies must still perform aphysical count of the inventory on hand at least once ayear under a
perpetual system to ensure the completeness and accuracy of the inventory records. Agency
management should take into consideration the number of inventory items to be counted and the
location of the inventory when determining the timing of the count. Inventory items that are
obsol ete, damaged or no longer useablein operations should be identified and if necessary removed
from the Agency’ sinventory records. Theinventory records should be reconciled to the results of
the count and updated accordingly.

Reporting Inventoriesto the Comptroller’s Office
Thevalue of inventories on hand at the end of thefiscal year should be reported to the Comptroller’s
Office annually utilizing form SCO 577 as part of the GAAP reporting process.

For governmental funds, inventory items should initially be recorded as expenditures when
purchased. However, if significant amounts of inventories are on hand at year-end, an adjusting
journa entry should be recorded to report the amount of inventory on hand as an asset and a
reduction of expenditures. Additionally, a “Reserve for Inventories’ (fund balance) should be
reported for the total amount of the inventory. This fund balance reserve account indicates that
inventories reported do not represent “available spendable resources’ even though they are a
component of current assets.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Comptroller should prepare and issue, monthly and annually, reports which will fairly present
the financial position, fiscal results of current operations and additional information required by
Sections 19 and 20 of the State Comptroller Act. Additional reports should be prepared to provide
relevant management information.

"Financial statements are the means by which the information accumulated and processed in
financial accounting is periodically communicated to thosewho useit,” and should "present fairly in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles'* thefinancial position and the results of
operations for a designated period of an individual entity. Effective financial statements should
show whether there has been proper stewardship of assets and should serve as useful managerial
tools. Whereitisnot consistent with SAMS Accounting Principles, the financial statement should
show whether there has been compliance with existing statutes. If financial statement presentation
of thisinformation isinconsistent with SAM S Accounting Principles, then compliance should be
demonstrated in supplementary schedules.

The Comptroller isrequired by Section 19 of the State Comptroller Act to record and report monthly
"...dl revenues, charges against all funds, fund and appropriation balances, interfund transfers,
warrants outstanding and assets and encumbrances..." for al State funds, other public funds and
assets "available to, encumbered or expended by each State agency..."?> The monthly report must
summarize thisinformation by State agency, appropriation and detail object account. Section 20 of
the State Comptroller Act prescribes annual summarization of monthly reports as well as the
reporting of information relative to warrants drawn and receipts deposited. An accounting of the
business of the Comptroller's Office is also required by Section 20.

The mechanism by which these requirementswill be satisfied isthe basic set of financial statements.
These statements should utilize terminology and classifications which are consistent within the
financial reporting structure, and should be prepared on a comparative basis where practicable and
meaningful.

1 Amrerican Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Accounting Principles Board Opinion
Nunber 4
2 State Conptroller Act (15 ILCS 405/19)



STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL REPORTING
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

SUB-SECTION FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

PROCEDURE FINANCIAL REPORTING

PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
03.70.10 20f 4

EFFECTIVE DATE
July 1, 2003

REVISION NUMBER
04-001

The Statewill prepare and publish, asamatter of public record, a Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report (CAFR) that encompasses all funds of the primary government and its component units. The

content of CAFR is as follows:
1. Introductory Section
a Table of Contents

b. Letter of Transmittal

C. Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting

d. State of Illinois Organization Chart
2. Financial Section

a Auditor’s Report

b. Management’ s Discussion and Anaysis (MD&A) Information

C Government-Wide Financial Statements

1) Statement of Net Assets
2) Statement of Activities

d. Fund Financia Statements

1) Balance Sheet — Governmental Funds (emphasizing major

governmental funds)

Statement of Net Assets

governmental funds)

Statement of Activities

2) Reconciliation of Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to

3) Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changesin Fund
Balances — Governmental Funds (emphasizing major

4) Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,
and Changesin Fund Balances of Governmental Fundsto the
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5) Statement of Net Assets — Proprietary Funds (emphasizing
major enterprise funds)
6) Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net
Assets — Proprietary Funds (emphasizing major enterprise
funds)
7) Statement of Cash Flows — All Proprietary Fund Types
(emphasizing major enterprise funds)
8) Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets
9) Statement of Changesin Fiduciary Net Assets
10)  Statement of Net Assets — Component Units (emphasizing
major component units)
11) Statement of Activities — Component Units (emphasizing
major component units)
12)  Notesto the Financia Statements

e Required Supplementary Information -

1) Budgetary Comparison Schedules — Major Governmental
Funds
2) Notes to Required Supplementary Information — Budgetary
Reporting
3) Schedule of Funding Progress - Pension Trust Funds
f. Combining and Individual Fund Financial Statementsand Budgetary

Schedules
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3. Statistical Section
The following statistical and economic schedules will be included in the CAFR:

Net Assets by Component

Fund Balances, Governmental Funds

Changesin Net Assets

Changes in Fund Balances, Governmental Funds

Personal Income by Industry

Taxable Sales by Industry

Personal Income Tax Filersand Liability by Income Level
Sales Tax Revenue Payers by Industry

Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type

Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding and Debt Limitations
Revenue Coverage

Demographic and Economic Statistics

Employees by Function

Operating Indicators by Function/Program

Capital Asset and Infrastructure Statistics by Function/Program

O3 TATIIS@OQR0DE

The foregoing discussion is by no means exhaustive. Additional schedules are prepared as
required.
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Government-Wide and Proprietary Fund Net Assets

Equity reported in the government-wide statement of net assets and proprietary fund balance
sheets should be labeled “net assets’ and displayed in three separate categories. invested in
capital assets, net of related debt; restricted; and unrestricted.

Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt

This category represents (1) capital asset balances, net of accumulated depreciation, less (2)
outstanding principal of related debt, net of any unspent proceeds. Related debt includes debt still
outstanding that was originaly issued to acquire capital assets for the State of Illinois (i.e.
“capital-related”) or refund existing capital-related debt. Debt issued to acquire capital assets for
other governments is not considered to be capital-related and should not be included in this
category. Particular attention needs to be given to debt that is issued for multiple purposes (i.e.
issued to purchase assets that are capitalized by a state agency and also to purchase assets that
are not capitalized, whether for expense purposes or for acquisition of capital assets for another
government). If lessthan 15 percent of the proceeds are spent on noncapitalizable purposes, the
entire amount of the outstanding debt should be considered to be capital-related. If, on the other
hand, a significant amount (i.e. more than 15 percent) is spent for noncapitalizable purposes, the
amount of the outstanding debt must be allocated based on the percentage determined to be
capital-related.

If there are significant unspent proceeds of capital-related debt at year-end, this component does
not include the portion of any capital-related debt attributable to those proceeds. Instead, that
debt is placed in the net assets component that includes the unspent proceeds. For example,
assume the State issues $100,000,000 in general obligation bonds to be used in the following
year for capital projects and records the unspent proceeds in a capital projects fund. In the
government-wide statement of net assets, the net assets restricted for capital projects should be
offset by the amount of unspent proceeds.

Restricted
This category includes net assets whose use is subject to constraints that are either:

(1) Externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations
of other governments; or

(2) Imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
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Only major categories of restricted net assets should be reported. Further, if restricted net assets
include permanent endowment or permanent fund principal amounts, the “restricted net asset”
component should be presented as either “expendable” or “nonexpendable’ to draw a distinction
between temporary and permanent restrictions. Nonexpendable restricted net assets are those
that are to be maintained in perpetuity.

The basic concept is that restrictions are not unilaterally established by an agency itself, and
cannot be removed without the consent of those imposing the restriction or through formal due
process. The definition of restricted is intended to identify resources that were received or
earned by an agency with an explicit understanding between the agency and the resource
providers that the funds would be used for a specific purpose. For example, grants,
contributions, and donations are often given under these kinds of conditions. Bond indentures
also limit the use of proceeds. Also, see the “Relationship of Reserved Fund Baance to
Restricted Net Assets’ section below for further discussion on determining when reserved fund
balances should be reported as restricted in the government-wide statement of net assets.

Unrestricted

This category includes any remaining balances that do not meet the requirements of the above-
mentioned categories (i.e. invested in capital assets, net of related debt, and restricted net assets).
Designations of net assets, which represent management intentions for the use of unrestricted
resources, should not be reported in the government-wide statement of net assets or in a
proprietary fund balance sheet.

Governmental Fund Balances

Equity reported in the governmental fund balance sheet should be labeled “fund balances’ and
displayed in accordance with GASB Statement 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental
Fund Type Definitions, in five separate categories. nonspendable, restricted, committed,
assigned, and unassigned.

Nonspendable

The Nonspendable Fund Balance classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because
they are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained
intact. The “not in spendable form” criterion includes items that are not expected to be
converted to cash, for example, inventories and prepaid amounts. It also includes long-term
amount of notes and loans receivable, as well as property acquired for resale. However, if the
use of the proceeds from the collection of those receivables or from the sale of those propertiesis
restricted, committed or assigned, then they should be included in the appropriate fund balance
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classification, rather than nonspendable fund balance. The corpus (or principal) of a permanent
trust is an example of an amount that islegally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

Restricted

Amounts that are restricted to specific purposes, pursuant to the definition of restricted in
paragraph 34 of GASB Statement 34, as amended by GASB Statement 46, Net Assets Restricted
by Enabling Legislation, should be reported as restricted fund balance. Fund balance should be
reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of resources are either:

a. Externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors,
contributors or laws and regulations of other governments; or

b. Imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
Committed

Amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by formal
action of the government’s highest level of decision-making authority should be reported as
committed fund balance. Those committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless
the government removes or changes the specified use by taking some type of action (e.g.,
legidlation, resolution or ordinance) it employed previously to commit those amounts. The
authorization specifying the purposes for which amounts can be used should have the consent of
both the legidative and executive branches of the government, if applicable. Committed fund
balance also should incorporate contractual obligations to the extent that existing resources in the
fund have been specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual requirements.

Assigned

Amounts that are constrained by the government’ s intent to be used for specific purposes, but are
neither restricted nor committed, should be reported as assigned fund balance, except for
stabilization agreements. Intent should be expresses by (a) the governing body, itself, or (b) a
body (e.g., budget or finance committee) or official to which the governing body has delegated
the authority to assign amounts to be used for specific purposes.

Both the committed and assigned fund balance classifications include amounts that have been
constrained to being used for specific purposes by actions taken by the government, itself.
However, the authority for making an assignment is not required to be the government’s highest
level of decision-making authority. Furthermore, the nature of the actions necessary to remove
or modify an assignment is not prescriptive as it is with regard to the committed fund balance
classification.
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Assigned fund balance includes (a) al remaining amounts (except for negative balances) that are
reported in governmental funds, other than the general fund, that are not classified as
nonspendable and are neither restricted nor committed, and (b) amounts in the general fund that
are intended to be used for a specific purpose.

Unassigned

Unassigned fund balance is the residua classification for the general fund. This classification
represents fund balance that has not been assigned to other funds and that has not been restricted,
committed or assigned to specific purposes in the general fund. The general fund should be the
only fund that reports a positive unassigned fund balance amount. In other governmental funds,
if expenditures incurred for specific purposes exceeded the amounts restricted, committed or
assigned to those purposes, it may be necessary to report a negative unassigned fund balance.

Fiduciary Fund Net Assets

Equity reported in the fiduciary fund statement of fiduciary fund net assets should be labeled
“net assets’; however, it should not be further categorized into the three net asset categories as
discussed above for government-wide and proprietary fund statements. Specific display
requirements for pension and other employee benefit trust funds and investment trust funds in
GASB Statements No. 25, Financial Reporting for Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Note
Disclosures for Defined Contribution Plans, No. 26, Financial Reporting for Postemployment
Healthcare Plans Administered by Defined Benefit Pension Plans, and No. 31, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools, require net
assets to be labeled to indicate the purpose for which they are held. For example, GASB
Statement No. 25, paragraph 27, requires the use of the captions “net assets held in trust for
pension benefits’ or “fund balance reserved for employees pension benefits.”

Relationship of Reserved Fund Balance to Restricted Net Assets

The amounts reported for restricted net assets for governmental activities in the government-
wide statement of net assets generaly will differ from amounts reported as reserved fund
balances in the governmental fund balance sheet. Although the terms reserved and restricted
appear similar, their meanings in a governmental financial reporting context differ significantly.
Restricted is based on external, legal constraints, whereas reserved is a function of the budgetary
notion of “available for appropriation”. Reserved fund balances may include more than
resources that are restricted. An example of resources that are reserved in governmental funds
but not restricted in the government-wide financial statements are those that are reserved for
inventories.
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Special and extraordinary items should be separately reported in governmental and proprietary fund
operating statements and in the government-wide statement of activities. Theintent isto report special and
extraordinary items separately from normal, recurring operations. This location is intended to draw
maximum attention to these items so that users may more easily assess their nature, current effect and
ongoing implications. Other significant transactions or events should be disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Extraordinary ltems

Transactions or eventsthat areboth unusual in nature and infrequent in occurrence should be classified as
an extraordinary item if they individually are material to (1) the operating statement of a governmental or
proprietary fund or (2) the governmental or business-type activities (column) of the government-wide
statement of activities.

Unusual in Nature

The underlying transaction or event should possess a high degree of abnormality and be of atype clearly
unrelated to, or only incidentally related to, the ordinary and typical activities of the State, taking into
account the environment in which the State operates. The specific characteristics of the State, such astype
and scope of operations, and operating policies should be considered in determining ordinary and typical
activities. The environment of the State includes such factors as the characteristics of the industry or
industries in which it operates, its geographical location, and the nature and extent of regulation. Thus, a
transaction or event may be unusual in nature for one entity but not for another because of differencesin
thelr respective environments. Unusual in nature is not established by the fact that atransaction or event is
beyond the control of management.

I nfrequent in Occurrence

Theunderlying transaction or event should be of atype that would not reasonably be expected to recur inthe
foreseeabl e future, taking into account the environment in which the State operates. Accordingly, aspecific
transaction of one entity might meet that criterion and a similar transaction of another entity might not
because of different probabilities of recurrence. The past occurrence of atransaction or event for the State
provides evidence to assess the probability of recurrence of that type of transaction or event in the
foreseeable future. By definition, extraordinary items occur infrequently. However, mere infrequency of
occurrence of a particular transaction or event does not alone imply that its effects should be classified as
extraordinary. A transaction or event of atype that occursfrequently in the environment in which the State
operates cannot, by definition, be considered as extraordinary, regardless of itsfinancia effect.
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The effect of an extraordinary transaction or event should be classified separately in the applicable operating
statementsif it ismaterial in relation to revenues, expenditures/expenses, or equity, or itismaterial by other
appropriate criteria. Items should be considered individually and not in the aggregate in determining
whether an extraordinary transaction or event is material. However, the effects of a series of related
transactions arising from asingle specific and identifiable event or plan of action that meet the definition of
extraordinary (i.e. unusual in nature and infrequent in occurrence) should be aggregated to determine
materiality.

Examples
Examples of extraordinary itemsinclude:

. Costs related to an environmental disaster caused by alarge chemical spill;
. Significant damage to State buildings due to an earthquake in Northern Illinois; or
. Forest fire in a State park.

Special Items

Significant transactions or other eventswithin the control of management that are either unusual in nature
or infrequent in occurrence should be classified asa special item. Special items differ from extraordinary
itemsin two ways. The first difference is that special items must be within the control of management,
whereas extraordinary itemsare not required to be within the control of management. Theother differenceis
that extraordinary items are required to be both unusual in nature and infrequent in occurrence, whereas
specia items are only unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence, but not both.

Examples

Examples of specia itemsinclude:

. Sales of significant parcels of State park land;
. Significant forgiveness of debt; or
. Early-retirement program offered to al employees.

Other Significant Transactions

Other transactions or other events that are either unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence but not
within the control of management should be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements if they
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individually are material in relation to amajor fund or the government-wide financial statements.
Additionally, there may be circumstancesin which atransaction or event isnot considered to be significant,
but dueto itsunusual nature or infrequent occurrence should be considered for disclosurein the notesto the
financial statements.

Examples

Examples of other significant transactions include:

. Costsincurred to repair damage caused by aflooding. Such flooding occursinfrequently but
isnot unusual to the damaged location; or

. Significant damageto State buildings caused by fire. Such damage occursinfrequently butis
not unusual.

Reporting to Comptrollers Office

The nature and amounts of special and extraordinary items, other significant transactions, and other unusual
or infrequent transactions that should be considered for disclosure as previously discussed in these
procedures should be reported to the Comptroller’ s Office annually. Agencies should use the explanation
area on form SCO-510 to report these transactions. In addition, form SCO-535 or SCO-585 should be
completed for proprietary and university funds, respectively, to report related footnote disclosuresincluded
in the agency’ sfinancial statements.
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Certain disclosures are required to be reported in the notes to the financial statementsfor activities
associated with enterprise fundsthat are considered to be segments. Whether segment informationis
required to be reported is based upon whether the enterprise fund represents an identifiable activity
or group of activitieswith outstanding revenue-backed debt for which there are separate accounting
requirements.

PROCEDURES

A segment isan identifiable activity or group of activitiesreported asor within an enterprise fund or
acomponent unit which follows enterprise fund accounting (i.e. University) for which one or more
revenue bonds or other revenue-backed debt instruments (such as certificates of participation) are
outstanding with revenues pledged in support of that debt. I1n addition, there must be arequirement
imposed by an external party to separately account for the activity’ s revenues, expenses, gains and
losses, assets, and liabilities (i.e. accounting and reporting requirements commonly are set forth in
the bond indentures).

For example, universities often issue revenue bonds for the construction of dormitories
(housing facilities). If the bond indenture specifically requires the university to separately
account for the revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets and liabilities of the dormitories,
then this activity is considered to be a segment. If, on the other hand, the requirement was
limited to only revenues and expenses, the university would not be required to make segment
disclosures.

Segment disclosures are not required when an individual fund is both a segment and isreported asa
major fund or for an activity whose only outstanding debt is conduit debt for which the State hasno
obligation beyond the resources provided by related leases or loans.

Segment disclosures to be reported in the notes to the financial statements for each identifiable
segment (as defined above) are as follows:

a. Type of goods or services provided by the segment.
b. Condensed statement of net assets:

(1) Total assets—distinguishing between current assets, capital assets, and other assets.
Amounts receivable from other funds or component units should be reported

separately.
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2)

3

Total liabilities—distinguishing between current and long-term amounts. Amounts
payable to other funds or component units should be reported separately.

Total net assets—distinguishing among: (1) restricted (separately reporting
expendable and nonexpendable components); (2) unrestricted; and (3) amounts
invested in capital assets, net of related debt.

Condensed statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net assets:

(1)
2)

3
(4)

(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)

Operating revenues (by major source).

Operating expenses. Depreciation (including any amortization) should beidentified
separately.

Operating income (l0ss).

Non-operating revenues (expenses)—with separate reporting of major revenuesand
EXpenses.

Capital contributions and additions to permanent and term endowments.

Special and extraordinary items.

Transfers.

Changein net assets.

Beginning net assets.

(10) Ending net assets.

Condensed statement of cash flows;

D

(2)
3

Net cash provided (used) by:

(@ Operating activities.

(b) Non-capital financing activities.

(c) Capita and related financing activities.
(d) Investing activities.

Beginning cash and cash equivalent balances.
Ending cash and cash equivalent balances.

Reporting Segment | nfor mation to Comptroller’s Office

Agencies should report segment footnote disclosures included in their financial statements to the
Comptroller’ s Officeannually utilizing form SCO-535 or SCO-585, whichever isapplicable, aspart
of the GAAP reporting process.
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RETIREMENT PLAN

A retirement plan's primary asset isitsinvestments, which suggeststhat its accounting principlesand

the financial statements may differ from those of other State entities.

The plan should be on an accrual basis of accounting (i.e., accruing dividendsand interest receivable
on investments). Investments should be recognized at fair value per GASB Statement 27.

The following should be prepared for all retirement plans:
. Statement of Net Assets
. Statement of Changesin Net Assets
. Notesto the financial statements
. Required Supplementary Information
- The Parameters
- Schedule of Funding Progress

- Schedule of Employer Contributions
- Notes to the Schedules
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Accounting Procedures Written or unwritten procedures designed to achieve operational

or control objectives of a given accounting system. Procedures
can be detailed, step-by-step or general.

Accounting System A system involving inputs, processes and outputs of varying
nature designed to achieve accountability for assets and related
records. Accounting systems usually involve the recording,
processing and summarizing of financial transactions, with
controls established to prevent or timely detect and correct errors
and illegal acts.

Accounts Payable Liabilities on open account owed to private persons, firms or
corporations for goods and services received by the State (but
not including amounts due to other funds of the State or to other
governmental units).

Accounts Receivable Amounts owed on open account from private persons, firms or
corporations for goods and services furnished by the State or for
taxes due (but not including amounts due from other funds of the
State or from other governmental units).

Accrual Basis Accounting The method of accounting that recognizes the financial effect of
transactions, events and interfund activities when they occur,
regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.

Accrued Expense The recognition of an expense for the use of assets or resources
when the use occurs, regardless of the timing of the related cash
flow.

Accrued Liabilities The recognition of an amount due to another fund or entity.

Accrued Revenue Revenues earned during an accounting period, but not collected

until a subsequent accounting period.

Adjusting Journal Entry A journal entry that adjusts account balances that affect both the
statement of financial position and the operating statement.

Agency Any department, officer, authority, public corporation, quasi-
public corporation, commission, board, ingtitution, State
university or any other public agency created by the State, other
than units of local government and school districts.
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Agency Group

Agency Name and Number

Allot

Allotment

Allotment Reserve

Allotment Unobligated

Allowance

Allowance for Uncollectible

Accounts

Amortization

Appropriation

A group of agencies which are similar for classification
purposes. The agency groups are: legidative, judicial, elected
officers, departments, other agencies and higher education.

The agency name and the number assigned by the Comptroller.

To divide an appropriation or other expenditure authority into
amounts which may be obligated or expended during specific
periods.

An amount administratively authorized to incur obligations and
expenditures over a period of time which may be derived from a
more general authority, such as an appropriation. Allotments are
made in order to control obligations and expenditures over a
period of time which is less than one year--generally one fiscal
guarter. Certain selected appropriations require the Governor's
release to comply with the language of the appropriation act.
The amounts alotted or released may be less than or equal to the
amount appropriated.

The amount available for future allotment.

The portion of an allotment not yet expended or obligated. The
balance of the allotment remaining after deducting the
accumulated expenditures and outstanding obligations.

An account that indicates the amount by which the gross book
value of certain assets is reduced.

The portion of accounts receivable estimated not to be
collectible.  The balance in this account is reported as a
deduction from accounts receivable to indicate net accounts
receivable.

The portion of the cost of a limited-life or intangible
asset/liability (i.e. bond discount/premium) charged as an
expense during each period over the life of the asset/liability.

A statutory authorization granted by the legislative body to an
agency allowing it to incur obligations and make expenditures
for specific purposes within a specified period of time and
generally for amaximum dollar amount.
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Appropriation-Common Object

Appropriation-Deficiency

Appropriation-Detail
Expenditure

Appropriation-Line Item

Appropriation-Lump Sum

Appropriation-Reappropriation

Appropriation-Supplemental

Appropriation Account Name

Appropriation Balance-
Unexpended

Appropriation Balance
Unobligated

Assets

Assigned Fund Balance

The common purpose for which the appropriation was made, as
defined in Section 13 of the Finance Act such as travel and
equipment.

An appropriation which is made when the purpose of the regular
appropriation has not been completed but the regular
appropriation monies have been exhausted.

An appropriation which covers a narrow range of expenditures
which can be classified by a single account or line in the chart of
detail expenditure accounts.

See Appropriation-Detail Expenditure.

An appropriation for expenditures of two or more of the standard
common objects. Such appropriations are used for projects or
activities where a breakdown into a standard common object
would be impractical or undesirable.

An appropriation which is made at the beginning of afiscal year
to carry forward the unexpended portion of an expiring
appropriation.

An appropriation which is made when the purpose of a regular
appropriation has been expanded or a new purpose is to be
funded.

The purpose of the appropriation.

The portion of an appropriation available for expenditure.
Appropriation amount less fiscal year-to-date expenditures.

The portion of an appropriation expended or obligated The
balance remaining after deducting from the appropriation the
accumulated net expenditures and outstanding obligations.

The entire resources of the State or a fund, including any
property, tangible or intangible, of monetary value.

That portion of fund balance consisting of amounts constrained
by the government’s intent to be used for specific purposes, but
that are neither restricted nor committed.
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Bad Debt An account receivable amount due to the State or its agencies

that is deemed uncollectible.

Basis of Accounting The timing of recognition, that is, when the effects of
transactions or events should be recognized for financia
reporting purposes. For example, the effects of transactions or
events can be recognized on an accrua basis (that is, when the
transactions or events take place), or on a cash basis (that is,
when cash is received or paid). Basis of accounting is an
essential part of measurement focus because a particular timing
of recognition is necessary to accomplish a particular

measurement focus.

Batch A group of similar transactions.

Beginning Status-Available Unexpended fund balance at beginning of period.

Balance

Beginning Y ear-Available Fund balance available for expenditure at the beginning of the

Balance current fiscal year (July 1).

Bond Discount The excess of the face value of abond over the price for which it
isacquired or sold.

Bond Premium The excess of the price at which abond is bought or sold over its
face value.

Bonded Indebtedness The portion of debt, represented by outstanding bonds, owed by
the State government or by State agencies.

Budget A plan of proposed expenditures and the means of financing
them with respect to a specific period of time. The plan may be
for a particular organizational unit or for some combination--
such as all State agencies.

Budgetary Accounting A method of accounting which allows for the comparison of
actual revenues and expenditures to budgeted figures. In many
cases, budgetary accounting applies to appropriations and the
expenditures authorized thereby.

Budgetary Fiscal Y ear The State Consgtitution prescribes a process by which the

Governor and the General Assembly adopt a budget for each
fiscal year. The Budgetary Fiscal Year begins on July 1, and
ends on June 30 of each year. By law, unexpended
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appropriations at June 30 are available for subsequent
expenditure to the extent that encumbrances have been incurred
at June 30 provided they are presented for payment during the 2-
month “lapse-period.”

Building Permanent structure designed to house persons or personal
property together with the initial cost of fixtures attached to and
forming a permanent part of the building (i.e. immovable).

Building Improvements Capital expenditures that materially extend the useful life of a
building, increase the capacity and/or efficiency of the building
or adapt to a new use. Building improvements also include
capital expenditures that add value, extend the useful life or
adapt aleased building to a new use.

Capital Assets Infrastructure, land, land improvements, site improvements,
buildings, building improvements, equipment, works of art and
historical treasures and all other tangible assets that are used in
operations and that have expected useful lives extending beyond
asingle reporting period.

Capital Debt Bonds, mortgages, notes or other borrowings that are attributable
to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of capital assets.
Capital debt should include any accrued interest on capita
appreciation bonds.

Capital Leases An agreement conveying the right to use property, plant or
equipment usually for a stated period of time which meets one or
more of the following criteria:

a. Theleasetransfers ownership of the asset to the lessee by the
end of the lease term.

b. Thelease contains a bargain purchase option.

C. The lease term is equal to 75 percent or more of the
estimated economic life of the leased asset. However, if the
beginning of the lease term falls within the last 25 percent of
the total estimated economic life of the leased property,
including earlier years of use, this criterion shall not be used.

d. The present value at the beginning of the lease term of the
minimum lease payments, excluding that portion of the
payments representing executory costs to be paid by the
lessor, including any profit thereon, equals or exceeds 90
percent of the excess of the fair value of the leased asset to
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the lessor at the inception of the lease over any related
investment tax credit retained by the lessor and expected to
be realized by [the lessor]. However, if the beginning of the
lease term falls within the last 25 percent of the tota
estimated economic life of the leased property, including
earlier years of use, this criterion shall not be used. A lessor
shal compute the present value of the minimum lease
payments using the interest rate implicit in the lease. A
lessee should compute the present value of the minimum
lease payments using the incremental borrowing rate, unless
(2) it is practicable for [the lesseg] to learn the implicit rate
computed by the lessor and (2) the implicit rate computed by
the lessor is less than the lessee's incremental borrowing
rate.

All other leases (i.e., those not meeting the above criteria) are
categorized as operating leases.

Capitalization Threshold The dollar value at which the State elects to capitalize tangible
assets that are used in operations and that have initial useful lives
extending beyond a single reporting period.

Cash Currency, checks, postal and express money orders and bankers
drafts on deposit with the State Treasurer, in the hands of a State
agency or on deposit in the account of a State agency. For funds
held by the Treasurer, SAMS operational reports will present the
bal ances currently on deposit with the Treasurer.

Cash Balance (Treasurer) Currency, checks, postal and express money orders and bankers
drafts on deposit with the State Treasurer. SAMS operational
reports will present the balances currently on deposit with the
Treasurer.

Cash Basis The basis of accounting under which revenues are recorded
when received in cash and expenditures are recorded when paid.

Cash Equivaents Short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to cash
with original maturities of three months or less.

Cash Receipt Cash received by a State agency and ordered by the Comptroller
into the State Treasury or into a fund held by the Treasurer or
cash received by a State agency for which it acknowledges
accountability.
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Category A group of related expenditures aimed at accomplishing a major

activity such as operations, awards and grants, capital
improvements, waterway improvements, highway construction,
debt service and tax refunds.

Certificates of Participation Instruments of indebtedness issued to finance equipment or
facilities that are leased to a State agency. The lease payments
are pledged to pay the debt principal and interest. The State
issues certificates of participation representing the right to
receive a proportionate share in lease-purchase or installment
purchase payments to be made for the benefit of State agencies
for the acquisition or improvement of real or personal property,
refinancing of such property or payment of expenses related to
the issuance. The State also finances the purchase of certain
State-owned real and personal property through non-State issued
certificates of participation. These non-State issued certificates
of participation are sold by private concerns and are repaid by
State agency appropriations pursuant to installment purchase
agreements.

Chargesfor Services Revenues that arise from charges to customers or applicants who
directly benefit from the goods, services, or privileges provided
or are otherwise directly affected by the services.

Clearing Account An account used to accumulate total charges or credits for the
purpose of distributing them later among the accounts to which
they are alocable or for posting the new difference to the proper
account. Also, a check-clearing demand deposit account
maintained by the Treasurer.

Collections Cash received by an agency which may or may not have been
deposited in a cash-clearing account.

Combined Financia Statement A financial statement showing individual statements of each
fund of a particular group of fundsin separate, adjacent columns.
Interfund transactions are not eliminated and financial data of the
respective funds is not combined.

Commitments For GAAP reporting purposes, relates to contracts or projects
authorized, but in the pre-contract stage or unobligated.

Committed Fund Balance That portion of fund balance consisting of amounts that can only
be used for specific purposes, pursuant to forma action of the
government’ s highest level of decision-making authority.
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Commodities Articles of a consumable nature which show a material change or

significant depreciation with first usage, as well as repair parts
and equipment, having a unit value less than the agency's
capitalization policy amount.

Compensated Absences Paid time off available to employees in connection with vacation
leave, sick leave and similar benefits. For financial reporting
purposes, compensated absences are strictly limited to leave that
() is attributable to services already rendered and (2) is not
contingent upon a specific event (such as iliness) that is outside
the control of the employer or employee.

Component Unit A legally separate organization for which the elected officials of
the primary government are financially accountable. In addition,
component units can be other organizations for which the nature
and significance of their relationship with a primary government
are such that excluson would cause the reporting entity’'s
financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.

Composite Methods Calculating depreciation for a collection of similar assets (e.g.
traffic signals or lane-miles) or dissimilar assets (e.g. all assets
composing a transportation network or building).

Construction in Progress The accumulation of costs incurred during the construction of an
asset. The accumulated costs are held in Construction in
Progress until such time as the project is determined to be
“substantially complete” (i.e. ready for itsintended use).

Contingency An existing condition, situation or set of circumstances involving
uncertainty as to a possible gain or loss that will ultimately be
resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur.
Financial Accounting Standards Board No. 5, Accounting for
Contingencies, provides guidelines for recognizing a loss
liability in these situations. Examples of contingencies include
the following:

Collectibility of receivables

Threat of expropriation of assets

Tax refund claims

Unemployment compensation

Pending or threatened litigation

Actual or possible claims and assessments

Guarantees of indebtedness of others

Agreements to repurchase receivables or the related property
that have been sold.
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Contra Account An account whose balance, by design, offsets fully or in part the

balance(s) of one or more other accounts.

Current A term which, as applied to budgeting and accounting,
designates the operations of the present fiscal period as opposed
to part or future periods.

Current Assets Cash and other assets or resources commonly identified as those
which are reasonably expected to be realized in cash or sold or
consumed during the normal operating cycle of the State (usually
no longer than one year) including such resources as (@) cash
available for current operations and items which are the
equivalent of cash; (b) inventories of merchandise, raw
materials, goods in process, finished goods, operating supplies
and ordinary maintenance material and parts; (c) trade accounts,
notes and acceptances receivable; (d) receivables from officers,
employees and cthers, if collectible in the ordinary course of
business within a year; (€) installment or deferred accounts and
notes receivable if they conform generaly to normal trade
practices and terms within the agency operation; (f) marketable
securities representing the investment of cash available for
current operations; and (g) prepaid expenses such as insurance,
interest, rents, taxes, unused royalties, current paid advertising
service not yet received and operating supplies.

Current Financial Resources Measurement focus according to which the aim of a set of
M easurement Focus financial statements is to report to the near-term (current)
inflows, outflow and balances of expendable (spendable)
financial  resources. The current financia resources

measurement focus is unique to accounting and financia
reporting for state and local governments and is used solely for
reporting financial position and results of operations of
governmental funds.

Current Liabilities Liabilities which are payable within a relatively short period of
time, usually no longer than one year.

De-Obligation The portion of an obligation which was caused to be reduced,
either in part or in its entirety, through a process other than
expenditure. The amount of the reduction is made available for
future obligation and/or expenditure unless such amount lapses.

Debt Issuance Costs All costs incurred to issue the bonds, including but not limited to
insurance costs, financing costs (such as rating agency fees and
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Debt Service

Deferred Losses on Refunding

Deferred Revenue

Delinquent Receivables

Depreciation

Derivative

Derived Tax Revenues

Detail Object

Direct Expenses

Disbursement

Discount Rate

Discounting

Division

underwriters fees and discounts) and other debt related costs
(such as printing, legal, administrative and trustee expenses).

Payment of principal and interest on long-term obligations.

The difference between the carrying amount of
redeemed/defeased debt and its reacquisition price.

(1) Revenues collected in advance of the period in which they
were earned; and (2) under the modified accrual basis, revenues
earned but not available for collection.

Receivables that remain outstanding and unpaid after the
scheduled due date.

A systematic and rational method of allocating the cost of a
capital asset to the periods benefiting from its use.

A contract on whose value depends on, or derives from, the
value of an underlying asset, reference rate or index. Examples
include forwards, futures, options and swaps.

Assessments imposed by the State or State agencies on exchange
transactions. Examples include taxes on personal income,
corporate income and sales tax.

Description of an expenditure at its lowest level in SAMS.
Expenses that are specifically associated with a service, program,
or department and thus clearly identified to a particular function
(or some classification level presented in the Statement of
Activities).

Payment by the Treasurer of avalid warrant issued and presented
for payment by the payee or by a holder in due course.

The interest rate used to adjust for the time value of money.

A method of reducing long-term receivables to net realizable
value based on the time value of money.

Organizational unit; for appropriation purposes within an
agency.
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Double Entry A method of accounting which requires that for every entry

made to the debit side of an account or accounts an equal entry
or entries be made to the credit side of an account or accounts.

Economic Resources Measurement focus under which the aim of a set of financial
M easurement Focus statements is to report al inflows, outflows and balances
affecting or reflecting an entity’s net assets. The economic
resources measurement focus is used for proprietary and
fiduciary funds, as well as for government-wide financial

reporting.

Eligibility Requirements Term used in connection with government-mandated and
voluntary nonexchange transactions. Conditions established by
the provider of resources stipulating matters such as the
qualifying characteristics of recipients, time requirements,
allowable costs and other contingencies.

Encumbrance Agency contracts, purchase orders or commitments entered into
prior to June 30, which relate to the purchase of goods that were
not received as of June 30.

Ending Status-Available The fund balance available for future expenditure at the end of
Balance the period.
Entitlement The amount of payment to which the state is legally allowed, as

determined by the federal government pursuant to an allocation
formula contained in applicable laws and statutes.

Equipment Any movable, non-consumable, tangible personal property used
in the operations of the State. Equipment includes the following
assets:

e Vehicles—including, but not limited to, automobiles, trucks,
trailers, aircraft, motorcycles and farm vehicles.

e Furniture and Fixtures — movable egquipment incorporated in
a building including, but not limited to, office and building
furnishings, communication devices and other assets
necessary to the use of the premises.

o Library Assets —including, but not limited to, information
sources that are circulated to students or the general public
including books, journals, periodicals, audio/visua media,
computer-based information, manuscripts, maps, documents
and similar items which provide information essential to the
learning process or which enhance the quality of academic,
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professional or research libraries. It aso includes assets that
do not meet the requirements of non-capitalization for
Works of Art and Historical Treasures (under paragraph 27
of GASB 34).

o All other moveable tangible persona property used in the
operations of the State.

Capital expenditures that add value, extend the useful life or
adapt “equipment” (including leased equipment) to a new use
and exceed the capitalization threshold for “equipment” should
also be included in this category.

Exchange Transaction A transfer of value between two or more entities in which each
participant receives and gives value. In an exchange transaction
revenue should be recognized when earned; that is when the
entity has done what it needs to do to compl ete the transaction.

Expenditure Exchange of an asset of the State or incurrence of aliability by a
State agency for an asset, goods received or services rendered.

(1) At the agency level..when a voucher for goods and/or
servicesis submitted by an agency for approval and payment
by the Comptroller.

(2) At the Comptroller level...occurs when the Comptroller
approves avoucher for payment.

Expenditures-Current Y ear Current month vouchers approved by the Comptroller’s Office

Month of XXX (net) for goods or services purchased by a State agency less cash
refunds and voided warrants for a month.

Expenditures-Fiscal YTD (net) Vouchers approved by the Comptroller’s Office for goods or
services less cash refunds and voided warrants for the fiscal
year-to-date.

Expenditures-L apse Period (net) Vouchers approved by the Comptroller’s Office for goods or
services less cash refunds and voided warrants for the lapse
period.

Expenditures-Net Vouchers approved by the Comptroller’'s Office for goods or

services purchased by a State agency less cash refunds and
voided warrants.



STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION TERMINOLOGY PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
05.50.01 13 of 36
SUB-SECTION REFERENCE EFFECTIVE DATE
July 1, 2011
PROCEDURE DEFINITION OF TERMS REVISION NUMBER
12-001
Expenditures Prior Y ear Vouchers approved by the Comptroller’s Office for goods or
Fiscal Y ear-To-Date (net) services less cash refunds and voided warrants for the same

period of time in the prior fiscal year.

Expenditures-Prior Y ear Vouchers approved by the Comptroller's Office for goods or
Month of XXX (net) services less cash refunds and voided warrants for the same
month of the prior year.

Expense Charges incurred, whether cash or non-cash, which are presumed
to benefit operations of the current fiscal period.

Extraordinary ltem A transaction or event that is both unusual in nature and
infrequent in occurrence if the item is materia to (1) the
operating statement of a governmental or proprietary fund or (2)
the governmental or business-type activities (column) of the
government-wide statement of activities.

Fair Value An estimated amount at which an asset would be valued
assuming an exchange between willing participants at arm’s-
length, other than in aforced or liquidation sale.

Federal Appropriation The estimated resources to be received from the Federa
Government that are appropriated by the General Assembly for a
fund.

Fiduciary Funds Those funds used to account for assets held by a governmental

unit in a trustee capacity or as an agent for individuals, private
organizations and other governmental units. Fiduciary fund
types include pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds,
investment trust funds, private-purpose trust funds and agency
funds. Fiduciary funds are accounted for in a manner similar to
proprietary funds. Agency Funds are purely custodia (assets
equal liabilities) and thus do not involve measurement of results

of operations.

Fiscal Year The Fiscal Year of the State of Illinois begins on July 1, and ends
on June 30 of each year. (see aso Budgetary Fiscal Y ear)

Function A group of related activities aimed at accomplishing a major
service or regulatory program for which a governmental unit is
responsible.

Fund(s) (1) A fiscal and accounting entity, established by Statute or

Administrative Action, recording cash and other financial
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resources, together with all related liabilities, obligations and
residual equities or balances and changes therein which are
segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific activities or
attaining certain objectives in accordance with specia
regulations, restrictions or limitations; or

(2) General resources of a State agency or afund.

Fund Balance-Remaining Fund balance available for future expenditure at the beginning of
Available Unexpended the period.
Fund Classification-Fiduciary Classification of GAAP funds used to report assets held in

trustee or agency capacity for others and which therefore cannot
be used to support the government’s own programs. There are
four different types of fiduciary funds. pension (and other
employee benefit) trust funds, investment trust funds, private-
purpose trust funds and agency funds.

Fund Classification- Classification of GAAP funds generally used to account for tax-

Governmental supported activities.  There are five different types of
governmental funds: general fund, specia revenue funds, debt
service funds, capital projects funds and permanent funds.

Fund Classification-Proprietary Classification of GAAP funds that focus on the determination of
operating income, changes in net assets (or cost recovery),
financial position and cash flows. There are two different types
of proprietary funds: enterprise funds and internal service funds.

Fund Group A term referring to groups of SAMS budgetary funds which are
similar in purpose or character. The fund groups are: General
Funds, Highway Funds, Special State Funds, Bond Financed
Funds, Debt Service Funds, Federal Trust Funds, Revolving
Funds, State Trust Funds and Other Trust Funds.

Fund Group-Bond Financed The SAMS budgetary group of funds established to receive and
administer the proceeds of various bond issues of the State.

Fund Group-Debt Service The SAMS budgetary group of funds established to finance and
account for the payment of principal redemption and interest
associated with general and special obligation bond issues of the
State.

Fund Group-Federal Trust The SAMS budgetary group of funds established pursuant to
grants and contracts between State agencies and the United
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States. These funds are administered for the specific purposes
established by the terms of the grants and contracts.

Fund Group-General The SAMS budgetary group of funds established to receive the
major portion of tax revenues and to pay the regular operating
and administrative expenses of most State agencies.

Fund Group-Highway The SAMS budgetary group of funds established to receive and
distribute special assessments related to transportation, such as
Motor Fuel Tax, and to support the construction and
maintenance of transportation facilities and activities of the
State.

Fund Group-Other Trust The SAMS budgetary group of funds established to receive and
account for resources for subsequent disbursement to a
designated recipient. Escrow funds are an example of "Other
Trust Funds."

Fund Group-Revolving The SAMS budgetary group of funds established to finance and
account for intergovernmental services.  Appropriation of
resources of these funds is dependent upon intergovernmental
service requirements and appropriations of other State agencies.
Revolving Fund resources are provided by expenditures of State
agencies for the goods or services financed by the fund.

Fund Group-Specia State The SAMS budgetary group of funds designated in Section 5 of
the Finance Act as special funds in the State Treasury and not
elsewhere classified. They represent a segregation of accounts
for specific purposes on a substantially perpetual basis.

Fund Group-State Trust The SAMS budgetary group of funds established by statutes or
under statutory authority for specific purposes.

Fund Group-Temporary Trust The SAMS budgetary group of trust funds or bank deposits
established upon the written approval of the Governor and the
State Comptroller by an officer or employee who receives or has
in his possession money under conditions which do not require
payment into the State Treasury, and where there is not trust
fund or bank deposit authorized by law for the receipt of the
monies. The Temporary Trust Fund shall be lega until the
thirtieth day after the signed adjournment of the next regular
session of the General Assembly.
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Fund Name and Number The Comptroller's official name of afund and four-digit assigned
number.
Fund-Non-appropriated The expenditures of a fund that are not appropriated by the

General Assembly.

Fund Type A term referring to groups of GAAP-Defined Funds which are
similar to purpose or character. The GAAP fund types are:
General Funds, Special Revenue Funds, Debt Service Funds,
Capital Projects Funds, Permanent Funds, Enterprise Funds,
Internal Service Funds, Pension (and other employee benefit)
Trust Funds, Investment Trust Funds, Private-Purpose Trust
Funds and Agency Funds.

Fund Type-Agency GAAP fiduciary fund type used to report resources held by the
State in a purely custodial capacity (i.e. assets are equa to
liabilities).

Fund Type-Capital Projects GAAP governmental fund type used to account for transactions

obtained and used for the acquisition or construction of major
capital facilities including those provided to politica
subdivisions and other public organizations (other than those
financed by proprietary funds, fiduciary funds and university
funds).

Fund Type-Debt Service GAAP governmental fund type used to account for transactions
related to resources obtained and accumulated to pay interest and
principal on general long-term obligations (other than capital
leases and unfunded retirement costs).

Fund Type-Enterprise GAAP proprietary fund type which may be used to report any
activity for which afeeis charged to external users for goods and
services. Activities are required to be reported as enterprise
funds if any one of the following criteriais met. The following
criteria should be applied in the context of the activity’'s
principal revenue sources:

e Activity is financed with debt that is secured solely by a
pledge of the net revenues from fees and charges of the
activity.

e Laws or regulations require that the activity’s cost of
providing services, including capital costs (such as
depreciation or debt service), be recovered with fees and
charges, rather than with taxes or similar revenues.
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e The pricing policies of the activity establish fees and charges
designed to recover its costs, including capital costs (such as
depreciation or debt service).

Fund Type-General GAAP governmental fund type used to account for transactions
related to resources obtained and used for those services
traditionally provided by State, which are not required to be
accounted for in other funds.

Fund Type-Internal Service GAAP proprietary fund type used to report any activity that
provides goods or services to other funds, departments or
agencies of the primary government and its component units, or
to other governments, on a cost-reimbursement basis. Interna
service funds should be used only if the reporting government
(i.e. State of Illinois) is the predominant participant in the
activity.

Fund Type-Investment Trust GAAP fiduciary fund type used to report the external portion of
investment pools reported by the sponsoring government (i.e.
State of Illinois) in accordance with GASB Statement No. 31.

Fund Type-Pension (and Other GAAP fiduciary fund type used to report resources that are

Employee Benefit) Trust required to be held in trust for the members and beneficiaries of
defined benefit pension plans, defined contribution plans, other
postemployment benefit plans or other employee benefit plans.

Fund Type-Permanent GAAP governmental fund type used to account for resources
that are legaly restricted to the extent that only earnings, and not
principal, may be used for purposes that support programs of the
State.

Fund Type-Specia Revenue GAAP governmental fund type used to account for transactions
related to resources obtained from specific revenue sources
(other than for major capital projects) that are legally restricted
to expenditure for specified purposes.

Fund Type-Private Purpose GAAP fiduciary fund type used to account for any trust

Trust arrangements not properly classified as a pension trust fund or an
investment trust fund under which principal and income benefit
individuals, private organizations or other governments.

Fund Type-University GAAP fund type used to account for those funds which receive
revenues such as fees, tuition and excess income from auxiliary
enterprises at the State supported institutions of higher
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education. The General Assembly appropriates resources of
these funds for the support, operation and improvement of State
supported colleges and universities. Also includes those funds
administered by universities and not subject to appropriation.

Funds-Petty Cash A fund established for the purpose of purchasing items of small
cost, payment of postage due and for other nominal expenditures
which cannot be administered economically and efficiently
through customary procurement practices. Such funds may be
established and maintained only from monies which are not
required by the Constitution to be paid into the State Treasury.

General Ledger A book, file or other device which contains the accounts
necessary to reflect in summary or in detail the financial position
and the results of operations of a governmental unit or fund.

General Obligation Bonds Obligations secured by the pledge of the full faith and credit of
the State to pay debt principa and interest. The State
Constitution provides that the State may issue general obligation
bonds for specific purpose in such amounts as provided either by
the General Assembly with a three-fifths vote of each house or
by amajority of votersin ageneral election.

Genera Revenues Revenues that are not required to be reported as program
revenues in the government-wide statement of activities.

Generally Accepted Accounting The conventions, rules and procedures necessary to define

Principles accepted accounting practice at a particular time. The principles
have developed on the basis of experience, reason, custom,
usage, and to a significant extent, practical necessity.

Government Mandated Transactions occurring when a government (including the
Nonexchange Transactions federal government) at one level provides resources to a
government at another level and requires that government to use
the resources for a specific purpose or purposes established in
the provider's enabling legislation. That is, the provider
establishes purpose restrictions and also may establish time
requirements. Examples of government-mandated nonexchange
transactions include federa programs that state or local
governments are mandated to perform, and state programs that
local governments are mandated to perform. The principal
characteristics of these transactions are (1) a provider
government (including the federal government) mandates that a
recipient government perform a particular program or facilitate
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its performance by another government or by a nongovernmental
entity (secondary recipient) and (2) fulfillment of certan
requirements is essential for a transaction (other than the
provision of cash or other assets in advance) to occur.

Governmental Accounting The composite activity of analyzing recording, summarizing,
reporting and interpreting the financial transactions of
governmental units and agencies.

Governmental Funds Those funds through which most governmental functions
typically are financed. The acquisition, use and balances of the
government's expendable financial resources and the related
current liabilities--except those accounted for in proprietary
funds-are accounted for through governmenta funds.
Governmental fund types include general fund, special revenue
funds, capital projects funds, debt service funds and permanent
funds.

The governmental fund measurement focus is upon
determination of financia position and changes in financia
position (sources, uses, and balances of financia resources),
rather than upon net income determination.

Grant A contribution made by one governmental unit (State or Federal)
to another unit or to an individual. The contribution is usually
made to aid in the support of a specified function, but it may be
for general purposes.

Impairment of Capital Assets A significant, unexpected decline in the service utility of a
capital asset.
Imposed nonexchange revenues Assessments by governments on nongovernmental entities,

including individuals, other than assessments on exchange
transactions.  Examples include property taxes, fines and
penalties and property forfeitures (e.g. seizures and escheats).
The principal characteristic of these transactions is that the
required transmittal of resources to the assessing government is
imposed by that government on an act committed or omitted by
the provider (e.g. property ownership or the contravention of a
law or regulation) that is not an exchange transaction. Enabling
legislation sometimes places purpose restrictions on the use of
the resources.  Alternatively, or in addition to purpose
restrictions, the government may specify the period when the
resources are required to be used or when use may begin. For
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Incurred But Not Reported
(IBNR)

Indirect Expenses

Inexhaustible Assets

Infrastructure

Income Receipt Adjustments
Increase/Decrease-Fund
Y ear to Date

% Increase/Decrease-Current
Month

% Increase/Decrease Fiscal
Year To Date

Installment Purchase Agreement

example, property taxes generally are required to be used in or
beginning in a particular period — the period for which the taxes
are levied — which may not be the same period that payment is
due or the period when the government has aright to place alien
on the property.

Estimated liabilities related to claims that have occurred, but
have not been reported as of the date of the financial statements.

Expenses related to a function (or some lower classification level
presented in the Statement of Activities) that are not direct
expenses. For example, the general government function
includes expenses that are, in essence, indirect expenses of other
functions.

Capital assets that have an infinite useful life.

Long-lived capital assets that normally are stationary in nature
and can be preserved for a significantly greater number of years
than most capital assets. Examples of infrastructure assets
include roads, bridges, tunnels, drainage systems, waterways,
water and sewer systems, dams and lighting systems (attached to
infrastructure assets, e.g., interstate lighting or airport runway
lighting). Buildings, except those that are an ancillary part of a
network of infrastructure assets, should not be considered
infrastructure assets.

Adjustments to receipts of the previous fiscal year.

The difference between the current fiscal Year-to-date item
(expenditures or receipts) and the prior fiscal year-to-date item
(expenditures or receipts).

Percentage increase or decrease of the current item (cash receipts
or expenditures) over the item (cash receipts or expenditures) for
the same month of the prior fiscal year.

Percentage increase or decrease of the current fiscal year-to-date
item (cash receipts or expenditures) over the item (cash receipts
or expenditures) for the same period of time in the prior fiscal
year.

An agreement where title to the property (ownership) vestsin the
purchaser immediately, in exchange for awritten promise to pay
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Installment Purchase
Obligations

Intangible Assets

Interfund Activity

Interfund Loans

Interfund Reimbursements

Interfund Services Provided and
Used

Interfund Transfers

Internal (and Interfund) Activity
and Balances

Internal Control

Internally-Generated Intangible
Assets

the seller a series of future payments at agreed upon dates and
amounts.

Liabilities for the payments of principal and interest under an
installment purchase contract.

Assets that lack physical substance, are nonfinancial in nature,
and have an initia useful life extending beyond a single
reporting period. Examples of intangible assets include, but are
not limited to, software (both internaly generated and non-
internally generated), easements and rights of way, and water
and land userights.

Reciprocal and non-reciprocal activity between funds of the
primary government.

Amounts provided between funds of the primary government
with areguirement for repayment within areasonable time.

Repayments from the funds of the primary government
responsible for particular expenditures or expenses to the funds
of the primary government that initially paid for them.

Sales and purchases of goods and services between funds of the
primary government for a price approximating their external
exchange value.

Flows of assets (such as cash or goods) between funds of the
primary government without equivalent flows of assets in return
and without a requirement for repayment.

Resource flows between funds of the primary government,
including its blended component units, fiduciary funds and
fiduciary component units.

The plan of organization and all of the methods and measures
adopted within afund or agency to safeguard its assets, check the
accuracy and reliability of its accounting data, promote
operational efficiency and encourage adherence to prescribed
managerial policies.

Intangible assets that are developed by a government, including,
but not limited to, computer software, patents, trademarks, and
copyrights.
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Inventory

Journd

Journal Entry

Land

Land Improvements

Landfill Closure and
Postclosure Care Costs

Lapse

Lapse Period

L apse Period Expenditures

Lapsed Amount

L ease Obligations

Liabilities

The value of materids and supplies on hand for interna
consumption or for use, distribution or resale to other units of
State government and to outside parties, including the public.

A book of original entry.

The entry into an accounting journal representing the accounting
treatment of a particular transaction by recording debits and
credits (in equal amounts) to various accounts depending on the
nature of the transaction.

Unimproved realty (typically the total closing cost).

The non-depreciable costs and betterments of preparing the land
for its intended use. An example of a land improvement is
leveling and grading.

Costs incurred to provide for the protection of the environment
that occurs near or after the date that a solid-waste landfill stops
accepting solid waste and during the postclosure period. Closure
and postclosure care costs include the cost of equipment and
facilities (e.g., leachate collection systems and final cover) as
well as the cost of services (e.g., postclosure maintenance and
monitoring costs).

The legal termination of the unexpended balance of an
appropriation at a specified point in time.

The two-month period ending August 31 during which
obligations outstanding at June 30 may be liquidated under
provisions of Section 25 of the Finance Act.

Expenditures incurred during the lapse period for the prior fiscal
year.

The unexpended balance of an appropriation which becomes
legally unavailable for expenditure at a specified date.

Payments under capital leases (i.e., the present value of the
minimum lease payments).

Legal obligations, arising out of transactions in the past, that
must be liquidated, renewed or refunded at some future date.
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Liquidate To reduce an obligation or liability, either in part or its entirety,

through an expenditure.

Loans Receivable Amounts which have been loaned to individuals or organizations
external to the State, including notes taken as security for such
loans. Loans receivable are evidenced by written promises of
repayment which include terms for principal and interest.

Locally-Held Fund A fund that is operated by an individual agency or organization
within the State, without significant involvement of the State
Treasury.

Long-Term Receivables Receivables not due for more than one year.

Lump Sum Appropriation An appropriation made to an agency for a stated purpose without

specifying the amounts that may be spent for specific activities
or for particular objects of expenditure.

Major Function A group of related activities aimed at accomplishing a major
service or regulatory program for which a governmental unit is
responsible. The major functions are: Health and Social
Services, Employment and Economic Development, Education,
Transportation, Environmental and Business Regulation, Public
Protection and Justice, General Government, Debt Service and
Refunds.

Major Funds A governmental fund or an enterprise fund reported as a separate
column in the State’s basic financial statements. The general
fund is always reported as a major fund. Other funds are
reported if they meet the following criteria as outlined in GASB
34 for major funds or if the State believes a fund if important due
to public interest or consistency.

Funds should be classified as major based on the following
criteria:

1. Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/ expenses
of the individual government or enterprise fund must be 10%
of the corresponding total (asset, liabilities, etc.) for all funds
of that category or type (i.e. total governmental or total
enterprise funds) and

2. Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/ expenses
of the individual governmental fund or enterprise fund are at
least 5% of the corresponding total for all governmental and
enterprise funds combined.
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Major Source A primary classification of cash receipts.
Materiality Quantitative significance of financial information and/or account

balances. The Comptroller reserves the authority to define
criteria for materiality with respect to various transactions,
accounts and funds.

Measurement Focus The objective of a measurement, that is, what is being expressed
in reporting the State’s financial performance and position. A
particular measurement focus is accomplished by considering
not only which resources are measured (i.e., financial or
economic resources), but also when the effect of transactions or
events involving those resources are recognized (the basis of
accounting). The measurement focus of government-wide
financial statements, proprietary fund financial statements and
the fiduciary fund financial statements is economic resources.
The measurement focus of governmental fund financial
statements is current financial resources.

Minor Function A subdivision of a major function.

Modified Accrual Accounting The basis of accounting under which revenues should be
recognized in the accounting period in which they become
available and measurable. Expenditures should be recognized in
the accounting period in which the fund liability is incurred, if
measurable, except for unmatured interest on general long-term
debt which should be recognized when due.

Modified Approach The election not to depreciate infrastructure assets that are part
(Infrastructure) of a network or subsystem of a network that meet two specific
requirements. The agency manages the eligible infrastructure
assets using an asset management system that has certain
specified characteristics and the agency documents that the
eligible infrastructure assets are being preserved approximately
at (or above) a condition level established and disclosed by the

agency.

Money Market Investments Short-term highly liquid instruments including commercial
payer, banker’s acceptances and U.S. Treasury and agency
obligations.

Net Assets The difference between a government’s assets and its liabilities

is its net assets. Net assets should be displayed in three
components — invested in capital assets, net of related debt;
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restricted  (distinguishing between major categories of
restrictions); and unrestricted.

Net Assets — Invested in Capital One of three components of net assets that must be reported in

Assets, Net of Related Debt both government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements,
calculated as follows: (1) capital assets, less (2) accumulated
depreciations, less (3) outstanding principal of capital debt, net
of unspent proceeds.

Net Pension Obligation (NPO) The cumulative difference between annual pension cost and the
employer’s contributions to defined benefit pension plan,
including the pension liability (asset) at transition, and excluding
short-term differences and unpaid contributions that have been
converted to pension-related debt. Transition refers to the date
the State elected to apply the provisions of GASB Statement No.
217.

Network All assets that provide a particular type of service for the State or
an agency. A network of assets may be only one asset that is
composed of many components. For example, a network of
infrastructure assets may consist of a series of inter-connected
highways and roads.

Non-Current Assets Assets not available in the current operating cycle (normally one
year) to finance operations.

Nonexchange Transaction Transaction where the State receives or gives value to another
party without directly receiving or giving equal value (benefit) in
exchange.

Non-Internally Generated Intangible assets that are acquired, rather than developed, by a

Intangible Assets government.  Examples include “off the shelf” software,

easements/rights of way, and water and land use rights.

Nonreciprocal Interfund Transactions between funds of the primary government in which
Activity there is not an exchange of approximately equal value including
interfund transfers and interfund reimbursements.

Non-Shared Fund A fund in which a single State agency is responsible for
substantially all deposits and disbursements from the fund.

Non-Spendable Fund Balance That portion of fund balance consisting of amounts that cannot
be spent because they are either:
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1) not in spendable form, such as inventory, prepaid items, etc.,
or

2) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact,
such as the corpus of a permanent fund.

Notes Payable Unconditional written promises signed by the State or its agency
to pay a certain sum in money on demand or at a fixed or
determinable time either to the bearer or to the order of a person
designated therein.

Notes Receivable Unconditional written promise, signed by the maker, to pay a
certain sum in money on demand or at a fixed or determinable
future time to the State or its agent.

Object of Expenditure The purpose for which the State's resources have been expended
such as travel, equipment, etc.

Obligations Amounts which a governmental unit may be legally required to
meet out of its resources, including encumbrances, as well as
accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Obligations-Outstanding Total prospective expenditures recorded with the Comptroller
such as purchase orders or executory contracts.

Operating Leases Leases which convey the right to use property in consideration of
specified rental payments over a definite future period and do not
meet the criteria of a capital lease (Also see Capital Lease).

Operating Leases with Lease contracts where the pattern of the payment requirements
Scheduled Increases includes scheduled rent increases that are fixed by contract.

Other Post-employment Postemployment benefits provided by the State to plan
Benefits (OPEB) participants, beneficiaries and covered dependents through a plan

or other arrangement that is separate from a plan to provide
retirement income. OPEB also include postemployment health
care benefits provided through a public employee retirement
system or pension plan. In addition to postemployment health
care benefits (such as illness, dental, vision and hearing) OPEB
may include, life insurance, disability income, tuition assistance,
legal services and other assistance programs.

Other Significant Transaction Transaction or event that is either unusual in nature or infrequent
in occurrence but not within the control of management.
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Outstanding Encumbrances The portion of the total prospective expenditures filed (e.g.
purchase orders or executory contracts) that still remain to be
liquidated.
Percentage Appropriation The percentage of an appropriation which has been expended for
Expended Year-To-Date the fiscal year-to-date.
Percentage Lapsed The percentage of an appropriation which becomes legally

unavailable for expenditure at a specified period of time.

Pre-Audit An examination for the purpose of determining the propriety of a
proposed financial transaction or of a transaction currently in
process.

(1) At the agency level: An examination by the agency for the
purpose of determining the legality and propriety of a
proposed transaction or of a transaction in process.

(2) At the Comptroller level:  An examination by the
Comptroller of a transaction in process for the purpose of
determining its legality and regularity.

Prepaid Assets Items paid for in advance of use including insurance, deposits
and other expenses.

Prepaid Expenses Expenses which have been paid but for which benefits have not
been received. An example of this is premiums paid on
unexpired insurance.

Primary Government All funds and departments of the State of IHlinois including
blended component units.

Pro Forma The term is used in conjunction with a noun to denote merely a
sample form, document or statement provided in advance. Often
used in connection with financial forecasts.

Procedure Bulletins Issued with revisions of the SAMS Manual. These bulletins give
instructions for the insertion and removal of pages, state the
purpose of the new or revised material and specify any
regulations or instructions which are superseded.

Program Budget A budget wherein projected expenditures are based on programs
of work and secondarily on character and object.
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Program Revenues Revenues that are derived directly from a program of the State or

from parties outside of the State’s taxpayers or citizenry.

Program-Specific Grants and Revenues arising from mandatory and voluntary nonexchange

Contributions transactions with other governments, organizations, or
individuals that are restricted for use in a particular program of
the State.

Proprietary Funds Those funds used to account for a government's on-going

organizations and activities which are similar to those often
found in the private sector. All assets liabilities, equities,
revenues, expenses and transfers relating to the government's
business and quasi-business activities--where net income and
capital maintenance are measured--are accounted for through
proprietary funds. Proprietary fund types include enterprise
funds and internal service funds.

The generally accepted accounting principles are those
applicable to similar businesses in the private sector and the
measurement focus is upon determination of net income,
financial position and changes in financial position.

Public Entity Risk Pool A cooperative group of governmental agencies joining together
to finance an exposure, liability or risk. Risk may include
property and liability, workers’ compensation or employee
health care. A pool may be a stand-alone entity or included as
part of a larger governmental entity that acts as the pool’s
sponsor.

Purchase Order A document that authorizes the delivery of specified
merchandise or the rendering of certain services and the making
of a charge for them.

Purpose Restrictions Legal limitations that specify the purpose or purposes for which
resources are required to be used in a government-mandated or
voluntary nonexchange transaction.

Receipts Cash received and ordered by the Comptroller into the State
Treasury.

Receipts Adjustments Adjustments to prior year receipts.
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Receipts-Current Year Current month cash received and ordered by the Comptroller
Month of XXX into the State Treasury. This includes new receipts and current

year receipt adjustments for the report month XXX.

Receipts-Prior Year Cash received and ordered by the Comptroller into the State
Fiscal Year-To-Date Treasury for the same period of time in the prior fiscal year.
Receipts-Prior Year Cash received for the same month of the prior fiscal year and
Month of XXX ordered by the Comptroller into the State Treasury.

Reciprocal Interfund Activity Transactions between funds of the primary government in which

there is an exchange of approximately equal value including
interfund loans and interfund services provided and used.

Reclassifying Journal Entry A journal entry which reclassifies previously recorded accounts
into the proper accounts for GAAP reporting. A reclassifying
journal entry affects only the statement of financial position or
operating statement, but not both.

Refunds Expenditure adjustments for the lapse period of the prior fiscal
year consisting of cash refunds, where an amount is refunded by
a vendor to the State or voided warrants.

Register A record for the consecutive entry of a certain class of events,
documents or transactions with a proper notation of all the
required particulars.

Related Funds Funds of a similar character which are brought together for
administrative or reporting purposes (e.g., Trust Funds). (See
also Fund Group).

Related Party Transaction A transaction that an informed observer might reasonably
believe reflects considerations other than economic self interest
based upon the relationship that exists between the parties to the
transaction. The term is used in contrast to an arm’s-length
transaction.

Repairs and Maintenance Includes the ordinary and necessary projects needed to keep an
asset serviceable through its expected life.  Repairs and
maintenance projects, by definition, do not increase the capacity
or operating efficiency or extend the useful life of the asset.
Repairs and maintenance costs are not capitalized, but rather
expensed in the period incurred.
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Replacement Cost The cost as of a certain date of a property which can render

service similar to that provided by the property to be replaced.

Report-Financial Information Reports which provide SAMS financial information for monthly
receipts, transfers, expenditures, obligations, funds and
appropriation status at various summary levels.

Reports-Fiscal Information Reports which provide a high level summarization of the fiscal
position of the State.

Reports-Reconciliation Reports furnished to the agencies which are intended to allow the
agency to compare its internal records with those of the
Comptroller's.

Requisition A written demand or request, usually from within one
department to its purchasing officer or to another department, for
specified articles or services.

Reserve An account set up to indicate any of the following: (1) the
segregation of fund balance (equity) representing contingent
liabilities, (2) other segregation of fund balance or (3) the
difference between a total appropriation and that portion thereof
which may be allotted for obligations and expenditures during a
fiscal period.

Resources The actual assets of a governmental unit such as cash,
receivables, investments and property which are available for the
discharge of given responsibilities and attainment of
governmental objectives.

Restricted Fund Balance That portion of fund balance consisting of amounts restricted to
specific purposes, where the restrictions are imposed by:

1) external parties, such as creditors, grantors or other
governments,

2) constitutional provisions, or
3) enabling legislation.

Restricted Net Assets Component of net assets used to report restricted financial assets
reduced by liabilities related to those assets. Net assets should

be reported as restricted when constraints placed on net asset use
are either:
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a. Externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt
covenants), grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of
other government, or

b. Imposed by law through constitutional provisions or
enabling legislation.

Revenue Additions to assets which do not increase any liability or
represent the recovery of an expenditure and/or the cancellation
of liabilities without a corresponding increase in other liabilities
or a decrease in assets.

Revenue Bonds Obligations secured by a pledge of income from assets
constructed or acquired. Revenue bonds are not supported by
the full faith and credit of the reporting entity. The bond
indentures include a pledge from the issuing agencies and
authorities that income derived from acquired or constructed
assets be used to retire the debt and related interest.

SAMS Comptroller's Statewide Accounting Management System.

SAMS Coordinator-Agency Agency official to which all SAMS Manuals, procedure bulletins
and other SAMS material are sent. This individual has
responsibility for distributing them in his/her agency.

SAMS Coordinator- Comptroller's official responsible for maintenance, revision and
Comptroller's distribution coordination of the SAMS Manual and other SAMS
material with all State agencies.

Schedule, C-11 Control document used to transmit batches of vouchers with the
same fund, appropriation and fiscal year to the Comptroller.

Schedules (1) The explanatory or supplementary statements that
accompany the statement of financial position or other principal
statements periodically prepared from the accounts; or
(2) A form used to summarize and transmit a group of similar
transaction documents, such as invoice-vouchers.

Securities Lending Transactions Transactions in which an agency transfers its securities to
broker-dealers and other entities for collateral-which may be
cash, securities or letters of credit-and simultaneously agree to
return the collateral for the same securities in the future.



STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION TERMINOLOGY PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
05.50.01 32 of 36
SUB-SECTION REFERENCE EFFECTIVE DATE
July 1, 2017
PROCEDURE DEFINITION OF TERMS REVISION NUMBER
18-001
Segment An activity that has outstanding revenue bonds or other revenue-

backed debt and that is reported as or within an enterprise fund
or a stand-alone entity that uses enterprise fund accounting and
reporting standards. A segment has a specific identifiable
revenue stream pledged in support of its debt and has related
assets, liabilities, expenses, gains, and losses that can be
identified.

Shared Fund A fund in which more than one State agency is responsible for
deposits and/or disbursements to and/or from the fund.

Shared Revenue A revenue source of the State that islegally required to be shared
with another governmental entity based on the enabling
legidation. Examplesinclude sales taxes and motor fuel taxes.

Signature Authorization Form A document used to provide specimen signatures to the
Comptroller for persons authorized to sign the agency head
approval line on vouchers or contracts.

Site Improvements The depreciable costs and betterments affixed to land that
generally add to its value and functionality. Examples of site
improvements include, but are not limited to, temporary
structures, access roads, parking lots, fencing, lighting (e.g.,
lights in parking lots or lights along walkways), tunnels that
connect buildings, gas, eectricity or steam transmission lines
and campsites.

Source Name A primary source of cash receipts. These sources are at an
aggregate level and may or may not be associated with an
individual receipt account which is used as the conduit for
channeling cash receiptsinto State Treasury funds (i.e., Cigarette

Tax and Sales Tax).
Source Name and Number Name and number of areceipt source within afund.
Specia Item A transaction or event within the control of management that is

either unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence.

Special Obligation Bonds Obligations of the State that are secured by a pledge of a
dedicated portion of the State resources (e.g., sales tax, horse
racing privilege tax, etc.).

State Agency See "Agency."
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Statements Presentations of financial data which show the financial position

and the results of financial operations of a fund or an entire
governmental unit for a particular accounting period.

Statute A law enacted by the legislative body.

Subsidiary Account One of the groups of related accounts which support in detail the
summary data recorded in a control account.

Subsidiary Ledger A group of subsidiary accounts, the sum of whose balances is
equal to the balance of the related control account.

Subsystem A subsystem is composed of all assets that make up a portion or
segment of a network. For example, all the roads of the State
could be considered a network of infrastructure, while interstate
highways, state highways and rural roads could each be
considered a subsystem of that network.

Tax Refund An amount paid by the State as an expenditure in settlement of
an overcollection of tax revenue.

Transfer Base - 2% Appropriation amount available for transfer.

Transfers (1) Interfund - increases in the resources of one or more funds of
a governmental unit which are offset by corresponding decreases
in the resources of one or more other funds of the governmental
unit; or

(2) Intrafund - changes in appropriated or proprietary account
balances within a given fund, the net effect of which upon the
fund balance is zero.

Transfers In-Fund Increases in the available fund balance which are offset by
corresponding decreases in the available fund balance of one or
more other funds.

Transfers Net Transfers in minus transfers out.
Transfers Out-Fund Decreases in the available fund balance of a fund which are
offset by corresponding increases in the available fund balance

of one or more other funds.

Unassigned Fund Balance Residual fund balance classification for the general fund. A
positive unassigned fund balance should not be reported in
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governmental funds other than the general fund; however, in
certain circumstances, negative unassigned fund balance may be
reported in these funds.

Unencumbered Balance of The portion of an appropriation or allotment not yet expended or

Appropriation or Allotment encumbered (obligated). The balance remaining after deducting
from the appropriation or allotment the accumulated
expenditures and outstanding encumbrances (obligations).

Unobligated Balance of The portion of an appropriation or allotment not yet expended or

Appropriation or Allotment obligated. The balance remaining after deducting from the
appropriation or allotment the accumulated expenditures and
outstanding obligations.

Unexpended Balance of The portion of an appropriation or allotment which has not been

Appropriation or Allotment expended. The balance remaining after deducting from the
appropriation or allotment the accumulated expenditures
(warrants issued).

Unrestricted Net Assets That portion of net assets that is neither restricted nor invested in
capital assets (net of related debt).

Unspent Proceeds on Capital Financial resources (cash, investments) generated by capital debt

Debt which have not yet been used to acquire or construct capital
assets.

Value (1) The act of describing anything in terms of money (i.e., of

assessing its worth) or (2) The measure of an item in terms of
money. The term should not be used in this sense without
qualification as to timing and basis of valuation--that is the value
has been established at what point in time and upon what basis.

Voluntary Nonexchange Transactions resulting from legislative or contractual
Transactions agreements, other than exchanges, entered into willingly by two
or more parties. Examples include certain grants, certain
entitlements and donations by nongovernmental entities,
including individuals (private donations). Both parties to a
voluntary nonexchange transaction may be governments
(including the federal government, as a provider) or one party
may be a nongovernmental entity, including an individual.
Frequently, the provider establishes purpose restrictions and
eligibility requirements. In many cases, the provider may
require the return of the resources if the purpose restrictions or
eligibility requirements are contravened after recognition of the
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transaction. The principal characteristics of voluntary

nonexchange transactions are they are not imposed on the
provider or the recipient and fulfillment of eligibility
requirements is essential for a transaction (other than the
provision of cash or other assets in advance) to occur.

Voucher A document submitted by a governmental agency requesting that
payment be made to a vendor for goods received or services
performed or authorized. It evidences the propriety of a
transaction and indicates the account(s) in which it is to be

recorded.

Voucher-Invoice, C-13 A voucher used to request payment to a vendor for goods
received or services performed except for personal services and
travel.

Voucher-Travel, C-10 A voucher used by State employees to claim reimbursement for

official business related travel expenses.

Vouchers Payable The difference between the vouchers approved for payment by
the Comptroller and the warrants issued for the vouchers.

Vouchers Processed Total amount of vouchers approved by the Comptroller for
subsequent payments.

Warrant A warrant is a negotiable instrument drawn by the Comptroller
on the State Treasury to effect payment of funds held by the
Treasurer for debts incurred by State agencies or for fund
transfers authorized for payment by the Comptroller.

Warrants-Canceled When an outstanding warrant, less than twelve months old, is
canceled and the amount of the warrant is redeposited in the
original fund and appropriation account (if not lapsed), the
warrant is canceled and is no longer outstanding.

Warrants-Escheated A warrant that has been outstanding after issuance for more than
twelve months.

Warrants-1ssued The total amount of warrants issued by the Comptroller to be
paid by the State Treasurer.

Warrants-Paid A warrant presented for payment to and honored by the State
Treasurer.
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Warrants Issued-Gross Total amount of warrants issued for payment from the State
Treasury.
Warrants Issued-Net Total amount of warrants issued by the Comptroller less cash

refunds and voided warrants to be paid by the State Treasurer.

Works of Art and Historical Assets that have cultural, aesthetic or historical value and often

Treasures are protected and preserved in a manner greater than that for
other assets. Works of art and historical treasures are collections
or individual items of significance that are owned by an agency
which are not held for financial gain, but rather for public
exhibition, education or research. Examples include
manuscripts, historic buildings and flags.
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Term Definition
Accounting Period The month and fiscal year that SAMS assigns to a transaction.
Appropriation Document (AP) A document that records appropriations and amendments to

appropriations on SAMS. This document is the means by which
the Genera Assembly’s authorization to spend is recorded on

SAMS.

Appr Unit The major object, sequence and type.

Budget Line The fund, agency, organization (division) and appropriation unit
that applies to a particular transaction.

Cash Receipt (CR) A document used to record the deposit of money into SAMS and
to record expenditure adjustments.

Check Cancellation (CX) A document used to void warrantsin SAMS.

Current Budget Authority The current appropriation, plus transfers in, less any transfers

out, less any reverted amounts.

GAAP Accounting Code The classification assigned to expenditures that groups them for
financial reporting purposes in accordance with generaly
accepted accounting principles.

Intergovernmental Payment

Voucher (IGPV) A special type of payment voucher that can be used by one fund
to pay another fund for goods and services. Use of this
document results in awarrantless interfund payment.

Journal Voucher (JV) A generalized accounting document used to record accounting
events that cannot be recorded on any other SAMS financial
document. Journal vouchers are used to record expenditure
transfers, record activity related to interfacing warrant writing
systems and move cash related to warrantless interfund
payments.

Manua Warrant (MW) A document that records manually-written warrants in SAMS.
In certain instances, this document is aso used to restore an
obligation balance.
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Term Definition
Object The lowest level of expenditure classification. Thisis sometimes

referred to as detail object.
Organization The division that an agency uses for appropriation purposes.

Payment Voucher (PV) A document used to request the authorization that payment be
made to a vendor or other entity for services rendered or goods
received. When a payment voucher is accepted by SAMS, it
creates an expenditure and vouchers payable.

Purchase Order (PO) A document used to record, increase or decrease obligations in
SAMS.

Requisition (RQ) The document used to record a pre-encumbrance in SAMS.

Revenue Source The four-position sequential humber that is assigned to each

major receipt source/sub-source combination.

Reverted Amount The restricted amount within a budget line. On SAMS,
reversions are used to reflect amounts subject to Governor’'s
release.

Transfer Appropriation (TA) A document used to record 2% transfersin SAMS.

Transfer Voucher (TV) A document that records the transfer of amounts from one fund

to another fund when no purchase is involved. Transfer
vouchers are used to record statutory transfers per Form C-55,
Fund Transfer Notification.

Unassigned Fund Balance Residual fund balance classification for the general fund. A
positive unassigned fund balance should not be reported in
governmental funds other than the general fund; however, in
certain circumstances, negative unassigned fund balance may be
reported in these funds.

Uncommitted Budget Authority The current budget authority, less pre-encumbrances,
encumbrances and expenditures.

Unexpended Budget Authority The current budget authority, less expenditures.

Unobligated Budget Authority The current budget authority, less encumbrances and
expenditures.
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INTRODUCTION

One of the objectives of the Statewide Accounting Management System is to have a central source for
the collecting, summarizing and reporting of statewide financial and accounting information. This will
facilitate the management of the State's fiscal affairs within the Comptroller's Office and also provide a central
source for obtaining statewide accounting and financial information for the public, legislators and other
individuals interested in the fiscal status of the State.

Accounting and financial information maintained in the Comptroller's Office pertains to funds held
in the State Treasury and also funds held by State agencies outside of the Treasury. Information regarding
funds held in the State Treasury is obtained from the fund, appropriation and receipt accounting records
maintained in the Comptroller's Office. Information regarding other funds used by State agencies is obtained
by the Comptroller from periodic reports provided by State agencies.

The media used for the dissemination of this statewide fiscal information will be primarily electronic
media and a limited number of computer prepared reports. The reports are detail operating and accounting
reconciliation reports. They will primarily be used by agencies and by the Comptroller to carry out day-to-day
operating responsibilities.

The purpose of this section is to present examples of these reports and to describe their use and data
elements.
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STATUTE REFERENCE

The statutory authority giving the Comptroller the responsibility to maintain and operate a
statewidefinancial information systemis contained in the State Comptroller Act (15 ILCS405/19),
excerpted below:

"The Comptroller shall maintain complete, accurate and
current financial records relating to State funds and to other public
funds and assets avail able to, encumbered or expended by each State
agency, including trust funds or other moneys not subject to
appropriation, setting out all revenues, chargesagainst all funds, fund
and appropriation balances, interfund transfers, warrants outstanding
and assets and encumbrances, in a manner consistent with the
uniform State accounting system prescribed by the Comptroller.
Such records shall be public records open to public inspection.”

"Each month the Comptroller shall prepare a report
summarizing by State agency and appropriation the above
information in such form aswill most clearly and accurately set out
the current fiscal condition of the State.

In addition, each month the Comptroller shall prepare areport
by detail object account in such formaswill most clearly present the
status of such accounts.

The Comptroller shall prescribe forms for the periodic
reporting of financial accounts, transactions and other matters by
State agencies, compatible with the reports required of the
Comptroller under this Section."
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RECONCILIATION REPORTS

The effectiveness of any accounting and financial information system is very much
dependent on the accuracy of data submitted and the confidence of its users that the system
handled that data properly. Agency reconciliation is the primary control that insures these
requirements are being satisfied. Agencies must reconcile their records to the SAMS system on
amonthly basis. Thisreconciliation must be completed within 60 days of the month end.

A reconciliation to the SAMS system is not applicable for agencies that use SAMS as
their system of record. However, agencies shall ensure that their source documents have been
properly recorded in SAMS and in the corresponding reports.

The Office of the Comptroller provides each agency which has had activity during the
month with up to seven reconciliation reports. These reports are intended to alow the agency to
compare itsinternal records with those of the Comptroller’s to insure both parties that the SAMS
system is functioning properly and dealing with accurate information. The Comptroller is
prepared to work with any agency in resolving discrepancies.

The key reports used for agency reconciliation are:

Monthly Revenue Status — Report SB04 (See SAMS Procedure 25.40.10)

e (Monthly) Cash Report — Report SB05 (See SAMS Procedure 09.40.10)

e Monthly Appropriation Status — Report SBO1 (See SAMS Procedure 11.40.10)

e (Monthly) Obligation Activity Report — Report SC15 (See SAMS Procedure
15.30.20)

e (Monthly) Object Expense/Expenditures By Quarter — Report SA02 (See SAMS
Procedure 07.30.21)

e (Monthly) Appropriation Transfer Report — Report SBO3 (See SAMS Procedure
07.30.24)

e (Monthly) Agency Contract Report — Report SC14 (See SAMS Procedure 15.30.10)
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PROCEDURE OBJECT EXPENSE/EXPENDITURES BY QUARTER  REVISION NUMBER
REPORT SAQ2 05-002

REPORT TITLE:

OBJECT EXPENSE/EXPENDITURES BY QUARTER

PURPOSE: This report provides a quarterly summarization of object expenditures by fund within
agency. A recapitulation of object expenditures for an entire agency is also
provided.

SEQUENCE: Agency Number/Name, Organization Number/Name, Fund Number/Name, Category
Number/Name, Budget Line/Name and Object Number/Name.

DISTRIBUTION:  Comptroller's Office
Governor’s Office of Management and Budget
Auditor General
Legislative Staffs
Other Interested Agencies

CONTENTS:

REFERENCE CONTENTS

(1) Date Report reflects all activity processed by the Comptroller's
Office for the period ending as of the date cited on the
report.

(2) Agency Number/Name A distinct (3-digit) number is assigned by the Comptroller
to each agency. The report presents both the agency
name and the corresponding number.

(3) Organization Number/Name The (2-digit) organization number (and corresponding
description) segregates organizational units for
appropriation purposes, within an agency.

(4) Fund Number/Name The (4-digit) fund number is assigned by the

Comptroller's Office. The corresponding fund name is
the official name used by the Comptroller. The fund
name and number allow segregation within an agency.



STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION FINANCIAL INFORMATION PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
07.30.2120of 4
SUB-SECTION OUTPUT PROCEDURES
EFFECTIVE DATE

July 1, 1997
PROCEDURE OBJECT EXPENSE/EXPENDITURES BY QUARTER
REVISION NUMBER
REPORT SAQ02 98-001
REFERENCE CONTENTS
(5) Category Number/Name A (single digit) category is a group of related

expenditures aimed at accomplishing a major activity
such as operations, awards and grants, permanent
improvements, waterway improvements, highway
construction, debt service, and tax refunds.

(6) Budget Line/Name The budget line presents the fund, agency, organization,
and appropriation unit. A description of each budget
line is presented directly adjacent to the coding.

(7) Object Number/Name The object number and name are the (4-digit) code and
description of an expenditure at its lowest level in the
statewide accounting system.

(8) Budget Authority The budget authority represents statutory authorization
granted by the General Assembly to an agency
allowing it to incur obligations and make expenditures
for specific purposes within a specified period of time,
and generally for a maximum dollar amount. For non-
appropriated accounts, the budget authority represents
the Comptroller approved agency estimate of
expenditures.

(9) Total (column) The total column quarter presents the fiscal year-to-date
total expenditures processed for goods and services
less cash refunds and voided warrants.

(10) First Quarter(column) The first quarter column presents total expenditures for
goods and services less cash refunds and voided
warrants processed in the first quarter of the current
fiscal year.
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REFERENCE CONTENTS
(11) Second Quarter(column) The second quarter column presents total expenditures

for goods and services less cash refunds and voided
warrants processed in the second quarter of the current
fiscal year.

(12) Third Quarter(column) The third quarter column presents total expenditures
for goods and services less cash refunds and voided
warrants processed in the third quarter of the current
fiscal year.

(13) Fourth Quarter(column) The fourth quarter column presents total expenditures
for goods and services less cash refunds and voided
warrants processed in the fourth quarter of the current
fiscal year.

(14) Lapse Period(column) The lapse period column presents total expenditures
for goods and services less cash refunds and voided
warrants for expenditures incurred during the lapse
period of the fiscal year.

(15) Total Budget Line If a budget line is composed of more than one object
line, a total budget line presents totals for reach
quarter and year-to-date summaries by individual
budget line, within a category, within a fund, within
an organization, within an agency.

(16) Total Category The total category line presents totals of budget lines
for each quarter and year-to-date summaries by
category, within a fund, within an organization, within
an agency.

(17) Total Fund The total fund line presents totals of categories for each
quarter and year-to-date summaries by fund, within an
organization, within an agency.
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REFERENCE CONTENTS

(18) Total Organization

(19) Agency Summary

(20) Total Agency

The total organization line presents totals of funds for
each quarter and year-to-date summaries by
organization within an agency.

The agency summary provides totals for each object
reporting expenditures within an agency.

The total agency line sums the totals of the objects
reporting expenditures within an agency.
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January 1, 2003
PROCEDURE APPROPRIATION TRANSFER REPORT
REVISION NUMBER
REPORT SB03 03-003

REPORT TITLE: Appropriation Transfer Report

PURPOSE: This report provides agency analysis of appropriation transfer availability and the
chronological list of each appropriation transfer for each fund utilized by the
particular agency.

SEQUENCE: Agency Number/Name, Fund Number/Name, Organization, Appropriation Unit,
Date of Record, and Document Identification Number.

DISTRIBUTION:  Comptroller's Office

Auditor Generd

Legidative Staffs

State Agencies
CONTENTS:

REFERENCE CONTENTS

(1) Date Report reflects all activity processed by the Comptroller's
Officefor the period ending as of the date cited on the report.

(2) Agency The agency name and number assigned by the Comptroller.
Following each agency are the fundswhich have budget lines
applicable to the agency.

(3) Fund Comptroller's official name of afund and assigned number.
Following each fund are the account numbers of the budget
lines within the fund.

(4) Budget Line The fund, agency, organization and appropriation unit.

(5) Appropriation Name The purpose of the appropriations unit.
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PROCEDURE APPROPRIATION TRANSFER REPORT
REVISION NUMBER
REPORT SB03 03-003
REFERENCE CONTENTS

(6) Current Appr

(7) Net Transfers

(8) Total Current Appr Amount
(9) 2% Transfer Limit

(10) Total Net Transfers Out

(11) Remaining Available Balance

(12) Date

(13) Document ID

(14) From Appropriation

(15) To Appropriation

(16) Amount
(17) Month
(18) Month Tota

(19) Year To Date

The appropriation amount.

Fiscal year to date net transfers for each budget line.
Total appropriations for each fund within an agency.
Appropriation amount available for transfer.

Total fiscal year-to-date transfers for al appropriation
accounts.

The portion of the 2% appropriation transfer base
available for future transfers.

Date the appropriation transfer was processed.

The document number applicableto the appropriation
transfer.

Budget line from which the appropriation transfer was
made.

Budget line to which the appropriation transfer was
made.

The appropriation transfer amount.
Month the transfer occurred.
Sum of all transfers by each month.

Total of appropriation transfersfor fiscal year-to-date
for each fund.
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INTRODUCTION

\ The Statewide Accounting Management System is based on fund accounting. Funds are the
self-balancing accounting entities against which all financial activity of the State is reported.
Appropriations, receipts, and expenditures of all State agencies are controlled through reference to
the various funds maintained by the State.

\ This section of the SAMS Manual describes the various types and classifications of funds
and what steps State agencies must perform in order to establish or dissolve funds according to State
statutes. It also describes how transfers of money from one fund to another may be made.
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TYPES OF FUNDS

Funds are classified in several ways. For purposes of SAMS, the groups of funds within the
State of Illinois are:

General Funds:

Those funds established to receive the major portion of tax revenues and to pay the
regular operating and administrative expenses of most State agencies.

Highway Funds:

Those funds established to receive and distribute special assessments related to
transportation, such as Motor Fuel Tax, and to support the construction and
maintenance of transportation facilities and activities of the State of Illinois.

Special State Funds:

Those funds designated in Section 5 of the Finance Act as special funds in the State
Treasury and not elsewhere classified. They represent a segregation of accounts for
specific purposes on a substantially perpetual basis.

Bond Financed Funds:

Those funds established to receive and administer the proceeds of various bond
issues of the State.

Debt Service Funds:

Those funds established to finance and account for the payment of principal
redemption and interest associated with the general obligation bond issues of the
State.



STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION FUNDS PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
09.10.20 20f 2
SUB-SECTION OVERVIEW
EFFECTIVE DATE
January 1, 2003
PROCEDURE TYPES OF FUNDS
REVISION NUMBER
03-003

Federal Trust Funds:

Those funds established pursuant to grants and contracts between State agenciesand
the United States. The funds are administered for specific purposes established by
the terms of the grants and contracts.

Revolving Funds:

Those funds established to finance and account for intra-governmental services.
Appropriation of resources of these funds is dependent upon intra-governmental
service requirements and appropriations of other State agencies. Revolving Fund
resources are provided by expenditures of State agencies financed by the fund.

State Trust Funds:

Those funds established by statute or under statutory authority for specific purposes.

Other Trust Funds:

Those funds established to receive and account for resources for subsequent
disbursement to a designated recipient. Escrow funds are an example of an Other
Trust Fund.

See Procedure 03.20.10, pages 1 - 3of 4 for thedefinition of fund typesand account
groups in conformance with generally accepted accounting principles
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STATUTE REFERENCE

Statutory authority for the creation of funds is contained in various sections of the Illinois Compiled
Statutes quoted below. For analysis and interpretation of these laws and how they relate to the establishment
of funds, refer to the Statement of General Policy - Procedure 09.10.40.

General Revenue Fund. (30 ILCS 105/4.)

"All money, belonging to or for the use of the State, paid into the treasury thereof, not belonging to
any special fund in the State Treasury, shall constitute the general revenue fund."”

Special funds. (30 ILCS 105/5.)

"When any special fund in the State Treasury is discontinued by an Act of the General Assembly, any
balance remaining therein on the effective date of such Act shall be transferred to the General Revenue Fund,
or to such other fund as such Act shall provide. Warrants outstanding against... therein shall be paid out of
the fund to which the transfer was made."

"When any special fund in the State Treasury has been inactive for 18 months or longer, the fund is
automatically terminated by operation of law and the balance remaining in such fund shall be transferred by
the Comptroller to the General Revenue Fund. When a special fund has been terminated by operation of law
as provided in this Section, the General Assembly shall repeal or amend all Sections of the statutes creating or
otherwise referring to that fund.

"The Comptroller shall be allowed the discretion to maintain or dissolve any Federal trust fund which
has been inactive for 18 months or longer."

State Trust Funds Established on Request from State Agencies - Monies Permanently Authorized to be Held
Locally. (30 ILCS 105/34.)

"All public funds received or held by any State agency as defined in Section 7 of the 'State Comptroller Act'
and not subject to appropriation, except funds required to be held or directly administered by a State agency
pursuant to (a) any Act in relation to revenue bonds, (b) any bond indenture or other legally binding bond
contract, (c) limitations legally imposed by the source of such funds, or (d) another statute, shall be paid over
to the State treasurer within the time period established for like amounts in subsection (a) of Section 2 of the
State Officers and Employees Money Disposition Act or within such other appli cable period as may be
specified in rules or regulations promulgated under subsection (b) of Section 2 of 'An Act in relation to the
payment and disposition of moneys received by officers and employees of the State of Illinois by virtue of
their office or employment’, approved June 9, 1911, as now or hereafter amended, and shall be held by the
State
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treasurer in a special fund for such agency. The Comptroller shall set up and maintain accounts for such funds
as may be appropriate, in conformity with the 'State Comptroller Act' and the rules and regulations adopted
under that Act. Payments out of such funds shall be made by the treasurer only upon warrant drawn and
presented by the Comptroller in compliance with the 'State Comptroller Act'."

Federal Trust Funds. (15 ILCS 515/1.)

"The Treasurer of the State of Illinois is authorized to receive from the United States of America or
any agency thereof and to hold as ex-officio custodian thereof any money which has been or shall be under
the provisions of:

1. Titles I, 1V, V, VI and X of the 'Social Security Act', enacted by the 74th Congress of the
United States, as amended; or
2. '‘An Act to provide for the protection of forest lands, for the reforestation of denuded areas,

for the extension of national forests and for other purposes, in order to promote the
continuous production of timber on lands chiefly suitable therefore," enacted by the 68th
Congress of the United States; or

3. The Act approved June 16, 1933, authorizing the creation of a Federal Emergency
Administration of Public Works; or
4. An Act of Congress dated May 23, 1908, 35 Statutes 260, as the same appears in Section

500, Title 16, United States Code Annotated, relating to the receipt and distribution of
moneys among counties in which are located national forests; or

4a. An Act of Congress dated September 3, 1954, 68 Statutes 1266, as the same appears in
Section 701c-3, Title 33, United States Code Annotated, relating to the receipt and
distribution of moneys among counties in which are located lands leased by the United States
which it had acquired for flood control, navigation and allied purposes; or

4b. Section 110 of the Federal-Aid Highway Act of 1956 (Public Law 627 of the 84th
Congress); or

5. Any other law of the United States of America now or hereafter in force providing for the
allotment of money for use by or in conjunction with the State of Illinois or some agency
thereof whenever a condition or limitation is imposed by that law or by a rule or regulation
of the officer or board having charge of the allotment or transmission of such money which
prevents payment thereof into the treasury of the State of Illinois, except as otherwise
provided in 'An Act in relation to the administration of the assets of the Illinois Rural
Rehabilitation Corporation’, approved April 24, 1951, as now or hereafter amended; or
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6. The following laws of the United States of America now in force; (1) 'An Act to apply a portion
of the proceeds of the public lands to the more complete endowment and support of the colleges
for the benefit of agriculture and the mechanic arts, established under the provisions of an Act of
Congress approved July second, eighteen hundred and sixty-two', approved August 30, 1890; (2)
'‘An Act making appropriations for the Department of Agriculture for the fiscal year ending June
thirtieth, nineteen hundred and eight', approved March 4, 1907; (3) 'An Act to provide for
research into basic laws and principles relating to agriculture and to provide for the further
development of cooperative agricultural extension work and the more complete endowment and
support of land-grant colleges', approved June 29, 1935; and any other law of United States of
America hereafter in force providing for the benefit of or the more complete endowment and
support of land-grant colleges and universities."

Monies Temporarily Authorized to be Held Locally. (30 ILCS 230/2A.2.)

"No officer or employee of this State shall create or maintain or participate in a trust fund or bank or
savings and loan association deposit of any money received by him by virtue of his office or employment
except as provided by law. Any such officer or employee who on the effective date of this amendatory Act of
1961 has in his possession, or after such effective date receives, money under conditions which do not require
payment thereof into the State Treasury, but which he is authorized by law to receive and hold in a trust fund
or bank or savings and loan association deposit outside the State Treasury, shall immediately submit a report
to the Auditor General identifying the trust fund or bank or savings and loan association deposit as well as the
depository in which it is maintained.

If any such officer or employee receives or has in his possession money under conditions which do
not require payment thereof into the State Treasury, and there is no trust fund or bank or savings and loan
association deposit authorized by law for the receipt thereof, he may, upon the written approval of the
Governor and the State Comptroller, establish a temporary trust fund or bank or savings and loan association
deposit which shall be legal until the thirtieth day after the sine die adjournment of the next regular session of
the General Assembly. A copy of such written approval shall immediately be forwarded by the Comptroller
to the Auditor General.

As soon as the next regular session of the General Assembly has organized for the transaction of
business, a complete report concerning each such temporary trust fund or bank or savings and loan association
deposit shall be filed, by the State officer or employee having charge thereof, with the presiding officer of
each house of the General Assembly. If such General Assembly does not, by law, authorize continuance of
the trust fund or bank or savings and loan association deposit so required to be reported, the money in such
temporary trust fund or bank or savings and loan association deposit shall be deposited in the general revenue
fund in the State Treasury."
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Petty Cash Funds. (30 ILCS 105/13.3)

"Any State agency may establish and maintain petty cash funds for the purpose of making change,
purchasing items of small cost, payment of postage due, and for other nominal expenditures which cannot be
administered economically and efficiently through customary procurement practices.

Petty cash funds may be established and maintained from moneys which are appropriated to the
agency for Contractual Services. In the case of an agency which receives a single appropriation for its
ordinary and contingent expenses, the agency may establish a petty cash fund from the appropriated funds.

Before the establishment of any petty cash fund, the agency shall submit to the State Comptroller a
survey of the need for the fund. The survey shall also establish that sufficient internal accounting controls
exist. The Comptroller shall investigate such need and if he determines that it exists and that adequate
accounting controls exist, shall approve the establishment of the fund. The Comptroller shall have the power
to revoke any approval previously made under this Section.

Petty cash funds established under this Section shall be operated and maintained on the imprest
system and no fund shall exceed $1,000, except that the Secretary of State may maintain a fund of not
exceeding $2,000 for each Chicago Motor Vehicle Facility, and each Springfield Public Service Facility and
the Motor Vehicle Facilities in Champaign, Decatur, Marion, Naperville, Peoria, Rockford, Granite City,
Quincy, and Carbondale, to be used solely for the purpose of making change. Single transactions shall be
limited to amounts less than $100 and all transactions occurring in the fund shall be reported and accounted
for as may be provided in the uniform accounting system developed by the State Comptroller and the rules
and regulations implementing that accounting system. All amounts in any such fund of less than $1,000 but
over $100 shall be kept in a checking account in a bank, or savings and loan association, or trust company
which is insured by the United States government or any agency of the United States government except that
in funds maintained in Chicago Motor Vehicle Facilities and each Springfield Public Service Facility, and the
Motor Vehicle Facilities in Champaign, Decatur, Marion, Naperville, Peoria, Rockford, Granite City, Quincy,
and Carbondale, all amounts in the fund may be retained on the premises of such facilities.

No bank or savings and loan association shall receive public funds as permitted by this Section,
unless it has complied with the requirements established pursuant to Section 6 of 'An Act relating to certain
investments of public funds by public agencies,' approved July 23, 1943, as now or hereafter amended.

An internal audit shall be performed of any petty cash fund which receives reimbursements of more
than $5,000 in a fiscal year.
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Upon succession in the custodianship of any petty cash fund, both the former and successor custodians
shall sign a statement, in triplicate, showing the exact status of the fund at the time of thetransfer. The original
copy shall be kept onfilein the office wherein the fund exists, and each signer shall be entitled to retain one copy.

As used in this Section, 'State Agency' means any department, officer, authority, public corporation,
guasi-public corporation, commission, board, ingtitution, State college or university, or other public agency
created by the State, other than units of local government and school districts.”
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STATEMENT OF GENERAL POLICY

CREATION OF FUNDS
The statutes quoted in the preceding section set up various categories of funds maintained within the
State government. All monies received by State agencies are required to be deposited into one of the

categories of funds discussed below:

I. Legislatively Created Funds

There are two groups of legislatively created funds other than state trust funds.

A. General Revenue Fund - Created by (30 ILCS 105/4)

B. Special Funds - (30 ILCS 105/5) Only the General Assembly may create a fund in
this category. Examples of such funds include the Road Fund, the Statistical
Services Revolving Fund and the Capital Development Bond Fund.

| The Comptroller’s State Accounting Department may establish funds created by substantive statute,
or appropriation bill, based on a review of the new or amendatory legislation. When Funds are

‘ added to the SAMS accounting tables, the Department will notify the Financial Reporting
Department, as well as the State Accounting Department, for notification to the agency and the State
Treasurer.

The administering agency may choose to notify the Comptroller by submitting a completed
“Application to Establish or Dissolve a Fund” form (Procedure 09.20.10) with a copy of the

‘ legislation signed into law by the Governor and filed with the Secretary of State; however, this is not
required.

II. Trust Fund Establishment

A. Legislation Trust Funds

There are two categories of Trust Funds recognized by the SAMS budgetary accounting
tables: 1) State Trust and 2) Federal Trust funds. Trust funds may be created by
substantive statutes. Such trust funds include the Group Insurance Premium Fund, the



STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION FUNDS PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
09.10.40 20f 15

SUB-SECTION OVERVIEW EFFECTIVE DATE
January 1, 2020

PROCEDURE STATEMENT OF GENERAL POLICY REVISION NUMBER
20-002

State Employees Retirement System Trust and the federal Vocational Rehabilitation
Fund.

Based on a review of the substantive legislation, the State Accounting Department may
establish the trust fund on SAMS. As with special funds, the Department will document
the Fund by completing the budgetary portion of the Budgetary/GAAP Fund
Establishment Form (C-68). The form will be forwarded to the Financial Reporting
Department for completion of fund classification and related GAAP information. In
addition, a copy of the documentation will be provided to the agency and the State
Treasurer.

The administering agency, however, may choose to notify the Comptroller of the fund
creation by completing an “Application to Establish or Dissolve a Fund” (Procedure
09.20.10) and providing a copy of the legislation creating the fund, as signed into law by
the Governor.

B. Administratively Created Trust Fund

Administrative trust funds are either classified as “State” trust or “Federal” trust for
budgetary purposes:

1. State Trust funds are comprised of public monies, which are not required to be
appropriated and may not be retained in a local bank account. State Trust funds
may consist of grants, gifts or bequests from sources other than the federal
government.

2. Federal Trust funds consist of monies received from the federal government,
whether direct or indirect, that are not required to be receipted in some other fund
or required to be appropriated by the General Assembly.

When requesting the establishment of a “State” or “Federal” trust fund, the agency must
complete an “Application to Establish or Dissolve a Fund” (Form C-68). The completed
form, and executed copy of the grant or other documentation restricting the use of the
monies, is to be sent to the State Accounting Department, 325 West Adams, Springfield,
Illinois 62704, for review and recommendation to the Comptroller’s Office to approve or
deny the establishment of the trust fund. The Comptroller will notify the agency of all
action taken in regard to the establishment of the fund. If the fund is approved, a
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copy of the C-68 form will also be provided to the Financial Reporting Department for
GAAP classification and related documentation requirements.

While an agency may request the establishment of a separate trust fund, the Comptroller
may recommend the use of an existing fund for the receipt and disbursement of certain
revenues. In those instances, a separate revenue account and expenditure authority
account may be established within an existing fund to report the activities of a specific
grant or revenue source.

I1l. Establishment of Federal Trust Funds

State agencies receiving monies from the Federal Government may request the establishment
of a Federal Trust Fund held by the State Treasurer to retain those monies. To qualify to be
held in a Federal Trust Fund, money must come solely from the Federal Government and
may not be used for reimbursement of expenditures already incurred by the agency.

Agencies have the option of following one of two approaches when depositing new Federal
monies with the State Treasurer. They may establish a new Federal Trust Fund to receive the
monies or they may establish a sub-account within an existing Federal Trust Fund to control
expenditures. Under the first approach, a new fund with a unique fund number will be
established for each new Federally funded project begun by an agency.

Under the second approach, a new fund would not be established but rather the monies
would be deposited into an existing Federal Trust Fund. The depositing agency would
follow Procedure 09.20.40 to establish a new unique expenditure account and possibly a new
receipt account, thus eliminating the need for a new trust fund. Expenditures against the
project can be controlled by using the allotment field to set up sub-accounts within the multi-
purpose Federal Trust Fund. All receipts for the project would be credited to the sub-
account by increasing the allotment by the amount of the receipt.

The Office of the Comptroller recommends that agencies employ the sub-account method
rather than the new fund approach in order to limit the number of new funds that must be
created in the State Treasury. Agencies choosing, however, to establish a new Federal Trust
Fund should follow Procedure 09.20.10 to complete the form, "Application to Establish or
Dissolve a Fund."”
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IV. Notification of Monies Authorized to be Held Locally

State agencies receiving monies which are not required to be deposited with the State
Treasurer may establish a local fund to retain such monies. Local retention may only be
employed when the monies are required to be held locally by:

e any Act in relation to revenue bonds:

e any bond indenture or legally binding bond contract;

¢ limitations legally imposed by the source of such funds; or

e another statute.
Agencies have the option of following one of two procedures when notifying the Office of
the Comptroller of the establishment of a locally held fund. They may file a form C-68
(Application to Establish or Dissolve a Fund) with a copy of the enabling legislation attached
or a letter stating the establishment of a locally held fund with a copy of the enabling

legislation attached.

V. Establishment of Temporary Locally Held Trust Fund or Bank or Savings and Loan
Association Deposits (30 ILCS 230/2A.2).

State agencies receiving monies which are not permanently authorized to be held locally but
which may nevertheless be retained locally in a temporary trust fund or bank or savings and
loan association deposit according to 30 ILCS 230/2A.2, may request permission of the
Governor and Comptroller to establish such a fund. The trust fund or bank or savings and
loan association deposit would be temporary and dissolved if the General Assembly did not
authorize its continuance within 30 days of the sine die adjournment of its next regular
session.

Agencies establishing such temporary funds have the responsibility under 30 ILCS 230/2A.2
of the Illinois Compiled Statutes to file a report on the fund with the General Assembly so
that action may be taken to continue the fund. Remaining monies in temporary funds which
were not authorized for continuance must be deposited into the General Revenue Fund.
Agencies wishing to establish a fund in this category should complete in full the form,
"Application to Establish or Dissolve a Fund," (Exhibit 09.20.10-A) and submit it to the
Governor for approval. Approved applications will be forwarded by the Governor to the
Comptroller for approval.
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VI.  Establishment of Petty Cash Funds (30 ILCS 105/13.3)

IN ACCORDANCE WITH STATE STATUTE (30 ILCS 105/13.3), "ANY STATE
AGENCY MAY ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN PETTY CASH FUNDS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF MAKING CHANGE, PURCHASING ITEMS OF SMALL COST,
PAYMENT OF POSTAGE DUE, AND FOR OTHER NOMINAL EXPENDITURES
WHICH CANNOT BE ADMINISTERED ECONOMICALLY AND EFFICIENTLY
THROUGH CUSTOMARY PROCUREMENT PRACTICES." PETTY CASH FUNDS
SHOULD NOT BE USED TO PAY FOR ALL EXPENDITURES LESS THAN $100.00. IF
THE VOUCHER/WARRANT PROCESS IS MORE ECONOMICAL AND EFFICIENT,
PROVIDES NECESSARY ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (SEE 1099 REPORTING IN
B.2 BELOW), OR IF AN AUDIT TRAIL, PAYMENT VERIFICATION OR OTHER
DOCUMENTATION PROVIDED BY USING THE VOUCHER/WARRANT PROCESS IS
NECESSARY, THE VOUCHER/WARRANT PAYMENT PROCESS SHOULD BE USED
RATHER THAN MAKING PAYMENTS FROM PETTY CASH FUNDS.

The following general rules and instructions will apply to the Petty Cash Fund:

A. Creation or Increase of a Petty Cash Fund

1. A Petty Cash Fund shall be established and maintained from monies, which are
appropriated for "contractual services.”" 1f an agency does not receive a ""contractual
services" appropriation but does receive an appropriation for "ordinary and
contingent expenses" a Petty Cash Fund may be established from this appropriation.
Agencies may request the establishment (or increase) of a Petty Cash Fund by
completing (Form C-68) which is the "Application to Establish or Dissolve a Fund"
and the "Survey of the Need for a Petty Cash Fund" and forwarding them to the
Office of the Comptroller. Procedure 09.20.10 should be followed in making such a
request. Also, a separate C-68 should be prepared for each Petty Cash Fund request.

(Note - an example of the "Application” and "Survey" are shown in Exhibits
09.20.10-A and 09.20.15-A.)

2. The Office of the Comptroller will review the application and the survey and approve
or disapprove the establishment (or increase) of the Petty Cash Fund. Upon approval
of the Petty Cash Fund, the Comptroller's Office will assign a fund identification
number which must be used to establish and maintain the Petty Cash Fund.
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3. Attach a copy of the approved C-68 form to the C-13 (State voucher form) when
establishing or increasing a Petty Cash Fund.

4. Anagency may have more than one Petty Cash Fund but is limited to one petty cash
fund for (a) a division at each location and (b) each appropriated fund resource .

5. “Change Funds” may be approved by the Comptroller’s Office under the petty cash
statute for use by state agencies to make change in their cash receipting operations.
The establishment of change funds and the custodial responsibilities for change funds
generally are similar to petty cash funds. However, change funds are strictly for
making change and may not be used to pay for expenditures. Likewise, many
requirements of petty cash funds do not apply to change funds (e.g., items indicated
with an “*” on form C-86 do not apply to change funds.)

Operation of a Petty Cash Fund

1. Reimbursement to the Petty Cash Fund should be made from monies which have
been appropriated for "contractual services" (or an appropriation for "ordinary and
contingent expenses” where a contractual services appropriation is not received) as
defined in "An Act in Relation to State Finance.” This does not preclude the Petty
Cash Fund from being reimbursed from a fund(s) other than the one from which the
Petty Cash Fund was established. However, when a Petty Cash Fund is dissolved,
the monies are to be deposited into the establishing fund.

2. Payments for individual orders for goods or services amounting to $100.00 or more
are not to be made from the petty cash fund. "Stringing" of payments to the same
vendor(s) (individually less than $100.00 but exceeding $100.00 in an individual
order) is not an approved use of the petty cash fund. The use of a petty cash fund
should not eliminate or reduce the agency's efforts in obtaining monthly billing
agreements with suppliers of small purchases.

Personal checks/employee advances (or any checks) are not to be cashed from the
petty cash fund. (This also applies to authorized change funds.) Although postage
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due is an allowable payment from the petty cash fund, the purchase of non-
perforated state postage stamps is not allowable. Sales and use taxes are not
reimbursable. Late charges may not be paid from petty cash. Also, the use of the
petty cash fund is generally restricted to awards and grants and conventional
operation line item purposes, i.e., contractual, commodities, equipment,
telecommunications, etc., and excluding personal services payments subject to
Federal and State withholding requirements (C-02 vouchers). However, it may
be appropriate to make payments from petty cash for other nominal expenditures
when it is the most economical payment method. Any non-valid disbursements
will become the personal responsibility of the custodian authorizing the
erroneous payment. Any exception to this procedure requires approval by the
Comptroller’s Office.

Agencies are responsible for complying with Internal Revenue Service
requirements for information reporting on Forms 1099 for payments made from
petty cash funds. Refer to SAMS Procedure 17.20.50 for information on IRS
1099 Reporting Requirements. Each agency must obtain its own payer's federal
identification number for purposes of filing Forms 1099 with the IRS. When
agencies apply for their own federal identification number, IRS Form SS-4
should be used.

3. Avendor's invoice or statement should be secured for each expenditure showing
date, amount, and description of purchase. Where the vendor does not provide
an invoice or statement, an agency produced "petty cash voucher" should be
completed citing the above information.

4. Ifthere is a change made in the custodian of a Petty Cash Fund or Change Fund,
both the former and successor custodian should complete a single Change of
Custodianship form (C-85) showing the exact status of the fund at the date of
change in custodians. The original is to be retained by the agency and a copy
sent to the Office of the Comptroller, State Accounting Department. Copies
should also be sent to each signer. When the custodian changes for funds kept in

a checking account a certificate of the account balance should be requested from
the bank.

5. If there is a change in the location of a fund, complete a C-85 showing the old
and new address and submit to the Comptroller's Office, State Accounting
Department.

(NOTE:  An example of the C-85 is shown in Exhibit 09.10.40-D and E.)
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6. All amounts in any Petty Cash Fund of less than $1,000 but greater than $100
must be kept in a checking account in a bank or savings and loan association or
trust company which is insured by the United States government or any agency
of the United States government. If the fund is maintained in whole or part in a
checking account, the bank or savings and loan association or trust company
should be notified in writing not to accept checks made payable to the agency.
(The above requirement does not apply to the Secretary of State's change funds at
the Chicago and Springfield Motor Vehicle/Public Service Facilities.)

7. Reimbursement vouchers for the Petty Cash Fund should be made payable to the
custodian, e.g., Employee, John C., Petty Cash Custodian, utilizing the petty cash
fund identification number as the Taxpayer Identification Number. Inquiries
concerning assigned petty cash fund identification numbers should be directed to
the Office of the Comptroller, State Accounting Department.

8. Notation of payment should be made on the face of the internal petty cash
vouchers (or attached there-to) or vendor's invoices or statements after payment
by the custodian to the individual.

9. The custodian should implement controls to safeguard against possible duplicate
reimbursements on the Invoice-voucher (C-13).

10. Someone other than the custodian should examine the petty cash vouchers and
approve reimbursement to the Petty Cash Fund.

11. Only those payments that are within the purposes appropriated are to be made
from the petty cash fund. Any non-valid disbursements will become the personal
responsibility of the custodian authorizing the erroneous payment. Any
exception to this procedure requires approval by the Comptroller’s Office.

12. Expenditures related to a fiscal year must be reimbursed from that fiscal year's
lapsing appropriations. Expenditures not reimbursed from their related fiscal
year will have two alternative methods of reimbursement: Payments will be
reimbursed through (1) Court of Claims, or (2) a special appropriation from the
General Assembly for prior year expenditures.
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13. Reimbursement to the Petty Cash Fund should only be made when either 50% of
the fund has been exhausted, or a sufficient number of payment entries are
available to fill a complete invoice voucher, or a large number of invoice tickets
are on hand or immediately prior to dissolving the Petty Cash Fund. These
processing guidelines should insure (1) the fund will not be depleted prior to
receipt of the reimbursement warrant, (2) multi-page vouchers are not required
for reimbursements, and (3) the possibility of losing petty cash invoices is kept to
aminimum. The reimbursement voucher should detail the individual transaction
in Block 10 (Description Block) of the C-13 State voucher form. A copy of the
vendor invoices/statements or petty cash voucher forms are to be attached to the
reimbursement voucher (C-13). See Exhibit 09.10.40-A. Detail object 1201
(Petty Cash Fund Reimbursements) should be cited on the reimbursement
voucher.

C. Decrease/Dissolution of a Petty Cash Fund

1. Agencies wishing to decrease or dissolve a Petty Cash fund should return the
excess amount or the total approved amount to be dissolved to the fund from
which the Petty Cash Fund was originally established. (See 25.20.10 for
instructions on returning funds to the State Treasury.)

2. After the Receipt Deposit Transmittal form C-64 has been returned from the
Comptroller’s office, submit a copy, with a completed Application to Establish or
Dissolve a Fund form C-68 (See 09.20.20 for instructions on completing form
| C-68), to the Comptroller’s Office, State Accounting Department.

| 3. The Office of the Comptroller, State Accounting Department, will review the
application and approve or disapprove the decrease or dissolution of the Petty
Cash Fund.

D. Stolen and/or Lost Imprest Cash Funds

1. Stolen

An official police report must be made. A copy will be required for
reimbursement.

2. Loss by Fire

The fire should be reported to one of the three listed Fire Marshal's offices
dependent
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upon the locality of the fire. A copy of the Fire Marshal’s report or communication
from the Fire Marshal should be made and a copy retained by the custodian.

NOTE: A loss due to a windstorm (or other natural disasters) should be reported to
either the police or Fire Marshal's Office whichever is appropriate.

Change funds cash overages/shortages should be accounted for in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. Agencies should have written internal
procedures in place to monitor recurring cash shortages, investigate problems and
identify steps for disciplinary action when necessary.

3. Voucher Processing Due to Funds Stolen, Lost or Destroyed

a) An agency "petty cash voucher" shall be initiated and signed by the custodian
and agency head verifying that the funds were stolen, lost or destroyed.

b) The "petty cash voucher" and the official police report and/or Fire Marshal's
report shall be submitted with the State invoice voucher via normal
reimbursement procedures.

c) These procedures do not release the custodian from the responsibility of
safeguarding imprest funds, but are applicable only when said funds are stolen
due to criminal action or lost as a result of fire or any other natural disaster.

Fire Marshal's Offices

Fire Marshal's Office
1035 Stevenson Drive
Springfield, Illinois 62703

Fire Marshal's Office
State of Illinois Center
100 West Randolph, Suite 11-800
Chicago, Illinois 60601

Fire Marshal's Office
2209 West Main Street
Marion, Illinois 62959
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E. Protection of the Fund

1. The Petty Cash Fund must be kept intact and not commingled with any other funds,
e.g., the agency's daily cash receipts. Note that it is appropriate to commingle
Change Funds with daily receipts as long as procedures are in place to reconcile
daily receipts and properly record any cash overages/shortages.

2. The Petty Cash Fund is to be maintained on an imprest basis, i.e., cash on hand or in
bank plus vendor's invoices/petty cash vouchers plus reimbursement vouchers in
transit must equal the amount of the established fund at all times. All cash shortages
are the responsibility of the custodian in charge of the fund.

3. As noted in paragraph G, audits are to be conducted periodically of the petty cash
funds. In addition, the fund is subject to audit at any time by the Office of the
Comptroller.

F. Annual Petty Cash Fund Usage Report (Form C-18)

1. "The Petty Cash Fund Usage Report™ (Form C-18) must be completed for those petty
cash funds exceeding $100 and should be filed with the Comptroller's Office no later
than January 31 for the preceding calendar year.

A separate C-18 should be prepared for each Petty Cash Fund maintained.

(NOTE: An example of the "Usage Report™ is shown in Exhibit 09.10.40-B-C.)

2. A vital part of the "Petty Cash Fund Usage Report” is the "Petty Cash Turnover
Rate." This rate is arrived at by taking the annual disbursements and dividing them
by the approved level of the fund On an annual basis the Petty Cash Fund should
turn over approximately six times in order to insure the proper dollar level of the
fund.

If the "Annual Petty Cash Fund Usage Report" shows that an increase in the fund is
needed because of the amount of activity, then the agency may request an increase to
an upper limit of $1,000, subject to approval by the Comptroller.

On the other hand, if the C-18 report shows insufficient activity to support the
present dollar level of the fund, then a reduction should be made accordingly. If the
turnover



STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION FUNDS PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
09.10.40 12 of 15

SUB-SECTION OVERVIEW EFFECTIVE DATE
January 1, 2020

PROCEDURE STATEMENT OF GENERAL POLICY REVISION NUMBER
20-002

rate is less than six times annually and the custodian wishes to maintain the
current fund level, please attach an explanation to the C-18, when filed, stating
why the current level of the fund is needed, e.g., high seasonal activity.

The report should be submitted to the following address:

Office of the Comptroller
State Accounting Department
325 West Adams Street
Springfield, Illinois 62704

G. Petty Cash Internal Control Certification (form C-86)

The Petty Cash Internal Control Certification (Form C-86) must be completed, at a
minimum, biennially (once every two years) for each petty cash and change fund, which
has been established for one year and exceeds $100.00. Annual submission is required
for any petty cash fund that receives reimbursements of more than $5,000 in a fiscal
year.

As soon as possible after the beginning of each fiscal year, the Comptroller’s Office will
send a list of qualified petty cash and change funds to each agency’s fiscal officer or
authorized agency representative required to submit the biennial certification

1. Funds with greater than $5,000 reimbursements in a fiscal year.

It is the responsibility of the Agency’s Management to insure an internal audit is
performed and a Petty Cash Internal Control Certification (form C-86)) is
submitted to the Comptroller’s Office for those fiscal years in which
reimbursements to the fund exceeded $5,000. Such an audit is required by the
State Finance Act (30 ILCS 105/13.3). The Fiscal Control and Internal Auditing
Act (30 ILCS 10/2001) provides for the designation of which state agencies shall
have a full-time program of internal auditing. This statute also contains a
provision that agencies which do not have a full-time internal audit program may
have internal audits performed by the Department of Central Management
Services.
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2. Funds with $5,000 or less reimbursement in a fiscal year.

A Petty Cash Internal Control Certification (Form C-86) must be submitted to the
Comptroller’s Office for all Petty Cash funds over $100.00 on a biennial basis. This
certification must be prepared by someone other than the custodian. This
independent preparer should review sufficient records to support their attestation for
each item listed in the certification. This review will suffice for an audit when the
petty cash fund has reimbursements of $5,000 or less in a fiscal year.

DISSOLUTION OF FUNDS

Dissolution of funds may be initiated by the General Assembly for funds created by statute;
administering agencies for Federal Trust Funds, State Trust Funds, temporary trust funds or locally-
held bank deposits; or the Comptroller, pursuant to 30 ILCS 105/5(c).

Temporary trust funds and bank deposits are automatically dissolved in accordance with the Illinois
Compiled Statutes, 30 ILCS 230/2A.2. Authorization for continuance of the fund must be enacted
within 30 days of the sine die adjournment of the General Assembly's next regular session or the
fund will be dissolved and the remaining money deposited into the General Revenue Fund. For
Federal Trust Funds and State Trust Funds, agencies are urged to initiate dissolution procedures
when such a fund is no longer needed. Procedure 09.20.20 describes the steps necessary to initiate
the dissolution of a fund by an agency.

FUND TRANSFERS

Transfer of monies from one fund to another may only be made under specific statutory authority.
The Governor and the Governor’s Office of Management and Budget initiate transfers on a regular
basis; agencies initiate transfers according to the provisions of the statute authorizing the transfers.
Procedure 09.20.30 should be followed when initiating a fund transfer.

NON-APPROPRIATED SPENDING

The current position the State follows regarding "non-appropriated" spending is that "non-
appropriated" spending is permissible if the resources and purpose(s) for which they are to be spent
were for (1) purposes and/or resources which were not appropriated by the General Assembly, (2)
the spending of the resources does not commit the General Assembly to provide State "matching"
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resources, (3) the General Assembly has not specifically denied the purpose, (4) the agency has the
statutory authority to carry on the activities of the program and (5) the spending is not required to be
appropriated by a specific statute. In addition, "start-up" monies must be provided on an advance
basis.

| This position was taken by the Office, in lieu of specific guidance from the General Assembly or the
Courts to react to State Agencies' need of implementing and operating programs which the General
Assembly has not had sufficient time to consider or did not consider in the appropriation process.

The Office has taken the position that any non-appropriated spending from federal trust funds will be
allowed for the first year of the program; however, it should be appropriated for any subsequent
fiscal year.

Some individuals have expressed a concern regarding "non-appropriated" spending since the
Constitution of 1970 states:

"The General Assembly by law shall make appropriations for all
expenditures of public funds by the State." (Ill. Constitution, Article
VIII, Section 2)

In reviewing the Illinois Compiled Statutes, the only substantive guidance regarding the intent of
this Constitutional provision is Section 34 of "An Act in Relation to State Finance," (30 ILCS
105/34), which appears to authorize the State Treasurer to hold in a special fund and the State
Comptroller to maintain accounts for such "public fund" which are not subject to appropriation. It
states: "All public funds received or held by any State agency as defined in Section 7 of the 'State
Comptroller Act' and not subject to appropriation, except funds held or directly administered by a
State agency pursuant to (a) any Act in relation to revenue bonds, (b) any bond indenture or other
legally binding bond contract, (c¢) limitations legally imposed by the source of such funds, or (d)
another statute, shall be paid over to the State Treasurer within 10 days of their receipt or within
such other applicable period as may be specified in rules or regulations promulgated under
subsection (b) of Section 2 of 'An Act in relation to the payment and disposition of moneys received
by officers and employees of the State of Illinois by virtue of their office or employment,' approved
June 9, 1911, as now or hereafter amended, and shall be held by the State Treasurer in a special
fund for such agency. The Comptroller shall set up and maintain accounts for such funds as may be
appropriate in conformity with the ‘State Comptroller Act’ and the rules and regulations adopted
under the Act. Payments out of such funds shall be made by the Treasurer only upon warrant drawn
and presented by the Comptroller in compliance with the 'State Comptroller Act." (Emphasis added)
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Thus, the General Assembly, it appears, has taken the position that some "public funds" are
"not subject to appropriation™ and where "not subject to appropriation™ a special fund may
be established for the receipt of such funds, appropriate accounts set up and maintained
whose uses are to be in conformity with the State Comptroller Act (and adopted rules and
regulations), and, for which payments are to be made by the Treasurer upon warrants drawn
and presented by the Comptroller.

Until further substantive guidance from the General Assembly or the Courts is received, the
position this Office has implemented appears to be a method whereby the State can
implement Programs, which do not commit the State to provide its general resources when
spending the Program funds. In order to determine that an agency's request to establish a
new fund or expenditure authority account meets the criteria specified in the first paragraph,
the agency must submit along with the C-68 form or C-45 form (1) the executed copy of the
grant program (or other appropriate document) which identifies the financial arrangements
agreed to by the State agency and the grantor, (2) a copy of the State statute which allows the
agency to conduct the activities of the program, (3) reference the State agency identifier
(SAI #) number assigned by the Governor’s Office of Management and Budget, clearing
house section, if applicable, (4) identify which appropriated line(s) provided by General
Assembly if state matching required, and (5) grant agreement must provide for advance
funding for the non-appropriated portion of the program.

The Comptroller will hold an incomplete request for funds, non-appropriated account or
revenue budget account establishment for two weeks. If the requesting agency is unable to
provide necessary supporting documentation, such as signed grant awards, court orders,
statutory citations, etc., within the two week period, the request will be returned “not
approved”. Requests for account establishment may be resubmitted for review once a
documentation package has been completed.

Where a fund is established pursuant to an appropriation bill (or in substantive law), the
above documents need not be filed.



FORM C-13 (REV. 10/09)

STATE OF ILLINOIS InVOice VOUCher

EXHIBIT 09.10.40-A

. (16-002)
Office of the Comptroller
325 West Adams Street
Springfield, IL 62704
Name and Location of State Agency or Institution
PAYMENT OF INTEREST MAY BE 2. Taxpayer Identification Number
AVAILABLE IF THE STATE FAILS 193456789 4. Voucher No.___325
TO COMPLY WITH THE STATE 2/1/09
PROMPT PAYMENT ACT, 30 ILCS 540. 5. Voucher Date
3. Vendor or Payee 6. Appropriation Account Code
LAST NAME FIRST NAME MIDDLE INITIAL 001-36010-1600-00-00
OR BUSINESS NAME
‘ Doe John 7. Invoice Number 1
Custodian Petty Cash Fund )
325 West Adams Street 8. Invoice Date __01/26/09
‘ Springfield IL 62706
10. Indicate Beginning and Ending Date of Service and GAAP Code. Give Complete Description 11. Quantity | 12. Units 13. Unit Price 14. Amount
of Articles/Services Rendered or Attach ltemized Vendor Invoice
12/01/08 12/31/08 7500
Reimbursement of Petty Cash Fund as per
attached tickets: 90146
Reference Vendor Amount
Ticket 1 J.C. Employee $ 1.25
Travel Voucher John Doe 7.75
Invoice #2735 Superior Supply 8.15
Ticket 2 Andy Stevens 7.40
Ticket 3 Sharp’s Service 9.50
Invoice #33927 Ace Hardware 46.58
Invoice #39583 Clemen’s Lumber 9.83
$90.46
18. Exp. Obj | 19. Exp. Amount | 20. CFDANo. 15.
1201 90}46 Subtotal
22. Obligation No. 23. Payment Amount
90}46
16.
Discount /
Deduction
17.
Total
21. Total Exp. 9olas v 24. Total Payment Amount Amount 90.46

25. For Agency Use Only

Approved for Payment

Receiving Officer Date

Clerk

Certification of Receiving Agency

| certify that the goods or services specified on this voucher were for the use of this
agency and that the expenditure for such goods or services was authorized and lawful-
ly incurred, that such goods or services meet all the required standards set forth in the
purchase agreement or contract to which this voucher relates; and that the amount
shown on this voucher is correct and approved for payment. \f applicable, the reporting
requirements of section 5.1 of the Governor's Office of Management and Budget Act

have been met.

2/4/09

Head of Unit or Authorized Agent Date

C-13 10/09,25 e~ Printed by Authority of the State of iliinois

Date

Agency Head (Signature)



Exhibit 09.10.40-B

Annual Petty Cash Fund ~ ©
Usage Report

Agency:

Address

Location of Fund

Amount of Fund $ Date Telephone Number

Calendar Number of Amount of
Year 20 Transactions Disbursements

Petty Cash Turn Over Rate:
Annual
Disbursements $ = Turnover
Rate

Dollar Level
Of Fund $

Signature of Custodian Signature of Responsible Official



Exhibit 09.10.40-C

Annual Petty Cash Fund
Usage Report

Agency: Pepartment of XYZ

Address 329 N. First Street, Springfield, IL 62702

Location of Fund 329 N. First Street, Rm. 200, Springfield, IL 62702

Amount of Fund § 200 Date 2/14/2004  1icohone Number 217/782-1234
Calendar Number of Amount of
Year 20 Transactions Disbursements
January................ L 20 100.00
February ..................... 10 100.00
March ..................c.... 10 50.00
MDAl o 10 150.00
May ... 30 140.00
June. ... 40 100.00
July o 20 84.00
August................... ..., 30 116.00
September.................... 50 130.00
October..............covvn.. 30 198.00
N 40 100.00
ovember..............uuuun.
D 20 42.00
ecember................uin.
Total.................. 310 $ 1,310.00

Petty Cash Turn Over Rate:

Annual
Disbursements $ 1 ’31 0.00 = 6.55 Turnover
. Rate
Dollar Level
Of Fund $ 200
Signature of Custodian Signature of Responsible Official



Exhibit 09.10.40-D
(13-001)

Change of
Custodianship or Location
Petty Cash or Change Fund

State Comptroller
AGENCY NAME

00000012342

FUND NUMBER

OLD INFORMATION NEW INFORMATION
John Doe Sally Sommer
Name
325 W. Adams St. 325 W. Adams St.
Address
City, State and Springfield, IL 62704 Springfield, IL 62704
Zip Code

(PLEASE PRINT OR TYPE)

Analysis of Fund at Date of Transfer

Cash on Hand $ 25.00
Cash in Bank s 200.00
Voucher(s) in Transit 75.00
TORAL I UG, ettt $ 300.00
APPIOVET LEVEl OF FUNM......c.eseeoe et $ 300.00

The undersigned hereby certify that the above statement of Petty Cash Information is true and accurate.

SIGNATURE OF FORMER CUSTODIAN DATE SIGNATURE OF CURRENT/SUCCESSOR CUSTODIAN DATE

C-85



Exhibit 09.10.40-E
(13-001)

Change of
Custodianship or Location

Petty Cash or Change Fund

AGENCY NAME

FUND NUMBER

OLD INFORMATION NEW INFORMATION

Name

Address

City, State and
Zip Code

(PLEASE PRINT OR TYPE)

Analysis of Fund at Date of Transfer

Cash on Hand $

Cash in Bank $

Voucher(s) in Transit

Total in Fund

Approved Level Of FUNG..........ooii i $

The undersigned hereby certify that the above statement of Petty Cash Information is true and accurate.

SIGNATURE OF FORMER CUSTODIAN DATE SIGNATURE OF CURRENT/SUCCESSOR CUSTODIAN DATE

C-85



Exhibit 09.10.40-F
(15-002)

Petty Cash Internal Control Certification

Agency Name Petty Cash Fund Number
Agency Number Custodian

Approved Amount Location

FY Audit Performed

1. An Application to Establish or Dissolve a Fund (Form C-68) and the Survey of Need for a Petty Cash Fund has been
completed and filed with the State Comptroller’s Office.

2. The custodian presently in-charge of the fund is the same as the individual listed above. Also, the amount of the fund agrees with the
amount authorized by the State Comptroller’s Office and indicated above. (See Item 17).

3.* A Petty Cash Usage Report (Form C-18) has been timely filed with the State Comptroller’s Office for a fund exceeding
$100.

4.* A fund which exceeds $100 is turning over approximately six times during the calendar year.

5.* The petty cash fund, if maintained in a bank or savings and loan association or trust company is maintained in a federally
insured organization.

6.* The cash-on-hand or in the bank plus the vendor’s invoices/petty cash vouchers plus reimbursement vouchers in transit
equals the authorized amount of the petty cash fund.

7.* The fund is kept separate and apart from daily receipts and other authorized petty cash funds.
8.* Someone other than the custodian approves reimbursements to the fund.

9.* The bank has been notified, in writing, not to accept checks payable to your Agency.

10.* Cash advances were not made from the fund. Also, no personal checks were cashed by the fund.

11.* Payments for $100 or more are not being made from the fund, and there is not stringing of payments to avoid normal
voucher processing.

12.* Payments from the fund are restricted to award and grant and conventional operational line items purposes.

13.* All expenditures from the petty cash fund paid during the current fiscal year are reimbursed before the end of lapse
period.

14.* Vendor invoices or statements are secured for each expenditure showing date, amount, description of the purchase (or a
petty cash voucher with same information) and retained in a petty cash file.

15.* A petty cash fund which is maintained in whole or in part in a checking account is reconciled monthly with the bank
statement.

16. Someone other than the custodian maintaining the fund reconciles the fund monthly.

17.  All changes made to the custodianship and location of the petty cash fund are reported to the State Comptroller’s Office using the
Change of Custodianship form (C-85).

18.* The cash on hand never exceeded $100 at anytime.
19.* The reimbursement checks for the fund are made payable to the custodian.

20.* There is a notation of payment made on the face of the vendor invoices to prevent reuse of the invoices.

21.* All expenditures from the petty cash fund can be traced to either an employee who approved payment or to the recently purchased
asset for verification as to the validity of the transaction.

22. The petty cash fund checkbook and/or cash is properly safeguarded during and after working hours.

23.  Audits of the cash fund are done by someone independent of the fund and are on file in the administering agency.
24.* 1f 1099 reportable payments are made from the fund, 1099 forms are issued.

25.* 1f 1099 information returns are issued, they are issued using the agency’s own payer’s federal identification number.

| certify that the above petty cash internal controls are in effect or remedies have been made to correct deficiencies noted.

(Independent Person Authorized by Agency) Date

C-86  1005-100 *Does not apply to change funds
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PURPOSE

The purpose of thisprocedureisto provideinstructionsto request the establishment of anew
fund in the statewide accounting system. Prior to preparing thisform to request the establishment of
a fund, the policy statements (Procedure 09.10.40) should be reviewed to determine the
Comptroller's general policies governing the establishment of new funds.

PREPARATION OF FORM

The Comptroller’s Office, through an ongoing review of statutes affecting State Finance,
may establish legidlatively created funds. However, it remains the primary responsibility of each
State agency to monitor and notify the Comptroller of new funds that have been established in the
legidative process.

Two copies of the "Application to Establish or Dissolve a Fund" form C-68 (Exhibit
09.20.10-A) should be prepared to request the establishment of State and Federal trust funds. One
copy of the form should be sent to the Comptroller's Office along with acopy of the grant program
(or other appropriate document) and the other retained by the agency for control purposes.

Three copiesof theform should be prepared to request the establishment of atemporary bank
account. Two copies should be forwarded to the Governor's Office for approval. The forms will
then be forwarded to the Comptroller's Office. One copy should be retained by the agency for
control purposes.

Exhibit 09.20.10-B illustrates aform with the instruction reference numberson it. Exhibit
09.20.10-Ciillustrates a completed form. The instructions for completing thisform are asfollows:

Genera Information

Q) Enter agency name and address.

2 Enter application date.

3 Enter the official name of the fund being established.

4 Check fund creation box.

Type of Fund Requested

5) Check box if fund has been created by General Assembly and cite creating statute.

(6) Check box if fund to be created is a State Trust Fund.
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Type of Fund Requested (continued)

(7)  Check box if fund to be created is a Federal Trust Fund.
(8  Check box if fund to be created isaLocally Held Trust Fund.

(99  Check box if fund to be created is a Temporary Locally Held Trust Fund or Bank
Deposit

(10)  Check box if fund to be created is a Petty Cash Fund
(11) Check box if fund to be created is a Change Fund

Questions Applicable to All Funds

(12) Describe the purpose of the fund.

(13) Describethe primary source of receiptsto be deposited into the fund, estimate annual
receipts and frequency of deposits.

(14) Describe the purposes for which disbursements will be made from the fund.
(15) Describe the estimated length of time the fund will be required.
(16) Describe date first activity (receipt of transfer) is estimated to be processed.

Questions Applicableto Locally Held and Petty Cash Funds

(17) Describe who is accountable for fund. Give name and official title.

(28)  If individual(s) handling the account are bonded, enter "Yes' and place amount of
bond on "explain” line. If individual(s) are not bonded, enter "No" and explain why
bonding is not necessary. (Note: All state employees are covered under a State
Blanket Bond).

(19) Describethelocation of thefund. Give the depository's name, address and account
number.

(20)  Enter the amount requested for Petty Cash Fund.

(21) Enter the Petty Cash Fund number of the custodian.
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Aqgency Authorization

| (22) Agency head's signature.
| (23) Date of signature and telephone number
NOTIFICATION OF FUND ESTABLISHED

After the "Application to Establish or Dissolve a Fund" has been received by the
Comptroller's Office, it will be reviewed and the agency will be notified of the action taken.

If the fund request has been approved, aunique fund number will be assigned and aletter to
the State Treasurer will be distributed as follows: (Note: Does not apply to Locally Held or Petty
Cash Funds).

Governor

Originating Agency

Auditor General

Executive Director, Legislative Audit Commission
Treasurer

Notification of new Locally held and Petty Cash fundswill be provided to the agency viaa
letter from the Comptroller’s Office.



Exhibit 09.20.10-A

(13-001)
Application to Establish
or Dissolve a Fund
Agency Date
Address
Official Name of Fund
O Fund Creation O Fund Dissolution O Petty Cash/Change Fund Increase/Decrease
Type of Fund
O Legislatively Created O State Trust Fund O Federal Trust Fund O Locally Held Trust Fund
O Temporary Locally Held Trust Fund or Bank Deposit O Petty Cash Fund O Change Fund
Statute:

Questions Applicable to All Funds
1. Purpose of Fund:

Sources of Receipts:

Purposes of Disbursements:

Length of Time Fund Required:

o~ 0D

Requested Effective Date:

Questions Applicable to Locally Held, Petty Cash and Change Funds
6. Who is Accountable for Fund:
7. Are Persons Handling Moneys Bonded: Explain:

8. Location of Fund:
9. If Petty Cash Fund: Amount of Petty Cash Requested:
Social Security Number of Custodian:

Questions Applicable to All Fund Dissolution
10. Current Fund Balance:

11. Disposition of Remaining Balance:

Signature of Agency Head Date Telephone Number
FUND AUTHORIZATION
O Approval Granted O Approval Denied Fund Number:
Fund Name:
COMPTROLLER DATE

C-68 Side 15/2017-000 <&



Exhibit 09.20.10-B

(13-001)
Application to Establish
or Dissolve a Fund
Agency (1) Date (2)
Address (1)
Officia(l4l;lame of Fund (3)
O Fund Creation O Fund Dissolution O Petty Cash/Change Fund Increase/Decrease
(5) (6) Tymd ) (8)
O Legislatively Cre(\ceal)ted O State Trust Fund O Federa(l{lésust Fund O Loc(aﬂ;; Held Trust Fund
O Temporary Locally Held Trust Fund or Bank Deposit O Petty Cash Fund O Change Fund
Statute: (5)
Questions Applicable to All Funds
1. Purpose of Fund: (12)
2. Sources of Receipts: (13)
3. Purposes of Disbursements: (14)
4. Length of Time Fund Required: (15)
5. Requested Effective Date: (16)
Questions Applicable to Locally Held, Petty Cash and Change Funds
6. Who is Accountable for Fund: (7)
7. Are Persons Handling Moneys Bonded: (18) Explain: (18)
8. Location of Fund: (19)
9. If Petty Cash Fund: Amount of Petty Cash Requested: (20)
Social Security Number of Custodian: (21)
Questions Applicable to All Fund Dissolution
10. Current Fund Balance:
11. Disposition of Remaining Balance:
(22) (23) (23)
Signature of Agency Head Date Telephone Number
FUND AUTHORIZATION
O Approval Granted O Approval Denied Fund Number:
Fund Name:
COMPTROLLER DATE

C-68 Side 15/2017-000 <&



Exhibit 09.20.10-C

(13-001)
Application to Establish
or Dissolve a Fund
Agency Department of XYZ Date July 1, 2005
Address 325 N. First Street, Springfield, IL 62702
Official Name of Fund__Federal Systems Fund
4 Fund Creation O Fund Dissolution O Petty Cash/Change Fund Increase/Decrease
Type of Fund
O Legislatively Created O State Trust Fund 4 Federal Trust Fund O Locally Held Trust Fund
O Temporary Locally Held Trust Fund or Bank Deposit O Petty Cash Fund O Change Fund
Statute:

Questions Applicable to All Funds

1. Purpose of Fund: _To deposit Federal monies to improve state accounting system

Sources of Receipts: _Federal Government - GAP.43.000; One time grant

Purposes of Disbursements: For technical accounting research staff

Length of Time Fund Required: _3 years - July, 2008
Requested Effective Date: _September 1, 2005

o~ 0D

Questions Applicable to Locally Held, Petty Cash and Change Funds
6. Who is Accountable for Fund:
7. Are Persons Handling Moneys Bonded: Explain:

8. Location of Fund:
9. If Petty Cash Fund: Amount of Petty Cash Requested:
Social Security Number of Custodian:

Questions Applicable to All Fund Dissolution
10. Current Fund Balance:

11. Disposition of Remaining Balance:

July 1, 2005 (217) 782-1234
Signature of Agency Head Date Telephone Number

FUND AUTHORIZATION

O Approval Granted O Approval Denied Fund Number:
Fund Name:

COMPTROLLER DATE

C-68 Side 15/2017-000 <&
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING THE
"SURVEY OF NEED FOR A PETTY CASH FUND"

PURPOSE

The purpose of this procedure is to provide instructions to determine the proper dollar level
of a petty cash fund and an internal control questionnaire to complete for petty cash and change
funds.

TIMING REQUIREMENTS

The "Survey of Need for a Petty Cash Fund™ (Exhibit 09.20.15-A) should be prepared in
addition to the "Application to Establish or Dissolve a Fund" (Form C-68) for all petty cash and
change funds. The "Dollar Level Determination of Fund" (Part B) needs to be completed only for
petty cash funds greater than $100.

Exhibit 09.20.15-A illustrates a blank form with the instruction reference numbers on it.
Exhibit 09.20.15-B illustrates a completed form. The instructions for completing this form are as
follows:

CONTENTS

Refer to Exhibit 09.20.15-B.

REFERENCE CONTENTS
Part A -
@ Provide a copy of your agency’s internal control procedures

to be followed for petty cash or change funds, if approved, or
indicate that SAMS Manual Section 9.10.40, Section B will
be used as the agency internal control procedure.

(2 Indicate your response to each question (1 through 11). The
appropriate responses can be found in SAMS procedure
09.10.40.
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REFERENCE CONTENTS
Part B —
(3) Enter the total number of transactions occurring within the

past year for single payments less than $100.00.

4) Enter the total dollar amount of transactions occurring within
the past year, for single payments less than $100.00.

(5) Divide 4 by six and enter the result. The result should be
rounded to the next $100 (e.g., $325 would be rounded to
$400). Enter this amount on the "Application to Establish or
Dissolve a Fund."



Exhibit 09.20.15-A

(15-002)
Survey Of the Need For a Petty Cash Fund
Part A:
Internal Control Over Petty Cash Fund. (Check the appropriate box below) Q)
|:| Copy of agency's internal control procedures attached.
|:| SAMS Manual, Procedure 9.10.40, Section VI-B will be used as the agency's internal
control procedures.
Instructions:  Check the appropriate column for each of the following questions. (2)
Not

Yes | No | Applicable

1. Will one person be responsible for the Petty Cash Fund?

2. Will daily cash receipts be commingled with the Petty Cash Fund?

3. Will the petty cash be maintained in whole or in part in a bank account?

3a. Will the bank be notified in writing not to accept checks payable
to the agency?

3b. Will cash be deposited in the bank account?

4. Will checks for reimbursement of petty cash be made out to the order of
the custodian?

5. Will single payments of $100.00 or more be made from the Fund?

6. Will approval by someone other than the custodian be required for
reimbursement?

7. Will supporting data for disbursement from petty cash be required and
adequately examined for reimbursement?

8. When petty cash is reimbursed will notation of payment be made on the
supporting document to prevent duplicate payment?

9. Will employee paychecks and personal checks be cashed out of petty
cash? Will advances be made to employees?

10. Will a reconciliation of the petty cash be made on a regular basis by
someone independent of the custodian?

11. Will the petty cash be audited by internal auditors or other independent
persons?

Part B: Dollar Level Determination of Fund.

Total Number of Transactions during year less than $100 (3)
Total Dollar Amount of Transactions during the year less than $100 (4)
Total Dollar Amount of Transactions divided by six = (5) Amount of Fund Needed.

C-68 Side 2



Exhibit 09.20.15-B
(15-002)

Survey Of the Need For a Petty Cash Fund

Part A:
Internal Control Over Petty Cash Fund. (Check the appropriate box below)

|:| Copy of agency's internal control procedures attached.

SAMS Manual, Procedure 9.10.40, Section VI-B will be used as the agency's internal
control procedures.

Instructions:  Check the appropriate column for each of the following questions.

Not
Yes [ No | Applicable

1. Will one person be responsible for the Petty Cash Fund? X
2. Will daily cash receipts be commingled with the Petty Cash Fund? X
3. Will the petty cash be maintained in whole or in part in a bank account? X

3a. Will the bank be notified in writing not to accept checks payable

to the agency? X
3b. Will cash be deposited in the bank account? X
4. Will checks for reimbursement of petty cash be made out to the order of
the custodian? X
5. Will single payments of $100.00 or more be made from the Fund? X

6. Will approval by someone other than the custodian be required for
reimbursement? X

7. Will supporting data for disbursement from petty cash be required and
adequately examined for reimbursement? X

8. When petty cash is reimbursed will notation of payment be made on the
supporting document to prevent duplicate payment? X

9. Will employee paychecks and personal checks be cashed out of petty
cash? Will advances be made to employees? X

10. Will a reconciliation of the petty cash be made on a regular basis by
someone independent of the custodian? X

11. Will the petty cash be audited by internal auditors or other independent
persons? X

Part B: Dollar Level Determination of Fund.

Total Number of Transactions during year less than $100 156
Total Dollar Amount of Transactions during the year less than $100 852
Total Dollar Amount of Transactions divided by six = 142 Amount of Fund Needed.

C-68 Side 2
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DISSOLUTION OF FUNDS

As set forth in the Statement of General Policy, dissolution of a fund may be initiated by
the Comptroller, General Assembly or by the administering agencies.

Special funds, i.e., those funds created under Section 5 of the State Finance Act, (30 ILCS
105/5 et seq), may be dissolved by a separate Act of the General Assembly specifically stating the
dissolution. Such Act may providefor the balance, if any, to betransferred to the General Revenue
Fund of any other successor fund(s).

If a“special fund” remains inactive on the Comptrollers records for a period exceeding 18
months, the statutes (30 ILCS 105/5) provide for the fund to be “automatically terminated by
operation of law” and the balance remaining be transferred to the General Revenue Fund. For
purposes of the statute, “inactive” may be defined as a fund without receipt, transfer or
appropriation (expenditure) activating during the preceding 18-month period.

While the Statutes appear to be silent to the dissolution of State Trust funds, it has been the
position of the Comptroller such funds should be reviewed for continuance or dissolution when
the fund has been inactive for a period of 18 months or longer.

In regard to State and Federal trust funds, the Comptroller will notify the agency at such
times the trust fund may become subject to dissolution. If the Comptroller deems the fund should
be dissolved, the agency will be so notified.

It should be noted, it remains the primary responsibility of the administering agency of the
trust fund to monitor, review and notify the Comptroller at the time the trust fund may be dissolved.

For Locally Held Bank Deposits established in accordance with 30 ILCS 230/2A.2, the
administering agency must receive the permission of the General Assembly to continue the
existence of the Locally Held Bank Deposit. If such permission is not granted by the General
Assembly, the administering agency should complete the "Application to Establish or Dissolve a
Fund," Exhibit 09.20.20-A. As noted in 30 ILCS 230/2A.2, upon the dissolution of a Locally
Held Bank Deposit, the balance of the fund or bank deposit shall be transferred to the General
Revenue Fund.

Temporary bank accounts established under 30 I L CS 230/2A.2 are subject to dissolution
if not authorized for continuance by the Genera Assembly within 30 days of the sine die
adjournment of the next regular session after the fund was established. In order to comply with



STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF COMPTROLLER

SECTION FUNDS PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
09.20.20 20f 3
SUB-SECTION  INPUT PROCEDURES EFFECTIVE DATE
July 1, 2020
PROCEDURE INSTRUCTIONS FOR DISSOLVING A FUND REVISION NUMBER
21-001

this statute, the Office of the Comptroller makes aperiodic review of temporary fundsto determine
whether they may legally remain in existence.

If itisfound that abank account has not been authorized for continuance within the allowed
time period and that the administering agency has not initiated dissolution of the fund, then the
Comptroller and State Treasurer will work with the administering agency to see that the fund is
dissolved and the remaining balance deposited into the General Revenue Fund or other fund as
required by statute or other authority.

PURPOSE

The purpose of this procedureisto provide instructions to request the dissolution of afund
in the statewide accounting system. Prior to preparing this form to request the dissolution of a
fund, the policy statements (Procedure 09.10.40) should be referenced to determine the
Comptroller's general policies governing the dissolution of a fund.

PREPARATION OF FORM

Two copies of the "Application to Establish or Dissolve a Fund" form C-68 should be
prepared to request the dissolution of a fund. One copy of the form should be sent to the
Comptroller's Office and the other retained by the agency for control purposes.

Exhibit 09.20.20-A illustrates a blank form with the instruction reference numbers on it.
Exhibit 09.20.20-B illustrates a completed form. The instructions for completing the form are as
follows:

General Information
(1) Enter agency name and address.
(2) Enter name and number of fund being dissolved.
(3) Enter application date.

(4)  Check box for fund dissolution.
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Type of Fund

(5) Check box if fund to be dissolved was Legidatively created and cite statute.
(6) Check box if fund to be dissolved is a State Trust Fund.

(7) Check box if fund to be dissolved is a Federal Trust Fund.

(8) Check box if fund to be dissolved isa Locally Held Fund.

(99 Check box if fund to be dissolved isa Temporary Locally Held Trust Fund or Bank
Deposit

(10)  Check box if fund to be dissolved is a Petty Cash Fund.
(11) Check box if fund to be dissolved is a Change Fund.

Questions Applicable to Fund Dissolution

(12) Enter the current fund balance.

(13) Enter disposition of fund balance. The agency must provide instructions for the
disposition of the fund balance remaining at the time of dissolution.

Agency Authorization

(14) Agency head's signature.

(15) Enter date of signature

(16) Enter telephone number
NOTIFICATION OF FUND DISSOLUTION

After the "Application to Establish or Dissolve a Fund" has been received by the
Comptroller's Office, it will be reviewed and the agency notified of the action taken.

Notification of afund dissolution will be provided via aletter to the State Treasurer.



Exhibit 09.20.20-A

= = = (13-001)
Application to Establish
or Dissolve a Fund
Agency (1) Date 3)
Address (1)
Official Name of Fund " 2)
O Fund Creation O Fund Dissolution O Petty Cash/Change Fund Increase/Decrease
(5) (6) Type of Fund (7) (8)

O Legislatively Created ) O State Trust Fund O Federa1lo'l)'rust Fund O Locﬂl Held Trust Fund
O Temporary Locally Held Trust Fund or Bank Deposit O Petty Elash Fund O Che(ange Fund
Statute: (3)

Questions Applicable to All Funds
1. Purpose of Fund:

Sources of Receipts:

Purposes of Disbursements:

Length of Time Fund Required:

o~ 0D

Requested Effective Date:

Questions Applicable to Locally Held, Petty Cash and Change Funds
6. Who is Accountable for Fund:
7. Are Persons Handling Moneys Bonded: Explain:

8. Location of Fund:
9. If Petty Cash Fund: Amount of Petty Cash Requested:
Social Security Number of Custodian:

Questions Applicable to All Fund Dissolution

10. Current Fund Balance: (12)
11. Disposition of Remaining Balance: (13)
(14) (15) (16)
Signature of Agency Head Date Telephone Number
FUND AUTHORIZATION
O Approval Granted O Approval Denied Fund Number:
Fund Name:
COMPTROLLER DATE

C-68 Side 15/2017-000 <&



Exhibit 09.20.20-B
Application to Establish ~ “**”
or Dissolve a Fund

Agency_ Department of XYZ Date October 31, 2004
Address 325 N. First Street, Springfield, IL 62702
Official Name of Fund Federal Systems Fund = #680

O Fund Creation 21 Fund Dissolution O Petty Cash/Change Fund Increase/Decrease

Type of Fund
O Legislatively Created O State Trust Fund 4 Federal Trust Fund O Locally Held Trust Fund
O Temporary Locally Held Trust Fund or Bank Deposit O Petty Cash Fund O Change Fund
Statute:

Questions Applicable to All Funds
1. Purpose of Fund:

Sources of Receipts:

Purposes of Disbursements:

Length of Time Fund Required:

o~ 0D

Requested Effective Date:

Questions Applicable to Locally Held, Petty Cash and Change Funds
6. Who is Accountable for Fund:
7. Are Persons Handling Moneys Bonded: Explain:

8. Location of Fund:
9. If Petty Cash Fund: Amount of Petty Cash Requested:
Social Security Number of Custodian:

Questions Applicable to All Fund Dissolution
10. Current Fund Balance: _$1,000

11. Disposition of Remaining Balance:_Return to Federal Accounting Office

John Doe - Director 10/31/04 (217) 782-1234
Signature of Agency Head Date Telephone Number
FUND AUTHORIZATION
O Approval Granted O Approval Denied Fund Number:
Fund Name:
COMPTROLLER DATE

C-68 Side 15/2017-000 <&
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TRANSFER OF FUNDS

Fund transfers may be initiated by action of the General Assembly, by request of an agency,
or by request of the Governor or Governor’s Office of Management and Budget. In all cases,
statutory authority for the transfer must exist before the Comptroller can process the transfer. To
request a transfer be made, a “Fund Transfer Notification” (Exhibit 09.20.30-C) must be completed.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING THE
"FUND TRANSFER NOTIFICATION"

PURPOSE

The purpose of this procedure is to provide instructions to request the transfer of monies
from one fund to another in the Statewide Accounting Management System or to suspend the
transfer of monies from one fund to another.

PREPARATION OF FORM
Two copies of the "Fund Transfer Notification” form (C-55) should be prepared. The original
copy of the form should be sent directly to the Comptroller's Office, and the duplicate retained by

the agency.

Exhibit 09.20.30-A illustrates a blank form with the instruction reference numbers on it.
Exhibit 09.20.30-B illustrates a completed form. The instructions for completing this form are:

General Information

(1)  Enter agency name.
(2)  Enter date.
(3)  Enter agency address.

(4)  Enter the name and phone number of the individual to receive correspondence and to
contact for questions.
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Specific Fund Transfer Information

(5) Indicate whether agency is initiating a fund transfer or suspending a fund transfer.
(6)  Enter number of fund from which transfer will be made.

(7)  Enter name of fund from which transfer will be made.

(8)  Enter number of fund to which transfer will be made.

(9)  Enter name of fund to which transfer will be made.

(10) Enter dollar amount of transfer.

(11) Enter the Comptroller assigned 'Transfer From' identifier associated with the

Statutory authority as presented in Exhibit 09.20.30-D. Fund Transfer Notification
forms that do not cite the identifier may be returned to the agency.

(12) Indicate requested effective date of transfer.
(13) Cite the statutory authority for the transfer.

(14)  Provide any additional information deemed necessary such as the reason for the
transfer, reason for suspending the transfer, etc. (optional)

Agency Authorization

(15) Signature and title of the official authorizing the transfer. (Original signature
required.)
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NOTIFICATION OF FUND TRANSFERS

After the "Fund Transfer Notification" form has been received by the Comptroller's Office, it
will be reviewed and processed. A copy will then be returned to the originating agency noting the
action taken. ”Fund Transfer Notifications” submitted incorrectly may be returned to the agency.

ERROR RESOLUTION

When a processing error has occurred, please contact the Comptroller’s Office for
instructions.



Exhibit 09.20.30-A

(12-001)
FUND TRANSFER NOTIFICATION
Agency 71919 [locuseonly |T|R|[I[N
Doc No.
Date
Oper Code [ |
Agency (1) Date (2)
Address (3)
Contact (4) Phone (4)

|:| Initiate Fund Transfer

|:| Suspend Fund Transfer

Fund No.

Transfer From EI:I:D
Transfer To EI:I:D

Amount of Transfer $

Transfer Information

Fund Name
(7)
9)

Comptroller's Use Only

Transfer From Identifier:

Requested Date of Transfer

Statutory Authority

Additional Information:

(15)

(14)

(15)

Authorized Official

Title

Comptroller's Use Only

|:| Processed

|:| Returned, See Attached Letter

Signature

C-55

Title Date Telephone No.



Exhibit 09.20.30-B

(12-001)
FUND TRANSFER NOTIFICATION
Agency 71919 [locuseonly |T|R|[I[N
Doc No.
Date
Oper Code [ |
Agency Department XYZ Date July 1, 2008
Address 104 32nd Street, Springdfield IL 62703
Contact Jane Doe Phone 782-9100

Transfer Information
Initiate Fund Transfer

|:| Suspend Fund Transfer

Fund No. Fund Name
Transfer From |0 [1 [2 ]3| General Business Fund
Transfer To [0 ]0 [0 [1] General Business Fund

Comptroller's Use Only
Amount of Transfer $ 50,000.00 (T T T 1T 1T 1T D11 1]

Transfer From Identifier: 360EXCESS

Requested Date of Transfer 07/05/08

Statutory Authority 30 ILCS 163/5.421

Additional Information:

Johw Jones Director
Authorized Official Title

Comptroller's Use Only

|:| Processed |:| Returned, See Attached Letter

Signature Title Date Telephone No.

C-55



Exhibit 09.20.30-C
(12-001)
FUND TRANSFER NOTIFICATION

Agency 71919 [locuseonly |T|R|[I[N
Doc No.
Date
Oper Code

Agency Date

Address

Contact Phone

Transfer Information
|:| Initiate Fund Transfer

|:| Suspend Fund Transfer

Fund No. Fund Name

Transfer From EI:I:D
Transfer To EI:I:D

Comptroller's Use Only
Amount of Transfer $ NN EEEE

Transfer From Identifier:

Requested Date of Transfer

Statutory Authority

Additional Information:

Authorized Official Title

Comptroller's Use Only

|:| Processed |:| Returned, See Attached Letter

Signature Title Date Telephone No.

C-55
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360EAFTRN |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0007 [Education Assistance Fund Comptroller
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0015 [Breast & Cervical Cancer Research Fund Revenue
360LIVELN 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0026 |Live And Learn Fund Comptroller
360VREHAB [0001 [General Revenue Fund 0036 [IL Veterans Rehabilitation fund Comptroller
360PARAMU 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0045 |Agricultural Premium Fund Comptroller
360STATUT [0001 [General Revenue Fund 0053 [MEAOB Fund Comptroller
360PARAMU 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0053 [MEAOB Fund Comptroller
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0060 [Alzheimer's Disease Research Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0061 |Lou Gehrig's Disease (ALS) Research Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0100 [Assistance To The Homeless Fund Revenue
370DEBTSR |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0101 |General Obligation B R & | Fund Treasurer
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0102 [lllinois Veterans' Homes Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0113 |Community Health Center Care Fund Revenue
409YOUTHA |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0128 [Youth Alcohol/Substance Abuse Fund Liguor Control Commission
492TAXCHK [0001 |General Revenue Fund 0135 |Heartsaver AED Fund Revenue
360UIHOSP 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0136 [U of | Hospital Services Fund Comptroller
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0165 |Korean War Veterans National Museum & Library Revenue
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0197 [Epilepsy Treatment & Education Grants-in-Aid Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0198 |Diabetes Research Checkoff Fund Revenue
360TEAINS 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0203 [Teachers Health Insurance Security Fund Comptroller
310CMIA90 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0212 |Federal Financing Cost Reimbursement Fund GOMB
444QTRANS [0001 |General Revenue Fund 0223 |Mental Health Accounts Receivable Fund Human Services
492TAXCHK [0001 |General Revenue Fund 0228 |Autism Research Checkoff Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0233 [Intercity Passenger Rail Fund Revenue
360ILVTAS 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0236 |Veterans Assistance Fund Comptroller
360PARAMU [0001 [General Revenue Fund 0245 [Fair And Exposition Fund Comptroller
492TAXCHK [0001 |General Revenue Fund 0250 |Blindness Prevention Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0264 [lllinois Brain Tumor Research Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0268 |Sarcoidosis Research Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0275 [Vince Demuzio Memorial Colon Cancer Fund Revenue
370BANKSV |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0373 |State Treasurer's Bank Services Trust Fund Treasurer
360SCHOOL [0001 [General Revenue Fund 0412 [Common School Fund Comptroller
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0456 |Lung Cancer Research Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0469 [Autoimmune Disease Research Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK [0001 |General Revenue Fund 0512 |After-School Rescue Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0513 [lllinois State Crime Stoppers Association Fund Revenue
370LOCGOV |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0515 |Local Government Distributive Fund Treasurer
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0531 [American Diabetes Association Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK [0001 |General Revenue Fund 0532 |Mental Health Research Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0533 [Children's Cancer Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0550 |Supplemental Low-Income Energy Assistance Fund Revenue
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Transfer From Initiating

Identifier From To Agency
360COMTAX |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0568 |School Infrastructure Fund Comptroller
360SCHINF 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0568 [School Infrastructure Fund Comptroller
360DEFC10 |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0578 |[MPEA Reserve Fund Comptroller
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0604 [Multiple Sclerosis Assistance Fund Revenue
360C02000 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0608 |Conservation 2000 Fund Comptroller
370CAPLIT 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0614 [Capital Litigation Trust Fund Treasurer
492TAXCHK [0001 |General Revenue Fund 0626 |Prostate Cancer Research Fund Revenue
492TRANS 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0627 [Public Transportation Fund Revenue
360DEBTSR |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0627 |Public Transportation Fund Comptroller
492PTRANS |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0648 [Downstate Public Transportation Fund Revenue
360MUNIEC  |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0650 |Municipal Economic Development Fund Treasurer
563WKCOMP [0001 [General Revenue Fund 0685 [Rate Adjustment Fund IL Workers' Comp Commission
360REPAY 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0686 |Budget Stabilization Fund Comptroller
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0691 |Leukemia Treatment and Education Fund Revenue
360PARAMU 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0708 |lllinois Standardbred Breeders Fund Comptroller
360PARAMU [0001 [General Revenue Fund 0709 |[lllinois Thoroughbred Breeders Fund Comptroller
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0713 |Asthma & Lung Research Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0725 [lllinois Military Family Relief Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK [0001 |General Revenue Fund 0727 |National World War 1l Memorial Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0734 |World War Il Veteran's Memorial Fund Revenue
370CORPRE |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0761 |Corporate Headquarters Relocation Assistance Fun Treasurer
360TOURIS 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0763 [Tourism Promotion Fund Comptroller
492TOURIS 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0763 |Tourism Promotion Fund Revenue
360INTMOD  |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0780 |Intermodal Facilities Promotion Fund Revenue
492PTRANS |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0794 |Metro East Public Transportation Fund Revenue
360INCGRT 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0814 [Metro Pier & Exposition Authority Incentive Trust Comptroller
370TXDIST 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0815 |Inheritance Tax Collection Distribution Fund Treasurer
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0865 [Domestic Violence Shelter & Service Fund Revenue
482VIOLEN 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0865 |Domestic Violence Shelter & Service Fund Public Health
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0909 |lllinois Wildlife Preservation Fund Revenue
492TAXCHK |0001 |General Revenue Fund 0910 |Youth Drug Abuse Prevention Fund Revenue
492TXDIST 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0925 [Coal Technology Development Assistance Fund Revenue
360INTCCS 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0933 [Convention Center Support Fund Comptroller
482BIRTHC 0001 |General Revenue Fund 0934 |Child Abuse Prevention Fund Public Health
492TAXCHK [0001 |General Revenue Fund 0934 |Child Abuse Prevention Fund Revenue
360PARAMU [0001 [General Revenue Fund 0960 ([Build lllinois Fund Comptroller
360SALEST |0005 |Common School Special Account Fund 0412 [Common School Fund Comptroller
370DEBTSR [0011 [Road Fund 0101 [General Obligation B R & | Fund Treasurer
310CMIA90 0011 |Road Fund 0212 [Federal Financing Cost Reimbursement Fund GOMB
360RCONST 0011 |Road Fund 0902 [State Construction Account Fund Governor
360MFTDIS 0012 |Motor Fuel Tax Fund 0963 |Vehicle Inspection Fund Comptroller
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Transfer From Initiating

Identifier From To Agency
494MFTDIS 0012 |Motor Fuel Tax Fund 0011 |Road Fund Transportation
494MFTDIS 0012 [Motor Fuel Tax Fund 0019 [Grade Crossing Protection Fund Transportation
494MFTDIS 0012 |Motor Fuel Tax Fund 0039 |State Boating Act Fund Transportation
494MFTDIS 0012 [Motor Fuel Tax Fund 0413 [Counties Fund Transportation
494MFTDIS 0012 |Motor Fuel Tax Fund 0414 |Municipalities Fund Transportation
494MFTDIS 0012 [Motor Fuel Tax Fund 0415 [Road District Fund Transportation
494MFTDIS 0012 |Motor Fuel Tax Fund 0902 |State Construction Account Fund Transportation
494TRNREG 0019 |Grade Crossing Protection Fund 0018 |Transportation Regulatory Fund Transportation
360EXCESS 0021 |Financial Institutions Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Comptroller
440INDCST 0021 |Financial Institutions Fund 0218 [Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
440INDCST 0022 |General Professions Dedicated Fund 0218 |Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
360DEBTSR [0041 [Wildlife and Fish Fund 0101 [General Obligation B R & | Fund Comptroller
360EXCESS 0045 |Agricultural Premium Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Comptroller
360DEBTSR [0047 [Fire Prevention Fund 0101 [General Obligation B R & | Fund Comptroller
592AMBREV (0047 |Fire Prevention Fund 0334 |Ambulance Revolving Loan Fund State Fire Marshall
592FSSMEQ [0047 [Fire Prevention Fund 0518 [Fire Service and Small Equipment Fund State Fire Marshall
592FRTRCK |0047 |Fire Prevention Fund 0572 |Fire Truck Revolving Loan Fund State Fire Marshall
444QTRANS [0050 |Mental Health Fund 0223 |Mental Health Accounts Receivable Trust Fund Human Services
427CMIA90 0052 |Title Il Social Security & Service Fund 0212 |Federal Financing Cost Reimbursement Fund GOMB
360EXCESS 0053 |MEAOB Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Comptroller
370DEBTSR |0053 |MEAOB Fund 0105 |lllinois Civic Center BR & | Fund Treasurer
360STATUT [0053 [MEAOB Fund 0962 [Park and Conservation Fund Comptroller
440INDCST 0057 |lllinois State Pharmacy Disciplinary Fund 0218 |Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
422INVINC 0069 |[Natural Heritage Endowment Trust Fund 0375 [Natural Heritage Fund Natural Resources
360DEBTSR |0072 |Underground Storage Tank Fund 0101 [General Obligation BR & | Fund Comptroller
360UNDSTO [0072 [Underground Storage Tank Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Comptroller
492MEDCAN |0075 |Compassionate Use of Medical Cannabis 0912 [Cannabis Regulation Fund Revenue
360QTRANS [0078 [Solid Waste Management Fund 0828 [Hazardous Waste Fund Comptroller
360SLDWST 0078 |Solid Waste Management Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Comptroller
492REIMBR 0084 [County Water Commission Tax Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Revenue
440INDCST 0093 |lllinois State Medical Disciplinary Fund 0218 |Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
492REIMBR 0097 |Home Rule Municipal Soft Drink ROT Fund 0384 [Tax Compliance and Administration Fund Revenue
370REBATE |0101 |General Obligation B R & | Fund 0107 |General Obligation Bond Rebate Fund Treasurer
370ESTXRF 0121 |Estate Tax Refund Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Treasurer
563WKCOMP 0124 |Workers Compensation Benefit Trust Fund 0685 |Rate Adjustment Fund IL Workers' Comp Commission
492CHIADM  |0125 [Municipal Wireless Service Emergency Fund 0384 [Tax Compliance and Administration Fund Revenue
565WAGERT |0129 |State Gaming Fund 0007 [Education Assistance Fund IL Gaming Board
360ENDBAL [0136 (U of | Hospital Services Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Comptroller
478 EXCESS 0136 |U of | Hospital Services Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Healthcare and Family Services
492HRMUTX 0138 [Home Rule Municipal ROT Fund 0384 [Tax Compliance and Administration Fund Revenue
360REALLO 0143 |School Construction Fund 0653 |Coal Development Fund GOMB
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Transfer From Initiating

Identifier From To Agency
440INDCST 0151 |Registered CPA's Admin. & Disciplinary Fund 0218 |Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
350EXCESS [0167 [Registered Limited Liability Partnership Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Secretary of State
492SALEST [0186 |State and Local Sales Tax Reform Fund 0187 |RTA Occupation and Use Tax Replacement Fund Revenue
492SALEST 0186 |State and Local Sales Tax Reform Fund 0515 |Local Government Distributive Fund Revenue
492SALEST [0186 |State and Local Sales Tax Reform Fund 0648 |Downstate Public Transportation Fund Revenue
360SRWDRF 0186 [State and Local Sales Tax Reform Fund 0949 [Sound-Reducing Windows and Doors Replacement Comptroller

Fund

492SALEST 0186 |State and Local Sales Tax Reform Fund 0960 |Build Illinois Fund Revenue
492SALEST |0188 |County and Mass Transit District Fund 0812 |RTA Sales Tax Trust Fund Revenue
360MEDDIS |0189 |Local Government Tax Fund 0093 |lllinois State Medical Disciplinary Fund Comptroller
370ILSPFC 0225 |lllinois Sports Facilities Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Treasurer
440INDCST 0241 |IOMA Consumer Protection Fund 0218 |Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
691QTRANS [0242 [ISAC Accounts Receivable Fund 0001 |[General Revenue Fund ISAC
360EXCESS [0245 [Fair and Exposition Fund 0045 [Agricultural Premium Fund Comptroller
452UNCLMD 0251 |Department of Labor Special State Trust Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Labor
440INDCST 0258 |[Nursing Dedicated and Professional Fund 0218 [Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
440INDCST 0259 |Optometric Licensing and Disciplinary Comm 0218 |Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
422INTERS 0260 |Fish and Wildlife Endowment Fund 0041 |Wildlife and Fish Fund Natural Resources
370ENDBAL (0276 |Drunk & Drugged Driving Prevention Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Treasurer
492EXCESS 10278 |Income Tax Refund Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Revenue
492REFUND 0278 |Income Tax Refund Fund 0802 [Personal Property Tax Replacement Fund Revenue
370HSPBSC [0284 [Hospital Basic Services Preservation Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Treasurer
492REIMBR  |0294 |Used Tire Management Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Revenue
370UNPRTR [0300 [Demutualization Trust Fund 0482 [Unclaimed Property Trust Fund Treasurer
416EXCESS |0315 |Efficiency Initiatives Revolving Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund CMS
370EXCTRF 0331 |Treasurer's Rental Fee Fund 0054 |State Pensions Fund Treasurer
492REIMBR  |0337 |Metropolitan Pier & Expo Auth Trust Fund 0384 [Tax Compliance And Administration Fund Revenue
360AUDOVR [0342 [Audit Expense Fund XXXX [Any Fund Auditor General
420INDCST 0343 |Federal National Community Services Fund 0883 |Intra-Agency Services Fund DCEO
478GENREV 0346 |Hospital Provider Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Healthcare and Family Services
478LTCPRO |0346 |Hospital Provider Fund 0345 |Long Term Care Provider Fund Healthcare and Family Services
A478HHSMTF |0346 |Hospital Provider Fund 0365 [Health and Human Services Medicaid Trust Fund Healthcare and Family Services
350ENDBAL |0363 |Division of Corporations Special Operations 0001 |General Revenue Fund Secretary of State
492REIMBR  |0364 |[IL Telecom Access Corporation 0059 |Public Utility Revenue
492REIMBR  |0364 |[IL Telecom Access Corporation 0384 |Tax Compliance and Administration Fund Revenue
370MCCORM (0377 [McCormick Place Expansion Project Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Treasurer
350EXCESS 0380 |Corporate Franchise Tax Refund Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Secretary of State
360TXCMAD [0384 |Tax Compliance & Administrative Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Comptroller
440INDCST 0386 |Appraisal Administration Fund 0218 |Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
442ILHABT 0390 |lllinois Habitat Endowment Trust Fund 0391 [lllinois Habitat Fund Natural Resources

422MINBAL

0391

Illinois Habitat Fund

0293

State Furbearer Fund

Natural Resources
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422MINBAL 0391 |[lllinois Habitat Fund 0353 |State Pheasant Fund Natural Resources
422INCOME  |0391 [lllinois Habitat Fund 0390 |[lllinois Habitat Endowment Trust Fund Natural Resources
370PROTST |0401 |Protest Fund xxxx |Any Fund Treasurer
420INDCST 0404 |Urban Planning Assistance Fund 0883 [Intra-Agency Services Fund DCEO
444GOVGRT 0408 |DHS Special Purpose Trust Fund 0947 |Governor's Grant Fund Human Services
478CMIA90 0421 |Public Aid Recoveries Trust Fund 0212 [Federal Financing Cost Reimbursement Fund Healthcare and Family Services
478EXCESS |0421 |Public Aid Recoveries Trust Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Healthcare and Family Services
478DRUGRE 0421 |Public Aid Recoveries Trust Fund 0728 [Drug Rebate Fund Healthcare and Family Services
563WKCOMP 0431 |Second Injury Fund 0685 |Rate Adjustment Fund IL Workers' Comp Commission
370EXCESS |0436 |[Safety Responsibility Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Treasurer
492REIMBR 0452 |lllinois Tourism Tax Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Revenue
370UNCLPR [0482 |Unclaimed Property Trust Fund 0054 [State Pensions Fund Treasurer
350EXCESS 0483 |Secretary of State Special Services Fund 0304 |Statistical Services Revolving Fund Secretary of State
360EXCESS [0485 [Warrants Escheated Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Comptroller
360SXOFND 0527 |Sex Offender Management Board Fund 0022 |General Professions Dedicated Fund Comptroller
310INSFIN 0534 |[IL Workers' Comp Commission Operations Fund  |0997 [Insurance Financial Regulation Fund Governor
440INDCST 0546 |Public Pension Regulation Fund 0218 [Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
360REALLO  [0551 [Anti-Pollution Fund 0141 [Capital Development Fund Comptroller
586DHSSPT |0560 |Federal Agency Services 0408 |DHS Special Purposes Trust Fund State Board of Education
586GVGRNT [0560 [SBE Federal Agency Services 0947 [Governor's Grant Fund State Board of Education
586GVGRNT |0561 |SBE Federal Department of Education 0947 |Governor's Grant Fund State Board of Education
440INDCST 0562 |Pawnbroker Regulation Fund 0218 [Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
370DEBTSR |0568 |School Infrastructure Fund 0101 |General Obligation B R & | Fund Treasurer
586CAREER [0561 [S.B.E. Federal Department of Education Fund 0772 [Career and Technical Education Fund State Board of Education
360PROSPT 0587 |Professional Sports Team Education Fund 0412 [Common School Fund Comptroller
492NCHADM 0612 |Wireless Service Emergency Fund 0384 [Tax Compliance And Administration Fund Revenue
524WRLSSV 0613 |Wireless Carrier Reimbursement Fund 0612 |Wireless Services Emergency Fund Commerce Commission
511EXCESS [0617 [Contributory Trust Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund CDB
511DEBTSR 0617 |Contributory Trust Fund 0101 |General Obligation B R & | Fund CDB
360CDBCNT [0617 [Contributory Trust Fund 0314 [Facility Management Revolving Fund Comptroller
370STBINC 0625 |Matured Bond and Coupon Fund 0482 |Unclaimed Property Trust Fund Treasurer
579HORSRA [0632 [Horse Racing Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Revenue
420INDCST 0636 |Commerce & Community Affairs Assistance Fund |0883 [Intra-Agency Services Fund DCEO
370MINBAL 0641 |Auction Regulation Administration Fund 0643 [Auction Recovery Fund Treasurer
370REPYMT 0641 |Auction Regulation Administration Fund 0850 |Real Estate License Administration Fund Treasurer
360REALLO [0653 [Coal Development Fund 0141 [Capital Development Fund Comptroller
691STULON 0663 |Federal Student Loan Fund 0664 |Student Loan Operations Fund ISAC
691EXCESS |[0664 [Student Loan Operations Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund ISAC
360SLDWST 0675 |Electronics Recycling Fund 0078 |Solid Waste Management Fund Comptroller
563WKCOMP (0685 [Rate Adjustment Fund 0124 [Worker's Compensation Benefit Fund IL Workers' Comp Commission
563WKCOMP 0685 |Rate Adjustment Fund 0431 |Second Injury Fund IL Workers' Comp Commission
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563WKCOMP 0685 |Rate Adjustment Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund IL Workers' Comp Commission
360DEFICI 0686 |Budget Stabilization Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Comptroller
360CAPPRO 0694 |Capital Projects Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Comptroller
360RPYBND [0694 [Capital Projects Fund 0011 [Road Fund Comptroller
360BIBRIF 0694 |Capital Projects Fund 0970 |Build Illinois Bond Retirement and Interest Fund Comptroller
360DUIPEF 0697 |Roadside Memorial Fund 0956 [DUI Prevention and Education Fund Comptroller
340EXCESS 0703 |State Whistleblower Reward & Protection Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Attorney General\Treasurer
A58INTERS 0711 |[State Lottery Fund 0412 [Common School Fund Revenue
492LOTPRD |0711 |State Lottery Fund 0412 [Common School Fund Revenue
420INDCST 0726 |Federal Industrial Services Fund 0883 [Intra-Agency Services Fund DCEO
360EICREF 0733 |Tobacco Settlement Recovery Fund 0278 |Income Tax Refund Fund Comptroller
420INDCST 0737 |Energy Administration Fund 0883 [Intra-Agency Services Fund DCEO
492PTRANS |0741 |RTA Public Transportation Tax Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Revenue
360HOMISP (0746 [Home Inspector Administration Fund 0850 [Real Estate License Administration Fund Treasurer
440INDCST 0746 |Home Inspector Administration Fund 0218 |Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
440INDCST 0750 |Real Estate Audit Fund 0218 [Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
370ACCELC |0771 |Digital Divide Elimination Infrastructure Fund 0106 |Accessible Electronic Information Services Fund Treasurer
440INDCST 0792 [Cemetery Oversight Licensing and Disciplinary Funq0218 [Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
492MTRANS |0802 |Personal Property Tax Replacement Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Revenue
492REFUND |0802 |Personal Property Tax Replacement Fund 0278 [Income Tax Refund Fund Revenue
360ENGYEF 0820 |DCEO Energy Projects Fund 0531 |Energy Efficiency Portfolio Standards Fund Comptroller
310EXCESS [0821 [Dram Shop Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Governor
444YOUTHA |0821 [Dram Shop Fund 0128 [Youth Alcoholism & Substance Abuse Prevention Human Services
440INDCST 0823 |Dental Disciplinary Fund 0218 |Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
440INDCST 0849 |Real Estate Research and Education Fund 0218 |Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
360HOMISP  [0850 [Real Estate License Adm Fund 0746 [Home Inspector Administration Fund Comptroller
370BALDEF |0850 [Real Estate License Adm Fund 0750 |Real Estate Audit Fund Treasurer
370ANNUAL |0850 |Real Estate License Adm Fund 0849 |Real Estate Research & Education Fund Treasurer
440INDCST 0850 |Real Estate License Adm Fund 0218 |Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
420INDCST 0851 |Federal Moderate Rehabilitation Housing Fund 0883 [Intra-Agency Services Fund DCEO
420INDCST 0859 |Federal Energy Fund 0883 |Intra-Agency Services Fund DCEO
492REIMBR 0868 [Municipal Auto Rental Occupation Tax Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Revenue
492REIMBR  |0869 |County Auto Rental Occupation Tax Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Revenue
420INDCST 0870 |Low Income Home Energy Assist Block Grant 0883 |Intra-Agency Services Fund DCEO
420INDCST 0871 |Community Services Block Grant Fund 0883 |Intra-Agency Services Fund DCEO
420INDCST 0875 |Community Dev Small Cities Block Grant 0883 [Intra-Agency Services Fund DCEO
310EXCESS 0879 |Traffic And Criminal Conviction Surcharge Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Governor
420INDCST 0883 [Intra-agency Services Fund 0636 [Commerce & Community Affairs Assistance Fund DCEO
440INDCST 0888 |Design Professional Admin & Investigation Fund 0218 |Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
420INDCST 0900 |lllinois Petroleum Violation Fund 0883 [Intra-Agency Services Fund DCEO
360RCONST 0902 |[State Construction Account Fund 0011 |Road Fund Governor
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416EXCESS |0903 |State Surplus Property Revolving Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund CMS
416RCYCLE |0903 [State Surplus Property Revolving Fund 0308 [Paper and Printing Revolving Fund CMS
416EXCESS |0903 |State Surplus Property Revolving Fund 0308 |Paper and Printing Revolving Fund CMS
492CANREG |0912 [Cannabis Regulation Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Revenue
492CANREG 0912 |Cannabis Regulation Fund 0335 |Criminal Justice Information Projects Fund Revenue
492CANREG 0912 |Cannabis Regulation Fund 0368 |Drug Treatment Fund Revenue
492CANREG 0912 |Cannabis Regulation Fund 0509 |Department of Human Services Community Revenue

Services Fund

492CANREG 0912 |Cannabis Regulation Fund 0515 |Local Government Distributive Fund Revenue
492CANREG 0912 |Cannabis Regulation Fund 0686 |Budget Stabilization Fund Revenue
492CANREG 0912 |Cannabis Regulation Fund 0908 [Cannabis Expungement Fund Revenue
420INDCST 0913 |Federal Workforce Training Fund 0883 [Intra-Agency Services Fund DCEO
492REIMBR  |0916 |County Replacement Vehicle Tax Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Revenue
492REIMBR  |0917 |Municipal Replacement Vehicle Tax Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Revenue
A44EXCESS (0921 |DHS Recoveries Trust Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Human Services
444CMIA90 0921 |DHS Recoveries Trust Fund 0212 [Federal Financing Cost Reimbursement Fund Human Services
440INDCST 0922 [Insurance Producer Administration Fund 0218 |Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
444FGRANT |0935 |Block Grant Trust Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Human Services
444FGRANT |0935 |Block Grant Trust Fund 0408 |Special Purposes Trust Fund Human Services
444FGRANT |0935 |Block Grant Trust Fund 0762 |Local Initiative Fund Human Services
360AUDEXP |0951 |Narcotics Profit Forfeiture Fund 0342 |Audit Expense Fund States Atty's Appellate Prosecutor
440INDCST 0954 [IL State Podiatric Disciplinary Fund 0218 |Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
478EXCESS |0957 |Child Support Enforcement Trust Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Healthcare and Family Services
478CHILDS 0957 |Child Support Enforcement Trust Fund 0757 [Child Support Administrative Fund Healthcare and Family Services
360BLDILL 0960 |Build lllinois Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Comptroller
360BLDILL 0960 |[Build lllinois Fund 0961 [Metropolitan Fair & Exposition Impr Bond Fund Comptroller
360BLDILL 0960 |Build lllinois Fund 0962 |Park and Conservation Fund Comptroller
360BLDILL 0960 |[Build lllinois Fund 0969 [Local Tourism Fund Comptroller
360BLDILL 0960 |Build lllinois Fund 0970 (Build lllinois B R & | Fund Comptroller
360DEBTSR [0962 [Park and Conservation Fund 0101 [General Obligation B R & | Fund Comptroller
422DISCRE 0962 |Park and Conservation Fund 0390 |[lllinois Habitat Endowment Trust Fund Natural Resources
360VCLINS 0963 |Vehicle Inspection Fund 0012 [Motor Fuel Tax Fund Comptroller
360EXCESS 0975 |Large Business Attraction Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Comptroller
458UNCLMD |0978 |Deferred Lottery Prize Winners Trust Fund 0711 [State Lottery Fund Revenue
360REVENU 10982 |lllinois Beach Marina Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund Comptroller
440INDCST 0997 [Insurance Financial Regulation Fund 0218 [Professions Indirect Cost Fund DFPR
360AUDEXP  |xxxx |Any Fund 0342 |Audit Expense Fund Comptroller
360FSWEEP [xxxx [Any Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Comptroller
360FSWEEP |xxxx |Any Fund 0686 |Budget Stabilization Fund Comptroller
360FSWEEP [xxxx [Any Fund 0793 [Healthcare Provider Relief Fund Comptroller
360FSWEEP |xxxx |Any Fund 0907 [Health Insurance Reserve Fund Comptroller
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360IFBRRW  |xxxx |Any Fund 0001 [General Revenue Fund Comptroller
360IFBRRW  [xxxx [Any Fund 0005 [General Revenue Common School Special Account Comptroller
360IFBRRW  |xxxx |Any Fund 0007 [Education Assistance Fund Comptroller
360IFBRRW  [xxxx [Any Fund 0412 [Common School Fund Comptroller
360IFBRRW  |xxxx |Any Fund 0640 [Fund for the Advancement of Education Comptroller
370STOINV xxXxx |Multiple Funds XXxXx [Multiple Funds Treasurer
416PROSVC |xxxx [Any Fund 0317 [Professional Services Revolving Fund Agency
416WKCOMP |xxxx [Any Fund 0332 [Workers' Compensation Revolving Fund Agency
507FNDRAL  |xxxx |Any Fund 0001 |General Revenue Fund GOMB
507GBRRAL  [xxxx [Any Fund 0101 [General Obligation Bond Retirement Interest GOMB




STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF COMPTROLLER

SECTION FUNDS PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
09.20.40 10f 3
SUB-SECTION  INPUT PROCEDURES EFFECTIVE DATE
July 1, 2020
PROCEDURE TRUST FUND SUB-ACCOUNTING REVISION NUMBER
21-001
TRUST FUNDS

As explained in the Statement of General Policy, the Comptroller will advise agencies receiving
money earmarked for aFederal or State Trust Fund, to either establish anew trust fund or establisha
separate revenue and expenditure account(s) within the existing Federal or State Trust Fund.

Recei pt accounts (revenue source codes) for new projects or purposes need only be established when
an existing receipt account (revenue source) isnot applicable. That is, a separate receipt account is
to be established for each specific revenue source, such as the federal Department of Agriculture,
Ford Foundation or the Joe Scomoli Trust. The Comptroller will assist the agenciesin determining
revenue accounts that may be needed for the reporting of specific programs or grants.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING THE
"CHART OF ACCOUNTS MAINTENANCE AND INQUIRY" FORM

PURPOSE

The purpose of this procedure is to provide instructions to request the establishment or
deletion of a receipt (revenue source) or expenditure account (budget line) in the state-wide
accounting system. Prior to preparing thisform, the policy statements (Procedure 09.10.40) should
be referenced to determine the Comptroller's general policies with regard to Trust Fund sub-
accounts.

PREPARATION OF FORM

Two copiesof the"Chart of Accounts Maintenance and Inquiry” form should be prepared to
request the establishment or del etion of areceipt (revenue source) or an expenditure account (budget
line). One copy of the form should be sent to the Comptroller's Office, State Accounting
Department, and the other retained by the agency.

If an agency isrequesting the addition or deletion of two or more receipt accounts (revenue
sources) or expenditure accounts (budget lines), aseparate request form should be submitted for each
account addition or deletion requested. However, one request applicabl eto recei ptsand one request
applicable to expenditures may be on the same form. The "Chart of Accounts Maintenance and
Inquiry” formislimited to one request per form for similar items (receipts or expenditures).



STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF COMPTROLLER

SECTION

SUB-SECTION

PROCEDURE

FUNDS PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
09.20.40 20f 3

INPUT PROCEDURES EFFECTIVE DATE
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06-001

Only those portions of the " Chart of Accounts Maintenance and Inquiry” form used to add or
delete a receipt (revenue source) or an expenditure account (budget line) are explained in this
section. Other portions of the form are explained in the appropriate section of the manual.

Exhibit 09.20.40-A illustrates a blank form with the instruction reference numbers on it.

Exhibit 09.20.40-B illustrates acompl eted form requesting the addition of areceipt account (revenue

source). Exhibit 09.20.40-C shows a properly completed form to delete areceipt account (revenue

source). Theinstructions for completing the form are:

Genera Information

(1) Enter agency name.
(2)  Enter date of inquiry.
(3) Enter agency address.
| (4)  Enter name to whose attention approved C-45 should be returned.
Receipt Account
| (5) Mark box if receipt account (revenue source) is to be added. Indicate estimated
annual receipts.
| (6) Mark box if receipt account (revenue source) isto bedeleted. Indicate account code.
| (7)  Estimated annual receiptsif receipt account (revenue source) isto be added.
| (8)  Enter number and name of fund into which the receipts will be deposited.
| (9) Indicate the source of receipts.

| Expenditure Authority Account

| (10)

Check box if expenditure account (budget line) is to be added.
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| (11)
| (12)
| (13)

| (14)

| (15)

Check box if expenditure account (budget line) is to be deleted. Indicate SAMS
account number.

Specify and explain if expenditures are subject to control based on some other
indicator.

Enter number and name of fund from which expenditures will be made.
Indicate recommendation for SAM S expenditure authority code, including agency,
organization code and other codes needed for agency reporting such as sequence

number.

Description and/or statutory authority for basis of request.

Aqgency Authorization

| (16)
| (17)
| (18)
| (19)

| (20)

Signature of agency official.
Title of agency official.

Date of signing.

Type or print namein field 16.

Official's telephone number.

NOTIFICATION OF ADDITION OR DELETION OF RECEIPT OR EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

After the "Chart of Accounts Maintenance and Inquiry” form has been received by the
Comptroller's Office, it will be reviewed and the agency notified of the action taken. If the request
has been approved, the "Chart of Accounts Maintenance and Inquiry” form will be returned to the
regquesting agency with notification of approval.

If the request has been denied, theform will be returned with aletter indicating the reason for
denying therequest. Questions relating to the denial of arequest should be addressed to the Funds
Management Department.



Exhibit 09.20.40-A

(13-001)
Chart of Accounts
(32 RANAA: YENRSZA Maintenance and Inquiry
Agency Date
Address
Attention
I.  Receipt Account |:| Add |:| Delete Estimated Annual Receipts
Account Code Receipts to be deposited into Fund No.
Fund Name
Sources of Receipts
Il.  Expenditure Authority Account Organizational Unit
[] Add [ ] Delete [[] Add [ ] Delete
Account Account

Expenditures subject to Control based on:
a) Receipts |:| Yes |:| No If yes, give Receipt Account Number

b) Allotments |:| Yes |:| No
c) Other (please specify)

Expenditures to be made from Fund No. Fund Name
Suggested Expenditure Authority Account Code

Ill. Detail Expenditure Object [] Add [_] Delete [ ] Inquiry
Account to be deleted or inquired about (if known)

IV. Description of any Addition, Deletion or Inquiry from Section |, II, or IIl.

Signature: Title Date
Telephone

Please type or print name

Comptroller Use Only

V. Type of Account Account Number Remarks
1.  Receipt Account

Added [ | Deleted []

2.  Expenditure Authority
Added [ ] Deleted
3.  Organizational Unit

Added [ ] Deleted []

4. Detail Expenditure Object
Added |:| Deleted |J:| Inquiry |:|

Approved By Date

Changed By Date

C45  ~ame



Exhibit 09.20.40-B

(13-001)
Chart of Accounts
72 7% SUSANA A. MENDOZA . ]
&%) ILLINOIS STATE COMPTROLLER Maintenance and |nqu|ry

Agency (1) Date (2)

Address (3)

Attention (4)

I.  Receipt Account 5) |:| Add |:| Delete (6) Estimated Annual Receipts (7)
Account Code Receipts to be deposited into Fund No. (8)
Fund Name (8)

Sources of Receipts (9)

Il.  Expenditure Authority Account Organizational Unit

(10)[ ] Add [ ] Delete (11) [[] Add [ ] Delete
Account Account
Expenditures subject to Control based on:

(12) a) Receipts |:| Yes |:| No If yes, give Receipt Account Number

(12) b)  Allotments |:| Yes |:| No

(12) ¢)  Other (please specify)

Expenditures to be made from Fund No. (13) Fund Name (13)
Suggested Expenditure Authority Account Code (14)

Ill. Detail Expenditure Object [] Add [_] Delete [ ] Inquiry
Account to be deleted or inquired about (if known)

IV. Description of any Addition, Deletion or Inquiry from Section |, Il, or IIl.

(15)
Signature: (16) Title (17) Date (18)
(19) Telephone (20)

Please type or print name

Comptroller Use Only

V. Type of Account Account Number Remarks
1.  Receipt Account

Added [ | Deleted []

2.  Expenditure Authority
Added [ | Deleted
3.  Organizational Unit

Added [ | Deleted []

4. Detail Expenditure Object
Added |:| Deleted |J:| Inquiry |:|

Approved By Date

Changed By Date

C45  ~ame



Exhibit 09.20.40-C

(13-001)
Chart of Accounts
(32 RANAA: YENRSZA Maintenance and Inquiry
Agency lllinois Office of the Comptroller Date 6/15/2004
Address 201 State House, Springdfield, IL 62704
Attention I. M. Money
I.  Receipt Account Add |:| Delete Estimated Annual Receipts $45,000.00
Account Code Receipts to be deposited into Fund No. 0001
Fund Name  General Revenue
Sources of Receipts Owners of bicycles
Il.  Expenditure Authority Account Organizational Unit
[] Add [ ] Delete [[] Add [ ] Delete
Account Account

Expenditures subject to Control based on:
a) Receipts |:| Yes |:| No If yes, give Receipt Account Number

b) Allotments |:| Yes |:| No
c) Other (please specify)

Expenditures to be made from Fund No. Fund Name
Suggested Expenditure Authority Account Code

Ill. Detail Expenditure Object [] Add [_] Delete [ ] Inquiry
Account to be deleted or inquired about (if known)

IV. Description of any Addition, Deletion or Inquiry from Section |, II, or IIl.

The 93rd General Assembly has passed and the Governor signed into law HBxxxx, which requires all bicycle owners to
purchase license plates for their bicycles. There is no existing receipt account to classify this source of receipts.

Signature: (Signature of Agency Official) Title (Official Title) Date XXIXXIXX

(Printed or typed name) Telephone
Please type or print name

Comptroller Use Only

V. Type of Account Account Number Remarks
1.  Receipt Account

Added [ | Deleted []

2.  Expenditure Authority
Added [ ] Deleted
3.  Organizational Unit

Added [ ] Deleted []

4. Detail Expenditure Object
Added |:| Deleted |J:| Inquiry |:|

Approved By Date

Changed By Date

C45  ~ame



Exhibit 09.20.40-D

(13-001)
Chart of Accounts
(32 RANAA: YENRSZA Maintenance and Inquiry
Agency lllinois Office of the Comptroller Date 4/12/2005
Address 201 State House, Springfield, IL 62704
Attention 1. M. Money
I.  Receipt Account |:| Add Delete Estimated Annual Receipts
Account Code  360-950-012-001 Receipts to be deposited into Fund No.
Fund Name
Sources of Receipts
Il.  Expenditure Authority Account Organizational Unit
[] Add [ ] Delete [[] Add [ ] Delete
Account Account

Expenditures subject to Control based on:
a) Receipts |:| Yes |:| No If yes, give Receipt Account Number

b) Allotments |:| Yes |:| No
c) Other (please specify)

Expenditures to be made from Fund No. Fund Name
Suggested Expenditure Authority Account Code

Ill. Detail Expenditure Object [] Add [_] Delete [ ] Inquiry
Account to be deleted or inquired about (if known)

IV. Description of any Addition, Deletion or Inquiry from Section |, II, or IIl.

The 94th General Assembly has repealed Public Act 93-XXXX requiring bicycle owners to purchase license plates for their
bicycles. This receipt account will no longer be used.

Signature: (Signature of Agency Official) Title (Official Title) Date  XX/XX/XX
(Printed or typed name) Telephone  (XXX)XXX-XXXX
Please type or print name

Comptroller Use Only

V. Type of Account Account Number Remarks
1.  Receipt Account

Added [ | Deleted []

2.  Expenditure Authority
Added [ ] Deleted
3. Organizational Unit

Added [ ] Deleted []

4. Detail Expenditure Object
Added |:| Deleted |J:| Inquiry |:|

Approved By Date

Changed By Date

C45  ~ame



STATE OF ILLINOIS

OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

SECTION FUNDS PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
09.40.10 lof5
SUB-SECTION CONTROL EFFECTIVE DATE
July 1, 1997
PROCEDURE CASH REPORT REVISION NUMBER
98-001
REPORT TITLE: Cash Report
PURPOSE: To reconcile an agency's cash records to the Comptroller's records.
SEQUENCE: Fund, Record-Type, Type-Indicator, Transaction-Date.
DISTRIBUTION: All agencies.
CONTENTS:
REFERENCE CONTENTS
(1) Date Report reflects dl activity processed by the Comptroller's Office
as of thisdate.
2 FRund Comptroller's officia name and number of afund.

(3) Fund Category

A grouping of funds for budgetary reporting purposes.

(4) Beginning Bdance The available cash badance a the beginning of the accounting
CashtAvalable period.
(5) Current Period Receipts Current month cash received and ordered by the Compitroller into

the State Treasury. This includes new receipts and current year
recei pts adjustments.

(6) Current Period Refunds Current month expenditure adjustments where an amount is

refunded by a vendor to the State.

(7)  Current Period Trandfersiin ~ Current month increases in the available cash balance which are

offsat by corresponding decreases in the available cash baance of
one or more other funds.
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SUB-SECTION CONTROL EFFECTIVE DATE
July 1, 1997
PROCEDURE CASH REPORT REVISION NUMBER
98-001
REFERENCE CONTENTS
(80 Current Period Current month decreases in the available cash baance of a fund
Tranders-out which are offset by corresponding increases in the available cash

9)

(10)

(1D)

(12)

(13)

(14)

Current Period IGPV Sdler

Current Period IGPV Buyer

Current Period Other

Current Period Commercia
Payments

Current Period
Warrants voided

Ending Bdance
Cashravallable

balance of one or more other funds.

Current month increases in the available cash balance due to the
receipt of an intergovernmental payment voucher from another
agency who was provided a good or service from the receipting

agency.

Current month decreases in the available cash baance due to the
processing of an intergovernmental payment voucher to another
agency who provided agood or service to the vouchering agency.

Current period transactions not e sewhere classfied.

Commercia payments disbursed for the fund.

Current period warrants voided and redeposited into the fund.

The available cash baance a the end of the accounting period.
(4 plus or minus 5 through 13).

Note: If the above Current Period line items contain a 0.00 dollar amount the corresponding detall, as
presented below, will not be printed on the report.

(15)

(16)

(17)

Current Period Receipts

Date

Document ID/Ref Doc ID

Detall for recaipt transactions. Transactions listed for thisareaare
Cash Receipt (CR) documents.

The date of the Cash Receipt (CR) document.

The document identification number referencing the pecific
transaction.
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PROCEDURE CASH REPORT REVISION NUMBER
98-001

REFERENCE CONTENTS

(18) Amount The amount of the transaction.

(190  Current Period Refunds Detal for refund transactions. Transactions listed for thisareaare
Cash Receipt (CR) documents.

(20) Date The date of the Cash Receipt (CR) document.

(21) Document ID/Ref Doc ID The document identification number referencing the pecific
transaction.

(220 Amount The amount of the transaction.

(23)  Current Period Transfersin =~ Detall for trandfersin transactions. Transactions listed for thisarea
are Journa Voucher (JV) and rdated Payment Voucher (PV)
documents.

(24) Date The date of the transaction document.

(25) Document ID/Ref Doc ID The document identification number referencing the specific
transaction.

(26)  Amount The amount of the transaction.

(27)  Current Period Detall for transfers out transactions. Transactions listed for

Trandfers out this areaare Journa Voucher (JV) and related Payment V oucher
(PV) documents.

(28) Date The date of the transaction document.

(299 Document ID/Ref Doc ID The document identification number referencing the specific
transaction.

(30)  Amount The amount of the transaction.

(31)  Current Period IGPV Sdler  Detail for Intergovernmenta payment transactions - sdler fund.

(32)

Date

Transactions listed for this area are Journa Voucher (JV) and
related Payment Voucher (PV) documents.

The date of the transaction document.
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SUB-SECTION CONTROL EFFECTIVE DATE
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PROCEDURE CASH REPORT REVISION NUMBER
00-001

REFERENCE CONTENTS

(33) Document ID/Ref Doc ID The document identification number referencing the specific
transaction.

(39 Amount The amount of the transaction.

(35)  Current Period IGPV buyer  Detall for Intergovernmental payment transactions - buyer fund.
Transactions listed for this area are Journa Voucher (V) and
related Payment Voucher (PV) documents.

(36) Date The date of the transaction document.

(37)  Document ID/Ref Doc ID The document identification number referencing the specific
transaction.

(38)  Amount The amount of the transaction.

(399  Current Period Other Detal for transactions not esewhere classfied. Transactions
listed for this area are Journd Voucher (JV), Payment Voucher
(PV), and Cash Receipt (CR) documents.

(40) Date The date of the transaction document.

(41) Document ID/Ref Doc ID The document identification number referencing the specific
transaction.

(42) Agency/Ref The agency assigned voucher number, where applicable, will
aopear here.  This fidd will be populated for transactions
processed by warrant writing systems externa to SAMS,

(43) Amount The amount of the transaction.

(44)  Current Period Commercial  Detail for commercid payment transactions. Transactions listed

payments for this area are Payment Voucher (PV) documents.

(45) Date The date of the transaction document.
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PROCEDURE CASH REPORT REVISION NUMBER
00-001
REFERENCE CONTENTS
(46)  Document ID/Ref Doc ID The document identification number referencing the specific
transaction.
(47)  Amount The amount of the transaction.
(48)  Current Period Detall for voided warrant transactions. Transactions listed for this
Warrants Voided areaare Check Cancellation (CX) documents.
(49 Date The date of the transaction document.
(50)  Document ID/Ref Doc ID The document identification number referencing the specific

(51)

Amount

transaction.

The amount of the transaction.



@

4)

(15)
(16)

19)
(20

REPORT ID: SB05
DATE RUN: 99-99-99

TIME RUN:  99:99 CASH REPORT
1) AS OF 12/31/98
FUND: 0123 GRANT AND ACTIVITY (3) FUND CATEGORY:

CASH-AVAILABLE 1,000,000.00 (5) RECEIPTS
(6) REFUNDS
(7) TRANSFERS IN
(8) TRANSFERS OUT
(9) IGPV SELLER
(10) IGPV BUYER
(11) OTHER
(12) COMMERCIAL PAYMENTS

(13) WARRANTS VOIDED

CURRENT PERIOD - RECEIPTS

DATE (17) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOC ID AGENCY/REF (18) AMOUNT
12/01/98 CR 128 00000UT1189 20,000.00
CURRENT PERIOD - REFUNDS

DATE (21) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOC ID AGENCY/REF (22) AMOUNT
12/01/98 CR 123 0000EFR003 25,000.00

STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

Exhibit 09.40.10-A
Page 1 of 3
(00-001)

PAGE :0001

B SPECIAL STATE FUNDS

30,000.00 CASH-AVAILABLE (14) 1,044,000.00
41,000.00
55,000.00
10,000.00
25,000.00
32,000.00
-15,000.00
60,000.00
10,000.00
(16) DATE  (17) DOCUMENT ID/REFDOCID  AGENCY/REF (18) AMOUNT
12/02/98 CR 123 00000UT1424 10,000.00
(20) DATE  (21) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOC ID AGENCY/REF (22) AMOUNT
12/02/98 CR 123 00000SFR008 16,000.00



(23)
(24)

@7
(28)

(1)
(32

(35)
(36)

REPORT ID: SB05
DATE RUN: 99-99-99
TIME RUN: 99:99

FUND: 0123 GRANT AND ACTIVITY

CURRENT PERIOD - TRANSFERS IN

DATE (25) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOC ID
12/01/98 JV 799 180470CW104

PV 799 TV000002677
12/01/98 JV 799 180490CW104

PV 799 TV000002679

CURRENT PERIOD - TRANSFERS OUT
DATE (29) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOC ID
12/01/98 JV 799 180140CWO096

PV 799 TV000002665

CURRENT PERIOD - IGPV SELLER
DATE (33) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOC ID
12/01/98 JV 123 11215455555

PV 123 15123452001

CURRENT PERIOD - IGPV BUYER
DATE (37) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOC ID
12/01/98 JV 123 11215455555

PV 123 12465213512

FUND CATEGORY:

AGENCY/REF

AGENCY/REF

AGENCY/REF

AGENCY/REF

STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER
CASH REPORT

AS OF 12/31/98

(26) AMOUNT  (24) DATE
25,000.00 12/02/98
20,000.00

(30) AMOUNT  (28) DATE

4,000.00 12/02/98

(34) AMOUNT  (32) DATE
15,000.00 12/02/98

(38) AMOUNT  (36) DATE
15,000.00 12/02/98

B SPECIAL STATE FUNDS

Exhibit 09.40.10-A

Page 2 of 3
(00-001)
PAGE: 0002
(25) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOC ID  AGENCY/REF (26) AMOUNT
JV 799 180480CW104 10,000.00
PV 799 TV000002692
(29) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOC ID AGENCY/REF (30) AMOUNT
JV 799 180141CWO013 6,000.00
PV 799 TV000002693
(33) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOC ID AGENCY/REF (34) AMOUNT
JV 123 12112312122 10,000.00
PV 123 15234421201
(37) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOC ID AGENCY/REF (38) AMOUNT

JV 123 12112312122
PV 123 14212353320

17,000.00



(39)
(40)

(44)
(45)

(48)
(49)

REPORT ID: SB05
DATE RUN: 99-99-99
TIME RUN: 99:99

FUND: 0123 GRANT AND ACTIVITY

CURRENT PERIOD - OTHER

DATE (41) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOC ID (42) AGENCY/REF
12/02/98 JV 123 9PQ39439494 12300000394
12/05/98 JV 123 9PW81441819 12300000398
CURRENT PERIOD - COMMERCIAL PAYMENTS

DATE (46) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOC ID AGENCY/REF
12/01/98 PV 123 9ADG00168

12/03/98 PV 123 9XRC123456

12/08/98 PV 123 912345678

CURRENT PERIOD - WARRANTS VOIDED

DATE (50) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOC ID AGENCY/REF

12/01/98

CX 360 00000054010

FUND CATEGORY:

STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER
CASH REPORT

AS OF 12/31/98

Exhibit 09.40.10-A

B SPECIAL STATE FUNDS

(43) AMOUNT

Page 3 of 3
(00-001)

PAGE: 0003

-10,000.00
'-2000.00

(47) AMOUNT

20,000.00
12,000.00
12,000.00

(51) AMOUNT

(40) DATE  (41) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOC ID (42)AGENCY/REF  (43) AMOUNT
12/02/98 JV 123 P9R41131112 12300000396 -3,000.00

(45) DATE  (46) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOCID  AGENCY/REF  (47) AMOUNT
12/02/98 PV 123 915141618 16,000.00

(49) DATE  (50) DOCUMENT ID/REF DOC ID  AGENCY/REF  (51) AMOUNT

10,000.00
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PROCEDURE RECONCILIATION OF MONTHLY CASH REPORT ~ REVISION NUMBER
ENDING BALANCE OF AVAILABLE CASH 18-001

RECONCILIATION OF MONTHLY CASH REPORT-
ENDING BALANCE OF AVAILABLE CASH

PURPOSE

The purpose of this procedure is to describe one method which can be used to reconcile the
ending balance of available cash per the agency's records with the ending balance of available cash per
the Statewide Accounting Management System (SAMS) maintained by the Comptroller's Office.
Agencies with access to SAMS automated records may perform alternate reconciliation methods. This
reconciliation must be performed monthly and the Comptroller's Office notified of any unreconcilable
differences so that the necessary corrective action can be taken to locate the differences and correct the
accounting records. This reconciliation must be completed within 60 days of the month end.

A reconciliation to the SAMS system is not applicable for agencies that use SAMS as their
system of record. However, agencies shall ensure that their source documents have been properly
recorded in SAMS and in the corresponding reports.

GENERAL

This procedure should be read in conjunction with SAMS Procedure 09.40.10 which defines each
field in the monthly Cash Report and the abbreviations used in the report

The reconciliation of the ending balance of available cash shown in the monthly Cash Report
should be prepared subsequent to the reconciliation of the unexpended appropriation balances shown in
the Monthly Appropriation Status Report (SAM S Procedure 11.40.10) and the fiscal year-to-date revenue
source accounts per the Monthly Revenue Status Report (SAMS Procedure 25.40.10). The total of the
reconciling items for the ending available cash of a fund should be equal to the total of the cash
reconciling items for the revenue source accounts and appropriation accounts associated with afund.

The appropriation and revenue source account reconciliations along with the monthly Cash
Report (SAMS Procedure Exhibit 09.40.10-A) should enable an agency to reconcile the ending balance of
available cash.

In addition to other information, the monthly Cash Report presents Commercia payments by the
"payment voucher range”. A voucher range coincides with the day the voucher was processed.

Most differences between agency records and the Statewide Accounting Management System
(SAMS) will be due to timing differences or uncleared cash items. Timing differences occur when the
agency records a transaction before that transaction was recorded by SAMS. Uncleared cash items occur
when SAMS records a revenue or an expenditure even though cash has not physically moved into or out
of afund.
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The ending balance of available cash (14) (refer to SAMS Procedure Exhibit 09.40.10-A) in
SAMS is affected only by cash transactions. It is important to remember that SAMS will recognize a
revenue or an expenditure even though cash has not physically moved into or out of afund. Agencies, on
the other hand, will decrease their cash balance for payment vouchers submitted and increase it for
receipts transmitted. This timing will have implications for the reconciliation process. Revenue and
expenditure transactions may no longer be reconciling items for the appropriation status report and
revenue status report but, the cash affect of the transactions may not have occurred. Where the cash affect
of aparticular transaction has not occurred, the item will still be areconciling item for the cash report.

The most frequent example of this will be payment vouchers that charge a " cash managed" fund.
When SAMSS processes a payment voucher, it recognizes an expenditure, decreases the appropriation and,
establishes a vouchers payable. At the time the related warrant is written, vouchers payable is relieved
and cash is decreased. For "cash managed" funds, there could be a lag between expenditure recognition
and warrant writing. The expenditure will not be marked with a"D" on the Appropriation Status Report.
When the cash for those transactions is cleared, the "PV" will appear on the cash report. In the case of an
Intergovernmental Payment voucher (IGPV), the PV will be displayed on the Cash Report along with the
Journa Voucher (JV) that moved the cash. IGPV's are generally used to make warrantless payments to
revolving funds.

The reconciliation process must recognize and accommodate these differences. A listing of items
that have not cleared cash can be developed in conjunction with the open item files discussed for the
appropriation status and revenue status reports.

The ending balance of available cash (14) (refer to SAMS Procedure Exhibit 09.40.10-A) in the
Comptroller's statewide accounting system is affected by cash transactions. For example, the issuance of
warrants will decrease the cash balance - not the recognition of an expenditure. The unexpended
appropriation balance maintained by the agencies is affected by expenditure recognition (the vouchering
process). The reconciliation process suggested recognizes and accommodates this difference, when used
in conjunction with the open item files discussed in relation to the Monthly Appropriation Status Report
(SAMS Procedure 11.40.20) and the Monthly Revenue Status Report (SAMS Procedure 25.40.20).

UNEXPENDED FUND BALANCE PER THE MONTHLY FUND LEDGER

For each fund maintained in the statewide accounting system, the following key data elements are
maintained.

1. Ending Balance Cash Available = Beginning Balance Cash Available +/- Current Period
Activity

2. Current Period Activity = Receipts + Refunds + Transfers-in - Transfers-out + IGPV Seller -
IGPV Buyer + Other - Commercial Payments + Warrants V oided
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RECONCILING THE REPORT

When preparing the reconciliation, the ending balance of available cash and transaction data
should be as of the date of the monthly Cash Report. The suggested method for reconciling the ending
balance of available cash (14) on the monthly Cash Report is as follows:

Step 1.

Step 2.

Step 3.

For each fund, compare the ending balance of available cash per the agency's records
as of the date of this report to the ending balance of available cash (14) per the
monthly "Cash Report". If there is a difference, the difference should be equal to the
sum of the in-transit transactions and uncleared cash items.

Accumulate, by type of transaction, the in-transit items and uncleared cash items per
the revenue source account reconciliation and the appropriation account
reconciliations.

a. The agency ending balance of available cash +/- intransit items +/- uncleared
cash items = the ending balance of available cash per the monthly Cash Report.

b. Ending balance of available cash per the agency, as of the report date

Less: in-transit receipts, refunds, transfers-in and warrants voided

Add: in-trangit transfers-out

Add: payment vouchers recorded by the agency that have not been
processed

Add: payment vouchers that have been processed, but the warrant has
not been issued

Add: intergovernmental payment vouchers that have been processed,

but ajournal voucher has not yet moved the cash
Add/subtract: Other
Equals: Ending balance of available cash per the monthly Cash Report.

If the sum of the in-transit and uncleared cash items does not account for the total
difference between the ending balance of available cash per the agency and per the
monthly Cash Report, review the receipt account and appropriation account
reconciliations. Perform the following steps in relation to these reconciliations.

a. Assure yourself all receipt accounts and al appropriation accounts of the fund are
included.

b. Assureyoursdf all reports and reconciliations are of the same "as of" date.
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RECONCILIATION EXCEPTION NOTIFICATION

The monthly Cash Report must be reconciled within 60 days of the month end to ensure the early
detection and correction of errors. To facilitate this reconciliation, a Reconciliation Exception
Notification (SAMS Procedure Exhibit 09.40.30-A) is provided to the agency. The form is intended to
assist the agency in reporting discrepancies found through their reconciliation process.

CONTENTS: (Refer to SAMS Procedure Exhibit 09.40.30-B)

REFERENCE CONTENTS
D Check the Cash box.
2 Compl ete the month and fiscal year of the report being reconciled.
(©)] Indicate, by checking the appropriate box, the type of exception.

a. If the agency has charged a voucher to the wrong expenditure
account or fiscal year, this box should be checked. The agency
should attach an Expenditure Transfer Request and a copy of the
voucher in question.

b. If the agency detects a voucher which has been entered incorrectly
onto the SAMS system, this box should be checked. The agency
should attach an Expenditure Transfer Request, and a copy of the
voucher.

c. If the agency notes that a warrant has been issued for the wrong
amount, the Comptroller's Accounting Section (782-3426) should
be contacted immediately.

d. If an agency has credited a cash refund to a wrong expenditure
account, fiscal year, or detail object, this box should be checked.
The agency should attach a letter requesting the correction with a
reasonable explanation and include a copy of the original voucher.

e. If the agency has cited a wrong receipt account code on the
Receipts Deposit Transmittal (C-64), this box should be checked.
The agency should attach a letter requesting a receipt transfer with
areasonable explanation and a copy of the erroneous transmittal.
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f. If the agency has processed a refund as a receipt in error, this box
should be checked. The agency should attach a letter requesting a
receipt reversal with a reasonable explanation and a completed
expenditure adjustment transmittal (C-63).

g. If an adjustment is noted that is not identified in the prior
exceptions, attach an explanation of the adjustment needed and any
pertinent information.

h. If an adjustment is noted which cannot be identified by the agency,
attach any information which could be pertinent. The
Comptroller's Office will contact the agency to rectify the problem.

(4) Agency Name Complete the official agency name.

(5) Agency Number Three-digit Comptroller-assigned agency code.

(6) Authorized Responsible agency person completing the Signature reconciliation.
(7) Date Date completing reconciliation.

(8) Telephone Telephone number of person completing the Number reconciliation.



Exhibit 09.40.30-A
(98-001)

Reconciliation Exception Notification

For Cash, Revenue Status, and Appropriation Status Reports
Attention: Funds, Receipts and Collections, 325 West Adams Street, Springfield, Illinois 62706

The Comptroller’s Office Report for |:| Cash |:| Revenue |:| Appropriations
dated , 20 , FY___, contains the following exeptions that require
adjustments to SAMS.

Agency charged voucher to wrong expenditure account or fiscal year;
request for expenditure transfer with explanation and copy of voucher is attached.

|:| Voucher keypunched in error by Comptroller; detail information and copy of the voucher is
attached.

|:| Warrant written for wrong amount; call 782-3426.

|:| Cash refund credited to wrong expenditure account, fiscal year, or object; request for receipt
transfer and copy of transmittal is attached.

|:| Agency processed refund as receipt in error; request for receipt reversal and completed
expenditure adjustment transmittal is attached.

Agency processed refund as receipt in error; request for receipt reversal and completed
expenditure adjustment transmittal are attached.

|:| Other; explanation and pertinent information are attached.

|:| Unidentified difference; available information is attached.

Agency Name Agency Number

Authorized Signature Date

Telephone Number

C-82




Exhibit 09.40.30-B
(98-001)

Reconciliation Exception Notification

For Cash, Revenue Status, and Appropriation Status Reports
Attention: Funds, Receipts and Collections, 325 West Adams Street, Springfield, Illinois 62706
)
The Comptroller’s Office Report for Cash |:| Revenue |:| Appropriations
dated (2) , 20 , FY___, contains the following exeptions that require
adjustments to SAMS.

a) Agency charged voucher to wrong expenditure account or fiscal year;
request for expenditure transfer with explanation and copy of voucher is attached.

3
b)|:| Voucher keypunched in error by Comptroller; detail information and copy of the voucher is
attached.

c) |:| Warrant written for wrong amount; call 782-3426.

d)|:| Cash refund credited to wrong expenditure account, fiscal year, or object; request for receipt
transfer and copy of transmittal is attached.

e)|:| Agency processed refund as receipt in error; request for receipt reversal and completed
expenditure adjustment transmittal is attached.

f)|:| Agency processed refund as receipt in error; request for receipt reversal and completed
expenditure adjustment transmittal are attached.

g)|:| Other; explanation and pertinent information are attached.

h)|:| Unidentified difference; available information is attached.

Agency Name (4) Agency Number (5)
Authorized Signature (6) Date (7N
Telephone Number (8)

C-82
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ALPHABETIC LISTING OF FUNDS

ILCS SECTION NIFJLI\J/II\];]%R FUND NAME ADMINISTERING AGENCY
30 105/5.542 0686 Budget Stabilization Comptroller
30 105/5.787 0644 Commitment to Human
Services Various Agencies
30 105/5.11 0412 Common School State Board of Education
| 30 105/5.255 0007 Education Assistance State Board of Education
30 105/5.786 0640 Fund for Advancement of
Education Various Agencies
30 105/4 0001 General Revenue Various Agencies
35 105/9 0005 General Revenue-Common

School Special Account State Board of Education
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ALPHABETIC LISTING OF FUNDS
FUND
ILCS SECTION NUMBER FUND NAME ADMINISTERING AGENCY
30 105/5.895 0965 Downstate Mass Transportation
Capital Improvement Transportation
30 105/5.22 0019 Grade Crossing Protection Transportation
30 105/5.34 0012 Motor Fuel Tax-State Transportation and Revenue
35 505/8 0413 Motor Fuel Tax-Counties Transportation
35  505/8 0414 Motor Fuel Tax-Municipalities Transportation
35  505/8 0415 Motor Fuel Tax-Townships
and Road Districts Transportation
30 105/5.894 0964 Regional Transportation Authority
Capital Improvement Transportation
30 105/5.42 0011 Road Transportation
30 105/5.108 0902 State Construction Account Transportation
30 105/5.893 0952 Transportation Renewal Transportation
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FUND
ILCS SECTION NUMBER FUNDNAME ADMINISTERING AGENCY
30 105/5.780 0892 Abandoned Residential Property
Municipality Relief Illinois Housing Development Authority
30 105/5.720 0660 Academic Quality Assurance Board of Higher Education
30 105/5.845 0035 Accessto Justice Attorney General
30 105/5.629 0106 Accessible Electronic
Information Service Secretary of State
30 105/5.158 0982 Addline Jay Geo-Karislllinois
Beach Marina Natural Resources
620 5/78 0046 Aeronautics Transportation
30 105/5.666 0326 African-American HIV/AIDS
Response Public Health
30 105/5.808 0512 After-School Rescue State Board of Education
30 105/5.410 0146 Aggregate Operations Regulatory Natural Resources
30 105/5.01 0045 Agricultural Premium Various Agencies
30 105/5.678 0466 Agriculture in the Classroom Secretary of State
30 105/5.515 0669 Airport Land Loan Revolving Transportation
30 105/5.427 0422 Alternate Fuels Secretary of State/Environmental
Protection Agency
30 105/5.437 0738 Alternative Compliance Market
Account Environmental Protection Agency
30 105/5.843 0020 Alzheimer’s Awareness Secretary of State
30 105/5.180 0060 Alzheimer's Disease Research,

Care and Support

Public Health
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EFFECTIVE DATE
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REVISION NUMBER
20-002

FUND
ILCS SECTION NUMBER FUND NAME
30 105/5.667 0334 Ambulance Revolving Loan
30 105/5.841 0029 American Red Cross
30 105/5.851 0051 Amusement Ride and Patron Safety
30 105/5.244 0273 AnnaVeterans Home
30 105/5.348 0386 Appraisa Administration
30 105/5.221 0224 Asbestos Abatement
30 105/5.280 0100 Assistance to the Homeless
30 105/5.527 0702 Assisted Living and Shared
Housing Regulatory
30 105/5.795 0505 Athletics Supervision and Regulation
30 105/5.468 0542 Attorney General Court Ordered

and Voluntary Compliance
Payment Projects

30 105/5.763 0958 Attorney General Sex Offender
Awareness, Training, and Education

30 105/5.792 0533 Attorney General Tobacco

30 105/5.317 0600 Attorney General Whistleblower
Reward and Protection

30 105/5.349 0342 Audit Expense

30 105/5.679 0458 Autism Awareness

30 105/5.873 0399 Autism Care

30 105/5.653 0228 Autism Research Checkoff

ADMINISTERING AGENCY

Finance Authority/State Fire Marshal
Secretary of State

Labor

Veterans' Affairs

Financial and Professional Regulation
Attorney Genera

Human Services

Public Health

Financial and Professional Regulation

Attorney Genera

Attorney Genera

Attorney Generad

Attorney General
Auditor General
Secretary of State
Human Services

Human Services
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30 105/5.688 0469 Autoimmune Disease Research Public Health
| 30 105/5.894 0946 Aviation Fuel Sales Tax Refund Revenue
30 105/5.79 0795 Bank and Trust Company Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.883 0766 BHE Data and Research Cost
Recovery Board of Higher Education
30 105/5.684 0464 Boy Scout and Girl Scout Secretary of State
30 105/5.455 0214 Brownfields Redevel opment Environmental Protection Agency
30 105/5.148 0960 Build lllinois Treasurer
30 105/5.892 0898 Cannabis Business Devel opment Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.894 0908 Cannabis Expungement Revenue
30 105/5.891 0912 Cannabis Regulation Revenue
30 105/5.857 0215 Capital Development Board
Revolving Capital Development Board
30 105/5.619 0149 Capitol Restoration Trust Architect of the Capitol
30 105/5.329 0344 Care Provider Fund for Persons
with a Developmental Disability Human Services
30 105/5.646 0208 Carolyn Adams Ticket For The

Cure Grant

Revenue
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REVISION NUMBER
20-002

FUND
ILCS SECTION NUMBER FUNDNAME

30 105/5.270 0109 CDLISSAAMVANet/NMVTIS Trust
(Commercial Driver's License
Information System/American
Association of Motor Vehicle
Administrators Network/National
Motor Vehicle Title Information

Service Trust)

30 105/5.775 0792 Cemetery Oversight Licensing and
Disciplinary

30  105/5.776 0833 Cemetery Relief

30 105/5.697 0435 Charitable Trust Stabilization

30 105/5.510 0567 Charter Schools Revolving Loan

30 105/5.788 0639 Chicago Police Memorial Foundation

30 105/5.830 0223 Chicago State University Education
Improvement

30 105/5.810 0624 Chicago Travel Industry Promotion

Exposition Authority

30 105/5.147 0934 Child Abuse Prevention

30 105/5.874 0493 Child Bereavement

30 105/5.306 0357 Child Labor and Day and Temporary
Labor Services Enforcement

30 105/5.548 0757 Child Support Administrative

30 105/5.821 0172 Childhood Cancer Research

30 105/5.824 0178 Children’s Wellness Charities

ADMINISTERING AGENCY

Secretary of State

Financial and Professional Regulation
Financial and Professional Regulation
Treasurer

State Board of Education

Secretary of State

Chicago State University

Metropolitan Pier and

Children and Family Services

Labor

Labor
Healthcare and Family Services
Public Health

Human Services



STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF COMPTROLLER

SECTION FUNDS PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
09.50.25 50f 30
SUB-SECTION REFERENCE EFFECTIVE DATE
January 1, 2020
PROCEDURE FUND LISTING — SPECIAL STATE FUNDS REVISION NUMBER
20-002
FUND
ILCS SECTION NUMBER FUNDNAME ADMINISTERING AGENCY
30 105/5.897 0950 Civic and Transit Infrastructure Governor’ s Office of Management and
Budget
30 105/5.399 0091 Clean Air Act Permit Environmental Protection Agency
30 105/5.891 0981 Coa Combustion Residual Surface
Impoundment Financial Assurance  Environmental Protection Agency
30 105/5.394 0147 Coal Mining Regulatory Natural Resources
30 105/5.139 0925 Coal Technology Development
Assistance Natural Resources
30 105/5.742 0829 Community Association Manager
Licensing and Disciplinary Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.284 0113 Community Health Center Care Public Health
20 1705/18.4 0718 Community Mental Health
Medicaid Trust Human Services
30 105/5.267 0288 Community Water Supply
Laboratory Environmental Protection Agency
30 105/5.839 0075 Compassionate Use of Medical
Cannabis Public Health
30 105/5.443 0543 Comptroller's Administrative Comptroller
30 105/5.791 0547 Conservation Police Operations
Assistance Natural Resources
30 105/5.93 0844 Continuing Legal Education Trust State's Attorneys Appellate
Prosecutor
30 105/5.343 0380 Corporate Franchise Tax Refund Secretary of State
30 105/5.302 0329 County Provider Trust Healthcare and Family Services
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REVISION NUMBER
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FUND
ILCS SECTION NUMBER FUNDNAME

30 105/5.448 0434 Court of Claims Administration
and Grant

30 105/5.224 0243 Credit Union

30 105/5.853 0066 Curing Childhood Cancer

625 35/6 0863 Cycle Rider Safety Training

30 105/5.215 0220 DCFS Children's Services

30 105/5.509 0635 Death Certificate Surcharge

30 105/5.790 0539 Death Penalty Abolition

30 105/5.313 0363 Department of Business Services
Specia Operations

30 105/5.450 0523 Department of Corrections
Reimbursement and Education

30 105/5.745 0797 Department of Human Rights
Special

30 105/5.731 0778 Department of Human Rights
Training and Development

30 105/5.789 0509 Department of Human Services
Community Services

30 105/5.103 0888 Design Professionals Administration
and Investigation

30 105/5.891 0110 Developmental Disabilities
Awareness

30 105/5.644 0198 Diabetes Research Checkoff

30 105/5.545 0770 Digital Divide Elimination

ADMINISTERING AGENCY

Court of Claims

Financial and Professional Regulation
Secretary of State

Transportation

Children and Family Services

Public Health

Criminal Justice Information Authority

Secretary of State

Corrections

Human Rights

Human Rights

Human Services

Financial and Professional Regulation

Human Services
Human Services

Commerce and Economic Opportunity
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REVISION NUMBER
20-002

FUND
ILCS SECTION NUMBER FUNDNAME

30 105/5.546 0771 Digital Divide Elimination
Infrastructure

30 105/5.861 0082 Distance Learning

30 105/5.391 0167 Division of Corporations Registered
Limited Liability Partnership

30 105/5.707 0499 Domestic Violence

30 105/5.463 0528 Domestic Violence Abuser Services

30 105/5.96 0865 Domestic Violence Shelter
and Service

30 105/5.15 0648 Downstate Public Transportation

30 105/5.708 0559 Downstate Transit Improvement

30 105/5.81 0821 Dram Shop

30 105/5.826 0182 Driver Services Administration

30 105/5.16 0031 Drivers Education

30 105/5.550 0728 Drug Rebate

30 105/5.99 0878 Drug Traffic Prevention

30 105/5.322 0368 Drug Treatment

30 105/5.247 0276 Drunk and Drugged Driving
Prevention

30 105/5.472 0548 Drycleaner Environmental
Response Trust

30 105/5.782 0918 Ducks Unlimited

ADMINISTERING AGENCY

Commerce Commission

Board of Higher Education

Secretary of State
Attorney General

Human Services

Human Services
Transportation

Transportation

Revenue

Secretary of State

State Board of Education
Healthcare and Family Services
State Police

Human Services

Secretary of State/Human Services

Drycleaner Environmental Response
Council

Secretary of State
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| 30 105/5.891 0956 DUI Prevention and Education Transportation
30 105/5.419 0398 EMS Assistance Public Health
30 105/5.379 0023 Economic Research and Information ~ Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.797 0503 Electronic Health Record Incentive Healthcare and Family Services
30 105/5.716 0675 Electronics Recycling Environmental Protection Agency
430 100/18 0173 Emergency Planning and Training Emergency Management Agency
30 105/5.596 0240 Emergency Public Health Public Health
30 105/5.675 0446 Employee Classification Labor
30 105/5.816 0531 Energy Efficiency Portfolio Standards Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.476 0571 Energy Efficiency Trust Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.425 0336 Environmental Laboratory
Certification Environmental Protection Agency
30 105/5.135 0944 Environmental Protection
Permit and Inspection Environmental Protection Agency
30 105/5.643 0197 Epilepsy Treatment and Education
Grants-In-Aid Public Health
30 105/5.589 0371 Equity in Long-term Care Quality Public Health
30 105/5.812 0121 Estate Tax Refund Treasurer
30 105/5.395 &
62-37 0145 Explosives Regulatory Natural Resources
30 105/5.384 0118 Facility Licensing Public Health
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FUND
ILCS SECTION NUMBER FUND NAME

30 105/5.17 0245 Fair and Exposition

30 105/5.415 0322 Family Responsibility

30 105/5.762 0864 Farmers Market Technology
Improvement

30 105/5.452 0520 Federal Asset Forfeiture

30 105/5.408 0212 Federal Financing Cost
Reimbursement

30  330/13 0433 Federal High Speed Rail Trust

20 605/605-807 0913 Federal Workforce Training

30 105/5.318 0369 Feed Control

30 105/5.260 0290 Fertilizer Control

30 105/5.365 0021 Financial Institution

30 105/5.20 0047 Fire Prevention

30 105/5.598 0572 Fire Truck Revolving Loan

30 105/5.886 0893 Firearm Dealer License Certification

30  105/5.229 0260 Fish and Wildlife Endowment

30 105/5.352 0014 Food and Drug Safety

30 105/5.768 0891 Foreclosure Prevention Program

30 105/5.831 0119 Foreclosure Prevention Program
Graduated

30 105/5.487 0597 Foreign Language Interpreter

ADMINISTERING AGENCY

Agriculture

Secretary of State

Human Services
State Police

Governor’ s Office of Management
and Budget

Transportation

Commerce and Economic Opportunity
Agriculture

Agriculture

Financial and Professional Regulation
State Fire Marshal

Illinois Finance Authority

State Police

Natural Resources

Public Health

[1linois Housing Development Authority

Illinois Housing Development Authority

Supreme Court
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ILCS SECTION NUMBER FUNDNAME ADMINISTERING AGENCY
30 105/5.764 0867 Fraternal Order of Police Secretary of State
30 105/5.498 0611 Fund for Illinois' Future Various Agencies
30 105/5.297 0155 General Assembly Computer Legislative Information System/
Equipment Revolving Legidative Reference Bureau
30 105/5.269 0196 General Assembly Operations
Revolving General Assembly
30 105/5.242 0107 General Obligation Bond Rebate Treasurer
30 105/5.370 0022 General Professions Dedicated Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.871 0409 George Bailey Memorial Insurance
30 105/5.562 0753 Golden Apple Scholars of Illinois Student Assistance Commission
| 30 105/5.605 0555 Good Samaritan Energy Trust Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.891 0926 Governor’ s Administrative Governor
30 105/5.124 0947 Governor's Grant Governor
30 105/5.368 0025 Group Home Loan Revolving Human Services
30 105/5.138 0739 Group Workers' Compensation
Pool Insolvency Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.262 0297 Guardianship and Advocacy Guardianship and Advocacy
Commission
| 30 105/5.891 0126 Guide Dogs of America Secretary of State
30 105/5.84 0828 Hazardous Waste Environmental Protection Agency
30 105/5.88 0840 Hazardous Waste Research Environmental Protection Agency
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ILCS SECTION NUMBER FUNDNAME ADMINISTERING AGENCY
30 105/5.621 0365 Health and Human Services
Medicaid Trust Healthcare and Family Services
30 105/5.466 0524 Health Facility Plan Review Public Hedlth
30 105/5.109 0907 Health Insurance Reserve Central Management Services
30 105/5.755 0793 Healthcare Provider Relief Healthcare and Family Services
30 105/5.713 0654 Healthy Smiles Public Health
30 105/5.132 0938 Hearing Instrument Dispenser
Examining and Disciplinary Public Hedlth
30 105/5.640 0135 Heartsaver AED Public Health
30 105/5.612 0206 Help Illinois Vote State Board of Elections
30 105/5.886 0839 High-Speed Rail Rolling Stock Transportation
30 105/5.798 0659 Historic Property Administrative Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.650 0287 Home Care Services Agency
Licensure Public Health
30 105/5.558 0746 Home Inspector Administration Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.811 0120 Home Services Medicaid Trust Human Services
30 105/5.886 0889 Homel essness Prevention Revenue Human Services
30 105/5.492 0632 Horse Racing Revenue
30 105/5.877 0620 Horsemen’s Council of Illinois Secretary of State
30 105/5.577 0586 Hospice Public Health
30 105/5.659 0284 Hospital Basic Services Preservation  Treasurer
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30 105/5.858 0068 Hospital Licensure Public Health
30 105/5.327 0346 Hospital Provider Healthcare and Family Services
30 105/5.825 0181 Housing for Families Human Services
30 105/5.736 0706 Hunger Relief Human Services
30 105/5.616 0350 |CCB Federal Trust I1linois Community College Board
30 105/5.652 0070 |CCB Research and Technology I1linois Community College Board
30 105/5.424 0184 ICJA Violence Prevention Criminal Justice Information Authority
30 105/5.754 0596 Illiana Expressway Proceeds Transportation
30 105/5.511 0638 Illinois Adoption Registry and
Medical Information Exchange Public Health
30 105/5.275 0286 [llinois Affordable Housing Trust Revenue/lllinois Housing
Development Authority
30 105/5.473 0570 Illinois and Michigan Canal Natural Resources
30 105/5.563 0744 Illinois Animal Abuse Agriculture
30 105/5.163 0973 Illinois Capital Revolving Loan Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.321 0549 Illinois Charity Bureau Attorney General
30 105/5.597 0731 Illinois Clean Water Environmental Protection Agency
30 105/5.340 0339 I1linois Community College Board
Contracts and Grants Illinois Community College Board
30 105/5.371 0024 [1linois Department of Agriculture

Laboratory Services Revolving

Agriculture
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FUND
ILCS SECTION NUMBER FUNDNAME ADMINISTERING AGENCY
30 105/5.801 0532 Illinois Department of Corrections
Parole Division Offender Supervision Corrections
30 105/5.733 0800 [llinois EMS Memorial Scholarship
and Training Secretary of State
30 105/5.164 0974 Illinois Equity Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.435 0510 Illinois Fire Fighters Memorial Secretary of State/State Fire Marshal
30 105/5.828 0199 I1linois Fisheries Management Natural Resources
30 105/5.115 0905 [llinois Forestry Devel opment Natural Resources
30 105/5.201 0085 Illinois Gaming Law Enforcement Revenue
30 105/5.339 0391 Illinois Habitat Natural Resources
30 105/5.213 0238 [llinois Health Facilities Planning Public Health
30 105/5.156 0538 Illinois Historic Sites Natural Resources
30 105/5.822 0169 [1linois Independent Tax Tribunal [1linois Independent Tax Tribunal
30 105/5.592 0725 Illinois Military Family Relief Military Affairs
30 105/5.123 0927 [llinois National Guard
Armory Construction Military Affairs
30 105/5.840 0028 I1linois Nurses Foundation Secretary of State
30 105/5.582 0584 Illinois Pan Hellenic Trust Secretary of State/Treasurer
30 105/5.715 0655 Illinois Police Association Secretary of State
30 105/5.842 0027 I1linois Police Benevolent and

Protective Association

Secretary of State
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30 105/5.846 0038 Illinois Police K-9 Memorial Secretary of State
30 105/5.680 0425 [1linois Power Agency Operations [1linois Power
30 105/5.729 0836 Illinois Power Agency Renewable
Energy Resources I1linois Power
30 105/5.689 0463 Illinois Professional Golfers
Association Foundation
Junior Golf Secretary of State
30 105/5.491 0631 Illinois Racing Quarter Horse Breeders Agriculture
30 105/5.584 0594 Illinois Route 66 Heritage Project Secretary of State
30 105/5.261 0175 [1linois School Asbestos Abatement Public Health
30 105/5.849 0032 [llinois Sheriffs’ Association
Scholarship and Training Secretary of State
30 105/5.207 0225 Illinois Sports Facilities Sports Facilities Authority
30 105/5.804 0513 [llinois State Crime Stoppers
Association Criminal Justice Information Authority
30 105/5.83 0823 [llinois State Dental Disciplinary Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.364 0438 Illinois State Fair Agriculture
30 105/5.66 0093 Illinois State Medical Disciplinary Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.173 0057 Illinois State Pharmacy Disciplinary Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.153 0954 Illinois State Podiatric Disciplinary Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.850 0034 Illinois State Police Memoria Park Secretary of State
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ILCS SECTION NUMBER FUNDNAME ADMINISTERING AGENCY
30 105/5.570 0677 Illinois Student Assistance
Commission Contracts and Grants Student Assistance Commission
30 105/5.866 0364 Illinois Telecommunications Access
Corporation Commerce Commission
30 105/5.268 0127 Illinois Underground Utility
Facilities Damage Prevention Commerce Commission
30 105/5.657 0236 Illinois Veterans Assistance Revenue
30 105/5.623 0102 Illinois Veterans Homes Veterans Affairs
30 105/5.28 0036 Illinois Veterans' Rehabilitation Human Services
30 105/5.114 0909 Illinois Wildlife Preservation Natural Resources
30 105/5.454 0534 Illinois Workers' Compensation
Commission Operations Workers Compensation Commission
30 105/5.895 0966 Illinois Works Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.258 0768 IMSA Income Math and Science Academy
30 105/5.879 0593 Income Tax Bond Comptroller
30 105/5.249 0278 Income Tax Refund Revenue
30 105/5.685 0451 Indigent BAIID Secretary of State
30 105/5.886 0862 Industrial Hemp Regulatory Agriculture
30 105/5.188 0997 Insurance Financial Regulation Insurance
30 105/5.526 0378 Insurance Premium Tax Refund Insurance
30 105/5.120 0922 Insurance Producer Administration Insurance
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30 105/5.735 0780 Intermodal Facilities Promotion Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.189 0984 International and Promotional Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.740 0803 International Brotherhood of
Teamsters Secretary of State
30 105/5.523 0621 International Tourism Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.695 0449 Interpreters for the Deaf Deaf and Hard of Hearing
110 947/65.15(e) 0242 ISAC Accounts Receivable Student Assistance Commission
30 105/5.481 0575 Juvenile Rehabilitation Services
Medicaid Matching Healthcare and Family Services
625 5/3-626 0164 Korean War Memorial Construction Secretary of State
30 105/5.382 0945 Landfill Closure and Post-Closure Environmental Protection Agency
30 105/5.165 0975 Large Business Attraction Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.243 0272 LaSdlle Veterans Home Veterans Affairs
30 105/5.670 0356 Law Enforcement Camera Grant Law Enforcement Training and
Standards Board
30 105/5.586 0769 Lawyers Assistance Program Supreme Court
30 105/5.307 0360 Lead Poisoning Screening,
Prevention, and Abatement Public Hedth
30 105/5.456 0536 LEADS Maintenance State Police
30 105/5.366 0026 Liveand Learn Secretary of State
30 105/5.436 0430 Livestock Management Facilities Agriculture
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30 105/5.374 0044 Lobbyist Registration Administration  Secretary of State
30 105/5.29 0515 Loca Government Distributive Revenue
30 105/5.724 0842 Local Government Video Gaming
Distributive Revenue
30 105/5.162 0969 Local Tourism Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.266 0285 Long Term Care Monitor/Receiver Public Health
30 105/5.751 0698 Long Term Care Ombudsman Aging
30 105/5.328 0345 Long-Term Care Provider Healthcare and Family Services
30 105/5.137 0943 Low-Level Radioactive Waste
Facility Closure, Post-Closure
Care and Compensation Emergency Management Agency
30 105/5.136 0942 Low-Level Radioactive Waste
Facility Development and Operation Emergency Management Agency
30 105/5.484 0599 Mammogram Secretary of State
30 105/5.235 0262 Mandatory Arbitration Supreme Court
30 105/5.170 0980 Manteno Veterans Home Veterans Affairs
30 105/5.564 0760 Marine Corps Scholarship Treasurer/Secretary of State
30 105/5.446 0508 Master Mason Secretary of State
30 105/5.320 0377 McCormick Place Expansion Project  Revenue
| 30 105/5.893 0171 Mechanics Training Secretary of State
30 105/5.553 0740 Medicaid Buy-In Program Revolving  Healthcare and Family Services
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30 105/5.223 0237 Medicaid Fraud and Abuse Prevention State Police
30 105/5.573 0720 Medical Interagency Program Healthcare and Family Services
30 105/5.547 0808 Medical Special Purposes Trust Healthcare and Family Services
30 105/5.32 0050 Mental Health Human Services
30 105/5.834 0148 Mental Health Reporting State Police/Human Services
30 105/5.111 0920 Metabolic Screening and Treatment Public Health
30 105/5.656 0283 M ethamphetamine Law Enforcement  Treasurer
30 105/5.67 0053 Metropolitan Exposition, Auditorium
and Office Building Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.750 0814 Metropolitan Pier and Exposition
Authority Incentive Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.372 0043 Military Affairs Trust Military Affairs
30 105/5.710 0522 Money Follows the Person Budget
Transfer Healthcare and Family Services
30 105/5.771 0816 Money Laundering Asset Recovery State Police
30 105/5.676 0453 Monitoring Device Driving Permit
Administration Fee Secretary of State
30 105/5.514 0649 Motor Carrier Safety Inspection State Police
815 370/10 0289 Motor Fuel and Petroleum Standards ~ Agriculture
30 105/5.497 0622 Motor Vehicle License Plate Secretary of State
30 105/5.418 0323 Motor Vehicle Review Board Secretary of State
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30 105/5.295 0156 Motor Vehicle Theft Prevention
and Insurance Verification Trust Secretary of State
70 210/13.3 0578 MPEA Reserve Treasurer
30 105/5.698 0429 Multiple Sclerosis Research Public Health
30 105/5.569 0721 National Guard and Naval Militia
Grant Military Affairs
30 105/5.835 0058 National Wild Turkey Federation Secretary of State
30 105/5.273 0298 Natural Areas Acquisition Natural Resources
30 105/5.169 0375 Natural Heritage Natural Resources
30 105/5.82 0796 Nuclear Safety Emergency
Preparedness Emergency Management Agency
30 105/5.233 0258 Nursing Dedicated and Professional Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.799 0662 Octave Chanute Aerospace Heritage ~ Secretary of State
30 105/5.462 0535 Offender Registration State Police
30 105/5.465 0574 Off-Highway Vehicle Trails Secretary of State/Natural Resources
30 105/5.832 0231 Oil and Gas Resource Management Natural Resources
30 105/5.274 0299 Open Space Lands Acquisition
and Development Natural Resources
30 105/5.227 0259 Optometric Licensing and
Disciplinary Board Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.534 0716 Organ Donor Awareness Secretary of State
30 105/5.692 0459 Ovarian Cancer Awareness Secretary of State
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30 105/5.714 0652 Over Dimensional Load Police Escort
30 105/5.872 0461 Parity Advancement
30 105/5.150 0962 Park and Conservation
30 105/5.580 0585 Park District Y outh Program
30 105/5.411 0608 Partners for Conservation
30 105/5.412 0609 Partners for Conservation Projects
30 105/5.471 0562 Pawnbroker Regulation
| 30 105/5.891 0610 Pediatric Cancer Awareness
30 105/5.362 0015 Penny Severns Breast, Cervical,
and Ovarian Cancer Research
30 105/5.80 0802 Personal Property Tax Replacement
30 105/5.171 0576 Pesticide Control
30 105/5.568 0764 Pet Population Control
30 105/5.289 0137 Plugging and Restoration
30 105/5.332 0372 Plumbing Licensure and Program
30 105/5.485 0598 Police Memorial Committee
30 105/5.882 0747 Police Training Academy Job
Training and Scholarship
30 105/5.464 0517 Police Training Board Services
and Standards Board
30 105/5.248 0277 Pollution Control Board

ADMINISTERING AGENCY

State Police

Insurance

Natural Resources

Secretary of State

Natural Resources/EPA/Agriculture
Natural Resources/Agriculture/EPA
Financial and Professional Regulation

Human Services

Public Health

Revenue
Agriculture/Public Health
Public Health

Natural Resources
Public Health

Secretary of State

Ilinois Student Assistance Commission

Law Enforcement Training

Environmental Protection Agency
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30 105/5.488 0603 Port Development Revolving Loan

30 105/5.891 0183 Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
Awareness

30 105/5.753 0805 Pre-need Funeral Consumer
Protection

30 105/5.806 0665 Prescription Pill and Drug Disposal

30 105/5.572 0776 Presidential Library and Museum
Operating

30 105/5.671 0366 Prisoner Review Board Vehicle
and Equipment

30 105/5.809 0751 Private Business and Vocational
Schools Quality Assurance

30 105/5.719 0661 Private College Academic Quality

Assurance

30 105/5.743 0790 Private Sewage Disposal Program

30 105/5.212 0192 Professional Regulation Evidence

30 105/5.581 0587 Professional Sports Teams Education

30 105/5.420 0218 Professions Indirect Cost

30 105/5.880 0601 Prostate Cancer Awareness

30 105/5.503 0626 Prostate Cancer Research

30 105/5.409 0341 Provider Inquiry Trust

30 105/5.369 0340 Public Health Laboratory

Services Revolving

ADMINISTERING AGENCY

Commerce and Economic Opportunity

Secretary of State

Comptroller

Criminal Justice Information Authority

Abraham Lincoln Presidential Library
and Museum

Prisoner Review Board

Board of Higher Education

Board of Higher Education

Public Health

Financial and Professional Regulation
Secretary of State

Financial and Professional Regulation
Public Health

Public Health

Healthcare and Family Services

Public Health



STATE OF ILLINOIS
OFFICE OF COMPTROLLER

Accountants' Administration and
Disciplinary

SECTION FUNDS PROCEDURE - PAGE NO.
09.50.25 22 of 30
SUB-SECTION REFERENCE EFFECTIVE DATE
July 1, 2020
PROCEDURE FUND LISTING — SPECIAL STATE FUNDS REVISION NUMBER
21-001
FUND
ILCS SECTION NUMBER FUNDNAME ADMINISTERING AGENCY
30 105/5.226 0256 Public Health Water Permit Public Health
30 105/5.196 0993 Public Infrastructure Construction
Loan Revolving Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/8f 0546 Public Pension Regulation Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.817 0157 Public-Private Partnerships for
Transportation Transportation
30 105/5.38 0627 Public Transportation Transportation
30 105/5.39 0059 Public Utility Commerce Commission
30 105/5.699 0437 Quality of Life Endowment Public Health
30 105/5.27 0619 Quincy Veterans Home Veterans Affairs
30 105/5.184 0067 Radiation Protection Emergency Management Agency
30 105/5.152 0936 Rail Freight Loan Repayment Transportation
| 30 105/5.896 0972 Rebuild Illinois Projects Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.557 0750 Real Estate Audit Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.98 0850 Real Estate License Administration Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.94 0849 Real Estate Research and Education Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.277 0187 Regiona Transportation Authority
Occupation and Use Tax
Replacement Revenue
30 105/5.292 0151 Registered Certified Public

Financial and Professional Regulation
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30 105/5.347 0388 Regulatory Evaluation and
Basic Enforcement Public Health
30 105/5.475 0564 Renewable Energy Resources Trust Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.645 0150 Rental Housing Support Program Revenue
30 105/5.884 0671 Rental Purchase Agreement Tax
Refund Revenue
30 105/5.214 0244 Residential Finance Regulatory Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.739 0697 Roadside Memorial Transportation
30 105/5.875 0489 Roadside Monarch Habitat Natural Resources
30 105/5.690 0454 Rotary Club Secretary of State
30 105/5.376 0048 Rural/Downstate Health Access Public Health
30 105/5.632 0115 Safe Bottled Water Public Hedlth
30 105/5.63 0042 Salmon Natural Resources
30 105/5.805 0579 Savings Bank Regulatory Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.279 0130 School District Emergency
Financial Assistance State Board of Education
30 105/5.500 0568 School Infrastructure State Board of Education
30 105/5.891 0987 School STEAM Grant Program State Board of Education
30 105/5.501 0569 School Technology Revolving Loan State Board of Education
| 30  105/5.891 0979 Scott’s Law State Police
30 105/5.561 0732 Secretary of State DUI Administration Secretary of State
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30 105/5.337 0374 Secretary of State Evidence
30 105/5.705 0480 Secretary of State Identification
Security and Theft Prevention
30 105/5.613 0758 Secretary of State Police DUI
30 105/5.567 0759 Secretary of State Police Services
30 105/5.421 0185 Secretary of State Special
License Plate
30 105/5.440 0483 Secretary of State Special Services
30 105/5.127 0948 Secretary of State's Grant
30 105/5.312 0362 Securities Audit and Enforcement
30 105/5.251 0292 Securities Investors Education
30 105/5.122 0930 Senior Citizens Real Estate
Deferred Tax Revolving
30 105/5.583 0588 September 11th
30 105/5.694 0445 Sex Offender Investigation
30 105/5.458 0527 Sex Offender Management Board
30 105/5.345 0389 Sexual Assault Services
30 105/5.819 0158 Sexual Assault Services and
Prevention
30 105/5.760 0854 Share the Road

ADMINISTERING AGENCY

Secretary of State

Secretary of State
Secretary of State

Secretary of State

Secretary of State
Secretary of State
Secretary of State
Secretary of State

Secretary of State

Revenue

Secretary of State/lllinois
Emergency Management Agency

State Police
Sex Offender Management Board

Public Health

Human Services

Secretary of State
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30 105/5.677 0468 Sheet Metal Workers International
Association of Illinois Secretary of State
30 105/5.346 0387 Small Business Environmental
Assistance Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.92 0866 Snowmobile Trail Establishment Natural Resources
30 105/5.765 0895 Soil and Water Conservation District ~ Secretary of State
30 105/5.202 0078 Solid Waste Management Environmental Protection Agency
30 105/5.895 0949 Sound-Reducing Windows and Doors
Replacement Transportation
30 105/5.837 0249 South Suburban Airport
Improvement Transportation
30 105/5.854 0320 South Suburban Brownfields
Redevel opment Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.316 0355 Special Education Medicaid Matching Healthcare and Family Services
30 105/5.361 0623 Specia Olympics Illinois Human Services
30 105/5.855 0073 Special Olympics llinois and
Special Children’s Charities Human Services
30 105/5.865 0132 Specialized Services for Survivors
of Human Trafficking Human Services
30 105/5.532 0714 Spinal Cord Injury Paralysis
Cure Research Trust Public Health
| 30 105/5.896 0968 Sports Wagering Illinois Gaming Board
30 105/5.772 0899 St. Jude Children’s Research Secretary of State
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30 105/5.276 0186 State and Local Sales Tax Reform Revenue
30 105/5.451 0514 State Asset Forfeiture State Police
30 105/5.891 0928 State Aviation Program Transportation
30 105/5.48 0039 State Boating Act Natural Resources
30 105/5.796 0674 State Charter School Commission State Board of Education
30 105/5.429 0417 State College and University Trust Secretary of State
30 105/5.291 0152 State Crime Laboratory State Police
30 105/5.897 0976 State Fairgrounds Capital
Improvements and Harness Racing ~ Agriculture
30 105/5.259 0293 State Furbearer Natural Resources
30 105/5.286 0129 State Gaming Revenue
30 105/5.607 0471 State Library Secretary of State
30 105/5.52 0711 State L ottery Revenue
30 105/5.151 0953 State Migratory Waterfowl Stamp Natural Resources
30 105/5.876 0500 State Military Justice Military Affairs
30 105/5.457 0537 State Offender DNA Identification
System State Police
30 105/5.78 0782 State Parking Facility Maintenance Secretary of State/Comptroller
30 105/5.53 0040 State Parks Natural Resources
30 105/5.54 0054 State Pensions Various Agencies
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30 105/5.305 0353 State Pheasant Natura Resources
30 105/5.414 0222 State Police DUI State Police
30 105/5.852 0209 State Police Firearm Services State Police
30 105/5.886 0887 State Police Law Enforcement
Administration State Police
30 105/5.820 0166 State Police Merit Board Public
Safety State Police Merit Board
30 105/5.778 0817 State Police Operations Assistance State Police
30 105/5.112 0906 State Police Services State Police
30 105/5.783 0846 State Police Streetgang-Related
Crime State Police
30 105/5.413 0246 State Police Vehicle State Police
30 105/5.664 0328 State Police Vehicle Maintenance State Police
740 175/8 0705 State Police Whistleblower
Reward and Protection State Police
30 105/5.530 0637 State Police Wireless Service
Emergency State Police
30 105/5.168 0265 State Rail Freight Loan Repayment Transportation
15 515/1 0506 State Small Business Credit Initiative  Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.342 0373 State Treasurer's Bank Services Trust  Treasurer
30 105/5.71 0745 State's Attorneys Appellate State's Attorneys

Prosecutor’s County

Appellate Prosecutor
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30 105/5.529 0612 Statewide 9-1-1

30 105/5.863 0104 Stroke Data Collection

30 105/5.383 0089 Subtitle D Management

30 105/5.477 0550 Supplemental Low-Income

| Energy Assistance

30 105/5.691 0496 Support Our Troops

30 105/5.686 0428 Supreme Court Historic Preservation

30 105/5.844 0030 Supreme Court Special Purposes

30 105/5.315 0370 Tanning Facility Permit

30 105/5.673 0327 Tattoo and Body Piercing
Establishment Registration

30 105/5.331 0384 Tax Compliance and Administration

30 105/5.618 0310 Tax Recovery

30 105/5.375 0016 Teacher Certificate Fee Revolving

30 105/5.470 0605 Temporary Relocation
Expenses Revolving Grant

30 105/5.891 0985 Theresa Tracy Trot —lllinois
CancerCare Foundation

30 105/5.881 0752 Thriving Y outh Income Tax
Checkoff

30 105/5.540 0733 Taobacco Settlement Recovery

ADMINISTERING AGENCY

State Police
Public Health

Environmental Protection Agency

Commerce and Economic Opportunity
Secretary of State

Supreme Court Historic Preservation
Commission

Supreme Court

Public Health

Public Health
Revenue
Transportation

State Board of Education

State Board of Education

Secretary of State

Human Services

Comptroller
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30 105/5.610 0241 TOMA Consumer Protection Financial and Professional Regulation
30 105/5.70 0763 Tourism Promotion Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.30 0879 Traffic and Criminal Law Enforcement Officers
Conviction Surcharge Training and Standards Board
| 30 105/5.891 0239 Training in the Building Trades Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.186 0018 Transportation Regulatory Commerce Commission
30 105/5.574 0589 Transportation Safety Highway
Hire-back Transportation
30 105/5.350 0397 Trauma Center Public Health/Healthcare and
Family Services
30 105/5.397 0331 Treasurer’s Rental Fee Treasurer
30 105/5.234 0261 Underground Resources
Conservation Enforcement Natural Resources
30 105/5.192 0072 Underground Storage Tank Environmental Protection Agency
30 105/5.430 0418 University Grant Board of Higher Education/
Secretary of State/lllinois Student
Assistance Commission
30 105/5.387 0136 University of Illinois Hospital
Services Healthcare and Family Services
30 105/5.263 0294 Used Tire Management Environmental Protection Agency
625 5/13C-50 0963 Vehicle Inspection Environmental Protection Agency
30 105/5.130 0929 Violent Crime Victims Assistance Attorney General
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30 105/5.886 0819 VW Settlement Environmental
Mitigation Environmental Protection Agency
30 105/5.766 0885 Wage Theft Enforcement Labor
30 105/5.238 0270 Water Revalving Environmental Protection Agency
| 30 105/5.891 0247 Water Workforce Development Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.355 0163 Weights and Measures Agriculture
30 105/5.21 0041 Wildlife and Fish Natural Resources
30 105/5.445 0504 Wildlife Prairie Park Natural Resources
30 105/5.531 0613 Wireless Carrier Reimbursement Commerce Commission
30 105/5.493 0552 Workforce, Technology, and
Economic Development Commerce and Economic Opportunity
30 105/5.282 0128 Y outh Alcoholism and Substance
Abuse Prevention Human Services
30 105/5.119 0910 Y outh Drug Abuse Prevention Human Services
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30 105/5.03 0551 Anti-Pollution Environmental Protection Agency
30 105/5.160 0971 Build Illinois Bond Various
30 105/5.07 0141 Capital Development Capital Development Board
30 105/5.09 0653 Coal Development Commerce and Economic Opportunity
| 30 105/5.891 0959 Multi-Modal Transportation Bond Transportation
30 105/5.43 0143 School Construction Capital Development Board
30 330/7.7 0825 State Pension Obligation
Acceleration Bond Comptroller
30 4152 & 4 0553 Transportation Bond, Series A Transportation
30 4152 & 4 0554 Transportation Bond, Series B Transportation
30 330/12(c-1) 0695 Transportation Bond Series D Transportation
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30 105/5.159 0970 Build Illinois Bond Retirement
and Interest Various Agencies
| 30 105/5.723 0694 Capital Projects Treasurer
30 105/5.157 0101 General Obligation Bond
Retirement and Interest Treasurer
30 105/5.177 0105 Illinois Civic Center Bond Commerce and Economic

Retirement and Interest Opportunity
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20 1920/1.05 0991 Abandoned Mined Lands Reclamation Natural Resources
Council Federal Trust
20 205/205-55 0826 Agriculture Federal Projects Agriculture
415 5/4(k) 0689 Agriculture Pesticide Control Act Agriculture
30 105/5.13 0646 Alcoholism and Substance Abuse Human Services
20 3930/ 0988 Attorney General Federal Grant Attorney General
7(k)(1)(m)
110  205/9.09 0983 BHE Federal Grants Board of Higher Education
30 105/5.571 0772 Career and Technical Education Community College Board
30 750/9-10 0636 Commerce and Community Affairs Commerce and Economic Opportunity
Assistance
30 105/5.143 0875 Community Development/Small Commerce and Economic Opportunity
Cities Block Grant
20 1705/18.5 0142 Community Developmental Disability Human Services
Services Medicaid Trust
30 105/5.145 0876 Community Mental Health Services Human Services
Block Grant
30 105/5.144 0871 Community Services Block Grant Commerce and Economic Opportunity
20 4010/2003 0131 Council on Developmental Council on Developmental Disabilities
Disabilities Federal Trust
30 105/5.747 0687 Court of Claims Federal Grant Court of Claims
30 105/5.759 0843 Court of Claims Federal Recovery Court of Claims

Victim Compensation Grant
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20 3930/7(k)(1) 0488 Criminal Justice Trust Illinois Criminal Justice Information
Authority
20 860/5 0820 DCEO Energy Projects Commerce and Economic Opportunity
20 505/22 0566 DCFS Federal Projects Children and Family Services
30 105/34 0673 Department of Insurance Federal Insurance
Trust
820 205/17.5 0724 Department of Labor Federal Trust Labor
Admin. Created 0592 DHS Federal Projects Human Services
30 105/34 0408 DHS Special Purpose Trust Human Services
20 1105/3(6) 0894 DNR Federa Projects Natural Resources
30 105/5.326 0347 Employment and Training Human Services
20 605/605-400 0737 Energy Administration Commerce and Economic Opportunity
805 315/1 0439 Federal Agricultural Marketing Agriculture
Services
20 3305/17 0491 Federal Aid Disaster Emergency Management
20 3305/17 0497 Federa Civil Preparedness Emergency Management
Administrative
110  947/65.15 0092 Federal Congressional Teacher Student Assistance Commission
Scholarship Program
20 1105/3(6) 0859 Federal Energy Commerce and Economic Opportunity
20 605/605-855 0726 Federal Industrial Services Commerce and Economic Opportunity
620 5/40 0095 Federal/State/Local Airport Transportation
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15 515/1 0853 Federal Mass Transit Trust Transportation
15 515/1 0343 Federal National Community Services Human Services
15 515/1 0701 Federal Student Incentive Trust Student Assistance Commission
110  947/113 0663 Federal Student Loan Student Assistance Commission
30 105/5.324 0333 Federal Support Agreement Military Affairs
Revolving
20 1915/1 0765 Federal Surface Mining Control and Natural Resources
Reclamation
820  405/2100 0052 Federal Title Il Social Security and Employment Security
Employment Service
50 740/6 0670 Federal Title IV Fire Protection Natural Resources
Assistance
820  405/2100 0055 Federal Unemployment Compensation Employment Security
Special Administration
15 515/1 0580 Fire Prevention Division State Fire Marshal
15 515/5 0443 Flood Control Land Lease Natural Resources
40 5/10-101 0086 Forest Reserve Natural Resources
30 105/5.674 0394 Gaining Early Awareness and Human Services
Readiness for Undergraduate
Programs
20 2805/2 0447 Gl Education Veterans Affairs
30 105/5.794 0710 Homeland Security Emergency Emergency Management Agency

Preparedness Trust
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15 51511 0379 ICC Federal Grants Trust Commerce Commission
30 105/5.552 0692 ICCB Adult Education Community College Board
20 3915/5 0657 [linois Arts Council Federal Grant [linois Arts Council
20 2505/2505-20 0140 Illinois Department of Revenue Revenue
Federal Trust
30 105/5.815 0904 Illinois State Police Federal Projects State Police
420  44/20(b)(7) 0191 Indoor Radon Mitigation Emergency Management Agency
30 105/5.106 0883 Intra-Agency Services Commerce and Economic Opportunity
20 505/17a-5(10) 0911 Juvenile Justice Trust Human Services
50 705/5 0923 Law Enforcement Officers Training Law Enforcement Training and
Board Federal Projects Standards Board
15 320/7 0470 Library Services Secretary of State
30 105/5.74 0762 Local Initiative Human Services
30 105/5.142 0870 Low Income Home Energy Assistance Commerce and Economic Opportunity
Block Grant
30 105/5.141 0872 Maternal and Child Health Services Human Services
Block Grant
15 515/1 0077 Mines and Minerals Underground Natural Resources
Injection Control
615  85/3 0855 National Flood Insurance Program Natural Resources
420  40/21 0484 Nuclear Civil Protection Planning Emergency Management
20 2405/3(%) 0495 Old Age Survivors Insurance Human Services
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30 105/5.367 0013 Prevention and Treatment of Human Services
Alcoholism and Substance Abuse
Block Grant
30 105/5.140 0873 Preventive Health and Health Services Human Services
Block Grant
20 2310/2310-35 0838 Public Health Federal Projects Public Health
20 2310/2310-35 0063 Public Health Services Public Health
105  5/2-3.36 0798 Rehabilitation Services Elementary Human Services
and Secondary Education Act
30 105/6z-66 0560 SBE Federal Agency Services State Board of Education
30 105/6z-67 0410 SBE Federal Department of State Board of Education
Agriculture
30 105/6z-65.5 0561 SBE Federal Department of Education State Board of Education
15 320/7 0176 Secre